# A Longitudinal Evaluation of Novel Outcome Measures in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Author: Ali Mufraih Albarrati, MSc

Supervisors: Dr S. Enright, Dr N.S. Gale, Professor D.J. Shale

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Healthcare Sciences Cardiff University, Cardiff, Wales, UK.

# Author's Declaration

The work submitted has not been accepted in substance for any other degree or award, and is not being submitted concurrently in candidature for any degree or other award;

Signed Albarrati Date
-----------------------

### Statement 1

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfillment for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Signed Albarrati Date \_\_\_\_\_

## Statement 2

The work submitted is the result of my own investigation, except where otherwise stated. Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references;

Signed Albarrati Date \_\_\_\_\_

### Statement 3

I give consent for this thesis, to be made available for inter-library loan or photocopying (subject to the law of copyright), and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations;

Signed	Albarrati	Date	e
-			

# Abstract

### Background

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a multimorbidity disease associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events, arterial stiffness and changes in body composition, potentially features of premature ageing and frailty. The aim of this thesis was to assess the change in aortic pulse wave velocity (PWV) over two years and its contributing factors in COPD. In addition, this thesis also aimed to examine the concept of frailty in patients with COPD and its change over a two-year follow-up.

### Methods

Aortic stiffness and frailty were assessed cross-sectionally in 500 patients with COPD and 150 comparators using aortic PWV and frailty index (FI). Other assessments included spirometry, body composition, handgrip strength, Timed Up and Go test (TUG) and systemic inflammatory biomarkers. After two years, 143 consecutive patients were reassessed to examine the changes in aortic PWV and FI.

### Results

In the cross-sectional data, patients with COPD had greater aortic PWV than comparators similar in age, gender and BMI, independent of traditional risk factors. After two years, the patients demonstrated a significant increase in aortic stiffness, independent of age, lung function, blood pressure and inflammation. In addition, a subset of patients was identified to have an accelerated aortic stiffness by 1.6 m/s.

At the initial visit, the patients were more frail than comparators similar in age and gender. After two years, the patients had an increase in the FI, independent of lung function and inflammation. The progression of frailty was related to loss of muscle mass and strength, and prolonged TUG time.

### Conclusion

The longitudinal findings of this thesis suggest that COPD is associated with a rapid increase in aortic stiffness, independent of conventional risk factors. Frailty is a clinical feature of COPD and its progression is dependent on loss of musculoskeletal mass and strength and prolonged TUG time.

## Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Stephanie Enright, Dr. Nichola Gale and Professor Dennis Shale for their endless support and guidance during my PhD and in all aspects of this thesis. I feel privileged to work with you as a team and look forward to working with you in the future and continuing writing papers for publication. Professor John Cockcroft also deserves my sincere gratitude for his advice and support to attend conferences.

A special thank and gratitude to Mrs. Maggie Munnery and Mr. Iain Munnery for their help with the practical aspects of pulse wave velocity and collecting the data and without them I could not have completed my PhD.

Many thanks to all surgeries who assisted in this research and without them it would not have been possible to include as many patients as for the ARCADE project. Special thanks to the patients and comparators who gave us two hours of their valuable time to conduct all the studies in this thesis, it was a nice experience and pleasure to work with them.

Finally, I dedicate this thesis to my parents who are always praying for me and wish me all the success, my wife (Maarab Alkorashy) who I wish her all the best in her thesis writing, my children Gianna and Mufraih who have spent long hours of waiting every day to come home and have some fun. Without their sacrifice, unconditional love and support at every stage of my life, the completion of this thesis would not have been possible.

IV

## **List of Publications**

## **Published Paper**

Gale, N. S., Albarrati, A.M., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Irfan, M., Bolton, C.B., Curtis, R., Tal-Singer, R., Cockcroft, J. R., Shale, D. J. Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE): Protocol and Preliminary Data. *Chronic Respiratory Disease, (Accepted).* 

### Paper for Submission

Gale, N. S., **Albarrati, A.M.,** Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Hubbard, R., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. Frailty: A Potential Measure of Comorbidities and Impairment in COPD.

**Albarrati, A.M.,** Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. A Simple and Rapid Test of Physical Performance in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease.

**Albarrati, A.M.,** Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. Assessment of Repeatability and Validity of Quantitative Ultrasound Scan in COPD.

### **Published Abstracts**

Gale, N.S, Munnery, I., Munnery, M., **Albarrati, A.M.**, McEniery, C., Curtis, R., Shale, D.J., Cockcroft, J.R. 2012. Assessment of risk in chronic airways disease evaluation (ARCADE). *The Journal of Clinical Hypertension* 14 (S1).

**Albarrati, A.M.,** Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Shale, D. J. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2012. Non-invasive assessment of cardiac hemodynamic in COPD. *Artery Research* 6 (4):155.

Gale, N. S., **Albarrati, A.M.,** Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Shale, D. J., Cockcroft, J. R.2012. Assessment of Risk Factors in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE). *Artery Research* 6 (4):158.

Albarrati, A.M., Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Shale, D. J., Cockcroft, J. R. 2012. The Reproducibility of Arterial Stiffness in COPD. *Artery Research* 6 (4):166.

**Albarrati, A.M.,** Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J.R., Shale, D. J.2012. A Novel Measure of Physical Exercise Capacity in COPD. *Thorax* 67 (S 2).

Gale, N. S., **Albarrati, A.M.,** Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J. 2012. Physical Impairment and Frailty in Patients with Chronic Obstruction Pulmonary Disease (COPD). *Thorax* 67 (S2).

Gale, N. S., **Albarrati, A.M.,** Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Shale, D. J., Cockcroft, J. R. 2013. The clinical application of the combined assessment of COPD. *Airways Vista*, Seoul, South Korea, 28 - 31 March 2013.

Albarrati, A.M., Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J.2013. Assessment of Daily Activity in COPD. *European Respiratory Society Annual Congress 2013*, Barcelona, Spain, 7-11 September 2013.

Albarrati, A.M., Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J.2013. Timed Up and Go and Quadriceps Strength in COPD. *European Respiratory Society Annual Congress 2013*, Barcelona, Spain, 7-11 September 2013.

Gale, N. S., Albarrati, A.M., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J. 2013. Obesity and Impairment in Chronic Obstructive Airway Disease (COPD). *European Respiratory Society Annual Congress 2013*, Barcelona, Spain, 7-11 September 2013.

VI

**Albarrati, A.M.,** Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Shale, D. J., Cockcroft, J. R. 2013. A longitudinal Pilot Study of Aortic Stiffness in COPD. *ARTERY*, 6:168.

Albarrati, A.M., Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J.2013. Changes in Daily Physical Activity in COPD. *Thorax* 68 (S3): A91-A92.

Albarrati, A.M., Gale, N. S., Enright, S., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J., Shale, D. J. 2013. Moderate-Intensity Activity Attenuates Risk Factors Associated with Cardiovascular Disease in COPD. *Thorax*, 68 (S3): A138.

Gale, N. S., **Albarrati, A.M.,** Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Cockcroft, J. R., Shale, D. J. 2013. Impact of Comorbidities on Health and Function in COPD. *Thorax* 68 (S3): A203.

Gale, N. S., Albarrati, A.M., Munnery, M., Munnery, I., Tal-Singer, R., Cockcroft, J.R., Shale, D. J. 2014. Longitudinal Progression of Aortic Pulse Wave Velocity inCOPD: Data from the ARCADE Study. *Am J Resp and Crit Care Med*, 189: A1114.

**Albarrati, A.M**., Gale, N.S, Munnery, I., Munnery, M., McEniery, C., Tal-Singer, R., Shale, D.J., Cockcroft, J.R. 2014. Rapid Progression of Central Arterial Stiffness in COPD: Preliminary 2 Year Follow-up Data from the ARCADE Study. *Journal of the American Society of Hypertension*, 8 (4): e4-e5. **Oral Presentation.** 

VII

## **Prizes**

ARTERY 12 Young Investigator Travel Award, Vienna, Austria 18-20 October 2012.

Travel Award from the **William Morgan Thomas Fund** to attend British Thoracic Society Winter Meeting. London 4-7 December 2012.

American Society for Hypertension Young Investigator Travel Award, ASH 29th Annual Scientific Meeting, May 16 – 20, 2014.

Selected one of the Young Investigators by American Society of Hypertension 2014.

# **Table of Contents**

Author	's DeclarationII
Abstra	ctIII
Acknow	wledgementsIV
List of	PublicationsV
List of	TablesXIV
List of	FiguresXVI
List of	Abbreviations XVIII
Chapte	er One1
1.1	Introduction2
1.2	COPD Definition5
1.3	Diagnosis and Classification5
1.4	Aetiology9
1.5	Epidemiology of COPD12
1.6	Pathogenesis of COPD13
1.7	Comorbidity in COPD15
	1.7.1 Systemic Inflammation in COPD17
	1.7.2 Hypertension in COPD19
	1.7.3 COPD and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus19
	1.7.4 Osteoporosis
	1.7.5 Physical Activity21

1.7.6 Body Composition in COPD	
1.7.7 Chronic Kidney Disease	
1.7.8 Sarcopenia in COPD	
1.8 Cardiovascular Diseases	
1.8.1 Lung Function Impairment	
1.8.2 Inflammation	
1.8.3 Autonomic Nervous System Dysfunction	
1.9 Arterial Stiffness	
1.9.1 Definition	
1.9.2 Structural Component of Artery Stiffness	
1.9.3 Assessment of Large Artery Stiffness	
1.9.4 Factors Affecting Artery Stiffness	
1.10 Arterial Stiffness and COPD	
1.11 Frailty in COPD	
1.12 Summary	
1.13 Hypotheses	
1.14 Study Objectives	
Chapter Two	61
Methods	61
2.1 Study Protocols	
2.2 Participants Recruitment	
2.2.1 Patient Recruitment	64
2.2.2 Comparator Recruitment	64
2.3 Study Investigations	
2.3.1 Height and Body Composition	

	2.3.2 Heel Bone Density Measurement	.70
	2.3.3 Pulse Wave Analysis and Measurement of Pulse Wave Velocity	.72
	2.3.4 Cardiac Output Measurement	. 77
	2.3.5 Pulmonary Function Tests	. 80
	2.3.6 Timed Up and Go	. 81
	2.3.7 Six–Minute Walk Distance (6MWD)	. 81
	2.3.8 Handgrip Strength	. 84
	2.3.9 Health Related Quality of Life Measurement	. 84
	2.3.10 Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment	.85
	2.3.11 Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA)	.85
	2.3.12 Blood	. 86
Chapt	er Three	88
3.1	Methodological Consideration	. 89
	3.1.1 Reliability	. 89
	3.1.2 Validity	. 91
3.2	Reliability of Arterial Stiffness Measurement in COPD	.93
	3.2.1 Background	. 93
3.3	Reliability of Cardiac Haemodynamics Measurement	. 96
	3.3.1 Background	. 96
	3.3.2 Methods1	100
	3.3.3 Results 1	102
	3.3.4 Discussion 1	108
3.4	Assessment of Repeatability and Validity of Quantitative Ultrasound Scar	ו in
CO	PD1	112
	3.4.1 Background1	112
	3.4.2 Methods1	114
	3.4.3 Results	116

3.4.4 Discussion	122
Chapter Four	126
A Simple and Rapid Test of Physical Performance in Chronic Obs	structive
Pulmonary Disease	126
4.1 Background	127
4.2 Methods	129
4.3 Results	132
4.4 Discussion	139
Chapter Five	143
Cross-sectional and Longitudinal Evaluation of Aortic Stiffness in COPD	143
5.1 Background	145
5.2 Method	147
5.3 Result	149
5.4 Discussion	182
Chapter Six	198
Cross-sectional and Longitudinal Evaluation of Frailty in COPD	198
6.1 Background	200
6.2 Method	202
6.3 Result	205
6.4 Discussion	228
Chapter Seven	242
7.1 Conclusions	243
7.1.1 A Simple and Rapid Measure of Physical Performance in COPD	243

	243
7.1.3 Frailty in COPD	244
7.2 Future Research	245
7.2.1 A Simple and Rapid Measure of Physical Performance in COPD	245
7.2.2 Aortic Stiffness in Patients with COPD	245
7.2.3 Frailty in COPD	246
References	248
Appendix A: Participant Information Sheet for Patients	289
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects	295
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects	295 301
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects Appendix C: Participant Questionnaire Appendix D: Consent Form	295 301 313
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects Appendix C: Participant Questionnaire Appendix D: Consent Form Appendix E: St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire	295 301 313 314
Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects Appendix C: Participant Questionnaire Appendix D: Consent Form Appendix E: St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire Appendix F: The COPD Assessment Test	295 301 313 314 315

# **List of Tables**

Table 1.1: Spirometric classification of patients with COPD according to (GOLD)7
Table 1.2: Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale (Fletcher et al. 1959) 7
Table 2.1: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria    65
Table 2.2: Classification of blood pressure levels by the British Hypertension Society
Table 2.3: Modified Borg Scale    83
Table 3.1: Physiological characteristics of patients at both visits
Table 3.2: Limit of Agreement Calculation of Outcome Measures         104
Table 3.3: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for bone mass loss based on the
manufacture recommendation 120
Table 3.4: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for bone loss based on the ROC
curve
Table 3.5: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for osteoporosis based on the ROC
curve
Table 4.1: The characteristics of patients with COPD and comparator subjects 133
Table 5.1: Baseline characteristics of patients with COPD and comparator subjects at
initial visit
Table 5.2: Reported comorbidities and medications in patients with COPD and
comparator subjects at initial visit151
Table 5.3: Differences in haemodynamics between patients with COPD and
comparators at initial visit153
Table 5.4: Relationships between aortic PWV and physiological characteristics in
patients with COPD and comparators at initial visit
Table 5.5: Relationships between aortic PWV and physical characteristics in patients
with COPD and comparator subjects at initial visit
Table 5.6: Predictors of aortic stiffness in patients at initial visit
Table 5.7: Predictors of aortic stiffness in comparator subjects at their initial visit 167
Table 5.8: Comparison between initial visit data in patients assessed at 2 years and
patients yet to be assessed
Table 5.9: Change in $FEV_1$ (ml) across GOLD categories in patients with COPD at
follow-up visit

Table 5.10: Changes in patients with COPD after two years from the initial
assessment 172
Table 5.11: Characteristics of non-progressor patients at initial visit and 2 years
follow-up
Table 5.12: Clinical characteristics of progressors at initial visit and 2 years follow-up
Table 6.1: Physical and clinical characteristics of patients with COPD and
comparators at initial visit
Table 6.2: Questionnaire scores in patients with COPD and comparators
Table 6.3: Relationships of FI with physical and clinical characteristics in patients with
COPD and comparator subjects at initial visit
Table 6.4: Comparison between frail and non-frail patients with COPD at initial visit
Table 6.5: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting frailty in patients
with COPD at initial visit
Table 6.6: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting frailty in comparator
subjects at initial visit
Table 6.7: Physical and physiological changes in the patients after two years from the
initial assessment
Table 6.8: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting the change in frailty
in the patients at 2-year follow-up visit

# **List of Figures**

Figure 1.1: New GOLD (2014) classification	8
Figure 1.2: Comorbidities in COPD	16
Figure 1.3: Measurement of carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity with a foot-	to-foot
method	40
Figure 2.1: Body Composition Analyser (TANITA, BC-418)	69
Figure 2.2: Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser (CUBA) machine	71
Figure 2.4: Central arterial pressure waveform and its derivatives	75
Figure 2.5: Carotid and femoral arterial waveforms and aortic PWV	76
Figure 2.6: NICOM device	78
Figure 2.7: The NICOM system and its connection to the body	79
Figure 2.8: Reseach Flow Chart	87
Figure 3.1: The relationship between the first and second measurement of c	arotid-
femoral pulse wave velocity	105
Figure 3.2: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in carotid-for	emoral
pulse wave velocity	105
Figure 3.3: Relationship between first and second visits of Cardiac Output	106
Figure 3.4: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Cardiac	Output
	106
Figure 3.5: Relationship between first and second visits for Stroke Volume	107
Figure 3.6: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Stroke V	/olume
	107
Figure 3.7: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Broa	dband
Ultrasound Attenuation Measurement	117
Figure 3.8: Receiver Operating Characteristics Curve for determining cut-off value	ues for
bone mass loss	121
Figure 3.9: Receiver Operating Characteristics Curve for determining cut-off value	ues for
osteoporosis	121
Figure 4.1: TUG test across age categories in COPD and comparator subjects	134
Figure 4.2: The TUG difference between infrequent and frequent exacerbato	rs and
comparator subjects at initial visit	136
Figure 4.3: The ROC curve for the TUG test. Diagnostic ability of TUG test in pa	atients
with COPD	138

Figure 5.1: Bar chart of aortic stiffness in patients with COPD and comparator
subjects by age categories at initial visit154
Figure 5.2: Bar chart comparing aortic stiffness by gender in patients with COPD and
comparators at initial visit158
Figure 5.3: Bar chart of aortic PWV in comparators and patients with COPD across
GOLD category at initial visit
Figure 5.4: Bar chart of aortic PWV in comparators, patients with an FEV1>50%
predicted and patients with an FEV1<50% at initial visit
Figure 5.5: Bar chart of aortic stiffness in comparators and patients with frequent and
infrequent exacerbation
Figure 5.6: Distribution of comorbidities in patients at initial visit and two years follow-
up 170
Figure 5.7A: The pie chart showing the distribution of patients according to the change
in the fibrinogen level during the follow-up period174
Figure 5.7B: The pie chart showing the distribution of patients according to the change
in the CRP level during the follow-up period
Figure 6.1: Bar chart illustrating the difference in FI between patients with COPD and
comparators across age categories at initial visit
Figure 6.2: Bar chart illustrating the difference in frailty index between patients with
COPD and comparator subjects across BMI categories at initial visit
Figure 6.3: Bar chart representing FI in patients with COPD across GOLD categories
and comparator subjects at initial visit
Figure 6.4: Comparison between comparators and patients with infrequent and
frequent exacerbation at initial visit
Figure 6.5: Gender difference of frailty index in the patients at 2 years 224

# **List of Abbreviations**

6MWD	Six Minute Walk Distance
ΑΑΤ	α 1 Anti-Trypsin
Alx	Augmentation Index
ACCT	Anglo-Cardiff-Cambridge Trial
ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
AGEs	Advance Glycation End products
ARIC	Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities
AP	Augmentation Pressure
ARCADE	Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation
ATS	American Thoracic Society
BIA	Bioelectrical Impedance
BLSA	Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Ageing
BMD	Bone Mineral Density
BMI	Body Mass Index
BPH	Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy
Bpm	Beats per minute
BTS	British Thoracic Society
BUA	Broadband Ultrasound Attenuation
CABL	Cardiovascular Abnormalities and Brain Lesions
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
cf-PWV	Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity
CAT	COPD Assessment Test
CGA	Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment
CHF	Congestive Heart Failure
CHRNA	Cholinergic Receptors Nicotinic Alpha
CHS	Cardiovascular Health Study
	Confidence Interval
	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
	Chronic Renal Failure
	C-reactive protein
	Computed Tomography Calegonal Ultraggund Bang Anglyggr
	Carchreyeseyler sesident
	Cardiovascular Disease
	Deconorativo Joint Disease
	Dual X-ray Absorptionetry
DRP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
FCG	Electrocardiography
FCLIPSE	Evaluation of COPD Longitudinally to Identify Predictive
ERS	European Respiratory Society
FEV.	Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 Second
FDG-PET	F18-Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography
FFM	Fat Free Mass
FFMI	Fat Free Mass Index
FI	Frailty Index
FM	Fat Mass
FM:FFM	Fat Mass to Fat Free Mass Ratio
FMI	Fat Mass Index
FMD	Flow Mediated Dilatation
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
FEV₁:FVC	The ratio of FEV <sub>1</sub> to FVC
GFR	Glomerular Filtration Rate
GOLD	Global initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease
GORD	Gastro-Oesophageal Reflux Disease

GWAS	Genome-Wide Association Studies		
HR	Heart Rate		
HRQoL	Health Related Quality of Life		
HTN	Hypertension		
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient		
ICS	Inhaled Corticosteroid		
IL-6	Interleukin 6		
IREB	Iron-Responsive Element Binding protein		
kg	Kilogram		
L	Litres		
LABA	Long-Acting Bronchodilator Agonists		
LAMA	Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonists		
LV	Left Ventricle		
MAP	Mean Arterial Pressure		
MESA	Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis		
mg	Miligram		
MI	Myocardial Infarction		
ml	Millilitre		
mMol	Millimole		
Min	Minute		
mmHg	Millimetre(s) of mercury		
mmol/L	Millimoles/litre		
MMP	Matrix Metalloproteinase		
MRI	Magnetic Resonance Imaging		
mMRC	modified Medical Research Council		
NICOM	Non-Invasive Cardiac Output Measurement		
NO	Nitric Oxide		
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnoea		
PI	Phase Inhibitor		
PP	Pulse Pressure		
PSU	Pseudouridine		
PWV	Pulse Wave Velocity		
ROS	Reactive Oxvgen Species		
SABA	Short-Acting Bronchodilator Agonists		
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure		
SD	Standard Deviation		
SGRQ	St George's Respiratory Questionnaire		
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences		
SV	Stroke Volume		
<u>ΤΝF-α</u>	Tumour Necrosis Factor		
TORCH	Towards a revolution in COPD health		
TUG	Timed Up and Go		
VSMC	Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell		
WHO	World Health Organisation		

**Chapter One** 

#### 1.1 Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a persistent low grade inflammatory disease with important extrapulmonary disorders and associated consequences (GOLD, 2014). The origin of inflammation is not fully understood, but it is likely to be multifactorial and contributes to the development of systemic manifestations (Barnes and Celli, 2009). The accepted systemic manifestations include loss of skeletal muscle mass and function, physical inactivity, osteoporosis, insulin resistance, diabetes mellitus, potential premature vascular ageing and enhanced cardiovascular risk and psychological problems including anxiety and depression (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Hanania et al., 2011).

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is of particular importance in patients with COPD as several studies have shown increased cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in COPD independent of tobacco exposure (Hole et al., 1996, Engstrom et al., 2001). A number of studies have found a strong association between impaired lung function and CVD. A large cohort study showed reduced lung function is associated with a 3fold increased risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Tockman et al., 1995). The mechanism(s) underlying increased cardiovascular risk is unclear, but there is growing evidence, which supports the theory of a chronic low grade inflammation in COPD could be potentially implicated the pathogenesis of the lung induced CVD, which will be discussed in the literature review (Sin and Man, 2005). Systemic inflammation is also involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and has been related to arterial stiffness in patients with COPD (Barr et al., 2012, Sabit et al., 2007). Arterial stiffness is an integrated measure of the vasculature, which reflects several pathological mechanisms including elastin degradation, endothelial dysfunction, increased oxidative stress and atherosclerosis (Maclay et al., 2012, Ives et al., 2013, Barr et al., 2012).

In the general population, increased central arterial stiffness is a major independent risk factor for CVD as well as in subjects at increased cardiovascular risk (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010). Aortic pulse wave velocity (PWV) is the accepted gold standard non-invasive assessment of arterial stiffness and is predictive of adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Laurent et al., 2006). In COPD, Sabit et al. (2007) and others demonstrated increased aortic stiffness in patients with COPD, which was related to the severity of airflow obstruction and systemic inflammation compared with controls similar in age and gender. Increased aortic stiffness was associated aortic calcification, asymptomatic left ventricle dysfunction, myocardial injury and emphysema severity (Bolton et al., 2011, Patel et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2010a, Maclay et al., 2009). Taken together such evidence suggests that increased central arterial stiffness may reflect various risk factors that have been implicated in the pathology of CVD and could be a mediating factor in the increased cardiovascular risk associated with COPD. Therefore, it will be a valuable biomarker of monitoring and early recognition of patients with COPD who are at greater risk for cardiovascular events.

The change in arterial stiffness over time has not been evaluated in COPD so far as all the studies have only been cross-sectional. Thus, a longitudinal COPD population study is important to increase understanding of the rate at which arteries stiffen and generate information on possible cause(s) of arterial stiffening and the interaction of central arterial stiffness with other cardiovascular risk factors in COPD.

The presence of co-morbidities in COPD may resemble the accumulation of deficits with biological ageing where bodily physiological systems have become frail to resist stressors. Such deficits may represent frailty and the presence of multiple deficits in COPD be a result of premature ageing. Frailty reflects the impairment in multiple interrelated physiological systems, which range from subcellular levels to the organismic level (Fulop et al., 2010). Frailty has been established in several chronic

diseases including CVD, and the similarities between the accumulation of deficits in frailty and multiple comorbidities in COPD suggests that frailty is likely to be common in such chronic disorders (Newman et al., 2001). However, frailty is complex and not well defined, and may manifest a number of clinical changes indicating abnormal homeostasis (Rockwood et al., 2005). Therefore, frailty may quantify the risk of morbidity, mortality and healthcare and may be a useful concept to decribe heterogeneity and multimorbidity in COPD.

A number of epidemiological studies have shown that frailty is an independent predictor of adverse outcomes, disability, poor health status and death. Therefore, this study will examine the concept of frailty and its progression in COPD using the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment short form (Rockwood et al., 2005).

Healthcare providers frequently, focus on just a single disease and overlook other comorbidities, which may have debilitating effects on health status and national resources. The management of patients with COPD is usually focused in primary care, where other comorbidities and needs are neglected. The traditional approach of treating individual components of multimorbidity in isolation is unlikely to produce optimal clinical outcomes for patients. However, an assessment of frailty provides a simple and holistic overview of multimorbidity that may identify risk factors at an early stage and enhance appropriate management decisions with a better health status for the patient and enhanced cost effective healthcare. Thus, this study would provide a comprehensive assessment of patients with COPD and potentially extend risk assessment and early recognition of CVD, which is currently underestimated, and may create an opportunity for therapeutic interventions in the future or developing preventative strategies.

#### 1.2 COPD Definition

In the past, COPD has been defined as an irreversible disease, but now the optimistic accepted definition and most widely used is proposed by the Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) for COPD is " a common preventable and treatable disease, characterized by persistent airflow limitation that is usually progressive and associated with an enhanced chronic inflammatory response in the airways and the lung to noxious particles or gases" (GOLD, 2014).

#### **1.3 Diagnosis and Classification**

Currently, there is no single diagnostic test for COPD; therefore, diagnosis is based on exposure to risk factors, such as cigarette smoke, domestic and occupational smoke and clinical symptoms including dyspnoea, chronic cough and sputum production. The diagnosis is usually confirmed by spirometry test that shows the presence of airflow limitation defined using the following parameters:

**Forced Expired Volume in One Second (FEV**<sub>1</sub>**):** The volume of air expired in the first second of maximal expiration after maximal inspiration. This measures how quickly the lungs can be emptied.

**Forced Vital Capacity (FVC):** The maximum volume of air that can be exhaled during a forced manoeuvre.

**FEV**<sub>1</sub>**:FVC:** The ratio of FEV<sub>1</sub> to FVC gives a clinically useful index of airflow obstruction.

The diagnosis of COPD is made when  $FEV_1$ :FVC is less than 0.70. Spirometry may be used to classify the severity of airflow obstruction based on the predicted value of  $FEV_1$  as proposed by GOLD (Table 1.1). Patients with COPD may also be classified according to breathlessness (Table 1.2) or by the frequency of chest exacerbations per year (GOLD, 2014).

Recently, GOLD (2014) produced a new classification diagram to comprehensively assess patient's illness severity, incorporating patient's breathlessness or health status, alongside airflow obstruction and the number of exacerbations (Figure 1.1).

Stage	Severity of COPD	FEV1:FVC	FEV <sub>1</sub> % Predicted
I	Mild	<0.7	>80
II	Moderate	<0.7	50-80
III	Severe	<0.7	30-50
IV	Very Severe	<0.7	<30

### Table 1.1: Spirometric classification of patients with COPD according to (GOLD)

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expired volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity.

### Table 1.2: Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale (Fletcher et al. 1959)

Grade	Description of Breathlessness
0	I only get breathless with strenuous exercise.
1	I get short of breath when hurrying on level ground or walking up a slight hill.
2	On level ground, I walk slower than people of the same age because of breathlessness, or have to stop for breath when walking at my own pace.
3	I stop for breath after walking about 100 yards or after a few minutes on level ground.
4	I am too breathless to leave the house, or I am breathless when dressing.



Figure 1.1: New GOLD (2014) classification

Abbreviations: mMRC= Modified Medical Research Council; CAT= the COPD Assessment Test.

### 1.4 Aetiology

Smoking is the most widely accepted cause of COPD; it is suggested that approximately 50% of smokers will develop COPD (Lundback et al., 2003). Smoking results in a deterioration in the rate of FEV<sub>1</sub>, by a factor of three, and an increase in mortality related to the total number of cigarettes smoked. It is accepted that reducing smoking will gradually diminish the prevalence of COPD (Doll et al., 2004, Xu et al., 1994). For this reason, the term 'preventable' has been introduced in the definition of COPD in the joint ATS/ERS definition. Tobacco smoking causes changes in the structure and function of the lungs before clinical signs of airway obstruction become apparent. These changes can be detected early in the disease process by body plethysmography and diffusing capacity measurement with routine spirometry (Perez-Padilla et al., 1996). Although, smoking is not the only predisposing factor, the contribution of environmental factors is still unknown, their effect is still minimal compared to those of smoking (Salvi and Barnes, 2009). In developing countries, a major contributor to the prevalence of COPD in non-smoking subjects is the burning of biomass fuel in poorly ventilated areas (Salvi and Barnes, 2009). Other risk factors for COPD include occupational exposure (noxious fumes, coal and silica dust, etc.), airway hyperresponsiveness, poor nutrition, deficiencies in anti-oxidant vitamins, childhood infections and socioeconomic class (Yach et al., 2004).

Airway hyperresponsiveness is considered one of the risk factors that causes an accelerated decline in lung function in individuals with non-specific airway hyperreactivity and with a smoking history. Non-specific airway hyperreactivity is inversely related to FEV<sub>1</sub> and may predict a decline in lung function (Lundback et al., 2003). The possible role of airway hyperresponsiveness as a risk factor for the development and progression of COPD in subjects who smoke is still unknown (Silverman et al., 1998). Moreover, airways hyperreactivity may be a consequence of airway inflammation observed with the development of smoking-related chronic

bronchitis. This may contribute to airway remodelling, leading to a more fixed obstruction, as seen in patients with COPD.

While around 50% of smokers develop COPD, this suggests that some individuals may have a genetic propensity for the development of COPD (Demeo et al., 2004, Lundback et al., 2003). Familial clustering of COPD is well recognised, and compromise in lung function in the general population has a heritability of approximately 50%. Several genes have been identified that may predispose to the development of COPD. The most extensively studied genetic abnormality is  $\alpha$ -1 antitrypsin deficiency. This is thought to be accountable for less than 2% of cases of COPD (Tarjan et al., 1994). AAT decelerates serine proteases and is recognised to have a prominent selective action against neutrophil elastase. It is a member of a larger family of structurally unique serine protease inhibitors known as serpins, which have been implicated in other disease pathogenesis including angioedema, neurodegenerative diseases and coagulation abnormalities (Hersh et al., 2004, Stoller and Aboussouan, 2005). The AAT gene is located on the long arm of chromosome 14, and more than 90 different phenotypes have been identified according to their electrophoretic properties, giving rise to the phase inhibitor (Pi) nomenclature (Sandford and Silverman, 2002). Approximately 24 variants of the AAT molecule have been identified and the most widely known allele variant is PiM, found in 90% of the people, which regulates the activities of AAT. Conversely, the most abnormal alleles are S mutation and Z mutation. They are associated with a reduction in the plasma level of AAT and function. PiZ is the most anomalous genotype, accounted for 16% of anti-protease activity and patients with this gene have a progressive decline in  $FEV_1$ and unrelated to smoking effect. However, symptoms may vary between individuals, ranging from asymptomatic in some, to fatal in others (Hackett et al., 2003).

Recently, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) make it possible to study people without prior knowledge of their disease, which significantly impacts on the

understanding of COPD. In GWAS pooled results, three novel genes have been identified to be associated with increased susceptibility of COPD. Pillai and colleagues (Pillai et al., 2009) found genome-wide significant associations between COPD and the cholinergic receptors nicotinic alpha (CHRNA3 and CHRNA5) and iron-responsive element binding protein 2 (IREB2) regions on chromosome 15. Although these results are interesting and envisage for identifying possible subjects prone to the disease, a disease like COPD, a multisystem disorder, could not be linked to just an abnormality in one gene, and further work need to be done to comprehensively understand pathways that link human tissue and system that are involved in COPD (Barabasi, 2007, Barabasi et al., 2011).

### 1.5 Epidemiology of COPD

The prevalence of COPD increases with ageing. Although this disease is preventable and treatable, a number of people who experience shortness of breath and limited physical function remain undiagnosed (Sutherland and Cherniack, 2004). This is attributed to the understanding and interpretation of these symptoms by these individuals (i.e. part of the ageing process or common symptoms of smoking). In addition, obtaining an estimate of the true prevalence of COPD largely relies on the instruments used, the population studied and the spirometric criteria for airway obstruction (Halbert et al., 2003). This heterogeneity has contributed to an underestimation of the true figure worldwide. The prevalence worldwide varies depending on the spirometric criteria for COPD. In an international study, Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease, the prevalence of COPD among the population aged over 40 was estimated at 10±4.8% (Buist et al., 2007). However, this is likely to underestimate the actual figure of people having the condition, since most people do not seek medical help until the symptoms of COPD have become quite advanced. In the UK, it is estimated that the number of people who have been diagnosed with COPD is around one million. However, this number is likely to underestimate the true prevalence (Halbert et al., 2006). In 2004, COPD was a principal cause of death in England and Wales (National Statistic, 2004). Currently, COPD is cited as the fifth leading cause of death in the UK and the fourth worldwide (National Statistic, 2004, Pauwels et al., 2001). Surprisingly, despite advances in the management of COPD, the mortality from COPD continues to increase, while other leading causes of death, such as cancer and cardiovascular disease, continue to decline. By 2020, COPD is expected to be the third leading cause of death worldwide (GOLD, 2014).

#### 1.6 Pathogenesis of COPD

COPD is associated with an abnormal inflammatory response of the lungs to the inhalation of exogenous noxious stimuli. This involves various types of inflammatory cells and mediators. The inflammatory response extends to both the lungs and other body systems. Although smoking is considered to be the primary trigger to elicit this inflammatory response, only a proportion of smokers develop COPD (Gottlieb et al., 2001). The susceptibility to developing COPD is still unknown, however, other contributing factors, such as genetic and immune system abnormalities may play a role in the development of COPD (Feghali-Bostwick et al., 2008, Houben et al., 2009). The inhalation of toxic particles and gases activates an abnormal inflammatory response that is thought to play an integral role in mucous hypersecretion, fibrosis and proteolysis, which in consequence leads to chronic bronchitis, emphysema and airway obstruction (Gottlieb et al., 2001, He et al., 2010, Lundback et al., 2003). The extent of airway inflammation relates to the severity of COPD and exists even many years after smoking cessation (Agusti and Faner, 2012, Barnes and Celli, 2009).

Despite the existence of technology and extensive research on the pathogenesis of COPD, the exact mechanism of central and peripheral airway inflammation remains unclear. Cigarette smoke, other exogenous noxious gases and infectious organisms are believed to activate alveolar macrophages, bronchial epithelial cells and other cellular elements in the airways of genetically susceptible individuals (Marin et al., 2012). Once activated, these cells produce a variety of chemokines and cytokines including macrophage chemotactic protein-1, which lead to the pulmonary parenchyma and vasculature abnormalities and airway remodelling (Keatings et al., 1996). Compelling evidence suggests that the neutrophil is the key effector cell in COPD (Mannino et al., 2006). Increased neutrophil in the bronchial glands suggests a development of mucus hypersecretion and tissue damage (Rovina et al., 2009). In the peripheral airways, the inflammatory cell infiltrate consists predominantly of

mononuclear cells and macrophages (Tsoumakidou et al., 2009). The macrophages count increase in the airways and lung parenchyma, in parallel with the increase in severity of the disease (Tsuda et al., 2009).

Another potential mechanism involved in the pathogenesis of COPD is of proteases/antiprotease imbalance. Patients with COPD demonstrated a high prevalence of matrix melloproteinase (MMP) 9 in their skin (Maclay et al., 2012). This suggests that there is a breakdown of lung connective tissue and parenchyma.

A further mechanism that involves the pathogenesis of COPD is oxidative stress. Oxidative stress has also been attributed a central role in the pathogenesis of COPD, because, in addition to causing direct injury to the respiratory tract, oxidative stress triggers and exacerbates inflammation, protease/antiprotease imbalance and apoptosis (Barnes et al., 2003).

### 1.7 Comorbidity in COPD

COPD is not just a chest disease, but it is associated with extrapulmonary comorbidities. Comorbidities and systemic manifestations are features of COPD and commonly used interchangeably. However, they are really two different entities. Comorbidities are chronic diseases that associated with COPD, while the systemic manifestations are consequences of COPD. Nevertheless, both comorbidities and systemic consequences worsen the patient's condition.

A number of comorbidities can present in patients with COPD and recently Divo et al. (2012) represented them as a "Comobidome" (Figure 1.2). Comorbidities share common pathophysiological mechanisms with COPD and this accelerates the disease progression and increases hospitalisation and mortality rate (Divo et al., 2012). A number of factors may link these comorbidities to COPD including genetic predisposition, physical inactivity and inflammation (Barnes and Celli, 2009). Therefore, COPD is currently considered as a complex heterogeneous disease with various pulmonary and extrapulmonary comorbidities (Vanfleteren et al., 2013).



### Figure 1.1: Comorbidities in COPD

The "Comorbidome" is a graphical expression of comorbidities. The area of the circle relates to the prevalence of the disease. The colours of the bubbles represent organ systems or disease clusters. Red: cardiovascular; pink: female-specific comorbidities; green: pulmonary; blue: psychiatric; brown and orange: others. OSA: obstructive sleep apnoea; CVA: cerebrovascular accident; HTN: hypertension; RHF: right heart failure; CHF: congestive heart failure; PAD: peripheral artery disease; CAD: coronary artery disease; BPH: benign prostatic hypertrophy; CRF: chronic renal failure; DJD: degenerative joint disease; GORD: gastro-oesophageal reflux disease. **Figure was taken from Divo et al. (2012) article**.

#### 1.7.1 Systemic Inflammation in COPD

There is a growing evidence to suggest that COPD is not just a pulmonary disease, but also a systemic disease with several extrapulmonary manifestations including systemic inflammation (Thomsen et al., 2012, Vanfleteren et al., 2013). Patients with COPD have evidence of increased systemic inflammation especially at late stage of the disease or during exacerbation (Gan et al., 2004).

A meta-analysis by Gan and colleagues (2004) concluded that individuals with COPD had significantly higher levels of many circulating inflammatory mediators, such as C-reactive protein (CRP) and fibrinogen in the peripheral blood of COPD compared to individuals free from the disease. Persistent systemic inflammation continues even after smoking cessation suggesting that COPD is a systemic inflammatory disease (Agusti and Faner, 2012, Fabbri et al., 2012). Moreover, patients with a higher level of systemic inflammatory markers are more likely to have a progressive deterioration in their lung function and have an increased risk of hospitalisation (Valvi et al., 2012, Vernooy et al., 2002, Vestbo et al., 2011).

The association between COPD and systemic inflammation is not fully understood. Several hypotheses have been proposed and investigated. The hypothesis that the inflammatory process in the airways "spills over" into the systemic circulation has been questioned in the literature, since the sputum and plasma levels of important inflammatory mediators such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and interleukin-6 (IL-6) have no clear relationship (He et al., 2010, Vernooy et al., 2002). Recently, the understanding of the mechanism of persistent inflammation in COPD, despite smoking cessation has considered another avenue, which is autoimmune system deficiency (Nunez et al., 2011). The hypothesis of immune system dysfunction addresses a few missing links in the pathogenesis of COPD (Agusti et al., 2003). This is evident from the presence of antinuclear antibodies in patients with COPD when compared with healthy controls, and these molecules are not related to smoking
history or lung function (Agusti et al., 2003). This suggests that the immune system adapts with a specific response to the inflammatory process that is driven by the repeated proliferation of B- and T- cells, indicating that the autoimmune system is involved in the pathogenesis of COPD and activation of systemic inflammation (Cosio et al., 2009). Another possible mechanism is that patients with COPD have a common genetic susceptibility or epigenetic changes to both systemic and pulmonary inflammation (Hackett et al., 2003, Houben et al., 2009). Having excluded sources of systemic inflammation not originating from the lung, the increased systemic inflammatory markers in patients with COPD may derive from other sources, such as circulating leukocytes, skeletal muscle or even cardiac muscle. Systemic hypoxia commonly seen in patients with severe stage of COPD, may also contribute to systemic inflammation since it has been shown to correlate with both IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ , and soluble receptors are predominantly higher than in control subjects (Sabit et al., 2010b, Takabatake et al., 1999). Moreover, local and systemic inflammations do not occur concurrently, and there may be more than one pathway involved at a given time during the progression of the disease. These mechanisms are regulated differently, locally and systemically, in response to inflammation and are dependent on disease severity (He et al., 2010). This leads to the possibility that systemic inflammation is a primary phenomenon, which itself leads to airway injury and inflammation.

Finally, due to the complexity of this disease and the involvement of other comorbidities which play a role in aggravating systemic inflammatory markers, this makes judging the source of systemic inflammation difficult. Additionally, the current evidence lacks a well-conducted study. Most studies are cross-sectional which, due to their methodological limitations, cannot determine the association between inflammatory markers and comorbidities.

#### 1.7.2 Hypertension in COPD

Hypertension is the most common comorbidity occurring in patients with COPD and estimated to be between 40-60% (Mannino et al., 2008). This seems to rise with severity of the disease with an odds ratio of 1.4 in GOLD II and 1.6 in GOLD III & IV compared with control subjects. Hypertension is a key risk factor for atherosclerosis and the leading cause of cardiovascular events including coronary heart disease, myocardial infarction and stroke and its presence in COPD increases the risk of hospitalisation and mortality (Mannino et al., 2008). The link between increased blood pressure and COPD is not fully understood, but accelerated vascular ageing through elastin breakdown and deposition of collagen in the arterial wall, which consequently leads to arterial stiffness may be a factor (Maclay et al., 2012).

#### 1.7.3 COPD and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Several cross-sectional studies have shown a relationship between type 2 diabetes and COPD even at early stage of COPD (Carrasco-Garrido et al., 2009, Cazzola et al., 2010). The prevalence of diabetes in patients with COPD has been shown to range from 1.6% to 16% (Mannino et al., 2008, Rana et al., 2004). In the UK, patients with COPD have double the relative risk 1.8 (95%Cl: 1.1 to 2.8) of developing type 2 diabetes compared with non-COPD subjects (Rana et al., 2004). COPD and diabetes mellitus share similar risk factors, including smoking. However, stopping smoking for more than 5 years can mitigate this risk in diabetes but not in COPD. Several studies have found a link between diabetes mellitus and abnormal lung function (Rana et al., 2004, Walter et al., 2003). A prospective cohort study of diabetes found an association between impaired lung function, as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>, and FVC, which is more pronounced in smoking subjects (Walter et al., 2003). However, in a recent large cohort study, diabetes mellitus and decreased FEV<sub>1</sub> were found to be related regardless of smoking status, and this relationship is more remarkable in people with central (abdominal) obesity (Lam et al., 2010). The underlying mechanism of the increased prevalence of type 2 diabetes in COPD remains uncertain. However, both COPD and diabetes mellitus share other common risk factors including increased obesity, physical inactivity, hypoxia, oxidative stress and inflammation.

#### 1.7.4 Osteoporosis

Osteoporosis is common in COPD, and is characterised by loss of bone mineral density and microarchitectural changes resulting in an increased risk of fracture (Biskobing, 2002). A number of cross sectional studies have shown an increased prevalence of osteoporosis and osteopenia in COPD (Bolton et al.,2004, Sabit et al., 2007). The risk of osteoporosis has been found to increase with declining lung function as measured by FEV<sub>1</sub>, independent of age, BMI and corticosteroid use (Graat-Verboom et al., 2009). Osteoporosis also contributes to vascular calcification and increased arterial stiffness, which may account for increased cardiovascular risk in patients with COPD (Bolton et al., 2011, Sabit et al., 2007).

The association between osteoporosis and COPD is unknown, but is likely to be multifactorial. A number of known risk factors for osteoporosis are associated with COPD including increasing age, smoking, low levels of vitamin D, reduced physical activity, alteration in body composition and hypogonadism (Barnes and Celli, 2009). Although systemic steroid use in COPD has been linked to loss of bone mass and osteoporosis, the association with inhaled corticosteroids is still not obvious. Hip and vertebral fractures are common in COPD, with the latter reducing intra-thoracic volumes and causing compromised lung function and therefore it is prudent to put great efforts to diagnose and intervene at an early stage to minimise the complications associated with fracture.

# 1.7.5 Physical Activity

COPD is a heterogeneous disease associated with physical inactivity ( Barnes and Celli, 2009). Patients with COPD frequently complain of dyspnea during everyday activity and subsequently tend to avoid performing normal daily tasks, which eventually leads a downward spiral symptom-induced inactivity (Pitta et al., 2006). Reduced physical activity occurs in different patients to different extents, if at all. Some patients have severely impaired lung function, yet have well preserved physical exercise capacity and maintain their functional status, whereas other patients have severely impaired physical and functional capacity, but have only mild or moderate disease airway obstruction (Spruit et al., 2010). Part of this variation may be attributable to the balance of the underlying aetiology (lung growth impairment in early life. smoking and occupational exposures), the underlying predominant pathophysiology (airway disease versus emphysema) alongside the patient's genetic makeup. This emphasises the idea that FEV1 is a poor predictor of exercise capacity and cannot reflect patient's physical performance (Kapella et al., 2011).

Physical inactivity plays a key factor in causing morbidity, hospital admission related to exacerbation, accelerate the progression of disease severity and health related quality of life (Pitta et al., 2006). Patients with low physical activity level have doubled the risk of disability (Garcia-Aymerich et al., 2006).

Although physical inactivity is a modifiable risk factor and reversible, its assessment in clinical settings is limited due to limited resources. Regular physical activity has been found to reduce the risk of CVD, but also reduced the hospitalisation rate and death related to COPD (Watz et al., 2009).

### 1.7.6 Body Composition in COPD

### 1.7.6.1 Loss of Muscle Mass

A common comorbidity of COPD, which is well established, is the loss of musculoskeletal mass, which manifests as weight loss (Bolton et al., 2004). This is a common clinical manifestation of COPD, and in particular those with emphysema (Engelen et al., 2000b). As the severity of the disease increases, the patient is more prone to loss of weight and low body mass index (BMI). Several studies have shown higher COPD-related mortality rates in underweight and normal weight patients compared to overweight and even obese patients (Landbo et al., 1999, Schols et al., 1998). Such a relationship contrasts with the U-shaped survival curve that is seen for BMI in other population studies (Bray, 1987). This discrepancy is attributed to the fact that BMI does not reliably reflect metabolic change in muscle mass (Rutten et al., 2013).

Fat Free Mass (FFM) has been shown to be a reliable indicator of mortality and prognosis in several studies (Schols et al., 2005, Van Den Borst et al., 2011, Vestbo et al., 2006). Vestbo and co-authors (2006) demonstrated that patients with COPD have some depletion of muscle mass in the presence of a normal or high BMI, and this is inversely related to the severity of the lungs' condition, especially in GOLD stages III and IV. Interestingly, this subgroup of patients, known as having muscle mass loss, are also at increased risk of death, suggesting that FFM is a predictor of mortality independent of BMI (Vestbo et al., 2006).

Loss of FFM adversely affects peripheral and respiratory muscle function, resulting in further respiratory compromise, exercise intolerance and reduced health status (Engelen et al., 1994, Hopkinson et al., 2007). In addition, loss of FFM increases the risk of exacerbation, hospital admission and mortality (Engelen et al., 2000b, Schols et al., 2005). Furthermore, Eisner and colleagues (2007) demonstrated that increased fat mass was strongly associated with activity limitation.

The underlying mechanism of both weight loss and loss of FFM seems to be complex and remains poorly understood. Nevertheless, various hypotheses have been proposed, which include systemic inflammation, protein metabolism imbalance and deregulation of muscle homeostasis. Bolton et al. (2004) demonstrated that the urinary pseudouridine (PSU), a marker of cellular protein breakdown, is significantly associated with the loss of FFM and particularly in severe and very severe COPD patients.

### 1.7.6.2 Fat Tissue and Adipokines

Pathophysiological mechanisms linking COPD and development of comorbidities remain largely unknown, but increased systemic inflammation has been suggested to play a role (Vanfleteren et al., 2013). Systemic inflammation has been implicated in the development of musculoskeletal dysfunction, atherosclerosis, osteoporosis and CVD (Eid et al., 2001, Bolton et al., 2004, Sin and Man, 2005). However, the source of inflammation is not fully elucidated. Patients with COPD often have altered body composition. Previously, great interest was shown in loss of FFM and the link to increased mortality. More recently attention has focused on an increased fat mass (FM), even in the presence of a normal FFM, because of it's relationship to systemic inflammation, loss of physical function and cardiovascular risk. Adipose tissue is now accepted as an active endocrine organ that produces a variety of pro-inflammatory mediators including interleukin-6, which contributes in the development of insulin resistance and the increased risk of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease in COPD (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Rutten et al., 2010, Watz et a., 2008). Adipose tissue also produces a variety of adipokines, which influence a wide range of bodily physiological systems (Rutten et al., 2010). COPD is associated with intermittent or chronic hypoxemia, which is suggested to lead to adipose tissue hypoxemia and consequently adipose tissue inflammation (Agusti et al., 2010). The most studied adipokines in COPD are adiponectin and leptin. Adiponectin plays a crucial role in

inhibiting inflammation, improving vascular haemostasis and reducing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Sood, 2010, Breyer et al., 2012, Yoon et al., 2013). In contrast, increased levels of leptin are associated with increased local inflammation, oxidative stress and development of CVD (Breyer et al., 2011, Sattar et al., 2006).

Adiponectin has a pleiotropic effect and its regulatory role is not fully understood. In a subset of patients from the ECLIPSE study, Breyer and colleagues (2012) have found that patients with COPD demonstrated raised levels of serum adiponectin and were inversely related to BMI compared with age, gender and BMI matched control subjects. They showed the levels of adiponectin were inversely related to CRP and independent of gender. Similar findings have been reported in a small sample size of Chinese COPD population and serum adiponectin increased with the airways severity (Chan et al., 2010). However, unlike the study by Beryer et al. (2012), Chan and colleagues (2010) reported a positive relationship between CRP and serum adiponectin. Contrary to previous studies, in a fair sample sized COPD study, Breyer and co-authors (2011) reported no association between plasma adiponectin and inflammatory biomarkers (i.e. CRP or TNF $\alpha$ ) and the levels of serum adiponectin were similar between patients with COPD and age and gender matched controls.

Recently, the longitudinal results from the Lung and Health Study showed increased levels of serum adiponectin were associated with lower hospitalisations and reduced risk of cardiovascular mortality (Yoon et al., 2012). This is supported by a number of clinical studies, which have found increased plasma levels of adiponectin has a cardioprotective role against coronary heart disease, increased risk of myocardial infarction and remodelling of cardiomyocytes after infarction (Sattar et al., 2006).

Nevertheless, this study showed other debilitating effects of circulating adiponectin on the lung, where raised levels of plasma adiponectin were associated with bronchial hyperactivity, rapid decline in lung function and doubled the risk of respiratory-related mortality (adjusted hazard ratio, 2.09; 95% CI, 1.41-3.11). Consistent with these

findings, other studies have reported that increased levels of adiponectin were associated with the severity of airway obstruction and increase the risk of exacerbations (Kirdar et al., 2009, Chan et al., 2010).

Another adipokine that has been studied in COPD populations is leptin. Patients with COPD showed elevated levels of plasma and pulmonary leptin, which were associated with increased inflammation compared with age and gender matched control subjects (Broekhuizen et al., 2005, Beryer et al., 2011). A conflicting result has also been reported in a study by Kirdar and colleagues (2009) who showed patients with COPD and age and gender matched controls had similar levels of serum leptin. Plasma leptin has been shown to be gender and BMI dependent (Breyer et al., 2011). Female patients demonstrated higher levels of leptin than their male counterparts (Breyer et al., 2011). These differences are not fully understood, but may attribute to differences in sex hormones and body fat distribution.

Increased serum and pulmonary leptin and it's relationship with other proinflammatory biomarkers suggest a potential role for leptin in the pathogenesis of COPD and the increased risk of CVD in this population.

Nevertheless, the role of adipokines in COPD is still controversial due to limited studies and knowledge in this field. Understanding the physiological and pathophysiological role of adipokines in local and systemic inflammation is crucial. Future studies are needed to explore the role of adipokines and their involvement in the disease process.

# 1.7.7 Chronic Kidney Disease

Chronic kidney disease has recently received a great attention in COPD and the GOLD guidelines recommended that patients with COPD should be screened for renal disease (GOLD, 2014). The prevalence of COPD is reported to be between 6-11% and is not associated airways severity (Patel and Hurst, 2011). The presence of chronic kidney disease in patients with COPD has been associated with a high

mortality rate compared to patients without chronic kidney disease (Incalzi et al., 1997). Association between chronic renal disease and COPD is not fully elucidated, but it may be related to inability of the kidney to clear inflammatory biomarkers and prothrombotic molecules or presence of other comorbidities such as hypertension and type 2 diabetes may amplify the risk. Screening for chronic kidney disease may help to understand the link between COPD and CVD.

### 1.7.8 Sarcopenia in COPD

As part of the ageing human body, body composition experiences several changes including loss of muscle mass and strength, which is known as sarcopenia. Age related sarcopenia involves loss of muscle mass and function with a subsequent decrease in physical performance and health related quality of life (Cruz-Jentoft et al., 2010). Skeletal muscles undergo several changes during the ageing process including a decrease in their mass and cross-sectional area, and a reduction in the size and number of type II fibre. However, the exact underlying pathophysiological mechanism of sarcopenia is poorly understood. It is likely to be a multifactorial involvement of neuromuscular integrity, neuroendocrine and physical inactivity (Joseph et al., 2005). The latter is thought to play an important role in the development of loss of musculoskeletal mass and strength in health and disease (Cesari et al., 2006).

Age related sarcopenia features are frequently seen in patients with COPD at younger age, suggesting that COPD has the potential to accelerate these physiological changes (Eid et al., 2001). Results from the cross-sectional studies have shown that a decline in muscle mass and function is associated with reduced fat oxidation rate and increased insulin resistance (Bolton et al., 2004, Eid et al., 2001, Gosker et al., 2007). Maintaining muscle mass and function is an integrative process and extremely complex. However, physical activity has a strong preventative influence on muscle mass loss (Pitta et al., 2006, Watz et al., 2009). Longitudinal studies are needed to examine the changes in body composition and physical performance in the natural history of COPD.

# 1.8 Cardiovascular Diseases

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) is the most common comorbidity associated with COPD. Over the past three decades, there has been a growing body of epidemiological evidence suggesting a strong association between COPD and CVD. The association between COPD and CVD has been previously attributed to smoking. However, several studies have suggested that smoking may partially contribute but cannot entirely explain the increased risk of cardiovascular events in COPD. Other contributing factors may explain why COPD induces CVD are likely to be reduced lung function, inflammation and increased sympathetic overactivity.

#### **1.8.1 Lung Function Impairment**

Reduced lung function is another factor that can link COPD to CVD. In the general population of Tecumseh (USA), individuals with FEV<sub>1</sub> less than 2.0 L had a fivefold increase in their relative risk of cardiovascular mortality than those with FEV<sub>1</sub> greater than or equal to 2.0L (Higgins and Keller, 1970). This relationship was subsequently confirmed in other prospective cohort studies (Hole et al., 1996, Schunemann et al., 2000). Interestingly, in these studies, the risk of cardiovascular death continuously decreases as the FEV<sub>1</sub> increases suggesting that CVD is lung function dependent.

In a large UK cohort study; Hole and colleagues (1996) followed 7058 men and 8353 women aged between 45 and 64 for 15 years and found that reduced  $FEV_1$  accounted for 26% of all deaths related to ischaemic heart disease in men and 24% in women.

Although these early studies strongly suggested that reduced pulmonary function is responsible for increased cardiovascular mortality, they did not consider other comorbidities such as hypertension, hypercholesterolemia and diabetes and confounding factors such as sex, tobacco exposure and physical activity. In addition, these studies did not classify individuals according to their lung function.

In the general adult population, the cause of  $FEV_1$  reduction is of two types, either obstructive or restrictive airway diseases. However, a reduced  $FEV_1/FVC$  ratio is a

hallmark indicator of obstructive airway disease. Engstrom and colleagues (2001) prospectively followed a cohort of 621 males for over thirteen years. During this period, all cardiovascular events and mortality were documented. They found that men in the lowest quintile of FEV1/FVC were more than twice as likely to die of coronary events and complex ventricular arrhythmias as those in the highest quintile. This remained significant after controlling for important risk factors, such as tobacco exposure, alcohol consumption, physical activity and the presence of diabetes mellitus. Although the results of this study were interesting, the authors did not consider the role of other comorbidities or previous cardiac events on causing cardiac mortality. Additionally, the authors considered abnormal systolic blood pressure above 160 mmHg, which is 20 mmHg above the accepted limit for normal systolic blood pressure, which increases the risk factor for cardiovascular events and mortality (Lewington et al., 2002). Similarly, the lung health study reported that cardiovascular events were responsible for 25% of deaths over 5 years in a large cohort of smokers with airways obstruction (Anthonisen et al., 1994). This study also showed that cardiovascular events were responsible for 42% of first hospitalisations and 48% of second hospitalisations. In general, for every 10% decrease in FEV<sub>1</sub>, cardiovascular mortality was increased by 28%, and non-fatal coronary events increased by 20%, after controlling for relevant risk factors (Sin and Man, 2005).

In two large cohort studies (Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) and the Cardiovascular Health Study (CHS)) comprising of 20,296 patients over the age of 45 years, the cardiovascular mortality in 5 years follow-up was nearly 6% and was airway severity dependent (Mannino et al., 2008). Recently, the "TOwards a revolution in COPD health" (TORCH) study recruited 6,184 patients with moderate to very severe COPD and followed them up for three years. The incidence rate of cardiovascular events during this period of time was from 20.8% to 24.3%, and the death rate was 14% (Calverley et al., 2010). However, considering the effects of bronchodilators, and

in particular ipratropium bromide and its probability to increase cardiovascular events, this may raise the question of whether these adverse events stem purely from COPD or are attributable to drug effects. In addition, the influence of other potentially confounding factors, such as diabetes mellitus, hyperlipidaemia, socioeconomic status and physical inactivity, were not controlled for in their analysis. Therefore, the percentage of cardiovascular deaths in patients with COPD reported in the TORCH study may not precisely address or link completely to the effects of COPD.

In the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Ageing (BLAS), individuals who had a progressive decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> during a 16 years follow-up were three to five times more likely to die from a cardiovascular event than those who had the slowest decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> (Tockman et al., 1995). Although these results were adjusted for age, baseline FEV<sub>1</sub>, smoking status, blood pressure, BMI and serum cholesterol, the effects of other confounding factors, such as gender, race, dyslipidaemia, socioeconomic status and physical inactivity, which are well-recognized risk factors for cardiac mortality, were not considered.

Similarly, a Finnish-based population study found that symptoms of chronic bronchitis were associated with a 50% increase in coronary deaths, after correcting for age, gender, serum cholesterol, systolic blood pressure and smoking history (Jousilahti et al., 1996). However, the diagnosis and severity of chronic bronchitis were based only on subjective information obtained from a simple questionnaire, which cannot quantify the severity of the disease. In addition, lack of quantification of lung function may question the relationship.

Moreover, the relationship between the decline in  $FEV_1$  and cardiovascular disease is independent of smoking, though it has also been demonstrated in lifetime nonsmokers (Hole et al., 1996; Tockman et al., 1995). In the BLSA study, the accelerated decline in  $FEV_1$  amongst lifetime non-smokers was associated with a five- to ten-fold increase in the risk of cardiac death. This further adds to the notion that the confounding effects of smoking cannot describe the relationship between reduced FEV<sub>1</sub> and CVD.

COPD is also a risk for cardiovascular events. In the UK, the prevalence of angina and myocardial infarction (MI) in newly diagnosed patients with COPD was >1% within the first year after their diagnosis (Soriano et al., 2005). Recently, from a large database of primary care comprising over one million, 29870 patients were identified with COPD and were five times more likely to have CVD compared with those without COPD (Feary et al., 2010). In the follow-up analyses and after adjustment for confounding factors including age, sex and smoking status, the incidence of MI was three times greater in patients with COPD than non-COPD individuals. Interestingly, the incidence of MI was age dependent. In the ECLIPSE (Evaluation of COPD Longitudinally to Identify Predictive Surrogate End-points) study, " heart trouble" and MI were found to be higher in patients with COPD (26% and 9%) than smoking controls (11% and 9%), respectively (Hurst et al., 2010). Likewise, the prevalence of CVD in the ARIC and CHS studies was between (20% and 22%) in patients with COPD compared with 9% in non-COPD group (Barr et al., 2009, Mannino et al., 2006). In a cross-sectional study involving 405 patients with COPD in primary care with unknown heart failure, 83 patients were identified to have heart failure after they underwent a thorough clinical investigation (Rutten et al., 2005a). Interestingly, none of the patients had a right side heart failure.

### 1.8.2 Inflammation

Systemic inflammation is a feature of extrapulmonary manifestations of COPD, which has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of CVD. Although the origin of inflammation is poorly understood, COPD is characterised by a persistent lung and systemic inflammation, which increased during exacerbation (Van Eeden et al., 2012, Patel et al., 2013). Most importantly, inflammation that happens at level of the small airways and alveoli, may play a significant role in the lung induced CVD. The mechanism by which inflammation induces CVD is complex and not fully understood. However, it is likely that inflammation is involved in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and formation of plaque, which is thought to be the first phase of CVD (Lusis, 2000). Animal studies have shown that chronic exposure of the lung to small noxious particles are responsible for increased local and systemic inflammation, accelerated atherosclerotic changes in coronary arteries, endothelial dysfunction and increased oxidative stress compared with control animals (Suwa et al., 2002, Sun et al., 2005). Additionally, although the mechanism/s behind these changes was obscure, these studies elucidated a key point, which these abnormal responses were directly related to lung inflammation. Similar findings have been demonstrated in a double-blind, randomised, crossover study of men with stable ischaemic heart disease who had been exposed to either dilute diesel exhaust (induce lung inflammation) or filtered air during one hour training (Mills et al., 2007). Men who were exposed to dilute diesel exhaust demonstrated impaired fibrinolytic activity and reduced myocardial oxygenation compared to filtered air group. Consistent with these findings, Smeeth and colleagues (2004) analysed the data of five millions patients using the UK General Practice Research Database and showed that the risk of MI was five times greater within the first three days from the onset of respiratory infection compared to upper tract of urinary infection. The role of inflammation has been recently implicated in the pathogenesis of arterial stiffness, which is an independent predictor of adverse cardiovascular events. In patients with COPD, the role of systemic inflammation in increased arterial stiffness is contentious. This controversy is due to the fact that these studies have used non-specific systemic inflammatory biomarkers such as CRP and fibrinogen. This is supported by a recent study by Coulson and colleagues (2010) who found that increased arterial stiffness in patients with COPD was related to increased vascular inflammation, which was independent of systemic inflammation.

#### 1.8.3 Autonomic Nervous System Dysfunction

Recently, the role of increased sympathetic nervous system activity has been recognised as a responsible mechanism for increased CVD in COPD (Van Gestel et al., 2012). Patients with COPD have a higher resting heart rate and a decrease in heart rate variability (Agusti et al., 2003). An increase of 10 beats is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular and all cause of mortality in patients with COPD compared to COPD free individuals (Agusti et al., 2003). Additionally, concomitant use of cardioprotective drugs (statins and angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors) may increase the risk of arrhythmia, myocardial infarction and cardiovascular death (Mancini et al., 2006). Another possible factor worsening heart function in patients with COPD risk is autonomic nervous system instability, which may be mediated by the use of inhaled anti-cholinergic drugs. These drugs are believed to increase the risk of myocardial infarction and coronary heart disease (Anthonisen et al., 2002). Physical inactivity and lower socioeconomic status have also been implicated in the increased cardiovascular risk in COPD (Watz et al., 2008).

# 1.9 Arterial Stiffness

There is a growing evidence linking COPD to increased risk of cardiovascular events, and the nature of this relationship is proportional to the severity of the disease. Although both diseases share common predisposing factors, such as age and smoking exposure, the nature of this association still exists after controlling for these confounding factors (Sin and Man, 2005, Van Eeden et al., 2012).

The interaction mechanism linking COPD to CVD is not fully defined. However, several proposed mechanisms have been suggested including increased arterial stiffness.

### 1.9.1 Definition

Arterial stiffness characterises an artery's capacity to expand and contract with cardiac pulsation and relaxation. Terms such as arterial compliance, distensibility, elastic modulus, augmentation index and pulse wave velocity are all specific measures that come under the general term of arterial stiffness (Laurent et al., 2006). Stiffening of the larger arteries is a normal part of the ageing process; as the arteries lose part of their elasticity and become stiffer (McEniery et al., 2005). This is known as arteriosclerosis and is commonly seen in elastic arteries, such as the aorta and carotid, and little change is seen in muscular arteries such as the femoral and radial (Lee and Oh, 2010).

Elastin fibres play a major part in determining the mechanical strength of the vessels at lower pressures, while collagen fibres provide most of the strength at higher pressures. Therefore, elasticity of the arteries is needed to accommodate the flow of blood with every cardiac cycle by absorbing the energy during the systole phase and releasing it during the diastole phase (Blacher and Safar, 2005).

# 1.9.2 Structural Component of Artery Stiffness

The integrity of the arterial wall is dependent on two prominent components, elastin and collagen. The proportion between elastin and collagen is usually regulated by a slow dynamic process of formation and degradation. Disturbance of this balance typically results in a reduction of elastin production and accumulation of the collagen components in the arterial wall (Zieman et al., 2005). Overproduction of collagen is mainly triggered by an inflammation milieu, but also stimulated by high blood pressure. Ageing of the arterial system is manifested by a two- to threefold increase in intima-media thickness during a normal lifetime (Jani and Rajkumar, 2006). Histological examination of the intima of stiffened arteries shows abnormal and disorganised endothelial cells, overproduction of collagen content, diminished elastin molecules, infiltration of smooth muscle, inflammatory activity and increased matrix metalloproteinases (MMP) (Lakatta, 2003).

The tensile strength of the arterial wall is mainly achieved by cross-linked collagen molecules. However, collagen is particularly susceptible to non-enzymatic glycation and cross-linking due to its slow turnover rate (Zieman et al., 2005). This leads to more misalignment and a dysfunctional collagen fibre structure with less elasticity.

Elastin fibre plays a key role in providing arterial wall elasticity. However, activated metalloproteases stimulate production of frayed elastin fibre, and disruption of the cross-links predisposes protein mineralization and an increase in arterial stiffness (Zieman et al., 2005).

Advanced glycation end products (AGEs) play an important role in arterial stiffening by forming irreversible cross-links in collagen (Konova et al., 2004). AGEs also increase arterial stiffness via impairment of the endothelial function by reducing nitric oxide bioavailability and the formation of free oxygen (Zieman et al., 2005). Furthermore, AGEs stimulate inflammatory responses via activation of metalloproteinases, which are known to promote endothelial dysfunction, increase vascular smooth muscle cell (VSMC) tone and accelerate the progression of atherosclerosis (Wendt et al., 2002).

### 1.9.3 Assessment of Large Artery Stiffness

For many decades, the concept of arterial stiffness was only associated with ageing and the clinical significance of its waveform and its importance in clinical examination of patients was not appreciated until recently.

Arterial stiffness can be quantified non-invasively using several methods. One of these methods is a regional measurement between two arteries, commonly between the carotid-femoral arteries.

#### 1.9.3.1 Pulse Pressure

Pulse pressure is the difference between systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Pulse pressure is a surrogate measure for arterial stiffness, as it is mainly determined by cardiac output, aortic and large artery stiffness, and pulse wave reflection (Dart and Kingwell, 2001).

Both systolic and diastolic blood pressures tend to increase with age. However, diastolic blood pressure reaches its peak around age 60 and thereafter starts to decline, which consequently results in rapidly increasing pulse pressure (Roman, 2012).

Pulse pressure is a simple and reproducible marker of arterial stiffness, and it can be easily assessed with a standard blood pressure machine (Benetos et al., 1998). Despite the simplicity and availability of pulse pressure measurement, unfortunately, it can be an inaccurate measure of arterial stiffness as it does not take changes in volume into consideration. Moreover, peripheral pulse pressure is taken from the brachial artery, which may not reflect a true reading of central pulse pressure as it has been noted there is a variation of up to 20 mmHg (Wilkinson and Cockcroft, 2000).

Pulse pressure has been shown to predict cardiovascular risk in a number of populations (Benetos et al., 1998, Cockcroft et al., 2005). Additionally, pulse pressure has been shown to be a better predictor of cardiovascular mortality and morbidity than mean arterial pressure (Millar et al., 1999). In contrast, a large study on African-

Americans found no association between pulse pressure and mortality (Pastor-Barriuso et al., 2003). This suggests that pulse pressure may not be a good measure for arterial stiffness.

#### 1.9.3.2 Pulse wave velocity

Pulse wave velocity (PWV) is defined as a propagation of the pressure wave within the arterial system with every cardiac contraction. PWV is mainly determined by arterial wall elasticity and the size of its lumen (Laurent et al., 2006). The regional measurement of arterial stiffness using applanation tonometry involves taking recordings from two different sites and matching them with simultaneous recording of the R wave from a recorded simple electrocardiography (ECG). As the aorta is the first artery subjected to left ventricle ejection contraction, it is more likely to be prone to stiffness than other arteries. Carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity (cf-PWV), also called aortic PWV, is considered as the gold standard for aortic stiffness measurement (Laurent et al., 2006).

The assessment of pulse wave velocity using cf-PWV is a relatively simple technique and has been widely used in several populations. By recording ECG gated waveforms in the carotid and femoral arteries, wave transit time can be calculated using system software. Aortic PWV is then calculated by dividing the distance between the two recording sites by the wave transit time (Figure 1.3). A higher aortic PWV suggests increased large artery stiffness.

Pulse wave velocity can be determined throughout the vasculature, but the aorta is the main vessel of interest, for two reasons:

1) Aortic pressure reflects the left ventricular systolic load, relevant to cardiac risk;

2) The aorta plays a major role in buffering pulse pressure and wave volume.

When blood is ejected into the aorta, a pressure wave is generated and travels throughout the arterial tree. Young healthy arteries are elastic and absorb the pulse pressure from the heart efficiently. With age and pathology, the arteries stiffen, which causes the pulse waves to increase in pressure and velocity (Lee and Oh, 2010). When a pulse wave meets greater resistance at arterioles, a reflected wave is created. In healthy arteries, this reflected wave returns to the heart during the diastolic phase, which augments myocardial oxygenation and coronary perfusion. If the arteries stiffen, the reflected wave travels at higher velocity, returning to the heart late in the systolic phase. The result is an increase in systolic blood pressure (SBP), left ventricular afterload and pulse pressure (Laurent et al., 2006). There is also a reduction in diastolic pressure, which results in reduced coronary perfusion, with increased risk of myocardial ischaemia and subsequent myocardial fibrosis and loss of ventricular diastolic distensibility (Laurent et al., 2006).

#### 1.9.3.3 Augmentation Index

Augmentation index (Alx) is another measure of arterial stiffness obtained from the aortic waveform and defined as the difference between the systolic peak and the second reflected wave (P2 – P1) expressed as a ratio of the pulse pressure (Laurent et al., 2006). Increased Alx results from an early arrival of the reflected pulse wave from the periphery and augment systolic blood pressure. Although Alx has been used as a measure of arterial stiffness, it is influenced by a number of variables including gender and heart rate (Gatzka et al., 2001, Wilkinson et al. 2000). In the Anglo-Cardiff-Cambridge Collaborative Trial (ACCT) study, McEniery and colleagues (2005) found that Alx is not a good measure for arterial stiffness for individuals over 50 years of age.

Other assessment methods include ultrasound scans and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). Ultrasound can be used to measure changes in arterial diameter during systole and diastole to determine arterial distensibility and compliance (Laurent et al., 2006). However, ultrasound has a number of limitations; it can only be used on larger, easily accessible arteries and requires an operator skilled in imaging vessel walls (Laurent et al. 2006). Arterial distensibility and compliance can also be determined by MRI. However, its use is limited, given the expense and expertise required to assess arterial stiffness (Laurent et al. 2006).



Figure 1.2: Measurement of carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity with a foot-to-foot method.

 $\Delta L$ : distance between both measurement sites,  $\Delta t$ : transit time

Figure taken from Laurent et al. (2006)

### 1.9.4 Factors Affecting Artery Stiffness

# 1.9.4.1 Age

Inevitably, large artery stiffness occurs as part of the normal human ageing process and is consequently considered the most influential determinant of arterial stiffness (Lee and Oh, 2010). Several studies have used different techniques and found a positive association between arterial stiffness and age (McEniery et al., 2005, Mitchell et al., 2004). However, only large central arteries experience structural and mechanical changes and progressively stiffen with age, whereas the elastic properties of the peripheral arteries exhibit few changes with age (Cecelja and Chowienczyk, 2009). Data from a large cohort of healthy individuals in the ACCT study showed that aortic PWV experience changes after age of 50 (McEniery et al., 2005).

Increased aortic stiffness was thought to be as part of normal ageing process that associated with structural and functional changes in the arterial wall (Lee and Oh, 2010). However, this concept has changed, as it cannot explain why some elderly people have an aortic PWV like someone in his twenties. This largely attributed to the fact that normal or healthy ageing mechanism has not fully understood. Therefore, further mechanism may be involved and alter the properties of the arterial wall (Maclay and MacNee, 2013).

Disproportion between elastin and collagen proportion within the media layer of the arterial wall may contribute to large artery stiffness. As age increases, there is a higher collagen to elastin ratio, and this increases the risk of large artery stiffness (Lee and Oh, 2010).

# 1.9.4.2 Gender

Several cross-sectional studies have examined the gender related difference for PWV using different methods (Borlaug and Paulus, 2011, Duprez et al., 2009, Rossi et al., 2011b).

In the Cardiovascular Abnormalities and Brain Lesions (CABL) cohort study, women showed higher arterial stiffness than men as measured by augmentation index, independent of body size and heart rate (Russo et al., 2012). However, this relationship disappeared after adjustment for other cardiac risk factors. Likewise, the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) study, women demonstrated lower large and small arteries elasticity than men, which was dependent on height and body size (Duprez et al., 2009). In contrast, in the BLSA cohort study, men showed more pronounced aortic stiffness than women independent of the effect of traditional risk factors (Alghatrif et al., 2013). This controversy is attributed to methodological variation among these studies of arterial stiffness measurements. In addition, none of these studies used the gold standard measure of arterial stiffness, which is aortic PWV.

The gender related difference for increased arterial stiffness in women may be the result of variation in sex hormones, obesity, low grade inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. Increased arterial stiffness and wave reflections, and changes in central haemodynamics increase left ventricle afterload, enhance the left ventricular remodelling process and also decrease the coronary blood flow, resulting in subendocardial ischemia and myocardial injury (Patel et al., 2013, Roman et al., 2007, Sabit et al., 2010a).

# 1.9.4.3 Body Composition

A number of studies have found an association between global and regional index of obesity and aortic stiffness (Mackey et al., 2002, Recio-Rodriguez et al., 2012, Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2001). Excessive body fat generates abundant proinflammatory biomarkers and adipokines that directly or indirectly are involved in arterial pathogenesis and subsequently increase the risk of cardiovascular events (Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2001, Recio-Rodriguez et al., 2012).

Obesity affects the level of testosterone in COPD, which is an independent risk factor for CVD (Atlantis et al., 2013, Herring et al., 2013). Testosterone deficiency is associated with increased aortic stiffness and enhances the risk of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Araujo et al., 2011, Dockery et al., 2003). Patients with COPD have evidence of both testosterone deficiency and increased aortic stiffness (Laghi, 2005, Sabit et al., 2007).

#### 1.9.4.4 Hypertension

High blood pressure markedly accelerates ageing through elastin breakdown and deposition of collagen in the arterial wall, which consequently leads to arterial stiffness (Roman et al., 2007). In a large cohort study, Benetos et al. (2002) found that in poorly controlled hypertensive patients, age-induced pulse wave velocity acceleration was three times greater than in normotensive and well-controlled hypertensive patients. A recent study suggests that increased aortic stiffness in COPD may be associated with loss of elastic connective tissue (Maclay et al., 2012). Another mechanism that may link hypertension to arterial stiffness is low birth weight, which is a determinant of hypertension (Te Velde et al., 2004). This could be as a result of impaired elastin synthesis in the aorta during intra-uterine growth retardation, which is associated with the development of hypertension (Martyn and Greenwald, 1997). Interestingly, recent results demonstrate that aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of the progression to hypertension in normotensive subjects without clinical

signs of CVD (Kaess et al., 2012, Najjar et al., 2008). This suggests that measurement of aortic stiffness is a useful measure to predict and identify individuals at high risk of developing hypertension.

### 1.9.4.5 Diabetes and Metabolic Syndrome

COPD and diabetes mellitus share a common risk factor for increased CVD, which is increased arterial stiffness. The relationship between arterial stiffness, diabetes and metabolic syndrome has been established in several studies. In patients with metabolic syndrome, increased arterial stiffness is proportional to the degree of metabolic derangement (Teoh et al., 2013). Increased arterial stiffness is also shown in populations with impaired glucose tolerance and increased insulin resistance (Henry et al., 2003, Sengstock et al., 2005). Arterial stiffening, therefore, may precede the development of type 2 diabetes, just from the early stages of an insulin-resistant state (Sliem and Nasr, 2010). Therefore, increased insulin resistance may contribute to increased arterial stiffness in COPD.

# 1.9.4.6 Hypercholesterolaemia

A high level of cholesterol is a major risk factor for CVD. An elevated cholesterol level can induce premature arterial stiffness via the deposition of cholesterol in the intimal layer of the artery, which increases the risk of coronary heart disease (Wilkinson and Cockcroft, 2007). Several studies have evaluated the relationship between hypercholestolaemia and arterial stiffness. However, the results of these studies are conflicting. Lehmann et al. (1992) found increased aortic distensibility, as measured by aortic PWV, in young patients with familial hypercholesterolemia (FH), but in contrast; they reported decreases in adults with the same disorder. In a middle-aged population with metabolic syndrome, there is a direct relationship between aortic PWV and triglyceride and a negative link to high density lipoprotein (HDL), even after adjustments for age and sex (Czernichow et al., 2005).

#### 1.9.4.7 Vascular Dysfunction

Aortic stiffness is elevated in patients with COPD in comparison to matched age and sex controls (Sabit et al., 2007). Structural components of the arterial wall including extracellular matrix, vascular smooth muscle and endothelium are the main determinant of arterial stiffness (Zieman et al., 2005). Flow mediated dilatation (FMD) is an accepted measure of endothelial function and patients with COPD showed to have abnormal endothelial function (Barr et al., 2007, Eickhoff et al., 2008, Ives et al., 2013). Recently, patients with COPD showed impaired vascular function, measured by carotid-radial PWV and FMD, compared with age matched subject controls (lves et al., 2013). Interestingly, this study showed that vascular dysfunction could be reversed by an ingestion of antioxidant cocktail, which has an effect on altered redox balance and nitric oxide bioavailability. In addition, nitric oxide is an important antiatherogenic molecule, which can, therefore, affect large artery stiffness via its augmentation of atherosclerosis (Bäck, 2008). Furthermore, damage to small vessels is another risk factor for increased CVD (Anavekar et al., 2004, Gibson et al., 2003). Casanova et al (2010) measured urinary albumin to creatinine ratio and showed that patients with COPD without overt CVD had renal microvascular damage compared with smoking controls, independent of traditional cardiovascular risk factors. This finding was extended further by John et al. (2013) and found that aortic stiffness was related to urinary albumin/creatinine ratio, which may suggest the effect of aortic stiffness on vital organs such as the kidney.

### 1.9.4.8 Connective Tissue Degradation

Arterial function is not just limited to the endothelium, but the extracellular matrix is also involved in large artery compliance. An increase in vascular smooth muscle tone further increases synthesis of structural proteins, including collagen resulting in increased arterial stiffness (Maclay et al., 2009). Patients with COPD experience intra and extra pulmonary elastin breakdown that contribute to arterial stiffness (Black et

al., 2008, Maclay et al., 2012). In a study by Patel and colleagues (2006) showed that patients with COPD had more facial skin wrinkles, which is an indicator of elastin degradation, compared with non-COPD smoking subjects. Skin elastin degradation has been found in patients with COPD, which related aortic stiffness (Maclay et al., 2012). In addition, the authors also found an increased MMP-9 expression in the skin of the patients, which was associated with aortic stiffness. A similar relationship has also been reported in a healthy population (Yasmin et al., 2006).

### 1.9.4.9 Systemic Inflammation

A number of studies have shown a relationship between low-grade chronic inflammation and aortic stiffness in COPD. However, the exact mechanism underlying the association between systemic inflammation and arterial stiffness is still unclear. Systemic inflammation is strongly implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, which may increase large artery stiffness (Hansson, 2005, Herrington et al., 2004). In addition, systemic inflammation has been associated with endothelial dysfunction, which may cause arterial stiffening through reduced nitric oxide bioavailability and increased activity of endothelin-1 (Eickhoff et al., 2008, Ives et al., 2013). Recently, aortic wall calcification, elastin degradation and production of MMP-9 have been found in patients with COPD, which are associated with arterial stiffness (Bolton et al., 2011, Maclay et al., 2012). Vascular inflammation is lately recognised to play a crucial role in increased aortic stiffness and developing CVD (Coulson et al., 2010, Figueroa et al., 2013).

# 1.9.4.10 Smoking

Smoking is a common and important risk factor for both CVD and COPD. A number of studies have investigated the effects of smoking on arterial stiffness; however, the results of these studies are controversial. Mahmud and Feely (2003) demonstrated that smoking a single cigarette produces a transient effect in aortic PWV in both smokers and non-smokers. A similar finding between smoking and arterial stiffness was reported by other researchers (Jatoi et al., 2007, Vlachopoulos et al., 2004). These results were supported by an improvement in PWV after stopping smoking, and this relationship was proportional to the duration of smoking cessation. However, this is not the case in COPD, as arterial stiffness still exists even after smoking cessation (Sabit et al., 2007). Smoking may increase arterial stiffness in some individuals, but not in others, which may suggest the involvement of a genetic component (Doonan et al., 2010).

### 1.10 Arterial Stiffness and COPD

Increased arterial stiffness is associated with a higher risk of cardiovascular events, due to the physiological consequences of stiffened arteries (Mitchell et al., 2010). A number of consequences of arterial stiffness are associated with increased cardiovascular risk in COPD, including increased inflammation, left ventricular dysfunction, endothelial dysfunction and connective tissue degradation (Coulson et al., 2010, Ives et al., 2013, Maclay et al., 2012, Sabit et al., 2010a). Several longitudinal epidemiological studies have found that aortic PWV is an independent predictor of cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in a variety of different diseased and healthy populations. These include patients with essential hypertension, type II diabetes, renal failure, elderly subjects and the general population (Blacher et al., 1999, Boutouyrie et al., 2002, Cruickshank et al., 2002, Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2005, Willum-Hansen et al., 2006). Moreover, in a cross-sectional study of 194 middle-aged males free of coronary heart disease, Zureik and colleagues (2001) reported an inverse relationship between FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC and their ratio, and aortic PWV. Although this study did find an association between airway obstruction and arterial stiffness, these results cannot be extrapolated to patients with COPD. In addition, the severity of airway obstruction in this population was not classified, and it is unclear what proportion of their participants had restrictive or normal lung function. Additionally, this study was limited to men; thus its results cannot be generalised to women.

The first well designed study, which highlighted the relationship between arterial stiffness and COPD was by Sabit and co-authors (2007) in 74 patients with COPD and 42 controls similar in age and gender proportion. In this cross-sectional study, the authors found that patients with COPD, when compared with healthy controls, had an increase in arterial stiffness as measured by aortic PWV. The degree of arterial stiffness was proportional to the severity of airway obstruction even after adjustment for other confounding factors, such as diabetes, smoking, physical inactivity, high

cholesterol and blood pressure. Additionally, patients with COPD and osteoporosis showed greater aortic PWV than those without osteoporosis. Interestingly, this relationship remained significant even after controlling for other confounding factors, including age, sex, level of physical activity, smoking history, lung function and mean arterial pressure. However, there was no relationship between inflammatory biomarkers and osteoporosis. Nevertheless, IL-6 was found to be related to aortic PWV and was severity dependent. Although this study reported a significant relationship between arterial stiffness and COPD, the cross-sectional nature of the study cannot infer a causal relationship. Documentation of physical activity using a questionnaire may be subjected to recall bias, which may underestimate the effect of physical activity on arterial stiffness measurement. Additionally, the contribution of other confounding factors, including controls and patients with high blood pressure, who are on antihypertensive medications, which has an impact on arterial stiffness; may have affected the readings of aortic PWV.

Another study by McAllister et al. (2007) examined the relationship between emphysema and carotid-radial PWV in 157 patients. The authors found that PWV was high in patients with severe and very severe airway obstruction, and men demonstrated to have higher significant readings than women. The carotid-radial PWV did not differ between patients with ischemic heart disease more than those without ischemic heart disease. In this study, there was no association found between circulating CRP and carotid-radial PWV. A limitation of this study was the use of carotid-radial PWV as a measure of aortic stiffness, which is less robust than carotidfemoral PWV. The radial artery experiences less changes in the functional and structural features and therefore does not mirror what exactly happens in the aorta (Laurent et al., 2006). Given that, unlike the aortic artery, the radial artery is more muscular and not subjected to atherosclerotic changes and pressure variability of the cardiac cycle. In addition, the radial artery has less elastin and is barely affected by

the ageing process and other cardiovascular risk factors such as hypertension, this measure may not be suitable to predict cardiovascular risk. Furthermore, this study lacked controls and included patients with cardiac disease, which has an adverse effect on the arterial system. Given the fact that both COPD and heart disease share common risk factors, this makes it difficult to differentiate the source of origin.

In another large cross-sectional study from the same research group, the association between COPD and arterial stiffness was also confirmed. Mills and colleagues (2008) measured arterial stiffness in 102 patients and 103 controls similar in age and sex using the AIx. In this study, the authors found that patients with COPD had increased arterial stiffness, compared with the controls. This difference was maintained between patients with COPD, free from CVD, and control subjects. In addition, the authors found that arterial stiffness was associated with inflammatory biomarkers (i.e. CRP) in patients but not in controls. Although this study found a significant relationship between arterial stiffness as measured by Alx and COPD, Mills and co-authors (2008) failed to adjust for sex and heart rate in their analysis, which have a great influence on Alx (Gatzka et al., 2001, Wilkinson et al., 2000). In addition, lung function was not measured in the control subjects, which may raise the possibility of undiagnosed airway obstruction among current or past smokers. Cigarette smoking plays a crucial role in aggravating the abnormal inflammatory response inside the lungs and is a central part in the pathogenesis of COPD. Furthermore, although Alx increased in the patients compared with the controls, a number of factors may limit the ability of Alx to predict arterial stiffness and cardiovascular events in a COPD population. Firstly, unlike aortic PWV, which is the gold standard measure of arterial stiffness, Alx is a less robust and indirect measure of stiffness and is dependent on multiple components of the arterial pressure wave (Laurent et al., 2006). The Alx also exhibits different age-related changes to aortic PWV. This was highlighted in the Anglo-Cardiff-Cambridge Collaborative trial, which found that age-related changes in Alx and aortic PWV follow different patterns (McEniery et al., 2005). Whereas changes in Alx were found to be more prominent in younger individuals (<50 years), aortic PWV changes were found to be more marked in older individuals (>50 years).

Moreover, in a prospective cross-sectional study, Janner et al. (2012) studied arterial stiffness in 494 (246 males) patients with COPD. The authors found a significant difference between patients with COPD and non-COPD controls in both sexes. However, Alx was independent of the degree of airway obstruction. Nevertheless, when the authors limited the analysis to patients less than 60 years old and adjusted the analysis for confounding factors that contribute to CVD (i.e. age, blood pressure, heart rate, smoking history, physical activity, CRP and education), they found no association between Alx and COPD. Therefore, Janner and co-workers (2012) concluded that COPD is not an independent factor of arterial stiffness after controlling for confounding factors. In the aforementioned study, the authors based the diagnosis of COPD on just pre-bronchodilator spirometry results, which is not the standard method of diagnosing COPD. The diagnosis of COPD should be based on postbronchodilator results to eliminate the possibility of any reversibility element (GOLD, 2014). This may have led to include some patients with asthma, which has a different pathophysiology. Additionally, the characteristics of patients with COPD and non-COPD controls were not obvious, as the authors referenced demographic data that was published in 2001; however, the data collection for this study was carried out between 2001 and 2003. This raises a question about the general health of the subjects, who may, during this period, have developed some comorbidities that trigger changes in the arterial system. Furthermore, the authors limited their analysis to patients younger than 60 and with  $FEV_1 < 80$ ; this led to the inclusion of only 63 patients in their analysis, which may have led to underestimation of the link between COPD and arterial stiffness.

The conflicting results may be related to the outcome measure used to quantify arterial stiffness. In this study, Alx was used as a marker of arterial stiffness; however, this index is less rigorous than the gold standard of arterial stiffness for several reasons. These include the fact that an elevated heart rate causes the early return of the pulse wave to the aorta during the cardiac cycle, and this is affected by increased peripheral vascular resistance and is age-dependent (Wilkinson et al., 2000, McEniery et al., 2005).

Recently, in a prospective cross-sectional study, aortic PWV was measured in 62 patients with stable COPD, free from CVD, and 22 controls (Cinarka et al., 2013). The authors extended the previous research findings and found that even patients free from hypertension, type 2 diabetes and hypercholesterolemia had greater aortic PWV compared with control subjects, independent of age and smoking. Similar to Sabit et al. (2007) study, patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub>% <50 had greater aortic stiffness than those with an FEV<sub>1</sub>% >50. In this study, aortic PWV was negatively related to partial pressure of arterial oxygen. In contrast to Sabit et al. (2007) study, in this study, aortic PWV was not associated with CRP or tobacco exposure. The limitation of this study, in addition to its nature, was the majority of patients (96%) were male and therefore these results cannot be generalised to the female population.

The results of these studies have clearly demonstrated that COPD has an adverse effect on the arterial system and accelerates the features of premature vascular ageing and could be a potential factor in developing CVD. However, although some of the used aortic PWV as an outcome measure in their studies, none of them has examined the reliability of aortic PWV in COPD, which limits the generalisibility of their findings. As far these studies have been cross-sectional in nature, which limits their findings, therefore, further longitudinal studies are needed to evaluate the effect of COPD on arterial system over time and its contributing factors.

The change in aortic stiffness over time has been evaluated in different populations, but none of them was in a COPD population (Benetos et al., 2002, Briet et al., 2011, Utescu et al., 2013). In a hypertensive population, Benetos et al. (2002) found that aortic PWV increased by 0.17 m/s per year compared with 0.07 m/s in normotensive subjects, independent of blood pressure. A similar finding has been reported in 109 renal failure patients with chronic haemodialysis (Utescu et al., 2013). In this study, the adjusted progression of aortic stiffness, 0.84 m/s, was independent of age, blood pressure, systemic inflammation, diabetes and atherosclerotic CVD. In contrast, Briet et al. (2011) studied 180 patients with chronic kidney disease for four years and found no annual significant change in aortic PWV.
### 1.11 Frailty in COPD

COPD is a respiratory disease associated with a multisystem impairment including an increased risk of cardiovascular disease, systemic inflammation, osteoporosis, loss of skeletal muscle mass and function, hypertension and type 2 diabetes that consequently impact on health related quality of life (HRQoL) (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Divo et al., 2012, Vanfleteren et al., 2013). These co-morbidities are usually seen in natural ageing and may be regarded as deficits in physiological systems. With advance ageing, subjects are increasingly more susceptible to chronic diseases that weaken the normal physiological response to internal and external stressors (Fried et al., 2001, Rockwood, 2005). These features are mistakenly confused with disability associated with COPD. However, it is not really understood how COPD leads to disability. It is evident that COPD could lead to loss of function in the sense of failed physical function, such as a reduction in exercise tolerance. However, it seems likely that the systemic manifestations of COPD may be important factors in functional limitation and disability both of which lead to frailty. Disability, comorbidity and frailty are frequently used interchangeably because both are seen in old populations and share most common risk factors (Fried et al., 2004). Disability may lead to frailty and worsen comorbidity, and frailty could contribute to the progression of chronic diseases (Fried et al., 2004).

Frailty is a separate clinical entity and not necessarily to be associated with the elderly. The frailty concept has been around for nearly three decades, but, unfortunately, there is no operational definition for it (Morley et al., 2013). Recently, a group of experts agreed to acknowledge that frailty is not like disability and is a clinical syndrome that presents some individuals that could be reversible in some cases and progressive in others (Rodriguez-Manas et al., 2013). However, these experts failed to agree on one operational definition for frailty. Rockwood has previously defined frailty as an accumulation of deficits (Rockwood et al., 2005). This definition has been

embraced by several studies that found its utility in predicting adverse outcomes and mortality (Mitnitski et al., 2002, Song et al., 2010).

Frailty is a complex mechanism and the exact pathophysiology is still unclear. However, it was hypothesised that inability of one or multiple physiological systems to return to normal homeostasis after the perturbation, provokes a cascade of dysregulation that influence many clinical features and comorbidities (Fulop et al., 2010, Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2007). Failure to resume equilibrium status with the loss of the complexity of physiological systems increases the vulnerability to further poor prognosis that is frequently associated with frailty (Morley et al., 2006, Puts et al., 2005a, Rockwood et al., 2006, Walston et al., 2006).

There are two different clinical models to assess and quantify frailty (Fried et al., 2001, Rockwood et al., 2005). The frailty phenotype model was derived from the Cardiovascular Health Study in the United States, which defined frailty by the presence of at least three of the following five deficits in an individual: slow walking speed, weak handgrip strength, a self-reported decline in activity levels, unintentional weight loss, or exhaustion (Fried et al., 2001). Although this phenotypic approach is valid and useful in detecting frailty, it is mainly based on physical frailty and ignored other potentially important factors such as comorbidities, psychosocial and cognitive capacity, which is highly associated with functional impairment and disability (Rothman et al., 2008). Additionally, this approach is limited to identify the fraility, but not to classify or determine the degrees of frailty and heavily relies on patient recollection for much of the data (Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2011). Another approach to define frailty is by quantifying the number of deficits including cognitive, psychosocial status, comorbidities, and disabilities (Rockwood et al., 2005). The Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment is a questionnaire based tool that measures impairments, the level of frailty and predict outcomes in older individuals (Rockwood et al., 2006). The number of deficits relative to the total number of potential deficits sought can be used

to calculate a Frailty Index (FI) ranging from 0 to 1 (Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2007). This model supports the idea that FI increases with the number of deficits independent of the nature of this deficit. Consequently, this validates the concept of frailty, which is a progressive accumulation of deficits due to integral loss of homeostasis mechanism. On top of that, the FI may be used clinically to stratify risk or predict adverse outcomes and a good candidate to express biological age (Rockwood et al., 2006). Moreover, the value of 0.67 can be used as a warning sign, which beyond the incidence of mortality is highly likely (Scheffer, 2010).

Ageing and COPD share similar systemic manifestations and probably share an underlying mechanism. In the elderly, frailty predicts adverse outcomes independent of co-existing medical conditions and is associated with an increased risk of falls, hospitalisation, residential care, reduced HRQoL, progression to disability and increased mortality (Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2006, Rockwood et al., 2006, Song et al., 2010). The similarities between the accumulation of deficits in ageing and multiple co-morbidities in COPD suggest that COPD may accelerate the features of premature ageing and the patients could present with early signs of premature ageing and are likely to have high levels of frailty.

However, frailty in COPD has not been well studied, and the literature has only two studies on frailty in COPD. A study by Galizia et al. (2011) who examined the predictive role of frailty on long-term mortality in patients with and without COPD, reported that frail patients with COPD had higher rates of mortality compared to nonfrail patients after 12 years follow-up. However, this study was not intended to examine the relationship between COPD and frailty. Moreover, diagnosis of COPD was based on patient's level of symptoms and report, which may have led to inclusion of patients with a wide spectrum of respiratory diseases such as asthma. A recent secondary cross-sectional study, using survey data from the National Health and Nutrition Evaluation Survey, which included only 70 patients with confirmed COPD, suggested the prevalence of frailty was 57.8% based on a nine-item self-reported questionnaire. This study was not limited to only COPD, but included patients with known cancer and kidney diseases, which the prevalence of frailty is high (Balducci, 2013, Dalrymple et al., 2013). Additionally, the lack of a specific comparator group and validation of the frailty questionnaire limits the interpretation of this data.

COPD and frailty are both progressive with increased risk of adverse outcomes and poor health status. Therefore, emerging the assessment of frailty in routine clinical practice in patients with COPD would yield an early identification of those who are at high risk and subsequently implementing appropriate management to tackle this problem and improve the quality of life.

### 1.12 Summary

Several epidemiological studies have confirmed the association between COPD and CVD, however, this intimate relationship is not fully understood. Recently, increased aortic stiffness has been identified as an attributing factor. A number of cross-sectional studies have found that patients with COPD have increased aortic stiffness and associated with different risk factors including local and systemic inflammation and increased fat mass, which overall are likely to be factors in causing other co-morbidities such as increased insulin resistance and changes in body composition with loss of bone mineral density.

The presence of co-morbidities in COPD is similar to a multisystem deficit that is frequently seen in natural ageing or prematurely of what so called frailty. Frailty is considered to represent weakness or failure of physiological systems to sustain further an internal or external insult, and COPD may cause premature physiological changes or is itself an outcome of adverse outcomes.

Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to examine the progression of cardiovascular risk in COPD as measured by change in aortic stiffness and its interaction with other risk factors such as inflammation and other co-morbidities in COPD over a two-year follow-up. Additionally, this thesis aimed to explore the concept of frailty and the role of physical activity in the development and progression of frailty in COPD. Prior to that, the reliability of non-invasive outcome measures, including arterial stiffness, cardiac haemodynamics and bone density need to be established for use in patients with COPD.

# 1.13 Hypotheses

- Aortic PWV will be a reliable outcome measure for assessing aortic stiffness in COPD using the SphygmoCor machine.
- 2. Assessment of cardiac haemodynamics in COPD (i.e. stroke volume and cardiac output) will be reliable using the Cheetah machine.
- 3. Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser will be a reliable and valid machine for assessment of heel bone density in COPD.
- 4. Timed Up and Go would be a simple test for physical performance in COPD.
- Patients with COPD would have elevated aortic stiffness compared with similar age and sex comparator group.
- COPD would cause an increase in aortic PWV independent of traditional risk factors after two years follow-up.
- Patients with COPD will be more frail compared with similar age and sex comparator subjects.
- 8. Patients with COPD would have an increase in the frailty index and more impairment after two years follow-up.

# 1.14 Study Objectives

- 1. Assess the reliability of aortic stiffness in COPD using the SphygmoCor machine.
- 2. Assess the reliability of cardiac haemodynamics in COPD (i.e. stroke volume and cardiac output) using the Cheetah machine.
- 3. Examine the reliability and validity of Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser in COPD.
- 4. Examine the feasibility of using Timed Up and Go test as a rapid physical performance test in COPD.
- 5. Evaluate aortic stiffness in a large population with COPD and compare them with similar age and sex non-COPD subjects.
- Evaluate the change in aortic stiffness in COPD and its contributing factors over a period of two years follow-up.
- Assess the concept of frailty in patients with COPD and compare them with similar age and sex comparator subjects.
- 8. Assess the rate of frailty progression in COPD and its predicting factors after two years follow-up.

**Chapter Two** 

Methods

### 2.1 Study Protocols

This chapter describes the assessment methods undertaken in this thesis.

### Part I

In this part, the reliability of physiological measures including aortic stiffness, cardiac haemodynamics (i.e. cardiac output and stroke volume), broadband ultrasound attenuation and the validity of calcaneal ultrasound bone analyser (CUBA) (Chapter 3).

# Part II

This part described a large cross-sectional study from an ongoing longitudinal cohort that assesses the risk factors in patients with COPD. The study evaluated the use of a simple test to measure physical performance in COPD (Chapter 4). Patients with COPD were compared with non-COPD subjects similar in age and sex. Physical performance, body composition, inflammatory markers and health-related quality of life were assessed during the initial assessment.

# Part III

This part evaluated aortic stiffness cross-sectionally in patients with COPD compared with similar in age and sex non-COPD subjects. Then a group of patients with COPD was followed up for two years to examine the change in aortic PWV and its contributing factors (Chapter 5). Aortic PWV, spirometry, body composition, central and peripheral blood pressure (systolic and diastolic blood pressure, pulse pressure and mean arterial pressure), cardiac haemodynamics, heart rate, tissue oxygen saturation, kidney function, inflammatory biomarkers and health-related quality of life were assessed at the initial assessment and at the two years follow-up visit.

## Part IV

This part assessed the concept of frailty cross-sectionally in COPD and similar age and sex comparators. Then a group of patients with COPD were followed up to examine the change in frailty over a period of two years (Chapter 6). The comprehensive geriatric assessment questionnaire was administered from which the frailty index was calculated. Other assessment including spirometry, body composition, cardiac haemodynamics, heart rate, tissue oxygen saturation, physical performance, inflammatory biomarkers and health-related quality of life were assessed at the initial assessment and at the two years follow-up visit.

## 2.2 Participants Recruitment

## 2.2.1 Patient Recruitment

Patients with COPD who were suitable for the study were identified through the respiratory outpatient clinics including Professor Shale's clinic and general practice databases. Inclusion and exclusion criteria for recruitment were described (Table 2.1).

### 2.2.2 Comparator Recruitment

Comparator subjects were recruited into the study using two methods. The first method was to invite participants of previous research projects at Wales Heart Research Institute free from respiratory disease. The second method was to recruit participant's relatives who were current smokers or ex-smokers with a minimum of 10 pack-years of smoking. All comparator participants underwent a full medical history check and spirometry to rule out any cardiorespiratory disease, airflow obstruction or other exclusion criteria (Table 2.1).

# Table 2.1: Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

	COPD	Comparators
Inclusion	Age 35-80 years	Age 35-80 years
	Previously diagnosed with COPD	Current or ex-smokers with minimum
	Clinically stability for at least 4	of 10 pack-years
	weeks	
Exclusion	Long-term oxygen therapy	Respiratory disease and COPD
	Malignancy in the last 5 years	Malignancy in the last 5 years
	Hepatic or renal failure	Hepatic or renal failure
	Inflammatory or metabolic disease	Inflammatory or metabolic disease
	Pregnancy	Pregnancy
	Diseases affecting mobility e.g.	Diseases affecting mobility e.g.
	Parkinson's disease	Parkinson's disease
	Maintenance oral steroids	Maintenance oral steroids

### 2.3 Study Investigations

Subjects interested and eligible were provided with an information sheet to read through at their leisure or discuss with their family or friends (Appendices A & B). After one week, the patients were contacted again by a member of the research team and asked if they were happy to take part in the study. The individuals who agreed were asked about their general health, medical history and current medication (including inhaled therapy) or the presence of any other medical conditions. In particular, every attempt was made to rule out those who did not meet the inclusion criteria for the study or met any of the exclusion criteria (Table 2.1). All participants completed health questionnaires about their general health (Appendix C). On arrival, patients were welcomed and asked to sign a consent form (Appendix D). Participants were asked if they had any questions about the study; and if there were any questions, these were answered and were told to feel free to ask any further questions during the study, or even after they went back home.

Patients were examined during their clinical stability and those who suffered any exacerbation prior to their visit, their test postponed for at least four weeks until they felt their pulmonary symptoms had returned to baseline. In addition, comparators assessments were postponed if they had influenza or cold symptoms in the previous two weeks.

# **Definition of Clinical Stability**

Clinical stability was defined according to the following criteria:

- No chest exacerbation four weeks prior to recruitment;
- No change in pulmonary symptoms four weeks prior to recruitment;
- No reduction in FEV<sub>1</sub>>10% compared to patients' normal values within daily variation during the previous 6 months;
- No change in medication four weeks prior to assessment;
- An exacerbation was defined as:
- Increased or new respiratory symptoms (cough, sputum volume, colour, dyspnoea);
- Increased new systemic symptoms, including any of the following: fever, loss of appetite, weight loss, tiredness;
- Reduced FEV<sub>1</sub> >10% compared to usual clinical stability in the previous 6 months.

# **Smoking History**

A history of exposure to cigarette smoke was calculated as pack year exposure. This can be calculated by multiplying the number of packs of cigarettes smoked per day, by the number of years a person has smoked. For example, smoking 1 pack of 20 cigarettes per day for 1 year is equal to 1 pack year.

Number of pack years = (packs smoked per day) x (years as a smoker).

### 2.3.1 Height and Body Composition

Subjects had their height measured barefoot, with their back straight against a wall using a stadiometer (Seca; Vogel & Halke, Hamburg, Germany). Weight and body composition were recorded with subjects wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot using a single frequency segmental bioelectrical impedance analyser (BC-418 MA, Tanita Corp., Tokyo, Japan), operating at 50 kHz, with eight-point contact electrodes (Figure 2.1). This system consists of a platform with stainless-steel footpads and two handgrips with stainless-steel contacts. The four contacts on the platform are arranged in pairs with two contacts for each foot. Each handgrip has one pair of contacts. Measurements were taken in a standing position with the arms slightly abducted. The electrode arrangement allows separate measurements for each arm and leg, the trunk and the whole body. The muscle mass and fat mass of limbs and trunk were calculated from the measured resistance values, height, body weight, sex, age and training condition.



Figure 2.1: Body Composition Analyser (TANITA, BC-418)

#### 2.3.2 Heel Bone Density Measurement

The heel bone density of the patients was examined by the researcher using the Clinical CUBA machine (McCue Ultrasonics, Winchester) (Figure 2.2). The CUBA machine produces ultrasound waves from two distinct piezoelectric probes in the form of a sinusoid impulse. These waves are detected once they have passed through the calcaneus. The participants sat on a chair and inserted their right foot into the footwell to assess its size prior to measurement. The assessment was performed by using lines marked in the footwell and by assessment of the position of the tip of the big toe in relation to the lines, which indicates which of the inserts is required. The patient's foot was removed from the device, and the insert positioned if required. The foot insert was designed to raise the foot by a set distance from the base of the footwell, so that the patient's calcaneus is positioned between the transducers.

Ultrasound gel was applied to both the transducers and the patient's heel. The foot was repositioned between the two probes, emitting and receiving, and the leg was supported with velcro straps that pass around the calf and prevent excessive movement of the heel during measurement. The patient's details, such as age, sex and which foot was inserted into the machine were entered. The transducers were then closed so that they apply light pressure to either side of the calcaneus.

The measurement took approximately one minute, including an initial 30-second settling period to allow for any air bubbles in the gel to dissipate and for some compression of the surrounding soft tissue. The measurement was then taken, and the transducers dis-attached, releasing the heel. Calibration was checked every morning using a quality assured phantom model prior to examinations to ensure correct functioning of the transducers in terms of the ultrasound signal emitted and a determination of the speed of propagation of the impulse emitted by the probes.



Figure 2.2: Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser (CUBA) machine

(Picture taken from: http://www.medical-supplies-and-equipment.com/mccue-

cubaclinical.html)

### 2.3.3 Pulse Wave Analysis and Measurement of Pulse Wave Velocity

Prior to the assessment of arterial stiffness, participants were requested to abstain from caffeine, tobacco and their inhalers (short-acting  $\beta$ 2 agonists for six hours and long-acting  $\beta$ 2 agonists for twelve hours) before testing.

Arterial stiffness was assessed by an experienced operator using a measurement of pulse wave velocity (PWV) using a SphygmoCor device (AtCor medical) (Figures 2.3) connected to a laptop computer. Both these methods rely on the principle of applanation tonometry, where the curved surface of an artery is flattened by pencil-shaped probe, known as a tonometer (SPC-301, Millar instruments, Houston, Texas). Incorporated into the tip of the tonometer is a high-fidelity micro-manometer, consisting of a  $0.5 \times 1.0$  mm piezoelectric crystal with a frequency response greater than 2 kHz. By flattening the curved surface of an artery, circumferential pressures are equalised and intraluminal pressures can be recorded accurately in the form of arterial pressure waveforms.

Pulse wave analysis was derived by placement of a tonometer on the radial artery of the right arm. A pulse trace was recorded for a minimum of 10 consecutive beats and an average waveform was processed by the in-built software package. A generalised transfer function, based on Fourier analysis, was then used to generate a corresponding central aortic waveform (Figure 2.4). The generalised transfer function has been prospectively validated for the assessment of ascending aortic blood pressure and showed good repeatability of measurements (Wilkinson et al., 1998). With the integral software, augmentation pressure (AP) was calculated as the difference between the second and first systolic peaks of the central waveform, and the Alx was calculated as AP expressed as a percentage of pulse pressure (PP) (Figure 2.4).

Measurement of aortic PWV was performed using the principle of applanation tonometry using a high-fidelity micro-manometer with the participant in the supine

position. Electrocardiographic-gated carotid and femoral artery waveforms were measured. Distances from the carotid pulse site to the manubrium sternum and to the femoral artery were measured as straight lines between points on the body surface using a tape measure. The time (t) between the onset of femoral and carotid waveforms was determined as the mean of 10 consecutive cardiac cycles. The PWV (m/sec) was calculated by dividing the distance between measurement points (D) to the measured time delay (t) (Figure 2.5). All measurements were duplicated, unless they differed by more than 0.5 m/sec, in which case a third reading was taken, with the mean values being used in subsequent analysis.

Calibration of the SphygmoCor device was undertaken using average brachial blood pressure in the dominant arm using a validated oscillometric method (HEM-750CP; OMRON Corporation, Japan) after 10 minutes of seated rest (O'brien et al., 1996). Three independent measurements of systolic and diastolic blood pressure were taken, and the average of the last two measurements was used. Blood pressure was classified according to the British Hypertension Society (Table 2.2) (Williams et al., 2004).



Figure 2.3: Picture of SphygmoCor Machine (AtCor, Sydney)



Figure 2.4: Central arterial pressure waveform and its derivatives



Figure 2.5: Carotid and femoral arterial waveforms and aortic PWV

Table 2.2: Classification of blood pressure levels by the British Hypertension Society(Williams et al., 2004)

	Systole (mmHg)	Diastole (mmHg)
Normotensive	<120	<80
Hypertension	≥140	≥90
Isolated systolic hypertension	140-159	<90

### 2.3.4 Cardiac Output Measurement

With the participant lying supine, the researcher entered participant's personal data into the machine (identity, sex, height and weight). Cardiac haemodynamics were measured non-invasively using a bioreactance technology (NICOM, Cheetah, Medical Inc., Indianapolis, IN) (Figure 2.6). This system is based on the discovery that changes in aortic blood flow induce small changes in the frequency of electrical signals propagating across the thorax. Changing the frequency across the chest cavity causes this system to be less affected by body movement, location of the electrodes, or the filtering of electrical interference. The NICOM system consists of four disposable pairs of double electrodes, which were attached to the patient's chest—two on either side of the lower thorax (positioned marginally below the ribs) and two just below the clavicle (Figure 2.7). Each pair of electrodes delivers a low alternating current, and its propagation characteristics are sensed along the thorax by the other electrode pairs. Therefore, cardiac haemodynamics are measured separately from each side; then, the average of two measurements is calculated. These measurements took about one minute to complete.

The signal-processing unit of the NICOM system determines the relative phase shift  $(\Delta \Phi)$  of the input signal relative to the output signal. The relative phase shift is in turn due to changes in blood flow in the aorta with every beat. It has been shown that stroke volume can be estimated by:

 $SV = C \cdot VET \cdot d\Phi/dtmax$ 

Where C is a constant of proportionality and VET is the ventricular ejection time, which is determined from the NICOM and electrocardiogram signal. The value of C is optimized with regard to participant age, sex and body size. The cardiac output is then calculated using the equation:

Cardiac output = Stroke volume X Heart rate



Figure 2.6: NICOM device

(Picture taken from: http://www.cheetah-medical.com)



Figure 2.7: The NICOM system and its connection to the body

#### 2.3.5 Pulmonary Function Tests

All pulmonary function tests were performed and interpreted according to the GOLD guidelines (GOLD, 2014). The subjects underwent spirometric evaluation (forced vital capacity (FVC), forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio) using a Vitalograph Alpha (Bucks, UK) spirometer. The spirometer was annually calibrated by vitalograph technician. Patients were asked to refrain from using their inhalers for 6 hours for short acting bronchodilators and 12 hours for long acting bronchodilators prior to their visit. The tests were performed with the subject in a sitting position and with nose clips in place. Participants were instructed to take the deepest possible breath, place their lips around the mouthpiece of the spirometer, and breathe out as fast as possible, as hard as possible and for as long as possible. All participants were given a demonstration of the procedure prior to the test. The FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC, FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC were recorded along with percentage predicted values based on reference values for age, sex, height, race and smoking status. Each subject performed at least three spirometric tests with at least two reproducible and acceptable manoeuvres. Reliability was considered satisfactory when the second highest values of FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC were within 5% of the highest value.

Subjects with obstructive spirometry (FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC <70%) underwent reversibility testing, where 400 $\mu$ g of salbutamol is given via a spacer device using the tidal breath technique. After a ten minute wait, spirometry was repeated a further three times. Reversibility was defined as an increase in FEV<sub>1</sub> of 12% and 200 ml (GOLD, 2014).

### 2.3.6 Timed Up and Go

Timed Up and Go (TUG) measurement was obtained by the researcher using an armchair (45 cm high) and a stopwatch (accurate to 0.1 s). Subjects were seated with their back supported against the chair back. They were instructed to stand up, walk three metres (to a mark on the floor), cross the mark, turn around, walk back to the chair and sit down (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). The task was to be performed at a normal comfortable pace. The stopwatch was started on the word "go" and stopped as the subject sat down. The TUG time was documented in seconds.

### 2.3.7 Six–Minute Walk Distance (6MWD)

Blood pressure, heart rate, oxygen saturation and breathlessness score using a Borg scale were taken by the researcher before the test, while the participant was sitting comfortably on a chair with arms. Resting heart rate and oxygen saturation were measured using a pulse oximeter (Pulsox-3iA, Konica-Minolta, Japan). The probe was placed on the index finger of each participant until the heart rate and oxygen saturation stabilised. The subjects were asked to rate their breathlessness using the Modified Borg Scale at the start and end of the walk; this is constructed as a category scale with ratio properties (Borg, 1982). A score of 0 would indicate nothing at all; 0.5 would indicate very, very slight (just noticeable) breathlessness, followed by whole numbers 1 through to 10 (Table 2.3). Particular care was taken to check for absolute contraindications prior to performing the test, as the American Thoracic Society guidelines (2002).

All 6MWD were performed in the Wales Heart Research Institute by the researcher certified in cardiopulmonary resuscitation. Oxygen, sublingual nitroglycerin, a short-acting inhaled bronchodilator and crash cart were in the immediate vicinity of the test area, and a protocol was in place to call for immediate medical assistance if required.

Subjects were instructed to wear light clothing and footwear suitable for walking. The patients were given 400µg of salbutamol via a spacer device 30 minutes prior to the test, after they had rested for at least 15 minutes.

The 6MWD was carried out in accordance with a protocol adapted from the American Thoracic Society's (ATS) guidelines (2002) using a 30-m straight level course in an enclosed corridor. The course was marked with cones at either end. Chairs were placed at each end and at the midway point to allow resting points if required. Standardised instructions were read aloud to the subjects before the test. Patients were told to stop walking and inform the researcher if they experienced any chest pain or dizziness. At the end of each minute, patients were notified of the elapsed time and given standard encouragement.

If a subject rested during the 6MWD, the following encouragement was given at 15 s intervals: 'begin walking as soon as you feel able'. In the event that profound oxygen desaturation occurred (defined as SpO<sub>2</sub> <88%), the researcher instructed the patient to stop walking immediately and to recommence walking if SpO<sub>2</sub> recovered to >88%. Patients remained in the clinical area for a minimum of 10 min. following an uncomplicated 6MWD. During this time, they were closely observed and any abnormal signs and symptoms recorded.

SCALE	SEVERITY
0	No breathlessness at all
0.5	Very very slight (just noticeable)
1	Very slight
2	Slight breathlessness
3	Moderate
4	Somewhat severe
5	Severe breathlessness
6	
7	Very severe breathlessness
8	
9	Very very severe (almost Maximum)
10	Maximum

# Table 2.3: Modified Borg Scale (Borg, 1982)

### 2.3.8 Handgrip Strength

Maximal right and left handgrip strength (HGS) was determined twice in each hand using a hand dynamometer (T.K.K. 5401 grip-D, Takei, Japan) (Roberts et al., 2011). In a standing position, with arms by the sides, participants were asked to perform two maximum contractions alternating between left and right, each lasting 3-5 seconds and at least 15 seconds apart. The maximum handgrip was determined as the average of four measurements.

## 2.3.9 Health Related Quality of Life Measurement

Patients completed the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ), a 50-item status questionnaire designed to measure health impairment (quality of life) in patients with COPD (Jones et al., 1992). The questionnaire consists of three domains; symptoms, activity and impact (Appendix E). The first part asks about the patient's symptoms over the last twelve months, and the questions should be answered based on the patient's perception of their recent respiratory problems. The second part of the questionnaire focuses on the patient's activity in daily living and the impact of COPD on their psycho-functional activity. The questionnaire was completed to the best of the patient's knowledge. If the patient had a query regarding a question. After completion of the questionnaire, the researcher went through it to check if there were any missing answers.

Each domain of the questionnaire was scored from 0 to 100, where 0 represents the best possible health status and 100 represents the worst possible. A total score was calculated which summarises the effect of the disease on health status and is expressed as a percentage.

Patients also completed a questionnaire about the impact of COPD on their health status. The COPD Assessment Test (CAT) is a simple, reliable and validated designed to assess the impact of COPD on health status (Jones et al., 2009). It is a

scoring questionnaire consists of eight domains that cover the effect of COPD on daily life and health (Appendix F).

### 2.3.10 Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment

Each participant was interviewed to complete a comprehensive geriatric assessment (Rockwood et al., 2005). It is a one-page form to assess the effect of ageing on general health and identify the number of deficits. This questionnaire consists of 16 standard domains (Appendix G). The patient scored 1 if he/she had a deficit and 0 if did not. The total score for this questionnaire is out of 61 points. Frailty index (FI) was then calculated by dividing the number of deficits that the patient had by the maximum, 61.

### 2.3.11 Dual Energy X-ray Absorptiometry (DXA)

Data from a sub-set of patients who had been diagnosed with osteoporosis and had a dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scan as part of their normal medical care within a twelve month period from the initial visit was accessed and the results of the DXA scan were used to examine the validity of the CUBA scan. The DXA scan was performed using a Hologic Discovery bone densitometer (Hologic Inc, Waltham, MA, USA) using the whole body protocol and the fan beam array method. The scan was performed by a radiographer with the patient lying in a supine position with total effective radiation dose of 5.2  $\mu$ Sv (Blake and Fogelman, 1998). Calibration was performed daily using a phantom spine to check bone mineral density (BMD).

The BMD at individual lumbar spine (L1-L4) and hip (neck, trochanter and intertrochanteric regions) sites were measured, along with a mean BMD at the lumbar spine and hip. The BMD at all sites was recorded as an absolute figure ( $g/cm^2$ ) and as a standardised T and Z score. The T score standardises the BMD by relating the results as a standard deviation from the mean of a young healthy population of the same gender, while the Z score relates the BMD as an SD from the mean of an age and gender matched population (WHO, 1994).

# 2.3.12 Blood

Peripheral blood samples were collected by a research nurse from all subjects from the ante-cubital fossa following haemodynamic measurements. Serum creatinine, estimated glomerular filtration rate, high sensitivity protein and fibrinogen were measured using standard enzymatic methods in the department of Biochemistry, University Hospital of Wales.



Figure 2.8: Research Flow Chart

**Chapter Three** 

**Methodological Studies** 

### 3.1 Methodological Consideration

The reliability of an outcome measure reflects how reproducible or repeatable the measurement is under a given set of circumstances. This chapter of the thesis examined the reliability of outcome measures to be of use in the longitudinal studies and its feasibility in routine clinical practice.

### 3.1.1 Reliability

For an outcome measurement to be useful, it must provide stable or reproducible values with small errors of measurement when no variable is influencing the attribute that the measurement is quantifying (Rankin and Stokes, 1998). Measurement errors are of two types: one is systematic errors, which may constantly under-predict or overpredict values. Systematic error does not pose problems to the reliability of the outcome measure. However, it creates problems of validity since the measured value is not the true representation of the quantity measured. The second type of the measurement error is a random error. Random error does pose a problem to reliability, as they occur due to unpredictable factors such as mechanical inaccuracy, lack of experience and fatigue. Inevitability, the unpredictability of the working environment and subjects involved cannot be avoided, even if the sources of the errors are anticipated. Random errors can be diminished by taking several measurements then calculating the average score as a good estimate of the true value (Portney and Watkins, 2009). Since measurement error is inevitable and true reliability or a true value can never be calculated, reliability is estimated based on the statistical concept of variance. Variance is 'the measure of variability or the difference among scores within a sample' (Portney and Watkins, 2009:64). It helps to find out the true difference among the values measured by yielding a ratio called the reliability coefficient that has a coefficient of 1.0 for maximum reliability. Reliability coefficients are based on a measure of correlation such as Pearson's product moment correlation or the intraclass Correlation Coefficient and range between 0.00 and 1.00. The more
reliable the measurement response, the less error variability there will be around the mean (Bruton et al., 2000). The ICC is one appropriate approach that can be used to assess relative reliability among two or more trials. It is based on measures of variance from the analysis of variance (ANOVA) (Portney and Watkins, 2009). There are different types of ICCs that are available, equation ICC (3, 1), a two-way mixed model/absolute agreement, was used to assess the reliability of a fixed rater for repeated measurements (Rankin and Stokes, 1998). A coefficient below 0.50 is considered as indicating poor reliability, between 0.50 and 0.75 is considered as moderate reliability cannot rely solely on ICC, since it measures only the strength of association between the two variables not extent of agreement between them. An assessment of agreement, as in Bland and Altman should be used in conjunction with correlation in any reliability study.

There are two types of reliability, intra-rater (test-retest) and inter-rater reliability. The intra-rater reliability also called test-retest reliability. Intra-rater reliability is the reliability of measurement taken by the same researcher on different occasions. It is mainly used to establish the consistency of the measurement tool and, for the outcome measure to be reliable, the values obtained in a multiple trial should be similar. The interval between test and retest should remain stable to avoid random error (Portney and Watkins, 2009). Additionally, proper instruction and settings should be provided to maintain the uniformity of a study. The second type of the reliability is inter-rater reliability. The inter-rater reliability is the reliability of the measurement taken by multiple researchers (Bruton et al., 2000).

90

## 3.1.2 Validity

Validity refers to the extent to which an instrument measures what it claims and intends to measure accurately (Portney and Watkins, 2009). It implies that the measurements are free from error and emphasises the ability to make inferences from the values measured in the study (Portney and Watkins, 2009). Validity can be subdivided into four categories:

## I) Construct Validity

This is the degree to which a test identifies the concept or variable of that which is being measured (Brink et al., 2006). To establish the construct validity of a method, the researcher must determine the degree to which the measure accords with other measures designed to measure the same thing and whether the new test behaves as expected. In addition, the tool should demonstrate appropriateness in measurement (convergent validity) and avoid extraneous information (divergent validity).

## II) Criterion Validity

This is further subcategorised into concurrent validity and predictive validity.

Concurrent validity is related to which measurement tool is being examined against a previously validated measure, often a gold standard measurement. This is considered as a common method of examining the validity of a new tool or instrument (Portney and Watkins, 2009). Concurrent validity can be performed when a new or unexamined equipment is easy and feasible to administer and potentially more efficient. Predictive validity refers to a tool's capability to predict and make inferences about the future.

91

# III) Content Validity

This refers to what extent a tool adequately measures what it asserts to be measuring. The content validity employs a reference standard, also called a 'gold standard'. It is a measure accepted by a consensus of content experts as the best available for determining the presence or absence of a particular phenomenon (Portney and Watkins, 2009).

# IV) Face Validity

This refers to a measure's appropriateness and relevance to measure what it is supposed to measure as assessed by a group of experts (Brink et al., 2006). In other words, it is to examine whether the future measure seems to provide a reasonable measure of the concept it is intended to measure.

#### 3.2 Reliability of Arterial Stiffness Measurement in COPD

## 3.2.1 Background

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a systemic disorder associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) (Sin and Man, 2005). A number of studies have examined the mechanism that links COPD with CVD; however, the precise pathological process is still uncertain. Recently, the role of inflammation has been recognised in the pathogenesis of COPD (Thomsen et al., 2012). One of the most commonly used indicators of inflammation is CRP. CRP is one of the modulating factors of the pathogenesis in atherosclerosis (Barr et al., 2012, Iwamoto et al., 2009). In patients with COPD, the level of CRP is increased and, therefore, may contribute or accelerate aortic stiffness and calcification, which are risk factors for atherosclerosis (Bolton et al., 2011, Man et al., 2008).

Like COPD, atherosclerosis is a chronic progressive disorder affecting the elasticity of the medium and large arteries (Lusis, 2000). With increasing age, the loss of vascular properties of the arterial wall in the presence of cardiovascular risk factors contributes to stiffness of the large arteries in healthy elderly as well as in individuals with COPD (McEniery et al., 2005, Sabit et al., 2007). Several cross-sectional studies have found a relationship between arterial stiffness and COPD, suggesting that arterial stiffness could be a driving mechanism that increases the CVD risk in patients with COPD (Sabit et al., 2007, Cinarka et al., 2013). Stiffness of the large central arteries puts a great burden on cardiac function by decreasing diastolic time, which in turn leads to insufficient blood supply to myocardial tissue and the coronary arteries, and this may increase the risk of cardiovascular events (Sabit et al., 2010a, Patel et al., 2013). Changes in vessel wall structure and function composition may be determined by measuring arterial stiffness. Aortic PWV is the gold standard for measuring arterial stiffness (Laurent et al., 2006). Several studies have reported that aortic PWV is an independent predictor of cardiovascular risk in various populations (Boutouyrie et al., 2002, Cruickshank et al., 2002, Blacher et al., 1999, Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2005, Willum-Hansen et al., 2006).

However, few studies have evaluated the repeatability of aortic PWV in COPD. Stone and colleagues (2013) examined the reproducibility of aortic PWV measure using a Vicorder machine in 23 stable patients with hyperinflation, with two weeks in-between the measurements. In this study, the authors found this machine had a reproducibility coefficient of 4.02% and limit of agreement between -0.68 and 0.75 m/s. Although the Vicorder machine showed to be feasible for measuring aortic PWV, use of reproducibility coefficients and small sample size limits the generalisibility. The title of the study indicates that this is an inter-rater study, but it is unclear from the methodological section whether it is a reproducibility or reliability study.

A number of studies have examined the reliability of PWV in healthy individuals and in those in diseased states. A frequently cited paper is that of Wilkinson et al. (1998), which demonstrates within-day intra and inter-rater reproducibility in healthy subjects and patients with hypertension and Hypercholesterolaemia. This paper showed no difference in aortic PWV within and between operators, (p>0.05). The Bland-Altman plots confirmed that there was no systematic bias and that 95% of data fell within the limits of agreement (Bland and Altman, 1986). More recently, Frimodt-Moller and colleagues (2006) confirmed the within-day reliability of aortic PWV in 23 healthy middle-aged participants, but they found that there were differences following acute cigarette smoking (within four hours after last cigarette).

Whilst within-day reliability is important, interventional research requires that outcome measures are stable from day to day (Bland and Altman, 1986). The between-day reliability of PWV has been investigated for a number of populations.

As part of a larger study, Tanaka et al. (1998) investigated between-day reliability in eight men and women. Aortic PWV was measured and the results were pooled for analysis, with no difference in mean PWV between days. However, in this study, the

time interval was not stated, so it is difficult to extrapolate the findings; and pooling of aortic PWV may not be valid as the variation may be obscured when central and peripheral velocities are combined (Laurent et al., 2006). Furthermore, a larger study showed no difference in aortic PWV when measurements were repeated over a time interval of 2.5 weeks with a coefficient of variation of 3.2% and acceptable Bland-Altman plots (Liang et al., 1998). Similarly, ter Avest et al. (2005) demonstrated good reliability between days and between afternoon and morning assessment in 19 healthy subjects using the SphygmoCor device. Using the same device, Frimodt-Moller et al. (2008) assessed the intra- and inter-observer reliability of aortic PWV in 19 patients with chronic kidney disease. They showed good reliability within a week in this population. Good reliability has also been reported in a large sample of patients with kidney disease who were assessed twice, with a time interval ranging between two and 16 weeks (Savage et al., 2002).

To evaluate aortic PWV in a long-term study, reliability is critical. In healthy individuals, intra and inter-operator reliability has been established and shown to be high, as mentioned in the above studies. Although arterial stiffness has been used as a measure of cardiovascular risk in patients with COPD in a number of studies, the reliability of this measure has not been established in this population using the SphygmoCor device. Therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the reliability of aortic PWV over one week.

95

#### 3.3 Reliability of Cardiac Haemodynamics Measurement

## 3.3.1 Background

Increased cardiovascular risk is one feature of COPD (Sin and Man, 2005). Several studies support the relationship between COPD and CVD. Cardiovascular death related to COPD is under-diagnosed and under-recognised in this population. A recent well-conducted study TOwards a Revolution in COPD Health (TORCH) found that cardiovascular causes were involved in 27% of COPD deaths (McGarvey et al., 2007). Additionally, CVD increases the risk of hospitalisation by 42% with COPD (Anthonisen et al., 2002). The exact mechanism linking COPD to CVD remains unknown. Yet, there are several contributing factors that increase cardiovascular injury and the load on the heart function including systemic inflammation, hypoxia, aortic stiffness, autonomic nervous system dysfunction and oxidative stress (Maclay et al., 2012, Sabit et al., 2010a, Sin and Man, 2005, Skwarski et al., 1998, Van Gestel et al., 2012). The existence of one or more of these factors, beside COPD, can increase the burden on the heart, which will lead to left ventricular dysfunction or heart failure, even in the mild stages of COPD (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Rutten et al., 2005b). In a study of 405 patients with COPD, almost 21% of patients were diagnosed with hidden heart failure (Rutten et al., 2005b). Moreover, in a large multi-ethnic prospective cohort study of patients with emphysema and unknown cardiovascular disease, cardiac haemodynamics and left ventricle changes were present, even in mild stages (Barr et al., 2010).

Furthermore, hyperinflation is a feature of COPD that is associated with abnormal lung function (Ferguson, 2006). The effect of hyperinflation on the heart has not been studied extensively in patients with COPD. Jorgensen et al. (2007) found that in severe emphysema patients, there was a reduction in right and left heart size compared with non-emphysematous patients. More recently, Watz et al. (2010) found that hyperinflation was associated with reduced heart size and function across the

whole spectrum of COPD severity. Increased pulmonary vascular resistance and pulmonary arterial pressure, as consequences of hyperinflation, will lead the heart chambers to adapt to these changes by changing preload filling (Holverda et al., 2009).

There is a close relationship between heart size and cardiac function. Reduced heart chambers size leads to changes in cardiac output and stroke volume, which are measures of cardiac performance (Boussuges et al., 2000).

Cardiac output (CO) is one of the fundamental measures of heart function and the main determinant of global oxygen transport from the heart to the body. Additionally, the primary function of the cardiovascular system is to supply sufficient amounts of oxygen to meet the metabolic demands of the tissues; therefore, it appears sensible to measure CO to obtain information about the efficiency of the cardiovascular system. Given that patients with COPD are at high risk of CVD, and especially heart failure, quantifying CO in routine clinical practice may provide insights into the presence and degree of heart failure (Williams et al., 2001).

A study by Barr et al. (2010) found that CO decreases by 100 ml/minute for every 10% decline in FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC, independent of smoking.

Moreover, stroke volume (SV) is another determinant of cardiac performance. Boussuges et al. (2000) studied 34 stable patients with COPD, without hypoxemia, hypertension or overt cardiovascular disease, and found that the patients had reduced left ventricle stroke volume, in the absence of hypertrophy. This finding is supported by another study on a small group of 25 patients with severe COPD, and with unknown high blood pressure, CVD or heart failure. In this study, patients had lower right and left ventricle stroke volumes than healthy controls, which was concomitant with right ventricle hypertrophy (Vonk-Noordegraaf et al., 2005). In a large prospective cohort study, Barr et al. (2010) confirmed the negative impact of COPD on cardiac haemodynamics. They reported that a greater extent of emphysema and airway obstruction was associated with a decline in SV. There was a decrement of 15 ml in SV for every 10% reduction in FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC.

Taking the aforementioned studies together, it appears that the assessment of cardiac haemodynamics in patients with COPD is sensible, and will provide good insights into cardiac performance. Additionally, this will allow clinicians to detect the presence of heart dysfunction at an early stage and offer accurate management. The aforementioned studies have confirmed the changes in cardiac haemodynamics in patients with COPD, stages, using Doppler ultrasound, even at early echocardiography or cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. However, the application of these techniques in routine clinical settings is difficult due to their limited availability, the time needed, and the skills and knowledge of the operator.

Recently, a new method of measuring CO and SV based on a bioreactance technique has been developed to overcome the limitations associated with previous techniques such as bioimpedance technology. This non-invasive cardiac output measurement (NICOM) system is based on phase shift in the high frequency current delivered to the thoracic cavity as a result of changes in aortic blood volume. The accuracy, precision and responsiveness of this technique have been validated in several populations (Keren et al., 2007, Kossari et al., 2009, Rich et al., 2012, Squara et al., 2007).

The ideal technology for estimating CO and SV should be non-invasive, continuous and reproducible, and have a limit of agreement as assessed by a Bland and Altman plot (Bland and Altman, 1986). Furthermore, it should be convenient for both patient and health professional, and precise, and have minimum side effects. To date, the reliability of this system has been established in several patient populations, and one study demonstrated excellent reliability in healthy adults (Elliott et al., 2010). With regard to COPD, this technique should take into consideration the pathophysiology of COPD, hyperinflation and the ventilation-perfusion mismatches that are associated with COPD. To date, none of the available techniques satisfies all these criteria; therefore, the aim of this study was to examine the reliability of measuring CO and SV non-invasively using the Cheetah machine.

# Hypotheses

Aortic PWV will be a reliable outcome measure for assessing aortic stiffness in COPD after one week using the SphygmoCor machine.

Assessment of cardiac haemodynamics in COPD (i.e. CO and SV) will be reliable after one week using the Cheetah machine.

# Aims

The aim of this study was to examine the reliability of aortic PWV in COPD over one week using the SphygmoCor machine. In addition, this study aimed to assess the reliability of cardiac haemodynamics (i.e. CO and SV) using the Cheetah machine.

#### 3.3.2 Methods

A sub-group of patients were recruited from a large cross-sectional study of the Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE), which had gained ethical approval from South East Wales ethic committee (REC reference number 11/WSE02/7). Patients gave written informed consent. Inclusion criteria were: aged 40-80; clinically stable with no exacerbation in the preceding four weeks. An exacerbation is defined as "an event in the natural course of the disease characterised by a change in the patient's baseline dyspnoea, cough and/or sputum beyond day to day variability sufficient to warrant a change in management" (GOLD, 2014).

Full inclusion and exclusion criteria were detailed (Chapter 2: Table 2.1, p 65).

The sample size was based on data from a published study on COPD from South Wales: mean (SD) aortic PWV was 11.4 (2.7) (Sabit et al. 2007). This equates to an effect size of 0.24. The G power software was used to calculate the sample size, with 80% of power at p=0.05 and an effect size of 0.24 for repeated measures ANOVA, and found to require 30 patients.

#### Anthropometric Measurements

Subjects had their height measured barefoot with their back straight against a wall using a stadiometer (Seca; Vogel & Halke, Hamburg, Germany) and their weight using an electronic scale (Chapter 2:2.3.1, p 68).

## Measurement of Pulse Wave Velocity

Carotid-femoral PWV was assessed non-invasively using the SphygmoCor device connected to a laptop computer (Chapter 2:2.3.3, p 72).

# **Cardiac Haemodynamics Measurement**

Cardiac haemodynamics were measured non-invasively using a new bioreactance technology (NICOM, Cheetah, Medical Inc., Indianapolis, IN) (Chapter 2:2.3.4, p 77).

# **Second Measurement**

The patients came back after a week to repeat the same measurements, when the same protocol was followed.

# **Statistical Analyses**

Descriptive statistics, repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA), intracorrelation coefficient and Bland and Altman plots were used to assess reliability. All analyses were carried out using SPSS software (version 18.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). The p value was set at <0.05 and ICC > 0.75. Data normality was checked prior to analysis using a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

#### 3.3.3 Results

Thirty patients (17 male), mean (SD) age 67 (7), height 165 (10), weight 74.8 (18.2) and  $FEV_1\%$  predicted 57 (18). The time between the two measurements was mean (SD) 7 (1) days.

A normality test showed that the variable was normally distributed as the p value showed no significant difference between the patients (p>0.05). The repeated measures ANOVA showed no variability between subject measurements of cf-PWV, as demonstrated by the F=0.002 and p=0.965. Similar findings were for CO measurements, F=0.002, p=0.965 and SV measurements, F=0.001, p=0.976. This suggests that there were no significant differences between the patients (Table 3.1). Intra-rater test-retest reliability was analysed using the ICC (3, 1) equation. Between days reliability for cf-PWV was 0.96 (95% CI: 0.93- 0.98). Similarly for CO (0.93, 95% CI: 0.89- 0.97) and similar SV, 0.94 (0.94, 95% CI: 0.89-97). The relationship between the first and second visits cf-PWV was examined using a scatter plot with an R<sup>2</sup> of 0.87 (Figure 3.1). The relationship between the two occasions of CO and SV was plotted using a scatter plot (Figures 3.3) and (Figure 3.5), respectively. The R<sup>2</sup> between CO and SV measurements was 0.91 and 0.88. This means that 90% and 88% of the variance was shared between the first and second measurements of CO and SV, respectively.

For all the outcome measures, the majority of the points were also close to the line of best fit.

The Bland and Altman plot was calculated between the first and second cf-PWV, CO and SV. The mean difference and standard deviation with 95%CI of the mean for each outcome measure is tabulated (Table 3.2). Their difference was plotted on a Yaxis against their mean on an X-axis. The cf-PWV plot showed that all but two patients fell within the 95%CI limit of agreement (Figure 3.2). The plot also revealed that there was no systematic bias in the differences between visits, as the zero value was included in the 95%CI. The plot for CO (Figure 3.4) and SV (Figure 3.6) showed no systematic bias, as the zero value was included in the 95%CI and the points were distributed evenly around the mean, with minimal random error. The plot showed two clear outliers for each outcome measure.

# Table 3.1: Physiological characteristics of patients at both visits

	First Visit Mean (SD)	Second Visit Mean (SD)	p value
Aortic PWV (m/sec)	9.7 (2.2)	9.7 (2.2)	0.965
Cardiac Output (L/min)	5.7 (1.1)	5.6 (1.1)	0.965
Stroke Volume (ml)	84 (20)	82 (20)	0.976
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	138 (18)	135 (16)	0.347
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	76 (8)	74 (9)	0.135
Central SBP (mmHg)	127 (17)	125 (13)	0.331
Central DBP (mmHg)	77 (9)	76 (8)	0.255
Heart Rate (bpm)	70 (16)	72 (14)	0.696

Abbreviations: PWV= pulse wave velocity; SBP= systolic blood pressure;

**DBP=** diastolic blood pressure.

# Table 3.2: Limit of Agreement Calculation of Outcome Measures

Outcome Measure	Mean Difference (SD)	Limit of Agreement
Aortic PWV (m/s)	0.01 (0.83)	-1.62_1.62
Stroke Volume (ml)	2.07 (7.34)	-12.32_16.46
Cardiac Output (L/min)	0.061 (0.35)	-0.75_0.62

Data presented as mean difference (SD) and 95%CI.









Figure 3.2: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity



Figure 3.3: Relationship between first and second visits of Cardiac Output



Figure 3.4: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Cardiac Output



Figure 3.5: Relationship between first and second visits for Stroke Volume



Figure 3.6: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Stroke Volume

#### 3.3.4 Discussion

#### **Reliability of Carotid-femoral Pulse Wave Velocity**

Patients with COPD are known to have elevated aortic stiffness and this may have a bearing on repeatability (Sabit et al., 2007). However, in this study, the measurement of aortic PWV showed excellent repeatability. The results obtained from the repeated measurements of ANOVA indicate that there was no significant difference in carotid-femoral PWV measurements between a week interval. This may have been as a result of the standardisation protocol used in this research.

The present study was designed to evaluate the stability (day-to-day) and reliability of carotid-femoral PWV measurements. There were two types of variability associated with this measure: systematic bias and random error. A systematic pattern in the data is characterised by data spreading in either a positive or a negative direction, and this can indicate whether a learning effect exists. Random error reflects the biological and mechanical variation inherent in the measurements and is characterised by the magnitude of the spread around the mean difference. Close examination of the Bland and Altman plot indicates no evidence of any learning effect and minimal error for carotid-femoral PWV. The mean difference between intra-operator test-retest is approximately zero (i.e. 0.01m/s). Relating this to normal clinical practice, this difference is practically non-significant in terms of making changes to clinical decision-making.

The repeatability of carotid-femoral PWV in patients with COPD using the SphygmoCor device is similar to that recently reported by Stone and co-authors (2013) using the Vicorder device. However, the present study was power calculated and used the most robust statistical test to examine the reliability. Using the same device, Wilkinson et al. (1998) showed a large variation between the two measurements taken by the same operator demonstrated by the large standard deviation of the mean difference, which is reflected in the limits of agreement. This

variability was even maintained between operators. The inconsistency between readings could be related to an inexperienced operator, who may have had difficulty palpating and positioning the probe on the femoral artery. Similarly, in ter Avest et al. (2005) study, variability was observed between morning and afternoon measurements. Owing to a discrepancy between the measurement sides (i.e. right carotid artery and left femoral artery) and method of distance measurement, this may explain the variability. The results of this study are consistent with those obtained by Frimodt-Moller et al. (2008), who investigated the repeatability of aortic stiffness in patients with renal failure on two different occasions within a week between the measurements, they showed good repeatability.

Although COPD is a heterogeneous disease with day-to-day variability in patients' physiological status, this study has demonstrated high intra-operator test-retest repeatability of carotid-femoral PWV using a well controlled standard protocol. Since carotid-femoral PWV is a reproducible measure in patients with COPD, it appears to be a useful measure to assess and monitor cardiovascular risk in this study. However, blood pressure should be taken into consideration when analysing the results. Hence, increases in distending pressure, increases carotid-femoral PWV and therefore PWV should be adjusted for changes in blood pressure (Laurent et al., 2006).

#### **Reliability of Cardiac Haemodynamics**

Cardiac haemodynamics are primary parameters for the evaluation and monitoring of cardiac performance; their measurement in clinical settings helps to quantify the presence and degree of CVD. The results of this study showed the ability of the NICOM system to measure the CO and SV accurately and non-invasively in patients with COPD over time. Adoption of any measurement technique for clinical use must show adequate between-day stability, since chronic disease management relies on repeated test paradigm analyses. Considering the heterogeneity of COPD, the NICOM system showed excellent stability over time. As no previous study has examined the repeatability of this device in patients with COPD, so no comparison could be made. However, the reliability results for the current study are consistent with the findings of a previous study of young healthy individuals (Elliott et al., 2010). In this study, Elliott and colleagues (2010) reported a high ICC of 0.94 for triple measurements of CO during the same visit. However, they did not report the amount of variability between the measurements.

Patients with COPD are at increased risk of heart failure and CVD (Rutten et al., 2005b). Increasing evidence suggests that CO and SV can be reduced in patients with COPD, even in the mild stage of airway obstruction. Similarly, patients with heart failure share the same features (Williams et al., 2001). Manifestations of cardiac damage and dysfunction may not be obvious in the early stages during routine clinical assessment in primary care settings; therefore, the progression of subclinical cardiac damage can eventually lead to heart failure (Barr et al., 2010, Sabit et al., 2010a, Watz et al., 2008). Clinically, early detection of these changes plays a vital role in providing accurate management of these patients by reducing their rate of morbidity and mortality-related CVD (Sin and Man, 2005).

110

Furthermore, augmentation of cardiac haemodynamics with other clinical measurements, such as aortic stiffness in routine clinical practice may provide good insights into left ventricle function and cardiac subclinical abnormalities. Patients with COPD and suspected heart failure are at high risk of left ventricle dysfunction (Rutten et al., 2005b). Therefore, the NICOM system makes it possible to quantify cardiac performance in primary care settings and to stratify patients who are at risk of developing CVD or heart failure, and thus to enhance management.

Given that the NICOM system is independent of the operator and does not need the patient's participation, and also because of its rapidity, simplicity and accuracy, this system can provide the physician with clear information about heart performance in patients with COPD.

#### **Study Limitation**

The reliability results of arterial stiffness and cardiac haemodynamics were based on a single operator measurements, therefore, these results could not extrapolated to inter-rater reproducibility.

# Conclusion

Measurement of aortic PWV and cardiac haemodynamics are simple and noninvasive and provide valuable information about vascular wall properties and cardiac performance, respectively. Given the increased cardiovascular risk in COPD population, using such assessment tools in routine clinical practice could yield to early identification of patients who are high risk of developing CVD and implement appropriate management. The assessment of these outcome measures is also useful for monitoring patient's condition and treatment.

111

# 3.4 Assessment of Repeatability and Validity of Quantitative Ultrasound Scan in COPD

#### 3.4.1 Background

Osteoporosis defined as a systemic skeletal disease characterised by diminished bone mineral density (BMD) and/or deterioration of the microarchitecture, leading to increased bone vulnerability to fractures (Biskobing, 2002). It is common in COPD estimated to be two to five times more prevalent than controls similar in age and sex (Bolton et al., 2004, Sabit et al., 2007).

The mechanistic links between osteoporosis to COPD is poorly understood. However, both diseases share similar risk factors, including use of corticosteroids, systemic inflammation, physical inactivity and weight loss (Barnes and Celli, 2009). In addition, a decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> is associated with an increased risk for osteoporosis and fracture (Graat-Verboom et al., 2009, Jorgensen and Schwarz, 2008). As osteoporosis develops insidiously, it often remains undiagnosed until a fracture occurs, with significant morbidity and mortality. Developing a prevention strategy that involves early detection and aggressive management to reduce the risk for osteoporotic fracture could benefit patients and reduce healthcare cost. This is of particular importance in patients with COPD, who are at greater risk of compromised lung function or adverse events with surgery (Bapoje et al., 2007, Schlaich et al., 1998).

Currently, the gold standard to assess osteoporosis non-invasively is a dual-energy xray absorptiometry (DXA) scan, which measures bone mineral density (BMD) at the lumbar spine and hip to monitor the efficacy of the treatment and predict the fracture (Blake and Fogelman, 1998). Nevertheless, the DXA only measures BMD, which is only one feature of bone structure, and may fail to detect deterioration of the microarchitecture of bone and the presence of osteoporosis (Siris et al., 2004). In addition, access to the DXA scan is limited and requires considerable time and expertise and therefore is not cost effective for screening. An alternative, which does not emit radiation and has potential to identify individuals at high risk of fracture is the use of quantitative ultrasound (QUS) measurement of the calcaneus (Pluijm et al., 1999). Unlike the DXA scan which measures the BMD, the calcaneus ultrasound bone analyser (CUBA) measures the microstructure of the bone by broadband ultrasound attenuation (BUA). Osteoporosis is predominantly observed in cancellous bones, which are metabolically active tissue and affected by age and disease. The calcaneal and hip bones share similar bone structure and mechanical loading during daily activity. In addition, the calcaneal bone is relatively free from the soft tissue and easily accessible. The precision and potential diagnostic ability of the CUBA Clinical<sup>TM</sup> scanner has been demonstrated in several studies (Cook et al., 2005, Cryer et al., 2007, Greenspan et al., 1997, Stewart and Reid, 2000). Additionally, the CUBA scanner has shown the ability to predict hip and osteoporotic fracture (Khaw et al., 2004, Pluijm et al., 1999). Although the CUBA scanner has shown promising results to identify patients with osteoporosis or predict fractures, its reliability and validity has not been established in the COPD population.

# Hypothesis

As patients with COPD are at high risk of developing osteoporosis and due limited resources and high cost of the DXA scan, the CUBA scanner would provide a reliable and valid measurement of heel bone density.

#### Aim

This study aimed to examine the repeatability of the CUBA scanner for measuring heel bone density and its sensitivity and specificity when compared to the hip DXA scan results.

#### 3.4.2 Methods

#### Subjects

A sub-group of patients were recruited from the ARACDE study when they were clinically stable with no exacerbation in the preceding four weeks. An exacerbation was defined as "an event in the natural course of the disease characterised by a change in the patient's baseline dyspnoea, cough and/or sputum beyond day to day variability sufficient to warrant a change in management" (GOLD, 2014). Exclusion and inclusion criteria were detailed previously (Chapter 2, Table 2.1, p 59). Patients gave written informed consent and the study had approval from the South East Wales Research Ethics Committee.

# **Anthropometry Measurement**

All patients had their height measured barefoot using a stadiometer (Seca; Vogel & Halke, Hamburg, Germany). Weight and body composition were recorded with patients wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot using a single frequency segmental bioelectrical impedance analyser (BC-418 MA, Tanita Corp., Tokyo, Japan) (Chapter 2:2.3.1, p 68).

#### Heel Bone Density Measurement

The heel bone density was assessed using the CUBA Clinical<sup>™</sup> (McCue Ultrasonics, Winchester) (Chapter 2:2.3.2, p 68).

#### **Bone Mineral Density Measurement**

Patients with a diagnosis of osteoporosis who were recruited into the ARCADE study and had the DXA scan within one year from the initial visit was taken and included in the analysis. The mean BMD at the lumbar spine and hip sites were recorded according to standard clinical practise by DXA scan at UHW Cardiff (Chapter 2:2.3.11, p 83). The BMD at all sites was recorded as an absolute figure (g/cm<sup>2</sup>) and as a standardised T and Z score.

#### **Pulmonary Function Tests**

All patients completed post-bronchodilator spirometry and the forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), the forced vital capacity (FVC) and FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio were recorded (Vitalograph alpha, Bucks, UK) (Chapter 2:2.3.5, p 80).

# **Statistical Analyses**

All analyses were carried out using SPSS software (version 18.0; SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL). Data was checked for normality using a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

# Reliability

Normally distributed data was presented as mean (SD). Reliability was examined using repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA), intra-correlation coefficient and Bland-Altman plot. The p value was set at <0.05 and ICC > 0.75.

#### Validity

The sensitivity (proportion of patients correctly identified as having osteoporosis) and specificity (proportion of patients correctly identified without osteoporosis) of the CUBA scan was determined and compared with the gold standard DXA scan. The positive predictive value (the proportion of patients with positive CUBA scan findings who had osteoporosis) and negative predictive value (proportion of participants with negative CUBA scan findings who did not have osteoporosis) were expressed as percentages. The cut-off points were determined by 90% of sensitivity as an upper limit and 90% specificity as a lower limit by the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve.

# 3.4.3 Results

# Reliability

The between-day repeatability study included 30 (17 male) patients, mean (SD) age 67 (7), height 165 (10), weight 74.8 (18.2) and  $FEV_1\%$  predicted 57 (18). The period between measurements was mean (SD) of 7 (1) days.

The repeated measures ANOVA indicated no variability between patient's measurements as demonstrated by F-value (0.282) and P-value (0.599). The between-day ICC was 0.81 (95%CI: 0.63-0.90). The Bland-Altman plot mean difference between repeated measures was 1.36 (14) dB/MHz and the 95%CI was between -28.92 and +26.32 dB/MHz. All except two patients fell between the 95%CI limits of agreement and there was no systematic bias as the points distributed evenly around the mean (Figure 3.7).



Figure 3.7: Bland and Altman plot showing between day differences in Broadband

**Ultrasound Attenuation Measurement** 

### Validity

Of the 48 patients who underwent the CUBA and DXA scans, 8 had a normal scan, 28 had osteopenia and 12 had osteoporosis according to DXA scan. Mean age was 68 (7), FEV<sub>1</sub>% 57 (18), BUA 49 (17) dB/MHz, heel T-score -2.44 (1.02), hip BMD 0.72 (0.11) g/cm<sup>2</sup> and hip T-score -1.84 (0.80). The BUA correlated with hip BMD (r=0.38, p=0.01) and hip T score (r=0.35 p= 0.02), and CUBA T score related to hip BMD (r= 0.39, p= 0.01) and hip T score (r=0.35, p= 0.01).

In the first analysis, those patients who had a left hip DXA T- score of <-1 were classified as positive bone mass loss, while those who had a normal bone densiometry were considered as negative cases. Using the manufacture cut- off point of T score between -2 and -1 as a positive indication of loss of bone density, the CUBA scan identified 38 out of 40 patients as having bone mineral density loss with 95% sensitivity and 13 % specificity (Table 3.3).

Using the receiver-operating characteristic curve to determine the best sensitivity and specificity values for the CUBA clinical machine to identify bone mass loss in this population, the cut-off value was -2.66 and the area under the curve was 0.752 (95%CI: 0.580 to 0.923) (Figure 3.8). According to this value, out of 40 patients with bone mass loss, only 15 patients were identified, with 38% sensitivity and 100% specificity (Table 3.4).The accuracy of this machine based on the sensitivity and specificity analysis was 48%.

The second analysis, the ROC curve was used to determine the best sensitivity and specificity for the CUBA scanner to identify patients with osteoporosis (Figure 3.9). Patients who were classified as "osteopenic" were excluded from the analysis. From this analysis, the cut-off T-score for the CUBA scanner based on 90% sensitivity and 90% specificity was -2.74. The area under the curve was 0.750 (95%CI: 0.522 to 0.968). Based on this cut-off point, the CUBA detected 7 out of 12 patients with osteoporosis; however, it did not misclassify any patient as osteoporotic (Table 3.5).

In comparison to the ROC curve cut-off, the recommended cut-off value set by the manufacture to diagnose osteoporosis revealed that this machine had a sensitivity and specificity of 75% and 63%, respectively. The positive predictive value was 75% where the negative predictive value was 63%. The percentages of incorrect diagnosis (i.e. false negative and false positive values) were equal 15%.

Combining the two analyses, a T-score between -2.73 to -1 indicated loss of bone mass in patients with COPD where a T-score of -2.74 or below suggested osteoporosis.

# Table 3.3: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for bone mass loss based on the

# manufacture recommendation

CUBA scanner	DXA scanner				
	Normal	Bone Mass loss	Total	PPV	NPV
Normal	1	2	3		33%
Bone Mass Loss	7	38	45	84%	
Total	8	40	48		
	Specificity=13%	Sensitivity =95%		FP=15%	FN=4%

**Abbreviations: CUBA=** Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser; **DXA=** Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry; **PPV=** positive predictive value; **NPPB=** negative predictive value.

# Table 3.4: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for bone loss based on the ROC curve

CUBA scanner	DXA scanner				
	Normal	Bone Mass loss	Total	PPV	NPV
Normal	8	25	33		24%
Bone Mass Loss	0	15	15	100%	
Total	8	40	48		
	Specificity=100%	Sensitivity =38%		FP=0%	FN=52

Abbreviations: CUBA= Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser; DXA= Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry; PPV= positive predictive value; NPP= negative predictive value.

# Table 3.5: Sensitivity and Specificity calculation for osteoporosis based on the ROC

#### curve

CUBA scanner	DXA scanner				
	Normal	Osteoporosis	Total	PPV	NPV
Normal	8	5	13		62%
Bone Mass Loss	0	7	7	100%	
Total	8	12	20		
	Specificity =100	Sensitivity =58%		FP=0%	FN=25

Abbreviations: CUBA= Calcaneal Ultrasound Bone Analyser; DXA= Dual-energy X-ray Absorptiometry; PPV= positive predictive value; NPP= negative predictive value.







bone mass loss



#### 3.4.4 Discussion

The CUBA Clinical<sup>™</sup> scanner demonstrated an excellent between-day repeatability of heel bone density in patients with COPD, with a slight variability between the measurements. It also showed the ability to identify patients with loss of bone mass and excluded those who do not have osteoporosis.

Adoption of any measurement tool for use in clinical practice must show adequate between days repeatability to identify changes in chronic disease. The Bland-Altman plot showed some variability between the measurements of the patients, though consistency was optimised, as it should be according to the manufacture recommendations. However, previous studies have suggested that results may be influenced by the size and width of the foot as well as the position of the ankle (Cheng et al., 2002, Greenspan et al., 1997). As no previous study has examined the repeatability of this device in patients with COPD, no comparison could be made. Two previous studies examined inter-operator measurements precision of the CUBA scanner and found this scanner has less variability between the measurements. Although, these studies used the coefficient of variation, which can underestimate repeatability, the results of the current study are still comparable with their findings (Greenspan et al., 1997, Stewart and Reid, 2000).

The correlation between the CUBA clinical scan and DXA scan is similar to other previous studies with consideration of different anatomical sites (Naganathan et al., 1999, Stewart and Reid, 2000, Cook et al., 2005, Cryer et al., 2007). The discriminatory ability of the CUBA scanner to identify patients with bone loss showed a good correlation between the CUBA clinical scan and DXA scan. For a useful clinical diagnostic test in case of a common comorbidity in COPD such as osteoporosis, obtaining high sensitivity is usually recommended. Thus, the results of this study showed that this machine had a sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 13%. This means if bone mass loss is diagnosed by the CUBA scanner, it is likely to be true

(84%). However, only 33% will be classified as a disease free if the results are negative. This has changed notably when the cut-off values were set by the ROC curve values. The ability to diagnose loss of bone mass decreased to an unacceptable value of 38%, but the specificity increased markedly to 100%. Therefore, the 8 patients with normal bone density were identified by both the DXA and the CUBA scanner.

For clinical use, a screening test should demonstrate a good sensitivity to rule out any patient who does not have the disease. Balancing between the false positive and false negative obtained from both cut-off levels, the identification of patients with early stage of bone mass loss using the CUBA scan could be based on a T score of -1 or below as proposed by manufacture and international osteoporosis foundation (IOF) recommendations (Vasikaran et al., 2011). Using this value, the clinician can be 84% confident that the patient has some degree of bone weakness and worthy of further investigation. The data produced by the ROC curve analysis, to determine the ability of the CUBA clinical scanner to identify osteoporosis, showed that the CUBA scanner can exclude patients without osteoporosis. Nevertheless, to keep the incorrect diagnosis of osteoporosis to a minimum, both cut-off values set by the ROC analysis and manufacture maintain the false negative results to its minimum (25%). Even a false positive value, should not be ignored, as the CUBA scanner may give different information about trabecular bone mass and its density and early changes in bone microstructures could be demonstrated in the heel bone before it can be detected by the DXA scan at the hip region. Several studies have found that low BUA is an independent risk factor for hip and osteoporotic fracture.

The current study findings are in agreement with Stewart and Reid (2000) study, who found that the CUBA scanner has the ability to discriminate between those with loss of bone mass and who have apparently healthy bone. In contrast, Naganathan et al. (1999) found the CUBA scanner was unable to identify people with bone mass loss.

Measuring the BUA at the heel area appears to predict the loss of bone mass at the hip region and this is because these bones share similar anatomical and biomechanical characteristics. The sensitivity and specificity of the CUBA scanner has been examined by several studies to identify subjects with osteoporosis, but conflicting results have been reported. The results of this study are consistent with Stewart and Reid (2000) and Cryer et al. (2007) studies who found a high sensitivity (94% and 90%, respectively) of the CUBA scanner to identify subjects with osteoporosis. In contrast to the present findings and previous two studies, Naganathan et al. (1999) found this machine had a limited sensitivity to diagnose osteoporosis (33%) in postmenopausal women. However, the authors based the diagnosis of osteoporosis upon multiple sites and did not specify what area was most related to the CUBA clinical scanner; and recent guidelines suggest the hip region as the best estimate of osteoporosis (Qaseem et al., 2008). Nevertheless, the certainty, i.e. true positive, of this machine to diagnosis osteoporosis is controversial. The results of this research are consistent with Stewart and Reid (2000) findings but not with Naganathan et al. (1999) and Cryer et al. (2007) studies. Although Naganathan et al. (1999) and Stewart and Reid (2000) used the same method as the present study, Naganathan and colleagues (1999) did not specify which region was osteoporotic. However, Cryer and co-authors (2007) based the diagnosis of osteoporosis upon the ulnar BMD results, which is not the recommended site for diagnosing osteoporosis.

The threshold of the CUBA scanner for identifying osteoporosis in patients with COPD is similar to Cook et al. (2005) and that recommended by the manufacturer, whereas Langton et al. (1997) recommended a slightly lower cut-off value of -1.58 to -1.64. In contrast, Naganathan et al. (1999) used a lower cut-off between -2.5 to -1 to diagnose osteoporosis. This discrepancy in the threshold values between the studies is partly explained by measuring different sites to diagnose osteoporosis.

The CUBA scanner is a useful device to measure the changes in bone mass and microstructure of patients with COPD. Although it had moderate ability to identify patients with osteoporosis, it was precise to exclude those who did not have osteoporosis. Putting this in a clinical context, this machine could be used as a screening tool to identify patients who have some degree of bone mass weakness when the T-score falls between -2.73 and -1. However, if the T-score is below -2.74, the patient is more likely to have osteoporosis and worth further investigation. The CUBA scanner could be used for a case finding approach to identify patients at low or high risk and need further investigation. This will move the strategy from identification to prevention of osteoporosis and its complications, as osteoporosis is common in patients with COPD, yet often not diagnosed until a fracture occurs. Furthermore, due to limited resources, the DXA scan is not accessible in primary care settings, making this simple and portable device feasible to screen patients for changes in bone architecture and excludes the possibility of osteoporosis.

#### Study Limitations

Although the DXA and CUBA scans were not undertaken on the same day, they were within one year, where appreciable change of BMD is unlikely. The measurement of the BUA was obtained using the ankle whereas the BMD was measured over the top part of the hip, which may differ in the presence of osteoporosis. However, as an easily accessible weight bearing bone, the heel may be a useful surrogate of BMD.

## Conclusion

The BUA is a reproducible measure of calcaneal bone density and structure in COPD. Given the prevalence of osteoporosis in COPD is high and often undiagnosed, a cheap and simple device such as the CUBA Clinical<sup>™</sup> could be useful in primary care for screening patients with increased risk of loss of bone density and reducing the number of referral to the hospital for the DXA scan. Such a device could be feasible in promoting prevention strategy, treatment and management of osteoporosis in COPD.
# **Chapter Four**

# A Simple and Rapid Test of Physical

# **Performance in Chronic Obstructive**

Pulmonary Disease.

#### 4.1 Background

A major impact of chronic obstructive airway disease (COPD) is the progressive loss of physical performance, which may lead to disability with loss of the ability to perform routine activities of daily living (Eisner et al., 2008). Reduced physical activity occurs even in mild severity airflow obstruction and continuous activity monitoring has demonstrated that patients spend less time walking and standing than healthy controls (Gouzi et al., 2011, Watz et al., 2009). In addition to the impact on functional status, physical inactivity is associated with a reduced health related quality of life (HR-QoL), and contributes to loss of muscle mass, osteoporosis and cardiovascular disease, all co-morbidities of COPD (Barnes and Celli, 2009). Consequently, it becomes part of a vicious cycle of physical inactivity and changes in body composition that affect physical performance (Barnes and Celli, 2009).

The assessment of physical performance in patients with COPD in routine clinical practice is challenging and often poorly quantified, and the progressive loss of airways function, particularly the forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>) is a poor predictor of physical impairment (Kapella et al., 2011). Breaking the cycle of physical inactivity and detrimental changes in body composition could have major impacts on HR-QoL and earlier life-style interventions may maintain physical activity and normal body composition.

Physical performance in COPD has been assessed by various methods including questionnaires, which may have limited reproducibility and validity due to their dependence on patient recall. Quantitative measures of physical performance include the six minute walking distance (6MWD), the incremental shuttle walk test and cycle ergometry (Palange et al., 2007, Revill et al., 1999). The 6MWD is commonly used in clinical research and provides a measure of sub-maximal physical performance. Although, the 6MWD is a validated measure and reflects daily activity, it is not widely used in clinical practice owing to the requirement for substantial time, space and

127

expertise (Glaab et al., 2010). The Timed Up and Go (TUG) test has been used to assess physical function in the elderly (Savva et al., 2013). It is a relatively simple and reproducible test that assesses balance, gait speed and physical performance and can predict the risk of falls, functional activity and frailty in the older population (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991, Viccaro et al., 2011). The TUG test is also responsive to a rehabilitation intervention (Brooks et al., 2006). It has not been applied widely in COPD, but it has demonstrated to identify patients with COPD with reduced balance, co-ordination and an increased risk of falls similar to findings in the elderly (Beauchamp et al., 2009). Thus, the TUG may reflect routine daily activities, which require the integration of strength and balance.

### **Hypothesis**

The TUG test would be prolonged in patients with COPD, compared with a non-COPD comparator population. Additionally, the TUG would be a predictor of the 6MWD.

# Aim

This study aimed to assess the feasibility of using TUG test as an integrated measure of physical mobility in patients with COPD when compared to 6MWD.

#### 4.2 Methods

#### Subjects

Five-hundred patients with COPD confirmed with spirometry and 150 comparators either current or ex-smokers free from respiratory disease were recruited from the Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE) study. Patients and comparators were recruited following the inclusion and exclusion criteria detailed previously (Chapter 2: Table 2.1, p 65). All subjects gave written informed consent and the study had approval from the South East Wales Research Ethics Committee.

# Anthropometry and Body Composition Measurement

All subjects had their height measured barefoot using a stadiometer (Seca; Vogel & Halke, Hamburg, Germany). Weight and body composition were recorded with subjects wearing lightweight clothing and barefoot using a single frequency segmental bioelectrical impedance analyser (BC-418 MA, Tanita Corp., Tokyo, Japan) (Chapter 2:2.3.1, p 68). Body mass index (BMI), fat free mass (FFM) and fat mass (FM) were also determined. Waist and Hip circumferences were measured with a stretch resistance tape.

#### **Pulmonary Function Tests**

All subjects completed spirometry and the forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), the forced vital capacity (FVC) and  $FEV_1/FVC$  ratio were recorded (Vitalograph alpha, Bucks, UK) (Chapter 2:2.3.5, p 80).

The level of breathlessness was scored using the modified Medical Research Council (MRC) dyspnoea scale.

In the patients, the number of exacerbations, defined as an acute worsening of respiratory symptoms characterised by the increase of any combination of three key symptoms, which necessitate a change in regular medication, in the last year was recorded (Rabe et al., 2007).

# Six Minute Walk Distance

The 6MWD was carried out in accordance with a protocol adapted from the American Thoracic Society (ATS) guideline (2002) using a 30-m level, straight indoor track (Chapter 2:2.3.7, p 81).

# **Timed Up and Go**

All subjects undertook the TUG test using a standard chair and standardised instructions (Chapter 2:2.3.6, p 79). The task was to be performed at their normal comfortable pace and the time recorded in seconds.

# Handgrip Strength Measurement

Maximal right and left handgrip strength (HGS) was determined twice in each hand using a hand dynamometer (T.K.K. 5401 grip-D, Takei, Japan) (Chapter 2:2.3.8, p 84).

# **Health Related Questionnaire**

Patients completed the St George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and the COPD assessment test (CAT), both validated questionnaires to assess the impact of COPD on their health status (Chapter 2:2.3.9, p 82).

# **Inflammatory Biomarkers**

A blood sample was obtained for determination of C-reactive protein (CRP, high sensitivity) and fibrinogen by standard assays (Dept. Biochemistry, University Hospital of Wales).

### **Statistical Analysis**

The statistical software package SPSS 18.0 (Chicago, Illinois, U.S.A.) was used for all analysis. Data were checked for normality prior to analysis using a Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Results are presented as arithmetic or geometric (for non-normally distributed) and standard deviation (SD). Comparisons between patients and comparators were performed using analysis of variance (ANOVA). Categorical data was analysed using the Chi-square test. Relationships between variables were explored using Pearson's and Spearman correlation coefficients. Multivariate analysis was performed using a stepwise multiple regression model. For all analysis p<0.05 was considered significant. Receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curve was performed to determine the diagnostic ability of the TUG test for discrimination between stable patients with COPD and community population.

#### 4.3 Results

The patients and comparators were similar in age, gender ratio and BMI. The patients had a greater tobacco exposure, lower mean FEV<sub>1</sub>, FVC and resting oxygen saturation than the comparator group, all p<0.001 (Table 4.1). The severity of airflow obstruction by GOLD stratification was: GOLD 1 n=73, GOLD 2 n=251, GOLD 3 n=144 and GOLD 4 n=32 and the distribution of the modified MRC breathlessness score was: mMRC 0 n=65, mMRC 1 n= 172, mMRC 2= 97, mMRC 3 n=121 and mMRC 4 n= 44.

# **Measures of Physical Performance**

The patients had a greater TUG, 11.1 (3.7) s than comparators 8.2 (1.2) s, p<0.001, however, there was no difference in the TUG for males and females in either group, p>0.05. The TUG in the patients was weakly related to the FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted (r= -0.14, p<0.01), oxygen saturation (r= -0.12, p<0.03) and mMRC dyspnoea score (r= 0.28, p< 0.001).

The TUG was related to age in patients (r=0.13, p=0.003) and comparators (r=0.21, p=0.01). The patients had greater TUG than the comparators across all the age decades <50-80, all p<0.001 (Figure 4.1). Using the upper 95%CI (8.5) s for the comparator as a cut-off value for the non-COPD range demonstrated that only 101 of the 500 patients had a TUG within the comparator reference range.

The 6MWD and HGS were less in patients than comparators, both p<0.001 (Table 4.1). In the patients, the TUG was inversely related to the 6MWD (r=-0.71, p<0.001) and HGS (r=-0.24, p<0.001), but only to the 6MWD in comparator subjects (r=-0.38, p<0.001). The 6MWD, HGS and TUG were all related to each other in the patients, all p<0.001.

	COPD (n=500)	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Gender Male:Female	255:245	75:75	0.451
Age (years)	66 (7)	65 (8)	0.125
Smoking (pack-years)	40.6 (25.5)	21.4 (17.9)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.64 (0.84)	2.73 (0.67)	0.001
FVC (L)	2.50 (0.98)	3.50 (0.90)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (L)	0.53 (0.11)	0.78 (0.05)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (%)	59 (21)	105 (13)	0.001
FVC (%)	87 (21)	110 (15)	0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	28.1 (5.5)	28.3 (4.2)	0.664
Waist circumference (cm)	100 (15.0)	95 (13)	0.001
Waist:Hip ratio	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	0.001
Handgrip (kg)	27.1 (9.9)	31.0 (10.2)	0.001
FFM (kg)	49.6 (11.0)	52.2 (9.5)	0.011
FFMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	18.1 (2.6)	18.5 (2.3)	0.088
Fat mass (kg)	26.9 (11.1)	26.9 (8.6)	0.985
6MWD (m)	324 (124)	502 (86)	0.001
TUG (s)	11.1 (3.7)	8.2 (1.2)	0.001
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	97 (2)	98 (1)	0.001
Fibrinogen (g/L)#	3.51 (1.31)	3.08 (1.25)	0.001
CRP (mg/L)#	3.49 (2.89)	1.76 (3.18)	0.001

Table 4.1: The characteristics of patients	with COPD and comparator subjects
--	-----------------------------------

All data mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, # Geometric mean

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI = body mass index; HGS= handgrip strength; FFM= fat free mass; FFMI = fat free mass index; 6MWD= six minute walk distance; TUG= Timed Up and Go; CRP= C - reactive protein.



Figure 4.1: TUG test across age categories in COPD and comparator subjects

\* p value <0.001

### **Body Composition and TUG Test**

The TUG was related to BMI (r=0.24, p<0.001), FM (r=0.22, p< 0.001), FMI (r=0.21, p<0.001) and the waist to hip ratio (r= 0.13, p=0.01), in the patients group, but there was no relationships between these variables and TUG in the comparator group. Both TUG and 6MWD were related to FFM:FM ratio, r=-0.13, p=0.01, r=0.11, p=0.04, respectively, in the patients, but only with 6MWD in comparators (r=0.34, p<0.001).

# Health Related Questionnaires and TUG Test

The TUG and the SGRQ total score were related (r=0.35, p<0.001), as were the domains of activity (r=0.35, p<0.001), symptoms (r=0.24, p<0.001) and impact (r=0.32, p<0.001). The CAT score was also related to the TUG (r=0.34, p=0.001). Both the 6MWD and HGS were also related to the total SGRQ score, r=-0.59, p<0.001 and r=-0.26, p=0.001, respectively, and similarly to the CAT score r=-0.53, p<0.001 and r=-0.27, p<0.001, respectively.

# Systemic Inflammation

Circulating CRP and fibrinogen were greater in patients than comparators, p<0.001, and both were related to the TUG, CRP ( $r_s$ =0.19, p=0.001) and fibrinogen, ( $r_s$ =0.17, p<0.001), but were unrelated to TUG in the comparator group, p>0.05. In the patients, 6MWD was also related to both CRP ( $r_s$ =0.19, p=0.001) and fibrinogen ( $r_s$ =-0.24, p=0.001), while neither biomarker was related to HGS.

#### **Frequency of Exacerbation**

Of the patients, 207 reported 0-1 exacerbations/ year and 293 reported two or more exacerbations/ year. The TUG was related to the frequency of exacerbations (r=0.24, p<0.001), and frequent exacerbators had greater TUG, 11.5 (3.5) s, than infrequent exacerbators, 10.5 (4.1) s, and both were greater than the comparator group TUG, p<0.01 (Figure 4.2).



Figure 4.2: The TUG difference between infrequent and frequent exacerbators and

comparator subjects at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.01

#### **Predictive Factors for the 6MWD**

In the patients, stepwise multivariate regression analysis after controlling for age and BMI showed that TUG, mMRC and CAT score explained 55% of the variability in 6MWD with FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted excluded from the analysis (Adjusted  $R^2=0.54$ ,F= 182.80,p<0.001). The TUG explained 41% of the reduction in 6MWD, and mMRC and total CAT score explained 27% and 25% of the variability, respectively, all p<0.001.

# **Predictive Factors for the TUG**

In the patients, stepwise multivariate regression analysis after correcting for age and BMI showed that 6MWD, waist:Hip ratio and HGS explained 45% of the variability in TUG with FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, FM and inflammatory biomarkers excluded from the analysis (Adjusted  $R^2$ =0.45,F= 61.39,p<0.001). The 6MWD explained 59% of prolonged TUG, p<0.001 and waist:Hip ratio and HGS explained 14% and 12% of the variability in the TUG, respectively, all p<0.05.

# Diagnostic Ability of TUG Test against 6MWD

Using the upper 95%CI (8.5 s) of the TUG for the comparator as a cut-off value for normal mobility, the TUG test showed an excellent diagnostic ability to predict the 6MWD as demonstrated by the area under the curve of 0.826 (95%CI: 0.783 to 0.870) (Figure 4.3). With 90% sensitivity and 80% specificity, this cut-off value corresponds to 360 m on the 6MWD.



Figure 4.3: The ROC curve for the TUG test. Diagnostic ability of TUG test in patients with COPD

# 4.4 Discussion

The TUG test is an integrated assessment of physical performance which incorporates balance, gait speed and functional capacity (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). In the present study, the TUG was greater in patients with COPD than a non-COPD comparator group and age stratified ranges reported in a meta-analysis of 21 studies in the elderly (Bohannon, 2006). Therefore, by comparing 95%CI of both groups, a cut-off point at 8.5 seconds or less is suggested for normal TUG test performance in this population. This threshold showed discriminative ability to identify patients with less physical performance with an area under the curve of 0.826. Similarly, the TUG test was found to predict mobility status and reflect physical performance with an area under the curve of 0.969 in community-dwelling elderly women (Bischoff et al., 2003). Therefore, in clinical practice, patients who perform the TUG test in > 8.5 seconds should receive a further evaluation of their physical status and early intervention to avoid subsequent complications related to physical inactivity.

A prolonged TUG identifies patients with COPD at risk of falls, a status likely to be dependent on loss of physical performance, and in the elderly at risk of disability and increased mortality (Beauchamp et al., 2009, Idland et al., 2012). The TUG test reflects various movements frequently used in everyday activities and its prolongation in COPD is a consequence of physical inactivity, skeletal muscle weakness and deconditioning in a similar manner to that seen in the elderly. Thus in COPD, the TUG test is likely to reflect the presence of co-morbidities affecting body composition and similar to other measures of physical performance, independent of the severity of airflow obstruction (Watz et al., 2009). This is consistent with a previous study in elderly women which found that the TUG test is a measure of the interaction of body composition, muscle strength and comorbidities on the physical performance (Bischoff et al., 2003). In this study, the TUG was inversely related to the 6MWD, a measure of sub-maximal exercise capacity, and HGS as a surrogate marker for muscle strength

(Ling et al., 2010). Hence both measures were related to TUG, particularly the 6MWD, suggesting that the TUG in COPD similarly assesses impaired functional mobility. This interpretation of the longer TUG in the patients is supported by the lower HGS, which was associated with reduced physical activity in COPD and in healthy elderly populations where it is associated with reduced lower extremity strength, less daily activity and predicts future disability (Rittweger et al., 2000). The relationship between the increased TUG and SGRQ and CAT score indicates that the TUG reflects the impact of physical impairment and inactivity on patients' perceptions of their health and quality of life (Jones et al., 2009, Jones et al., 1992).

Altered body composition is an accepted co-morbidity in COPD and interest has centred on the importance the loss of skeletal muscle mass and function as a cause of impaired physical performance, similar to the sarcopenia and loss of physical performance that occurs in healthy ageing (Walston et al., 2002). However, in the studied populations, FFM was not related to deficits in physical performance, while changes in FM and its distribution were linked in both the patients and comparators. The TUG was related to abdominal obesity and FM, which supports the finding that an increased FM was the best predictor of functional limitation in COPD (Eisner et al., 2007, Kapella et al., 2011). Similarly, there is an association between functional limitation and FM in the elderly in the UK, in particular abdominal obesity determined as waist circumference was a major predictor of disability in similar aged subjects to our patients and comparators (Angleman et al., 2006).

In the present study, the TUG was related to FM and abdominal obesity only in the patients. The mechanisms linking FM and abdominal obesity to functional limitation may relate to the increased circulating levels of CRP and fibrinogen, which have been associated with reduced exercise capacity and impaired left heart function in patients with COPD (Watz et al., 2008). The association of the TUG with regional obesity in the patients suggests that the components of physical performance measured by the

TUG test have a similar relationship to systemic inflammation as other assessments used in COPD. Circulating biomarkers, including CRP and fibrinogen, have been associated with physical performance decline and cardiovascular risk in older subjects (Geffken et al., 2001). Fat produces a variety of pro-inflammatory mediators including interleukin-6, a regulator of CRP production and secretion, and is overall likely to be a factor in the development of insulin resistance and the increased risk of diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease in COPD (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Rutten et al., 2010). Systemic inflammatory biomarkers may also be a factor linking the TUG to the frequency of exacerbation when they are likely to increase.

The finding that the patients' TUG was independent of age and was greater than in the comparator group when stratified by decades, and published age ranges could be interpreted as the loss of physical performance in COPD being further evidence of premature ageing and is in keeping with evidence of premature vascular ageing (Sabit et al., 2007). Such an interpretation is further supported by the finding that 80% of the patient group had a greater TUG than the upper 95%CI of the comparator group. The development of co-morbidities in COPD resembles the pattern of accumulating deficits, which interrupt normal physiological homeostasis in various systems, a feature of ageing (Walston et al., 2002). In the elderly, over 85 years, a TUG in the upper 10% of a study population was associated with an increased risk of disability, odds ratio 9.02, and mortality confirming that the TUG is a valid indicator of disability in natural ageing (Martin-Ruiz et al., 2011).

The development of co-morbidities is a factor in impaired physical function and consequent disability and is clinically important in the management of COPD. Ideally, an assessment of physical performance should be part of the assessment of the disorder, but most measures of physical performance are difficult to apply in routine clinical practice. They often require substantial space, equipment, staff time and some patients may not be able to maintain activity long enough to complete an assessment.

141

The rapidity and simplicity of the TUG test suggest that it could be used to assess physical performance in the routine clinical settings. Furthermore, in elderly, the TUG test has been found to be a responsive measure to a rehabilitation exercise program (Brooks et al., 2006, Lihavainen et al., 2012). Combining the TUG test with an easily completed validated questionnaire, such as the CAT, as demonstrated here, could provide important information about a patient's physical performance and functional status that is not currently collected.

# **Study Limitations**

A key limitation of this study is its cross-sectional nature, which limits understanding of the potential of this test in clinical practice. However, a limitation of physical function measures is that not all patients are able to complete them, but the short duration of TUG removes the endurance issue that limits application of some assessments in COPD and experience in the elderly suggests it is a widely applicable assessment.

# Conclusions

The TUG test is a useful measure to identify limitations of physical performance and early signs of disability in the elderly and in COPD. It clearly discriminates between patients with COPD and comparators. Implementing the TUG test and simple questionnaires in clinical practice may enable clinicians to identify a patient's functional deficit and facilitate early intervention to improve the patient's health status. In addition, the TUG test could useful in monitoring adverse effects of pharmacological treatment on the musculoskeletal system.

142

**Chapter Five** 

# **Cross-sectional and Longitudinal**

# **Evaluation of Aortic Stiffness in COPD**

# Introduction

This chapter of the thesis evaluated the aortic stiffness in patients with COPD and was divided into two parts:

The first part was a cross-sectional study to examine aortic stiffness in COPD and included all the participants recruited into the ARCADE study at initial visit.

The second part of this study was a longitudinal study of a group of patients who returned for a repeated assessment after they had completed two years from their initial visit.

#### 5.1 Background

COPD is a multicomorbidity disease associated with cardiovascular disease (Barnes and Celli, 2009). Compelling evidence from large epidemiological studies has found that COPD is an independent risk factor for CVD. However, the exact mechanism linking COPD to CVD remains poorly understood. Recently, several studies have demonstrated that COPD is associated with increased arterial stiffness, which is an independent predictor of fatal and non-fatal cardiovascular events (Laurent et al., 2006, Sabit et al., 2007).

Although arterial stiffness is increased in COPD, it is unclear how COPD is involved in the developing arterial stiffness. Previous mechanistic research in COPD has shown inconsistent results and this is not surprising due to methodological variations (Barr et al., 2007, Ives et al., 2013, Maclay et al., 2009, Maclay et al., 2012). Nevertheless, all these studies support the idea of vascular dysfunction in COPD. Alteration of vasculature that is normally associated with ageing has been suggested to happen prematurely in patients with COPD, independent of age (Maclay et al., 2009, Maclay et al., 2012). Therefore, patients with COPD may demonstrate signs of premature ageing either driven genetically or acquired through several mechanisms including elastin degradation, oxidative stress or inflammation, which subsequently leads premature cardiovascular events, independent of smoking exposure and severity of airway obstruction (Barr et al., 2012, Ives et al., 2013).

Identification of early vascular ageing in COPD may be clinically useful as it reflects subclinical features of arterial wall disorder (i.e. sub-atherosclerotic change or prehypertension) that has not been clinically manifested (Alghatrif et al., 2013, Bolton et al., 2011, Patel et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2010a). Aortic pulse wave velocity is an accepted measure for vascular function and useful to identify patients with COPD who are at increased of cardiovascular risk. Previous cross-sectional studies have linked elevated aortic stiffness in COPD to lung function impairment, abnormal body composition and inflammation. However, due to the limitations of these studies, these relationships are still questionable. Additionally, as the studies so far have been cross-sectional in nature, a longitudinal study is needed to confirm these relationships.

# Hypothesis

Patients with COPD would have greater aortic stiffness than comparators similar in age and gender proportion at initial visit. Additionally, the patients would have a rapid increase in aortic stiffness after two years from the initial assessment.

# Aim

This study aimed to prospectively evaluate the effect of COPD on the arterial wall over a period of two years, and the rate of change and its contributing factors.

### 5.2 Method

# Part I:

This was a cross-sectional study of patients with stable COPD confirmed, with spirometry, and comparators from the Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE) study. Comparators were current or ex-smokers free from respiratory disease. All subjects were clinically stable and free of inflammatory disease such as rheumatoid arthritis, oral maintenance corticosteroids and long-term oxygen therapy (full inclusion and exclusion criteria in Chapter 2: Table 2.1, p 65). All subjects gave written informed consent and the study had approval from the South East Wales Research Ethics Committee.

# Lung Function

All subjects performed spirometry (Vitalograph), to measure forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC) and the FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio (Chapter 2: 2.3.5, p 78). A diagnosis of COPD was confirmed as post bronchodilator spirometry FEV<sub>1</sub>:FVC <0.70, and the number of exacerbations per year were recorded.

# **Body Composition**

Weight and body composition were measured barefoot in lightweight indoor clothing, fat free mass (FFM), fat mass (FM) and the percentage fat were determined using a Bioelectrical impedance device (Tanita BC-418). The FFM was expressed as a height-squared ratio, FFMI, and the body mass index (BMI kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated (see Chapter 2: 2.3.1, p 66). A stretch resistant tape measure was used to measure waist and hip circumference.

# Measurement of Pulse Wave Velocity

Aortic PWV was assessed non-invasively using the SphygmoCor device connected to a laptop computer (Chapter 2: 2.3.3, p 70).

# **Cardiac Haemodynamics Measurement**

Cardiac haemodynamics were measured non-invasively using a new bioreactance technology (NICOM, Cheetah, Medical Inc., Indianapolis, IN) (Chapter 2: 2.3.4, p 75).

# **Inflammatory Biomarkers**

High sensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP) and fibrinogen were determined from a blood sample according to standard procedures (University Hospital of Wales, Biochemistry).

# Data Analysis

Data analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, Chicago, IL), version 18.0. Results are presented as arithmetic or geometric for non-normally distributed data and standard deviation (SD). Analyses included One-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA), Pearson's correlations and hierarchical multiple regression analysis. Difference between visits was performed using paired t-test. Categorical data was analysed using the Chi-square test. A p<0.05 was considered significant. Subjects aged less than 50 years were added to age category of 50-59.

#### 5.3 Result

# **Subject Characteristics**

The baseline characteristics of patients and comparators are presented in table 5.1. Patients with COPD and comparators were similar in age, gender and BMI, but the patients had greater pack-year smoking history (Table 5.1). The severity of airflow obstruction in the patients was GOLD 1 n=73, GOLD 2 n=251, GOLD 3 n=144 and GOLD 4 n=32. Furthermore, patients were categorised into an FEV<sub>1</sub>>50% predicted (n=318) (GOLD I&II) and an FEV<sub>1</sub> <50% predicted (n=182) (GOLD III & IV). Of the 500 patients, 207 reported infrequent exacerbations, less than two per year, while 293 patients reported two or more per year.

Following the classification used by Landbo et al. (1999), of the 500 patients, (26) 5% had a low BMI (<19.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), (196) 39% had an elevated BMI (>25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), (163) 33% were classified as obese (BMI>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), while (115) 23% were within the normal limit for BMI (20-25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Among comparator subjects, (34) 23% had an optimal BMI and (116) 77% had an elevated BMI, 28% of these subjects were obese (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Patients with COPD had greater waist circumference and waist: hip ratio, and lower fat free mass and oxygen saturation, all p<0.001. However, both groups had similar fat mass (Table 5.1).

Patients with COPD and comparator subjects were similar in kidney function indices, p>0.05 (Table 5.1). Circulating CRP and fibrinogen were greater in patients with COPD compared to non-COPD subjects, all p<0.001 (Table 5.1).

The proportion of subjects with a prior diagnosis of comorbidities was greater in the patients (Table 5.2). Details of medications in both groups are also given (Table 5.2). Most of the patients (64%) and comparators (82%) were ex-smokers and had a different pack year exposure.

149

 Table 5.1: Baseline characteristics of patients with COPD and comparator subjects at

 initial visit

	COPD (n= 500)	Comparator (n= 150)	p value
Gender Male:Female	255:245	75:75	0.451
Age (years)	66 (7)	65 (8)	0.125
Smoking (pack-years)	40.6 (25.5)	21.4 (17.9)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.64 (0.84)	2.73 (0.67)	0.001
FVC (L)	2.50 (0.98)	3.50 (0.90)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (L)	0.53 (0.11)	0.78 (0.05)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (%)	59 (21)	105 (13)	0.001
FVC (%)	87 (21)	110 (15)	0.001
BMI (kg/m²)	28.1 (5.5)	28.3 (4.2)	0.664
Waist circumference (cm)	100 (15)	95 (13)	0.001
Waist:Hip ratio	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	0.001
FFM (kg)	49.6 (11.0)	52.2 (9.5)	0.011
FFMI (kg/m²)	18.1 (2.6)	18.5 (2.3)	0.110
Fat mass (kg)	26.9 (11.1)	26.9 (8.6)	0.985
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	97 (2)	98 (1)	0.001
Fibrinogen (g/L)#	3.5 (1.3)	3.1 (1.3)	0.001
CRP (mg/L)#	3.5 (2.9)	1.76 (3.2)	0.001
Serum Creatinine (µmol/l)	70 (15)	70 (12)	0.389
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	94 (20)	93 (14)	0.786

Data presented as mean (SD) or mean (%) unless otherwise stated. #Geometric mean **Abbreviations**: **BMI=** body mass index; **FVC=** forced expiratory volume; **FEV**<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; **FFM=** fat free mass; **FFMI=** fat free mass index; **CRP=** Creactive protein; **eGFR=** estimated glomerular filtration rate.

# Table 5.2: Reported comorbidities and medications in patients with COPD and

# comparator subjects at initial visit

	COPD (n=500)	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Hypertension	229 (46%)	33 (22%)	0.001
High Cholesterol	222 (44%)	40 (27%)	0.001
Peripheral vascular disease	17 (3%)	3 (3%)	0.304
Angina	54 (11%)	-	0.001
Heart Attack	44 (8%)	-	0.001
Transit Ischemic Attack	35 (7%)	-	0.001
Atrial Fibrillation	39 (8%)	-	0.001
Other heart problem	46 (9%)	-	0.005
Diabetes Mellitus	63 (13%)	-	0.001
Osteoporosis	87 (%)	8 (5%)	0.001
Osteoarthritis	174 (35)	40 (26)	0.001
ACE inhibitors	113 (23%)	8 (5%)	0.001
Beta Blocker	39 (%8)	5 (%3)	0.420
Calcium Channel Blocker	109 (22%)	8 (%5)	0.001
Diuretics	103 (21%)	10 (7%)	0.001
Statins	185 (37%)	25 (17%)	0.001
ICS	295 (59%)	-	-
LAMA	293 (59%)	-	-
SABA	305 (61%)	-	-
LABA	31 (6%)	-	-

Abbreviations: ICS= Inhaled Corticosteroid; LAMA= Long-Acting Muscarinic Antagonists SABA= Short Acting Bronchodilator Agonists; LABA= Long Acting Bronchodilator Agonists; -= not reported.

### **Initial Haemodynamics Data**

The 500 patients with COPD had a greater mean peripheral and central systolic BP than comparators, both p<0.01, but both groups had similar peripheral and central diastolic blood pressure (Table 5.3). Peripheral and central MAP were greater in patients with COPD than their individual counterparts, p<0.05 (Table 5.3). Mean peripheral and central pulse pressure were greater in the patients than the comparators, p<0.05. Heart rate of patients with COPD was 74 (11) and greater than comparator subjects 67 (10), p<0.001. Mean aortic PWV was greater in the patients 9.9 (2.4) compared with non-COPD individuals 8.3 (1.7), p<0.001. The difference remained after adjustment for age, sex, waist circumference, peripheral MAP, smoking status and log<sub>10</sub> CRP (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>= 0.38, F=21.8, p<0.001). Aortic PWV was associated with age in both groups, p<0.001. Aortic stiffness differed across age categories between patients with COPD and comparator subjects, all p<0.001 (Figure 5.1).

 Table 5.3: Differences in haemodynamics between patients with COPD and comparators

 at initial visit

	COPD (n=500)	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	146 (18)	140 (18)	0.001
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	82 (10)	81 (8)	0.283
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	64 (15)	59 (15)	0.001
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	103 (11)	100 (10)	0.011
Central SBP (mmHg)	133 (18)	128 (19)	0.003
Central DBP (mmHg)	83 (10)	83 (11)	0.886
Central PP (mmHg)	50 (14)	45 (22)	0.001
Central MAP (mmHg)	106 (42)	102 (11)	0.039
Heart Rate (bpm)	74 (11)	67 (10)	0.001
Aortic PWV (m/s)	9.9 (2.40)	8.3 (1.66)	0.001
CO (L/min)	5.84 (1.21)	5.95 (1.03)	0.324
Stroke Volume (ml)	86 (20)	96 (20)	0.001

Data presented as mean (SD).

Abbreviations: SBP= systolic blood pressure; DBP= diastolic blood pressure; PP= pulse pressure; MAP= mean arterial pressure; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CO= cardiac output.





Data presented as mean with SD.

ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.001.

#### **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Blood Pressure**

In the patients, aortic stiffness was related to peripheral MAP (r=0.41), peripheral PP (r=0.41), central MAP (0.27) and central PP (r=0.30), all p<0.01 (Table 5.4). Similarly, aortic stiffness of the comparators was associated with peripheral and central blood pressure indices (Table 5.4). Increased heart rate was associated with increased aortic PWV in patients with COPD (r=0.24, p<0.001) and comparator subjects (r=0.21, p=0.012). Greater aortic PWV was associated with lower peripheral (r=0.12, p=0.006) and central (r=0.13, p=0.005) diastolic blood pressure. However, neither of these relationships was evident in the comparator group (Table 5.4).

Aortic stiffness did not relate to cardiac output in either group (Table 5.4). Aortic stiffness was related to stroke volume in the comparators (r=-0.25, p=0.003), but was not in the patients (Table 5.4).

To examine the relationship of kidney function with aortic stiffness, the serum creatinine level and estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) were measured in patients with COPD and comparator individuals. Aortic stiffness was associated eGFR in patients with COPD (r=-0.13, p=0.005) and comparator subjects (r=-0.17, p=0.044), but was only related to serum creatinine (r=0.20, p<0.001) in the patients (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4: Relationships between aortic PWV and physiological characteristics in

Pearson's correlation	COPD (n=500)	p value	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	0.411	0.001	0.517	0.001
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	0.124	0.006	0.136	0.099
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	0.294	0.001	0.370	0.001
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	0.407	0.001	0.555	0.001
Central SBP (mmHg)	0.313	0.001	.438	0.001
Central DBP (mmHg)	0.127	0.005	0.056	0.496
Central MAP (mmHg)	0.269	0.001	0.335	0.001
Central PP (mmHg)	0.296	0.001	0.366	0.001
Heart rate (bpm)	0.240	0.001	0.209	0.012
Cardiac output (L/min)	0.080	0.083	0.046	0.584
Stroke Volume (ml)	-0.068	0.143	0.248	0.003
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	-0.146	0.002	-0.160	0.149
Serum Creatinine (µmol/l)	0.195	0.001	0.077	0.363
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.128	0.005	-0.169	0.044
log <sub>10</sub> Fibrinogen (g/L)	0.033	0.476	-0.033	0.697
log <sub>10</sub> CRP (mg/L)	0.131	0.005	0.193	0.022
Number of Comorbidities	0.199	0.001	0.421	0.001

patients with COPD and comparators at initial visit

**Abbreviations: SBP=** systolic blood pressure; **DBP=** diastolic blood pressure; **PP=** pulse pressure; **MAP=** mean arterial pressure; **eGFR=** estimated glomerular filtration rate; **CRP=** C-reactive protein.

#### **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Gender**

Within the patients, aortic PWV was greater in males with COPD 10.2 (2.7) than their female counterparts 9.5 (2.0), p=0.003. The difference remained after controlling for age and peripheral MAP (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=26%, F=6.15, p=0.014). However, the difference was not significant after adding waist circumference to the model (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=30%, F=0.16, p=0.693). In contrast, gender had no effect on aortic stiffness in comparator group.

Across gender comparison, after adjustment for waist circumference, peripheral MAP, smoking exposure and  $log_{10}$  CRP, male patients 9.9 m/s (95%CI: 9.6 to 10.2) had greater aortic PWV than male comparators 9.1 m/s (95%CI: 8.5 to 9.6), (adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=22%, F=6.3 and p=0.012). Similarly, the aortic PWV of females with COPD 9.4 m/s (95%CI: 9.1 to 9.6) was greater than females without COPD 8.7 m/s (95%CI: 8.3 to 9.2), adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=25%, F=5.13 and p=0.024 (Figure 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Bar chart comparing aortic stiffness by gender in patients with COPD and comparators at initial visit



Comparator

Data presented as mean with SD.

#### **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Lung Function**

In the patients, aortic stiffness was related to the severity of airway obstruction (r=-0.10, p=0.037), however, in the comparators, aortic stiffness was not related to FEV<sub>1</sub>, p>0.05 (Table 5.5). Aortic stiffness did not differ across the GOLD categories. Patients with COPD in all GOLD categories had greater aortic PWV compared with non-COPD subjects, all p<0.001 (Figure 5.3).

Patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub>>50% predicted had lower aortic PWV 9.6 m/s (2.2) than patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub><50% predicted 10.70 m/s (2.6), p<0.001, and patients in both categories had greater aortic PWV compared with non-COPD subjects 8.3 m/s (1.7), all p<0.001 (Figure 5.4).

In the patients, aortic stiffness was associated with oxygen saturation (r=-0.15, p=0.002), but was not in the comparators (Table 5.5).





# GOLD category at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD.

ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.001.



Figure 5.4: Bar chart of aortic PWV in comparators, patients with an FEV1>50% predicted and patients with an FEV1<50% at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD.

ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.001.
#### **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Body Composition**

In the patients, aortic PWV was related to BMI (r=0.18) waist circumference (r=0.26), waist: hip ratio (r=0.24), fat mass (r=0.17) and FFMI (r=0.14), all p<0.01. However, these relationships were not evident in comparator group (Table 5.5). Aortic stiffness did not differ across BMI categories in patients with COPD, p>0.05.

# **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Smoking**

In patients with COPD, increased aortic PWV was associated with the number of smoking pack-years (r=0.13, p=0.005), but this relationship was not found in comparator subjects (Table 5.4). Within the patients, there was no difference in pack-years between previous smokers mean (SD) 35 (2) and current smokers 35 (2), but current smokers were younger 63 (8) than previous smokers 67 (6), p<0.001. The aortic PWV was similar between current smokers and previous smokers after correcting for age (F=1.26, p>0.05). Within the comparators, there was a difference in the number of pack-years smoked between current smokers mean (SD) 22 (2) and previous smokers 15 (2), but they had a similar aortic PWV, 7.8 (1.4) and 8.4 (1.7), p>0.05, respectively.

 Table 5.5: Relationships between aortic PWV and physical characteristics in patients

 with COPD and comparator subjects at initial visit

Pearson's correlation	COPD (n=500)	p value	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Age (years)	0.405	0.001	0.518	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (%)	-0.095	0.037	-0.079	0.339
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (L)	-0.110	0.016	-0.071	0.393
Smoking (pack-years)	0.129	0.005	-0.002	0.984
No. Exacerbations/year	-0.023	0.620	-	-
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.177	0.001	0.037	0.653
Waist circumference (cm)	0.263	0.001	0.008	0.923
Waist:Hip ratio	0.239	0.001	0.155	0.062
FFM (kg)	0.143	0.002	0.037	0.655
FFMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.141	0.002	0.002	0.984
Fat Mass (kg)	0.172	0.001	0.083	0.312

**Abbreviations**: **FEV**<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; **FEV**<sub>1</sub>/**FVC**= forced expiratory volume in 1 second to forced expiratory volume ratio; **BMI**= body mass index; **FFM**= fat free mass; **FFMI**= fat free mass index.

# **Relationship between Aortic Stiffness and Circulating Inflammatory Biomarkers**

Circulating  $log_{10}CRP$  was related to aortic stiffness in patients with COPD (r=0.13, p=0.005) and comparator subjects (r=0.19, p=0.022). However, the fibrinogen level was not associated with aortic stiffness in either group, p>0.05 (Table 5.5).

To determine the effect of exacerbations on aortic stiffness, frequent exacerbators and infrequent exacerbators were compared. There was no difference in aortic stiffness between frequent exacerbators 9.9 (2.6) and infrequent exacerbators 9.9 (2.3), p>0.05. However, both groups had greater aortic PWV than comparator subjects 8.3 (1.7), p<0.001 (Figure 5.5).





# infrequent exacerbation

Data presented as mean with SD.

ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.001.

#### **Determinants of initial aortic PWV**

A hierarchical regression analysis was used to determine predictors of aortic PWV at the initial visit. The first model included gender to examine the behaviour of aortic PWV across gender. The second model was based on the most known influential factors on aortic PWV including age and peripheral MAP. In the third model, the potential factors were included: FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, waist circumference, heart rate, smoking history, eGFR, log<sub>10</sub>CRP. For body composition, waist circumference was chosen because abdominal obesity exerts an adverse effect on the arterial system and increases aortic stiffness. Estimated GFR rather than serum creatinine was chosen to delineate kidney function because it is more robust and takes into account age and gender as well as the level of serum creatinine. In the patients, in the first model, gender explained 2% of variation in aortic stiffness (F=7.31, p<0.01). Adding age and peripheral MAP to the regression model explained another 26% with a significant change in R (R=28%, F=73.20, p<0.001). However, including potential factors in the model revealed that gender was no longer a predictor and among the potential factors only waist circumference and heart rate which could explain an additional 12% of variation in aortic PWV (R=38%, F=10.01, p<0.001). The predictors of aortic PWV in COPD were age, peripheral MAP, waist circumference and heart rate, and explained 38% of variation in aortic PWV (Table 5.6). In the comparator group, similarly to COPD group, age and peripheral MAP explained 36% of the variability in aortic stiffness (R<sup>2</sup>= 0.33, F=22.89, p<0.001) (Table 5.7). However, none of the potential factors added any additional information to the model and the change in R was non-significant (R=0.05, F=1.49, p=0.177).

166

	В	SE	Beta	p value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Model 1					0.02
Gender	594	.220	131	0.007	
Model 2					0.28
Gender	396	.190	087	0.038	
Age (years)	.137	.013	.435	0.001	
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	.057	.008	.282	0.001	
Model 3					0.38
Age (years)	.135	.013	.428	0.001	
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	.043	.008	.214	0.001	
Waist circumference (cm)	.063	.016	.409	0.001	
Heart rate (bpm)	.045	.008	.226	0.001	

Table 5.6: Predictors of aortic stiffness in patients at initial visit

Abbreviations: MAP= mean arterial pressure.

# Table 5.7: Predictors of aortic stiffness in comparator subjects at their initial visit

	В	SE	Beta	p value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Model 3					0.33
Age (years)	.090	.015	.434	0.001	
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	.045	.012	.276	0.001	

Abbreviation: MAP= mean arterial pressure.

# Part II:

## **Characteristics of Returning Patients**

Of the 500 patients who were assessed at the initial visit, 143 consecutive patients completed a two-year follow-up visit by end of December 2013 and were included in the analysis. In this longitudinal study, there was no comparator group due to time constraint of the three-year PhD study period, which it did not allow for follow-up the comparators.

To ensure that the 143 consecutive patients included in the analysis represented the whole patient group who will have been reassessed, a comparison analysis was carried out between returning patients (n=143) and the rest of the patients (n=357). The returning patients were similar to the rest of 500 patients in body composition, peripheral and central blood pressure indices, aortic stiffness, cardiac hemodynamic indices and inflammatory biomarkers, all p>0.05. However, the returning patients were older, and had lower FEV<sub>1</sub> and eGFR, p<0.05 (Table 5.8).

Of the returning patients, 9 patients had developed hypertension, 4 had developed high cholesterol, 3 had angina and 3 had developed osteoporosis (Figure 5.7). Among the returning patients, 16 out of 30 patients were still smokers.

The severity of airflow obstruction by GOLD stratification was: GOLD I n=12, GOLD II n=72, GOLD III n=42 and GOLD IV n=17. Patients were further stratified into above and below 50% predicted of an FEV<sub>1</sub>: patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub>>50% predicted, n=94, and patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub><50% predicted, n=59. On the follow-up visit, the patients had a reduction in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted and FVC%. The change in FEV<sub>1</sub> across the GOLD categories was significant only in GOLD I&II (Table 5.9).

Following the classification used by Landbo et al. (1999), of the 143 patients, 7% had a low BMI (<19.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), 37% had an elevated BMI (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and 34% were classified as obese (BMI>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), while 21% were within the normal limit for BMI (20-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

# Table 5.8: Comparison between initial visit data in patients assessed at 2 years and

#### patients yet to be assessed

	To be assessed (n=357)	Reassessed (n=143)	p value
Age (years)	65 (8)	68 (7)	0.001
FEV1 (L)	1.7 (0.8)	1.3 (0.5)	0.001
FVC (L)	2.4 (0.9)	2.4 (0.8)	0.753
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC	53 (10)	51 (12)	0.033
FVC%	86 (21)	83 (20)	0.226
FEV <sub>1</sub> %	58 (18)	54 (20)	0.031
BMI (kg/m²)	27.9 (6)	28.0 (6)	0.800
Waist circumference (cm)	99 (15)	99 (15)	0.755
Waist:Hip ratio	0.96 (0.10)	0.94 (0.12)	0.303
FM (kg)	26.8 (11.4)	26.7 (10.5)	0.949
FFM (kg)	49.5 (10.9)	48.6 (10.8)	0.446
FFM:FM ratio	2.2 (1)	2.2 (1.3)	0.845
FFMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	18 (2.7)	18 (2.6)	0.669
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	145 (19)	148 (17)	0.287
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	82 (10)	82 (11)	0.921
Peripheral MAP (mmHg)	103 (12)	103 (11)	0.358
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	64 (16)	65 (15)	0.232
Central SBP (mmHg)	133 (19)	135 (17)	0.461
Central DBP (mmHg)	83 (10)	83 (11)	0.879
Central MAP (mmHg)	104 (12)	104 (12)	0.529
Central PP (mmHg)	50 (14)	52 (15)	0.728
Heart rate (bpm)	74 (11)	76 (11)	0.068
Aortic PWV (m/s)	9.7 (2.3)	10.2 (2.7)	0.102
CO (L/min)	5.9 (1.3)	5.7 (1.1)	0.051
SV (ml)	87 (20)	83 (19)	0.072
O <sub>2</sub> saturation	96 (2)	96 (2)	0.658
Smoking (packs/year)	40 (23)	42 (30)	0.384
No. Exacerbations	2.2 (2)	2.5 (1.9)	0.072
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.4 (1.3)	3.7 (1.1)	0.179
CRP (mg/L)#	3.6 (2.9)	3.0 (2.8)	0.164
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	95 (20)	89 (20)	0.001

Data presented as mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, # Geometric mean.

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI= body mass index; SBP= systolic blood pressure; DBP= diastolic blood pressure; PP= pulse pressure; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; 6MWD= six minute walking distance; CRP= C- reactive protein; eGFR= estimated glomerular filtration rate.

Table 5.9: Change in  $FEV_1$  (ml) across GOLD categories in patients with COPD at followup visit

	Mean	95% Confidence Int	P value	
GOLD I	-166	278	54	0.006
GOLD II	-178	-256	-100	0.001
GOLD III	-65	-120	-10	0.192
GOLD IV	47	-102	196	0.300



Figure 5.6: Distribution of comorbidities in patients at initial visit and two years follow-

up

# Changes in Cardiovascular Parameters at Two Years Follow-up

Peripheral and central blood pressure indices had decreased significantly over two years in the patients, p<0.05 (Table 5.10). The aortic PWV of the patients had increased after two years from the initial assessment by mean (95%CI) 0.7 m/s (0.35 to 0.95), p<0.001 (Table 5.10). Males and females patients showed a similar change in aortic PWV. The heart rate remained stable on both visits, but there was a reduction in stroke volume and cardiac output after two years from the initial assessment, p<0.05 (Table 5.10). However, the change in aortic PWV was not associated with cardiac output or stroke volume, p>0.05.

# **Relationship between Blood Pressure and Change in Aortic Stiffness**

Change in aortic PWV did not relate to the changes in systolic, diastolic or mean arterial pressures.

# **Relationship between Lung Function and Aortic Stiffness**

There was no difference in aortic stiffness across the GOLD categories. This analysis was further expanded and compared the change in aortic PWV between patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub>>50% predicted (n=84) and patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub> <50% predicted (n=59). The results also showed no difference between patients with mild to moderate airway obstruction compared with severe and very severe airflow obstruction, p>0.05.

	Initial visit (n=143)	Follow-up visit (n=143)	Mean Change (95%CI)		p value	
Gender (Male:Female)	65:78	65:78				
Age (years)	68 (7)	70 (7)	2	1.86	2.04	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.3 (0.5)	1.1 (0.5)	-0.12	-0.16	-0.07	0.001
FVC (L)	2.4 (0.08	2.3 (0.8)	-0.16	-0.23	-0.08	0.001
FVC% predicted	83 (19)	79 (22)	-4	-7	-2	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> %predicted	54 (19)	51 (16	-3	-4	-1	0.001
Smoking (pack-years)	42 (30)	43 (28)	1.25	-3	5	0.519
BMI (kg/m²)	28 (6)	27.8 (6)	-0.20	-0.59	0.21	0.356
Waist (cm)	99 (15)	99 (15)	-0.16	-1.30	0.99	0.786
Waist:Hip ratio	0.94 (0.10)	095 (0.12	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.120
Fat Mass (kg)	26.7 (11)	26.2 (10.5)	-0.55	-1.44	0.34	0.224
FFM (kg)	48.6 (10.8)	48.1 (10.8)	-0.53	-1.05	-0.01	0.048
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	148 (17)	144 (17)	-4	-7	-1	0.008
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	82 (11)	79 (11)	-3	-4	-1	0.001
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	66 (15)	65 (15)	-1	-4	1	0.207
Peripheral MAP	103 (11)	100 (11)	-3	-5	-1	0.001
Central SBP (mmHg)	135 (17)	130 (16)	-5	-7	-1	0.006
Central DBP (mmHg)	83 (11)	81 (11)	-2	-4	-1	0.003
Central PP (mmHg)	52 (15)	50 (14)	-2	-4	1	0.138
Central MAP (mmHg)	104 (12)	102 (12)	-2	-4	-1	0.012
Heart Rate (bpm)	76 (11)	76 (12)	0	-1	2	0.700
Aortic PWV (m/s)	10.2 (2.7)	10.9 (2.6)	0.70	0.37	0.95	0.001
CO (L/min)	5.7 (1.1)	5.5 (1.2)	-0.20	-0.30	-0.02	0.024
Stroke Volume (ml)	83 (19)	79 (20)	-4	-7	-2	0.001
Resting O <sub>2</sub> (%)	96 (2)	96 (2)	0	-0.08	0.63	0.128
CRP (mg/L)#	3.0 (2.8)	3.1 (2.6)	0.1	0.9	1.2	0.953
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.7 (1.1)	3.3 (0.9)	-0.40	-0.56	-0.20	0.001
Serum creatinine(µmol/L)	72 (16)	76 (16)	3.43	1.76	5.11	0.001
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	89 (20)	81 (17)	-8	-2	-7	0.001

Table 5.10: Changes in patients with COPD after two years from the initial assessment

Data presented as mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, #=Geometric mean, mean (95%CI). Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI= body mass index; SBP= systolic blood pressure; DBP= diastolic blood pressure; PP= pulse pressure; MAP= mean arterial pressure; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; CRP= C- reactive protein; eGFR= estimated glomerular filtration rate

## **Relationship between Body Composition and Change in Aortic Stiffness**

Previously in the cross-sectional analysis, aortic PWV was related to global and regional obesity indices. Therefore, in this section, the effect of body composition was examined. Body composition did not change significantly in the patients apart from a significant loss of FFM (Table 5.10). The change in aortic PWV did not differ across BMI categories, p>0.05. This analysis was further extended by dividing patients into two groups: underweight and normal weight in one group, and overweight and obese in another group. Similar to whole group analysis, there was no statistical difference between the groups, p>0.05.

# Relationship between Change in Aortic Stiffness and Changes in Inflammatory Biomarkers

After two years from the initial visit, the fibrinogen level decreased significantly, while CRP level remained statistically unchanged and a third of the patients remained inflammation free during the study period, <3 mg/L (Figure 5.8). In contrast, the number of exacerbations of the patients had increased (Table 5.10).

Although the level of fibrinogen decreased, aortic PWV had increased. There was no association between change in aortic PWV and the reduction in plasma fibrinogen or increase in the number of exacerbations.



Figure 5.7A: The pie chart showing the distribution of patients according to the change

in the fibrinogen level during the follow-up period



Figure 5.7B: The pie chart showing the distribution of patients according to the change in the CRP level during the follow-up period

#### Subgroup Analysis

After two years from the initial assessment, a subset of patients was identified to have greater progression in aortic stiffness. This group (progressor) was defined as any patients who demonstrated an increase in aortic PWV by more than 0.20 m/s from the baseline measurement (Cecelja and Chowienczyk, 2012). The progressors showed a rapid increase in aortic PWV than the rest of the group (non-progressor). Therefore, a further analysis was performed to explore the characteristics of this group and the factors associated with accelerated aortic stiffness.

Out of 143 patients with COPD, 93 patients (progressors) had greater increase in aortic PWV, 1.6 (95%CI: 1.3 to 1.9) m/s, p<0.001 whereas 50 patients (non-progressor) had a significant reduction in aortic PWV -1.0 (95%CI:-1.3 to -0.7) m/s, p<0.001. Out of 50 non-progressor patients, 32 (64%) were previously diagnosed with isolated systolic hypertension and on the second visit three patients had developed hypertension. Non-progressors also experienced a significant reduction in peripheral and central blood pressure indices, p<0.001 (Table 5.11). However, there were no changes in peripheral and central pulse pressure. Cardiac hemodynamic indices of the non-progressor did not change during the follow-up period, p>0.05, but eGFR significantly decreased by mean (95%CI) -11 (-18 to -8), p<0.001 (Table 5.11). In the non-progressors also demonstrated a reduction in the fibrinogen level while CRP remained unchanged (Table 5.11). In the non-progressor patients, improvement of aortic stiffness was not associated with the reduction in blood pressure indices.

175

Table 5.11: Characteristics of non-progressor patients at initial visit and 2 years follow-

	n
~	~

	Initial visit (n=50)	2 year-visit (n=50)	Mean c	hange 9	5%CI	p value
Age (years)	68 (7)	70 (7)				
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.3 (0.5)	1.2 (0.5)	-0.08	-0.15	-0.01	0.035
FVC (L)	2.5 (0.7)	2.3 (0.7)	-0.13	-0.25	-0.02	0.026
FVC% predicted	84 (20)	79 (22)	-5	-7	-2	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> %predicted	56 (24)	54 (22)	-2	-5	1	0.170
Smoking (pack-years)	44 (4)	42 (4)	-2	-9	4	0.463
BMI (kg/m²)	28.8 (5.9)	28.8 (5.8)	-0.07	-0.68	0.53	0.810
Waist (cm)	103 (14)	102 (14)	-1	-3	1	0.244
Waist:Hip ratio	0.95 (0.10)	096 (0.10)	-0.34	-1.44	0.76	0.536
Fat Mass (kg)	28.7 (10.2)	28.3 (10.5)2	-0.55	-1.44	0.34	0.224
FFM (kg)	49.6 (1.3)	48.8 (1.4)	-0.69	-1.53	0.15	0.105
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	152 (19)	143 (18)	-9	-15	-3	0.002
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	84 (10)	78 (9)	-6	-9	-4	0.001
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	68 (19)	65 (16)	-23	-7	1	0.164
Peripheral MAP	106 (11)	99 (10)	-7	-11	-4	0.001
Central SBP (mmHg)	138 (17)	129 (16)	-9	-15	-4	0.001
Central DBP (mmHg)	86 (10)	79 (9)	-7	-9	-4	0.001
Central PP (mmHg)	53 (15)	50 (14)	-3	-7	1	0.103
Central MAP (mmHg)	107 (11)	100 (11)	-7	-11	-3	0.001
Heart Rate (bpm)	78 (12)	78 (13)	0	-2	3	0.736
Aortic PWV (m/s)	11.0 (2.2)	10.0 (2.1)	-1.00	-1.3	-0.7	0.001
CO (L/min)	5.8 (1.2)	5.6 (1.2)	-0.20	-0.45	0.05	0.115
Stroke Volume (ml)	84 (20)	80 (20)	-4	-8	1	0.108
Resting O <sub>2</sub> (%)	96 (2)	96 (2)	0	-1	1	0.128
CRP (mg/L)#	3.0 (2.9)	3.1 (2.8)	0.1	0.8	1.4	0.711
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.7 (0.9)	3.3 (0.7)	-0.40	-0.67	-0.14	0.004
Serum creatinine (µmol/L)	72 (16)	79 (18)	7	4	9	0.001
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	90 (20)	79 (22)	-11	-18	-8	0.001

Data presented as mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, #=geometric mean, mean (95%CI). **Abbreviations:** FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; **BMI=** body mass index; **SBP=** systolic blood pressure; **DBP=** diastolic blood pressure; **PP=** pulse pressure; **MAP=** mean arterial pressure; **PWV=** pulse wave velocity; **CO=** cardiac output; **SV=** stroke volume; **CRP=** C- reactive protein; **eGFR=** estimated glomerular filtration rate. In the progressors, 43 (64%) had a previous diagnosis of isolated systolic hypertension on the initial visit and six new patients were diagnosed with hypertension on the second visit. Unlike non-progressors, peripheral and central blood pressure indices remained unchanged, p>0.05, while stroke volume significantly decreased, p<0.001 (Table 5.12). In the progressors, lung function indices had declined during the two years follow-up period, p<0.001 (Table 5.12). Similar to non-progressors, progressors' kidney function index as measured by eGFR demonstrated a significant reduction in its level, p<0.001 (Table 5.12). The level of inflammatory biomarkers behaved similarly as in the non-progressors, and plasma fibrinogen returned to its normal level, p<0.001, while circulating CRP maintained its level as it was at the initial visit, p> 0.05 (Table 5.12). The progression of aortic PWV was only related to baseline age of the progressors (r=0.23, p=0.029). The impact of comorbidities on aortic stiffness progression was further explored and showed no association between the number of comorbidities and the progression of aortic PWV. A quarter of the progressors had no previous history of diagnosed comorbidities and nearly a third of them had just one comorbidity (Figure 5.9).

	Initial visit (n=93)	2 year-visit (n=93)	Mean change 95%Cl			p value
Age (years)	67 (7)	69 (7)				
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.25 (0.5)	1.10 (0.5)	-0.14	-0.20	-0.08	0.001
FVC (L)	2.4 (0.8)	2.2 (0.9)	-0.17	-0.27	-0.07	0.001
FVC% predicted	83 (19)	77 (20)	-6	-9	-3	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> %predicted	52 (16)	49 (17)	-3	-5	-1	0.001
Smoking (pack/year)	41 (29)	44 (30)	3	-1	8	0.176
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	27.5 (5.4)	27.3 (5.7)	-0.25	-0.78	0.28	0.353
Waist (cm)	98 (15)	99 (16)	0.37	-1.07	1.82	0.610
Waist:Hip ratio	0.94 (0.10)	0.95 (0.10)	0.01	-0.01	0.02	0.212
Fat Mass (kg)	25.5 (11.3)	24.9 (10.6)	-0.67	-1.92	0.59	0.295
FFM (kg)	48.0 (10.6)	47.6 (10.6)	-0.44	-1.12	0.24	0.200
Peripheral SBP (mmHg)	145 (17)	145 (17)	-1	-4	2	0.505
Peripheral DBP (mmHg)	80 (11)	80 (12)	0	-2	1	0.600
Peripheral PP (mmHg)	65 (16)	64 (15)	-1	-3	2	0.658
Peripheral MAP	101 (11)	100 (11)	-1	-3	1	0.505
Central SBP (mmHg)	133 (17)	132 (16)	-1	-4	2	0.481
Central DBP (mmHg)	82 (12)	81 (12)	-1	-2	2	0.679
Central PP (mmHg)	51 (15)	51 (13)	0	-3	2	0.574
Central MAP (mmHg)	102 (11)	102 (11)	0	-2	2	0.938
Heart Rate (bpm)	74 (11)	75 (12)	1	-2	2	0.816
Aortic PWV (m/s)	9.8 (2.3)	11.4 (2.7)	1.6	1.3	1.9	0.001
CO (L/min)	5.6 (1.1)	5.4 (1.1)	-0.20	-0.31	0.03	0.107
Stroke Volume (ml)	83 (18)	78 (19)	-5	-8	-2	0.001
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	96 (2)	96 (2)	0	-1	1	0.425
CRP (mg/L)#	3.0 (2.5)	3.1 (2.8)	0.1	0.8	1.2	0.706
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.7 (1.1)	3.3 (0.9)	-0.40	-0.61	-0.12	0.004
Serum creatinine (µmol/l)	72 (16)	74 (13)	2	1	4	0.122
eGFR (mls/min/1.73m <sup>2</sup> )	89 (18)	81 (16)	-8	-11	-4	0.001
Data presented as mean (SI	D) unless othe	rwise indicated	, #=geom	etric mear	i, mean (	(95%CI).

Table 5.12: Clinical characteristics of progressors at initial visit and 2 years follow-up

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI= body mass index; SBP= systolic blood pressure; DBP= diastolic blood pressure; PP= pulse pressure; MAP= mean arterial pressure; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; CRP= C- reactive protein.



Figure 5.8: Distribution of comorbidities in progressor patients at two years visit

In contrast, the non-progressors had improvement in peripheral and central blood pressure indices, p<0.01 (Table 5.13). Although, there was a significant difference in the change of aortic stiffness between the progressors and non-progressors, peripheral and central pulse pressure remained similar between both groups, p>0.05 (Table 5.13). Comparing progressor patients with non-progressor patients revealed that the progressors experienced more rapid decline in lung function indices than the non-progressors, p<0.001 (Table 5.13). Both groups had similar reduction in plasma fibrinogen on the follow-up visit, p<0.01, while circulating CRP remained unchanged in both groups during the two years follow-up period (Table 5.13).

The progressors demonstrated a substantial increase in aortic PWV than the nonprogressors after correcting for the difference in peripheral MAP (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=51%, F=121, p<0.001). The same finding was found when the change in peripheral MAP was replaced by the change in central MAP. The model was further expanded and included baseline age, sex, the difference in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, difference in peripheral MAP, smoking status and showed that increased aortic PWV remained significant in the progressors (adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=51%, F=119.8, p<0.001).

	Non-progressors (n=50)	Progressors (n=93)	p value
Change in $FEV_1$ (ml)	-80 (-150 to -100)	-140 (-200 to -80)	0.001
Change in FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted	-2 (-5 to 1)	-3 (-5 to -1)	0.594
Change in FVC % predicted	-5 (-7 to -2)	-6 (-9 to -3)	0.001
Smoking history (packs/year)	-2 (-9 to 4)	3 (-1 to 8)	0.334
Change in peripheral SBP (mmHg)	-9 (-15 to -3)	-1 (-4 to 2)	0.007
Change in peripheral DBP (mmHg)	-6 (-9 to -4)	0 (-2 to 1)	0.001
Change in peripheral PP (mmHg)	-2 ( -7 to -1)	-1(-3 to 2)	0.304
Change in peripheral MAP (mmHg)	-7 (-11 to -4)	-1 (-3 to 1)	0.001
Change in central SBP (mmHg)	-9 (-15 to -4)	-1 (-4 to 2)	0.006
Change in central DBP (mmHg)	-7 (-9 to -4)	-1 (-2 to 2)	0.001
Change in central PP (mmHg)	-3 (-11 to -3)	0 (-3 to 2)	0.267
Change in central MAP (mmHg)	-7 (-11 to -3)	0 (-2 to 2)	0.001
Change in heart rate (bpm)	0 (-2 to 3)	1 (-2 to 2)	0.902
Change in aortic PWV (m/s)	-1 (-1.3 to 0.7)	1.6 (1.3 to 1.9)	0.001
Change in fibrinogen (g/l)	-0.40 (67 to -0.14)	-0.40 (-0.61 to -0.12)	0.936
Change in CRP (mg/l)#	0.10 (0.8 to 1.4)	0.1 (0.8 to 1.2)	0.941

Table 5.13: Differences between progressor and non-progressor patients after two years

Data presented as mean (95%CI) unless otherwise indicated, #=geometric mean.

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; SBP= systolic blood pressure; DBP= diastolic blood pressure; PP= pulse pressure; MAP= mean arterial pressure; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CRP= C- reactive protein.

# 5.4 Discussion

## **Cross-sectional study: Baseline Findings**

The cross-sectional results of this study showed that patients with COPD have greater aortic stiffness than comparators similar in age and gender proportion. The greater aortic PWV in the patients than the comparators and the association with central pulse pressure support the theory of that increased aortic stiffness is a systemic manifestation associated with COPD.

Increased aortic stiffness in patients with COPD has also been confirmed in other studies that used the same index and different indices (Maclay et al., 2009, Maclay et al., 2012, Mills et al., 2008, Patel et al., 2013). In the study by Sabit and colleagues (2007), they failed to adjust for other confounding factors in patients with COPD that may have a bearing on aortic stiffness including blood pressure and smoking, which are believed to play a role in increased aortic stiffness and may have inflated the difference. In the present study, to avoid the residual confounding factor from smoking and blood pressure, the association between aortic stiffness and COPD remained after correcting for peripheral mean arterial pressure and smoking. Other studies have used augmentation index or radial PWV as measures of arterial stiffness. Mills and co-worker (2007) used Alx as a measure of arterial stiffness. However, Alx is not the optimal measure for arterial stiffness, and is gender and heart rate dependent. A further limitation of this study was the failure to control for blood pressure, which they thought, was a determinant of arterial stiffness. The other study by McAllister and coauthors (2008) used radial PWV, which is less robust than aortic PWV as the brachial artery contains more collagen and less elastin than the aorta and, therefore, it does not reflect physiological changes associated with blood pressure and the work imposed on the heart. In contrast, Janner et al. (2012) have recently reported a conflicting result to this study and found no significant association between COPD and arterial stiffness after adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors including blood

pressure, CRP, socioeconomic and physical activity. However, the researchers in this study used the Alx as an outcome measure for arterial stiffness, which is not the gold standard for arterial stiffness measurement, in addition to other disadvantages mentioned above. Additionally, the diagnosis of COPD was based on prebronchodilator spirometry, which is not the gold standard for confirming COPD and may have led to inclusion of patients with other obstructive airway diseases including asthma (GOLD, 2014). Although, the authors stated that the difference was corrected for physical activity, assessment of physical activity was subjectively recorded which depends upon patients recall.

Subendocardial manifestations present in patients with COPD at an early stage of the disease even in those without overt cardiovascular problems (Sabit et al., 2010a). Aortic stiffness improves the Framingham cardiovascular risk prediction, independent of conventional risk factors (Mitchell et al., 2010). The increase in both central systolic and pulse pressure in parallel with increased aortic stiffness implicate the amount of load being exerted on the heart as well as alteration of aortic vasculature properties (Mitchell et al., 2004). Central haemodynamics may be more relevant to reflect the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease and damage to the sensitive organs such as the kidney (Roman et al., 2007). The earlier return of the reflected arterial wave during late systole increases left ventricle afterload and consequently reduces coronary perfusion in diastole leading to sub-endocardial ischaemia (Laurent et al., 2006). In COPD, aortic stiffness is the best predictor of left ventricle dysfunction in patients without overt CVD and associated with myocardial injury (Patel et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2010a). These findings may partly explain the underlying mechanism linking CVD in COPD and possibly the relationship between aortic stiffness and lung function in healthy individuals.

The association of aortic stiffness with heart rate may indicate a predominant role of sympathetic overactivity in aortic stiffness and subsequently increased risk of CVD.

Similar to the current study, in treated hypertensive patients, Benetos and colleagues (2002) found the increased heart rate was a significant predictor of aortic stiffness. Elevated resting heart rate, a marker of sympathetic overactivity, is associated with CVD and all cause of mortality in COPD (Jensen et al., 2013). Autonomic nervous system dysfunction has been recognised in patients with COPD and could be a potential mechanism linking COPD to CVD (Van Gestel et al., 2012). Chronic elevated heart rate may alter mechanical wall properties of the aorta through decreased compliance and increased the aortic wall stress. A cyclic increased heart rate exposes aortic wall to greater strain, and subsequently leading to elastin degradation, which is a marker of aortic stiffness and a systemic feature of COPD (Maclay et al., 2012, Mitchell et al., 2004, Whelton et al., 2013). Elevated aortic stiffness in parallel with a greater heart rate may implicate a poor cardiac function as a consequence of myocardial damage (Sabit et al., 2010a).

The association between aortic stiffness and renal function biomarkers (i.e. serum creatinine and eGFR) supports the notion that increased aortic stiffness could be related to the glomerular damage happening at the microvascular level. Recently, the GOLD guideline has emphasised the need for early detection and management of comorbidities in COPD (GOLD, 2014). One of the most common comorbidities associated with COPD is CVD. Cardiovascular morbidity and mortality is inversely and independently associated with kidney function (Anavekar et al., 2004, Gibson et al., 2003). Alteration of small vessels function of a vital organ such as the kidney and its haemodynamics could be another horizon to explore the link between cardiovascular disease and COPD. Both patients with COPD and renal dysfunction share a common risk factor for CVD, which is increased arterial stiffness. The interplay of microvascular changes and the macrovascular function in COPD could be a triggering factor for causing arterial stiffness. Casanova et al. (2010) measured urinary albumin/creatinine ratio in 129 stable patients with COPD and 51 smoking

controls, and showed higher level of microalbuminuria in the patients compared with smoking controls, independent of traditional cardiovascular risk factors. This suggests that patients with COPD have some degree of kidney vascular damage, which is a risk factor for cardiovascular events and may precipitate the development of aortic stiffness. A study by John et al. (2013) revealed that aortic stiffness in patients with COPD is related to glomerular damage as measured by urine albumin/creatinine ratio. However, John and colleagues (2013) included patients with known renal impairment and therefore, glomerular damage cannot be exclusively related to COPD and increased aortic stiffness. In contrast, in the current study, patients with COPD were free of known kidney dysfunction, which may, indicate that elevated aortic stiffness could cause subclinical damage to the kidney before its clinical manifestations.

Age is the major determinant of aortic stiffness (McEniery et al., 2005). This is not surprising, as with age, there are structural and functional changes to the vascular system, which could be accelerated by the presence of a systemic disease such as COPD. A similar finding has been recently reported in healthy and diseased populations (Alghatrif et al., 2013, Cecelja and Chowienczyk, 2009, McEniery et al., 2005, McEniery et al., 2010, Teoh et al., 2013). Interestingly, in the review by Cecelja and Chowienczyk (2009) found that age and blood pressure are the only predictors of the variability in aortic stiffness, and accounted for approximately 50% of that change. Hypertension is common in patients with COPD and is estimated between 40% and 60% (Curkendall et al., 2006, Mannino et al., 2008). The relationship between hypertension and COPD is unclear; however, increased arterial stiffness may play a role. Elastin degradation, a systemic feature of COPD, is also involved in the development of hypertension (Maclay et al., 2012, Te Velde et al., 2004). Therefore, increased aortic stiffness in COPD could be predisposing risk factor for hypertension development in the COPD population. Indeed, a recent longitudinal study from the

185

Framingham Offspring cohort showed that aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of the incident of hypertension in non-cardiovascular participants (Kaess et al., 2012). In the present study, aortic stiffness was more pronounced in males with COPD than the females and was independent of conventional cardiovascular risk factors including age, blood pressure and airway severity. This is recently supported in the London COPD Cohort study and the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Alghatrif et al., 2013, Patel et al., 2013). Conversely, a conflicting result has been reported by other studies (Duprez et al., 2009, Russo et al., 2012). In the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis study, women demonstrated lower large and small arteries elasticity than men, which was dependent on height and body size (Duprez et al., 2009). A similar finding has also been reported in the Cardiovascular Abnormalities and Brain Lesions cohort study, which demonstrated that women had higher arterial stiffness than men measured by Alx, independent of body size and heart rate (Russo et al., 2012). However, this relationship disappeared after adjustment for other cardiac risk factors. This controversy is attributed to the fact that these studies have used AIx as a measure of arterial stiffness, which is not the gold standard and is age and female dependent (Laurent et al., 2006). The supposition that women have greater arterial stiffness than men, because of their body size and shorter aortic path length would assume or lead to the conclusion that children would have greater aortic stiffness than adults. However, this is not the case in reality as arterial stiffness increases with age. In the present study, males with COPD had greater aortic PWV than the females, independent of age and blood pressure, which clearly shows the high risk of premature cardiovascular events in the males is independent of the effect of age and blood pressure. Although males and females with COPD were similar in physiological

of CVD, and may partially explain the relationship. Obesity increases aortic stiffness and both are independent risk factors for cardiovascular events (Recio-Rodriguez et

measures, males had more visceral obesity than the females, which increases the risk

al., 2012, Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2005, Sutton-Tyrrell et al., 2001). The combined effect of obesity and aortic stiffness in men in conjunction with COPD culminate in worsening cardiovascular morbidity. Recently, aortic stiffness was found to be associated with subclinical left ventricle dysfunction in a group of patients with COPD and free of overt cardiovascular disease when compared with age and sex matched controls (Sabit et al., 2010a). Another potential explanation of why males with COPD can have a stiffened aorta is probably testosterone deficiency (Atlantis et al., 2013). Males with COPD have lower testosterone level than disease free males (Laghi et al., 2005). Low testosterone level is associated with increased aortic stiffness in the elderly and enhances the risk for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Araujo et al., 2011, Dockery et al., 2003, Jones, 2010). The association between increased aortic stiffness and low levels of testosterone has been found in several populations and yet is to be explored in COPD (Fukui et al., 2007, Kyriazis et al., 2011). Nevertheless, increased aortic stiffness is well established in COPD, which is an independent predictor for cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in several populations including the healthy elderly. As males age, the level of testosterone progressively decreases and increases the incidence of fatal and non-fatal cardiac events (Herring et al., 2013, Jones, 2010).

In the current study, patients with mild to moderate airflow obstruction had increased aortic stiffness compared with non-COPD subjects. There was also a significant difference in aortic stiffness between patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub>>50% and patients with an FEV<sub>1</sub><50%. These findings could be interpreted as showing that aortic stiffening occurs at early stage of the disease and progresses as the function of airway declines. The relationship between the degree of aortic stiffness and severity of airway obstruction in patients with COPD may explain the increased risk for coronary heart disease and stroke in COPD. The result of this study is supported by findings from Sabit et al. (2007) study and other research (Cinarka et al., 2013, Janner et al.,

2012, McAllister et al., 2007, Mills et al., 2008). Although, these studies used different indices to assess aortic stiffness, they agreed that there is a relationship between aortic stiffness and pulmonary function.

The relationship between pulmonary function and aortic stiffness in the general population is contentious in the literature. In this study and others, there was a negative association between lung function and aortic stiffness in non-COPD subjects (Bolton et al., 2009, Janner et al., 2012, Sabit et al., 2007). In contrast, a study in 678 Japanese American adult subjects found no significant relationship (Taneda et al., 2004). This could be due to the type of the statistical analysis they used to identify the relationship. They treated their variables as dichotomous, which may have underestimated the association.

The association between inflammatory biomarkers and arterial stiffness in COPD is contradictory. In the current study, increased aortic stiffness was associated with high levels of circulating CRP. A similar relationship between increased CRP and aortic PWV was found in a population from the same community and in others (Patel et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2007). In contrast, Cinarka et al. (2013) reported a conflicting result. This could be related to the fact that their study was underpowered and 96% of their population were male, therefore, the relationship was underestimated. Association between aortic stiffness and frequency of exacerbation in parallel with elevated CRP may suggest the possibility of a systemic elastin degradation and acceleration of atherosclerotic features (Maclay et al., 2012, Patel et al., 2013).

COPD is a persistent inflammatory disease with elevated CRP level, which is a predictor of adverse outcomes in this population (Thomsen et al., 2012). Increased circulating CRP may be responsible for accelerating atherosclerosis leading to aortic stiffening. CRP is also involved in inducing endothelial dysfunction, which will consequently increase vascular fibrosis and subsequently lead to elevated aortic stiffness (Barr et al., 2007, Ives et al., 2013).

Another mechanism may explain the association between aortic stiffness and COPD is hypoxia. In the current research, aortic PWV was inversely related to resting oxygen saturation. A similar finding has been found in two cross-sectional studies (Cinarka et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2007). In contrast, although McAllister and colleagues (2007) used the same method as in the current study (i.e. pulse oximeter) to measure oxygen saturation, they found no association between oxygen saturation and radial PWV. This may be due to the method they used to measure arterial stiffness (radial PWV) which is not the gold standard and unlikely to reflect physiological changes in the aorta (Laurent et al., 2006). The effect of hypoxia on arterial stiffness is still unknown. Nevertheless, hypoxia may alter arterial smooth muscle structure and function and increase its predisposition to rigidity (Lattimore et al., 2005). To support this hypothesis, a study by Bartels and co-authors (2004) demonstrated that supplemental oxygen resulted in reduced arterial stiffness in a population of patients with airflow obstruction. Hypoxia may also influence arterial stiffness by its effect on systemic inflammation (Takabatake et al., 2000). Repetitive hypoxia that is usually seen in patients with COPD either sustained as in the late stage of the disease or intermittent as during an exacerbation or exercise, which induces cardiac stress (i.e. an increase in heart rate) and renal stress (i.e. a decrease in renal blood flow) (Skwarski et al., 1998).

Tobacco exposure has a causal effect in COPD and CVD, therefore, it was considered in the analysis. In this study, although the smoking history between the patients and comparators was different, this is unlikely to account for the increased aortic stiffness observed in patients with COPD, as increased aortic stiffness was independent of pack-years of smoking. Within the comparator group, current smokers with a higher pack-years history did not have greater aortic PWV. Within the patients, there was a difference in aortic PWV between patients in GOLD III&II and patients in GOLD III&IV, who were similar in terms of current smokers and the number of pack

years smoked. A similar finding was found by Sabit et al. (2007) study, who reported that increased aortic stiffness in patients with COPD was independent of the number of pack-years smoked. Consistent with previous findings, in 157 emphysematous patients, McAllister and colleagues (2007) reported no difference in PWV between active smokers and ex-smokers. In the general population, Zureik and co-authors (2001) found similar aortic PWV in never smokers, current smokers and ex-smokers.

To the best knowledge of the researcher, this is the largest cross-sectional study to date, which has confirmed previous findings of the association between COPD and elevated aortic stiffness. In this study, aortic stiffness was greater in the patients than the comparators similar in age and gender, and it was independent of traditional cardiovascular risk factors. The present study added to previous studies that male patients had greater aortic stiffness than their female counterparts and this difference remained after controlling for age and blood pressure. Additionally, the present study found waist circumference and heart rate as well as age and blood pressure are predictors of increased aortic stiffness in COPD.

# Longitudinal study: Two-year Findings

This is the first longitudinal study evaluating the change in aortic stiffness over time in COPD and showed that there was a significant increase in aortic stiffness, independent of age, airway severity, body composition, mean blood pressure and inflammation. In this study, a subset of patients was also identified to have an accelerated progression in aortic stiffness. The accelerated progression of aortic stiffness seen in patients with COPD was three-fold greater than expected with normal ageing, independent of the traditional risk factors, which suggests that COPD is an independent risk factor for increased aortic stiffness and premature vascular ageing, which subsequently enhance the risk of CVD.

A few studies have examined the progression of aortic stiffness over time. Similar to the current study, in treated hypertensives, Benetos et al. (2002) reported an annual increase in aortic PWV by 0.17 m/s, and was independent of mean arterial pressure. In a longitudinal prospective study in patients with renal failure and on chronic haemodialysis, Utescu and colleagues (2013) showed that the progression of 0.84 m/s in aortic stiffness over fourteen months was independent of age, atherosclerosis, CVD, diabetes and inflammation. In contrast, Briet et al. (2011) evaluated annual progression of aortic stiffness in 180 patients with chronic kidney disease for four years. The researchers failed to find a significant change in aortic stiffness. In this study, the researchers lost 30% of their population during the follow-up and this may explain why the rate of aortic stiffness progression was underestimated. In addition, majority of the patients in this study had been prescribed renin-angiotensin system blocker, which may have anti-progression effect on aortic vascular properties.

The link between aortic stiffness and elevated blood pressure is complex and not well understood. In this study, the rate of aortic progression was not associated with mean arterial pressure, indeed, there was a significant reduction in peripheral and central MAP after two years, while aortic stiffness had substantially increased. Similar to the current study, Benetos et al. (2002) reported that the adjusted annual rate of aortic stiffness progression was independent of MAP. In another population, Utescu and colleagues (2013) found an increase in blood pressure after a period of over one year in chronic haemodialysis patients, however, the change in aortic stiffness was not dependent on blood pressure. This proposes that the accelerated increase in aortic stiffness is independent of blood pressure. Recently, aortic stiffness was found to predict the incidence of hypertension (Kaess et al., 2012). Indeed, this is interesting as it is in contrast to current understanding and may infer that aortic stiffness develops before increases in blood pressure takes place, which implies that there are other contributing factors involved in initiating aortic stiffness and its progression.

Depletion of FFM is a common problem in patients with COPD and increases with low BMI and the disease severity (Bolton et al., 2004, Vestbo et al., 2006). However, it is not limited to cachectic patients or those at late stage disease, as it exists in normal BMI patients with mild to moderate airway obstruction (Vestbo et al., 2006). Studies have shown that in patients with COPD, FFMI is inversely related to survival independent of BMI and other covariates such as sex, smoking and lung function (Schols et al., 2005, Slinde et al., 2005, Vestbo et al., 2006). In patients with COPD, free of overt heart disease, Sabit et al. (2010) found that left ventricle mass, FFM and cellular protein breakdown were all interrelated suggesting that alterations in cardiac and skeletal muscle may occur as part of a global protein catabolic process. Reduction of cardiac haemodynamics indices in parallel with loss of FFM may reflect the left ventricle dysfunction and its inability to deliver adequate amounts of blood to perfuse skeletal muscle leading to tissue deprivation and consequently increased protein turnover. Impaired oxygen delivery to skeletal and cardiac muscle as a result of reduced blood supply is a further explanation for loss of normal haemodynamics and reduced reserve capacity of the cardiovascular system in COPD.

Alteration of vascular wall properties may occur via endothelial dysfunction that alter collagen and elastin structure and result in arterial stiffness (Zieman et al., 2005). The role of endothelial dysfunction in promoting arterial stiffness in COPD is controversial and this is largely related to variations of methodological approaches to study endothelial function (Barr et al., 2007, Ives et al., 2013, Maclay et al., 2009). However, this does not preclude the interaction between endothelium and increased elastin degradation, which promotes calcification and atherosclerosis (Zieman et al., 2005). Aortic stiffness reflects the pathological state of the central arteries and accumulated atherosclerotic changes. Hence, aortic stiffness is elevated in COPD and has previously been shown to be associated with aortic calcification, a feature of atherosclerosis, left ventricle dysfunction and myocardial injury; suggesting that rapid progression of aortic stiffness mirrors the atherosclerotic changes in the aortic wall (Bolton et al., 2011, Patel et al., 2013, Sabit et al., 2010a). A recent exploratory study in patients with COPD, free from CVD, type 2 DM and inflammatory disease showed that deposition of aortic calcification was influenced by vascular inflammation measured by F18-Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) compared with ex-smoker control subjects (Coulson et al., 2010). Vascular inflammation may be implicated in cardiovascular events (Hansson, 2005). This has recently been supported from a large retrospective study on 513 non-cancer patients who underwent FDG-PET for suspected malignancy (Figueroa et al., 2013). In this study, the researchers found vascular inflammation, measured by FDG-PET, is an independent predictor of cardiovascular events during a four-year follow-up. Aortic atherosclerotic change is usually preceded by activation of endothelium where there is elastin breakdown caused by high sheer stress, which subsequently may lead to initiation of local inflammatory response (Hansson, 2005).

Patients with COPD have evidence of both pulmonary and extrapulmonary elastin breakdown (Black et al., 2008, Maclay et al., 2012). In the lung, degradation of elastin

results in loss of lung compliance and airway patency, while an altered ratio of elastin to collagen in the vasculature results in arterial stiffening (Maclay et al., 2012). Patients with emphysema experienced greater skin elastin degradation and increased expression of MMP-9 compared with non-COPD smoking controls, which were associated with increased aortic stiffness. Increased elastin breakdown is involved in vascular calcification, which promotes atherosclerotic features and stiffness (Bolton et al., 2011, Maclay et al., 2012, Zieman et al., 2005). Such alterations may be genetically predetermined or secondary to increased elastolytic compounds such as MMP– 9 (Maclay et al., 2012). In healthy subjects as well as patients with COPD, MMP-9 is associated with increased aortic stiffness (Maclay et al., 2012, Yasmin et al., 2006). This infers that patients with COPD may be genetically predisposed to have enhanced aortic stiffness, which could be mediated via several stimuli including connective tissue degradation. This increases the susceptibility of autoimmune involvement and may explain the failure of the immune system to suppress persistent inflammation associated with COPD (Agusti et al., 2003).

Persistent systemic inflammation in COPD may play a role in the development of aortic stiffness and increase the risk for cardiovascular disease. Several cross-sectional studies have found an association between arterial stiffness and inflammation while others did not (Cinarka et al., 2013, Maclay et al., 2009, Mills et al., 2008). Yet, the nature of these studies limits their findings as COPD is a heterogeneous disease and drawing a conclusion based on a single visit measurement is inconclusive. Controlling for other confounding factors such as tobacco exposure and blood pressure is also lacking in some studies. Therefore, the relevance of this relationship cannot be established based on this design. The current longitudinal study overcomes these limitations and found no association between progression of aortic stiffness and inflammatory biomarkers. Interestingly, in this study, although aortic stiffness increased over two years, the CRP level remained

194

unchanged over the period of follow-up while a third of the patients remained inflammation free (i.e. CRP within the normal limit). Similar findings have also been reported in another group of patients with chronic kidney disease and on long term haemodialysis (Utescu et al., 2013). The investigators in this study observed that the level of CRP remained stable during the follow-up period of fourteen months, and was not related to the progression of aortic stiffness.

The role of systemic inflammation in the pathogenesis of aortic stiffness cannot be excluded, but it may not be responsible for the initiation of aortic stiffness in COPD or the inflammatory biomarkers used in the current study may not reflect local inflammation in the aorta. Indeed, the recent investigative work by Coulson and colleagues (2010) who supported this assumption and showed that aortic inflammation and calcification, measured by FDG-PET, was independent of systemic inflammation. This is not extraordinary in COPD as the systemic inflammation is not a constant feature in all patients with COPD (Agusti et al., 2012). Recently, in the ECLIPSE cohort study, Agusti and colleagues (2012) found that systemic inflammation behaved differently in COPD, as about a third of their patients were free from abnormal systemic inflammation, while another third expressed no changes in their inflammatory biomarkers after a year of follow-up (Agusti et al., 2012).

Moreover, a subset of patients was identified to have a rapid increase in aortic stiffness progression, independent of blood pressure, lung severity and inflammation.

The association of aortic stiffness progression in COPD with age suggests that age related vascular changes occur prematurely in COPD. Similarly, Benetos and colleagues (2002) reported that progression of aortic stiffness in patients with hypertension was age dependent. The increase of 1.6 m/s means that the estimated biological aortic age for this group of patients is 16 years greater than their chronological age, which increases the cardiovascular risk by more than 22% (Vlachopoulos et al., 2010). The theory of premature ageing has recently been

appreciated in COPD and numbers of studies have been increasing to understand cellular and molecular mechanisms of biological ageing. From the same community population, Sabit and colleagues (2007) were the first to suggest that COPD causes premature vascular ageing characterised by increased aortic stiffness. COPD provokes elastin degradation either inside the lung by destruction of the lung parenchyma or externally via vascular elastin and collagen deposition (Black et al., 2008, Maclay et al., 2012). In the current study, the mean rate of decline in FEV<sub>1</sub> in the progressors was 140 ml. Rapid decline in the lung function could be responsible directly or indirectly for elastin breakdown, which subsequently increases aortic ageing. A similar finding was reported in a cross-sectional study by Zureik et al. (2001) in 194 middle-age men free from overt cardiovascular disease. They found that for every 93 ml reduction in FEV<sub>1</sub>, aortic stiffness increased by 2.5 m/s. Patel et al. (2006) found an association between COPD and skin wrinkling, indicative of elastin degradation, and was age dependent. This finding was also extended by Maclay and co-authors (2012) who showed a relationship between skin elastin breakdown and MMP-9 and both were associated with increased aortic stiffness. Circulating MMP-9 has been implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and predisposing factor to aortic stiffness (Yasmin et al., 2006).

Atherosclerosis and COPD are both chronic inflammatory states that may cause premature vascular ageing and certainly share common risk factors such as smoking, inflammation, endothelial dysfunction and protease/antiprotease imbalance such as circulating MMP-9. In COPD, the severity of airways disease is associated with increased carotid intima-media thickness, and this atherosclerotic change can occur during the early stage of the disease, independent of smoking. Subclinical atherosclerosis occurs early in COPD because of endothelial dysfunction and microvascular alteration and progresses with the decline in lung function (Barr et al., 2012). Endothelial dysfunction has recently been implicated in the pathogenesis of arterial stiffness in COPD, which interestingly could be reversed by ingestion of an antioxidant cocktail (Ives et al., 2013). A study by Bolton et al. (2011) in patients with COPD showed that aortic stiffness is associated with aortic calcification and it was independent of MAP. In the light of current results and previous findings mentioned above, COPD may cause premature vascular ageing, which is characterised by increased aortic stiffness independent of conventional cardiovascular risk factors. Aortic stiffness could reflect a vascular insult occurring in its early stage and underlying hidden or sub-clinical cardiovascular disease.

# **Study limitations**

The major limitation of this longitudinal study is lack of a non-COPD group to compare the extent of aortic stiffness progression and factors influencing it. A second limitation was no cardiac scan had been done to confirm subclinical damage to the heart as well as there was no measure performed to ascertain the presence of atherosclerosis.

# Conclusion

COPD is an independent risk factor for progression of aortic stiffness. Accelerated increase in aortic stiffness occurs in a sub-group of patients with COPD, which is independent of traditional risk factors. This may enhance the risk of cardiovascular events and promote more research on the causes and mechanisms. Accelerated aortic stiffness progression may reflect cumulative, subclinical target organ damage with decline in functional reserve that is manifested as frailty. Given the simplicity and rapidity of aortic stiffness measurement, its use in primary care practice could be beneficial to identify people with COPD who are at increased risk of cardiovascular disease and administer appropriate preventive strategy. Future interventional studies are required to slow the progression of aortic stiffness and reduce the risk of CVD in COPD.
# **Chapter Six**

# **Cross-sectional and Longitudinal**

# **Evaluation of Frailty in COPD**

# Introduction

This chapter of the thesis evaluated frailty in patients with COPD and was subdivided into two parts:

The first part was a cross-sectional study including all the participants recruited into the ARCADE study at initial visit to establish the concept of frailty.

The second part of this chapter was a longitudinal study of patients who had been reviewed after their completion of two years from their participation at the initial visit.

#### 6.1 Background

Frailty is a progressive clinical syndrome in parallel with COPD and ageing. Frailty and COPD are both associated with increased comorbidities and reduced functional activity and physical capacity (Fried et al., 2004, Rockwood, 2005, Savva et al., 2013, Thomsen et al., 2012, Waschki et al., 2011). The latter is a risk factor for many comorbid conditions including cardiovascular disease, osteoporosis, metabolic disorders and sarcopenia (Barnes and Celli, 2009, Watz et al., 2008). Frailty is a complex phenomenon and its relation with ageing makes the distinction between the two difficult. However, in COPD, these signs appear early and may represent premature ageing and consequently lead to frailty, which are gender dependent (Agusti et al., 2010, Aryal et al., 2013, Cesari et al., 2004, Gale et al., 2013). In parallel with the proposed theory of frailty, which implies that failure of physiological systems to respond to further stressors, leading to an interruption of homeostasis status and appearance of frailty (Walston et al., 2006). Several underlying physiological mechanisms have been proposed to cause frailty including inflammation, immunosenescence, obesity and lack of activity (Abbatecola and Paolisso, 2008, Clegg et al., 2013, Fulop et al., 2010). COPD is accompanied by various extra-pulmonary comorbidities, which increases morbidity and risk of death (Divo et al., 2012, Vanfleteren et al., 2013). Most assessments of disease status, particularly in routine clinical settings, do not include comorbidities, though recently a scoring system based on the BODE index and comorbidities predictive of non-survival was described, and was predictive of the mortality risk over a four year period (Divo et al., 2012).

Comorbidities represent deficits in individual physiological systems and are often multiply present in a single patient (Vanfleteren et al., 2013). The presence of multiple comorbidities in COPD resembles the accumulation of deficits in physiological systems seen in natural ageing (Fried et al., 2001, Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2011).

200

Frailty better predicts adverse outcomes than age independent of co-existing medical conditions and is associated with an increased risk of falls, hospitalisation, residential care and reduced HRQoL, and progression to disability and increased mortality (Fried et al., 2001, Jones et al., 2005, Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2007, Fried et al., 2009, Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2011, Rockwood et al., 2005, Romero-Ortuno and Kenny, 2012). The similarities between the accumulation of deficits in ageing and multiple comorbidities in COPD, suggests that frailty is likely to be common in COPD, and be related to comorbidities and increased morbidity.

However, the frailty concept in COPD needs to be established using a validated measure of frailty and subsequently confirm this finding in a longitudinal study to target future understanding and management of frailty in COPD, as there is no study so far which has examined the rate of frailty progression in either health or disease. Only a few longitudinal studies are available on frailty and these studies looked at the incidence of frailty (Barzilay et al., 2007, Baylis et al., 2013, Gale et al., 2013, Puts et al., 2005b).

# Hypothesis

Patients with COPD would be more frail and have more impairments compared with similar age and sex comparator subjects. Additionally, the patients would have an increase in the frailty index after two years from the initial assessment.

## Aim

The aim of this study was to examine the frailty concept in patients with COPD compared with similar age and gender non-COPD subjects. Secondly, this study aimed to evaluate the change in frailty in patients with COPD over time.

201

#### 6.2 Method

This was a cross-sectional study of patients with stable COPD confirmed, with spirometry and comparators from the Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation (ARCADE) study. Comparators were current or ex-smokers free from respiratory disease. All subjects were clinically stable and free of inflammatory disease such as rheumatoid arthritis, oral maintenance corticosteroids and long-term oxygen therapy (full inclusion and exclusion criteria in Chapter 2: Table 2.1, p 65). All subjects gave written informed consent and the study had approval from the South East Wales Research Ethics Committee.

#### Lung Function

All subjects performed spirometry (Vitalograph), to measure forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), forced vital capacity (FVC) and the FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio (Chapter 2:2.3.5, p 80). The number of exacerbations per year was recorded.

## **Body Composition**

Weight and body composition were measured barefoot in lightweight indoor clothing, fat free mass (FFM), fat mass (FM) and the percentage fat were determined using a Bioelectrical impedance device (Tanita BC-418). The FFMI was expressed as a height-squared ratio and the body mass index (BMI kg/m<sup>2</sup>) was calculated (Chapter 2:2.3.1, p 68). A stretch resistant tape measure was used to measure waist and hip circumference.

# **Physical Performance**

All subjects performed the Timed Up and Go test (Chapter 2:2.3.6, p 79). The subjects also undertook the six minute walking distance (6MWD) test. Prior to the test, resting heart rate and oxygen saturation was recorded by pulse oximetry with the subjects breathing air (Chapter 2:2.3.7, p 81).

## Handgrip Measurement

Maximal right and left handgrip strength (HGS) was determined twice in each hand using a hand dynamometer (T.K.K. 5401 grip-D, Takei, Japan) (Chapter 2:2.3.8, p 84).

# **Measurement of Pulse Wave Velocity**

Aortic PWV was assessed non-invasively using the SphygmoCor device connected to a laptop computer (Chapter 2:2.3.3, p 72).

# **Cardiac Haemodynamics Measurement**

Cardiac haemodynamics were measured non-invasively using a new bioreactance technology (NICOM, Cheetah, Medical Inc., Indianapolis, IN) (Chapter 2:2.3.4, p 77).

# **Inflammatory Biomarkers**

High sensitivity C-reactive protein (CRP) and fibrinogen were determined from a blood sample according to standard procedures (University Hospital of Wales, Biochemistry).

# Frailty

A modified version of the comprehensive geriatric assessment specific to community dwelling individuals was administered to all participants (Chapter 2:2.3.10, p 85). A Frailty Index was calculated by dividing the total number of CGA deficits by the maximum, 61.

## Health Related Quality of Life

The patients completed the St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire (SGRQ) and the COPD Assessment Test (CAT) that were previously detailed (Chapter 2:2.3.9, p 85). The number of reported diagnosed comorbidities in patients and comparators were also recorded.

# **Data Analysis**

Data analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS, Chicago, IL), version 18.0. Results are presented as arithmetic or median (range) (for non-normally distributed), log<sub>10</sub> transformed mean and standard deviation (SD). Analyses included One-way or Two-way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) as appropriate, Pearson's correlations and hierarchical multiple regression analysis. Difference between visits was performed using paired t- test. Categorical data was analysed using the Chi-square test. The p<0.05 was considered significant. Subjects aged less than 50 years were added to the 50-59 age category.

#### 6.3 Result

#### **Subject Characteristics**

The patients (n=500) and comparators (n=150) were similar in age, gender and BMI, but the patients had a greater tobacco exposure and a lower FEV<sub>1</sub> and FVC compared with comparators, all p<0.001 (Table 6.1). The severity of airflow obstruction in the patients was GOLD 1 n=73, GOLD 2 n=251, GOLD 3 n=144 and GOLD 4 n=32. Of the 500 patients, 207 reported infrequent exacerbations, less than two per year, while 293 patients reported two or more per year.

Body composition was classified according to Landbo et al. (1999), of the 500 patients, (26) 5% had a low BMI (<19.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), (196) 39% had an elevated BMI (>25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), (163) 33% were classified as obese (BMI>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), while (115) 23% were within the normal limit for BMI (20-25 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Among comparator subjects, (34) 23% had an optimal BMI and (116) 77% had an elevated BMI, 28% of these subjects were obese (BMI >30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Patients had greater waist circumference and waist: hip ratio, and lower fat free mass and oxygen saturation, all p<0.001. However, both groups had similar fat mass (Table 6.1). The proportion of subjects with a prior diagnosis of comorbidities was greater in the patients (Table 6.2). Details of reported comorbidities and medications in both groups were previously mentioned (Chapter 5, Table 5.2). Most of the patients (64%) and comparators (82%) were ex-smokers and had a different pack year exposure.

The TUG test of patients with COPD 11.1 (3.7) s was greater than the comparators, 8.2 (1.2) s, while the 6MWD of the patients 320 (126) m was less compared with non-COPD subjects 501 (86) m, all p<0.001. Likewise, the HGS of the patients, 25.6 (9.8) was weaker than the comparators, 31.1 (10.4) kg, p<0.001.

Circulating CRP and fibrinogen were greater in patients with COPD compared to non-COPD subjects, all p<0.001 (Table 6.1). Table 6.1: Physical and clinical characteristics of patients with COPD and comparators

at initial visit

	COPD (n=500)	Comparator (150)	p value
Gender Male:Female	255:245	75:75	0.451
Age (years)	66 (7.3)	65 (8.0)	0.125
Smoking (pack-years)	41 (25.5)	21 (17.9)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.64 (0.84)	2.73 (0.67)	0.001
FVC (L)	2.50 (0.98)	3.50 (0.90)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC (L)	0.53 (0.11)	0.78 (0.05)	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (%)	59 (21)	105 (13)	0.001
FVC (%)	87 (21)	110 (15)	0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.1 (5.5)	28.3 (4.2)	0.664
Waist circumference (cm)	100 (15)	95 (13)	0.001
Hip circumference (cm)	104 (11)	105 (12)	0.891
Waist:Hip ratio	1.0 (0.1)	0.9 (0.1)	0.001
HGS (kg)	27.1 (9.9)	31.0 (10.2)	0.001
FFM (kg)	49.6 (11.0)	52.2 (9.5)	0.011
FFMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	18.1 (2.6)	18.5 (2.3)	0.088
Fat mass (kg)	26.9 (11.1)	26.9 (8.6)	0.985
Aortic PWV (m/s)	9.9 (2.40)	8.3 (1.66)	0.001
CO (L/min)	5.84 (1.21)	5.95 (1.03)	0.324
Stroke Volume (ml)	86 (20)	96 (20)	0.001
6MWD (m)	324 (124)	502 (86)	0.001
TUG (s)	11.1 (3.7)	8.2 (1.2)	0.001
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	97 (2)	98 (1)	0.001
Fibrinogen (g/L)#	3.51 (1.31)	3.08 (1.25)	0.001
CRP (mg/L)#	3.49 (2.89)	1.76 (3.18)	0.001

All data mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, # Geometric mean

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI= body mass index; HGS= handgrip strength; FFM= fat free Mass; FFMI= fat free mass index; 6MWD= six minute walk distance; TUG= Timed Up and Go; CRP= C-reactive protein.

### Frailty

The total CGA score and the FI were greater in patients than comparators (Table 6.2). The possibility that comorbidities might unduly weigh the FI in COPD was addressed by comparing the scores after exclusion of the medical comorbidity scores, the CGA score remained greater in the patients than in non-COPD subjects, p<0.001 (Table 6.2). The FI was not related to age in either group and did not differ across age categories, p>0.05. However, patients with COPD had a greater FI than comparator subjects across age categories (Figure 6.1). The total FI was related to the number of previously diagnosed comorbidities, which included hypertension, angina, atrial fibrillation, hypercholesterolaemia, diabetes and osteoporosis, in patients (r =0.456) and comparators (r =0.421), all p<0.001 (Table 6.3).

Using the upper 95%CI of the FI for the comparator group (0.05), as an upper limit for non-frail status in non-COPD subjects, 446 (92%) of the 500 patients were frail, and 56 (37%) of the comparators were frail.

	COPD (n= 500)	Comparator (n= 150)	p value
CGA Total	8.3 (0.25-28.5)	2.25 (0.0-11.25)	0.001
CGA without medical	2.8 (0.0-14.0)	0.25 (0.0-5.25)	0.001
Frailty Index	0.15 (0.08)	0.05 (0.04)	0.001
SGRQ Symptom	66 (20)	-	-
SGRQ Activity	66 (26)	-	-
SGRQ Impact	38 (21)	-	-
SGRQ Total	51 (20)	-	-
Total CAT Score	21 (9)	-	-

Table 6.2: Questionnaire scores in patients with COPD and comparators

Data are Median (range) or Mean (SD), - = not assessed

Abbreviations: CGA= Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment; SGRQ= St George's Respiratory Questionnaire; CAT= COPD Assessment Test.

Table 6.3: Relationships of FI with physical and clinical characteristics in patients with

Pearson's correlation	COPD (n=500)	p value	Comparator (n=150)	p value
Age (years)	-0.004	0.937	0.122	0.138
FEV <sub>1</sub> (%)	-0.193	0.001	-0.201	0.014
FEV <sub>1</sub> /FVC	-0.035	0.439	0.097	0.238
Smoking (pack-years)	0.037	0.409	-0.002	0.977
No. Exacerbations/year	0.262	0.001	-	-
BMI (kg/m²)	0.173	0.001	0.281	0.001
Waist circumference (cm)	0.157	0.001	0.177	0.035
Hip circumference (cm)	0.130	0.005	0.202	0.014
Waist:Hip ratio	0.089	0.050	0.014	0.869
FFM (kg)	-0.057	0.206	-0.084	0.307
FFMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	0.043	0.341	-0.005	0.947
Fat Mass (kg)	0.148	0.001	0.325	0.001
HGS (kg)	-0.353	0.001	-0.182	0.026
Aortic PWV	0.088	0.052	0.192	0.019
CO (L/min)	0.004	0.930	-0.015	0.857
SV (ml)	-0.140	0.003	-0.112	0.184
6MWD (m)	-0.581	0.001	-0.371	0.001
TUG (s)	0.516	0.001	0.082	0.324
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	-0.155	0.001	-0.206	0.012
log <sub>10</sub> Fibrinogen (g/L)	0.162	0.001	0.191	0.023
log <sub>10</sub> CRP (mg/L)	0.156	0.001	0.271	0.001
Number of Comorbidities	0.456	0.001	0.421	0.001

COPD and comparator subjects at initial visit

All data mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated.

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; BMI= body mass index; FFM= fat free Mass; FFMI= fat free mass Index; HGS= handgrip strength; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; 6MWD= six minute walk distance; TUG= Timed Up and Go; CRP= C-reactive protein.





comparators across age categories at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD. **ANOVA**, p<0.001.

#### **Relationship between Frailty and Physical Performance**

The FI was related to the 6MWD (r=-0.58) and TUG (r=0.52) in patients with COPD, all p<0.001, but was only related to the 6MWD (r=-0.37) in the comparators, p<0.001 (Table 6.3).

# **Relationship between Frailty and Body Composition**

The patients and comparators had similar BMI, p>0.05 (Table 6.1), but patients with COPD had greater FI than the comparator group across the BMI category, p<0.001 (Figure 6.2). In the patients, the FI was greater at the extremes of BMI (Figure 6.2). However, in the comparator group, the FI increased with BMI, p<0.01. The FI was related to the FM and waist circumference in both patients and comparators, all p<0.01, but not the FFM (Table 6.3).

# **Relationship between Frailty and Gender**

The FI of female patients 0.17 (0.08) was greater than their male counterparts 0.14 (0.09), p<0.001. Similarly for the comparators, females 0.05 (0.04) were more frail than males 0.04 (0.03), p<0.001. The difference remained after controlling for age, waist: hip ratio and  $log_{10}$  CRP in the patients (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>= 7%, F=23.80, p<0.001) and the comparators (Adjusted R<sup>2</sup>= 12%, F=9.27, p=0.003). A Two-way ANOVA showed that female patients with COPD had a greater FI after the age of 60 than the male patients, F= 2.51, p=0.040.





COPD and comparator subjects across BMI categories at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD.

ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc, p<0.001.

COPD Comparator

#### **Relationship between Frailty Index and Lung Function**

The FI was related to FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted in the patients (r=-0.19, p<0.001) and the comparators (r=-0.20, p=0.019). In the patients, there was a significant difference in FI across GOLD categories, p<0.01. Post hoc analysis showed the only difference existed across the GOLD categories was between GOLD1 and GOLD3, p<0.001. However, the FI of the comparators was lower than the patients across all GOLD categories, p<0.001 (Figure 6.3).

# **Relationship between Frailty and Cardiac Function**

In the patients, the FI was related to stroke volume (r=-0.14, p=0.003), but was not in the comparators. The stroke volume of the patients was also associated with FFM (r=0.58, p<0.001) and FFMI (r=0.46, p<0.001). The FI was not associated with cardiac output in either group, p>0.05 (Table 6.3). There was no relationship between FI and aortic stiffness in the patients, but it was evident in the comparators (r=0.19, p=0.019).



Figure 6.3: Bar chart representing FI in patients with COPD across GOLD categories

and comparator subjects at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD. **ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc.** 

#### **Relationship between Frailty and Inflammatory Biomarkers**

Both circulating CRP and fibrinogen were related to the FI in the patients and comparators, all p<0.05 (Table 6.4). The frailty score in the patients was also related to the number of exacerbations per year, (r=0.262, p<0.001). The FI of frequent exacerbators, 0.17 (0.08), was greater than infrequent exacerbators, 0.13 (0.08), and both were greater than that of the comparators, 0.05 (0.04), p<0.001 (Figure 6.4). Based on the FI upper 95%CI of the comparators, 165 of 204 (81%) infrequent exacerbators and 277 of 296 (94%) frequent exacerbators were frail.

# Relationship between Frailty and Health Related Quality of Life

The FI score of the patients was related to SGRQ (r=0.60) and its sub-domains; activity (r=0.57), symptom (r=0.42) and impact (r=0.57), all p<0.001. Similarly, the health status as measured by the total score of the CAT was related to the FI score of the patients (r=0.54, p<0.001).



# Figure 6.4: Comparison between comparators and patients with infrequent and frequent

# exacerbation at initial visit

Data presented as mean with SD. **ANOVA, Bonferonni post-hoc.** 

#### **Disease status and frailty**

Based on the upper 95%CI of the FI for the comparator group (0.05), to define an upper limit for non-frail status in all subjects, patients and comparators were classified as frail or non-frail. The differences between non-frail and frail comparators were a shorter 6MWD, p=0.003, and CRP, p=0.029. Similarly, comparison between non-frail comparators and non-frail patients revealed a shorter 6MWD in the patients, p=0.002, a greater level of CRP, p=0.023, apart from spirometric indices. Comparison between frail comparators and non-frail patients only showed differences for spirometry measures, all p<0.001. Comparisons between frail comparators and frail patients demonstrated a lesser 6MWD, with greater number of co-morbidities and exacerbations per year in the patients, all p<0.001. Comparing the non-frail and frail patients revealed that frail patients had a lesser stroke volume, 6MWD and HGS with a greater aortic PWV, TUG test, waist circumference, number of diagnosed co-morbidities and exacerbations than non-frail, all p<0.001 (Table 6.4). The COPD specific measures of the total SGRQ and CAT score were greater in the frail patients, p<0.01.

	Frail (n=446)	Non-Frail (n=54)	p value
Age (years)	66 (7)	65 (7)	0.380
FEV <sub>1</sub> % predicted	58 (20)	66 (21)	0.011
SGRQ	53.1 (19.1)	21.6 (13.6)	0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28.2 (5.6)	26.4 (3.2)	0.049
Waist circumference (cm)	100 (15)	94 (10)	0.025
Waist:Hip ratio	0.96 (0.10)	0.93 (0.06)	0.054
Fat Mass (kg)	27.2 (11.4)	23.5 (7.2)	0.227
FFM (kg)	49.6 (11)	50.3 (11.2)	0.704
HGS (kg)	26.6 (9.7)	32.5 (10.1)	0.001
Aortic PWV (m/s)	10.0 (2.4)	9.0 (1.9)	0.012
CO (L/min)	5.8 (1.2)	5.8 (1.0)	0.482
SV (ml)	85 (20)	92 (23)	0.042
6MWD (m)	313 (121)	450 (72)	0.001
TUG (s)	11.3 (3.8)	8.7 (1.4)	0.001
Smoking (packs/year)	41 (25)	36 (23)	0.229
No. Exacerbations/ year	2.3 (1)	1.0 (1)	0.001
CAT	21.4 (8.3)	11.3 (6.9)	0.001
CRP (mg/L)#	3.6 (2.9)	2.80 (2.2)	0.174
Fibrinogen (g/L)#	3.6 (1.3)	3.1 (1.2)	0.006

Table 6.4: Comparison between frail and non-frail patients with COPD at initial visit

All data mean (SD) unless otherwise indicated, # Geometric mean

Abbreviations: FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in 1 second; BMI= body mass index; FFM= fat free mass; HGS= handgrip strength; PWV= pulse wave velocity; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; 6MWD= six minute walk distance; TUG= Timed Up and Go; SGRQ = St George's Respiratory Questionnaire; CAT= COPD Assessment Test; CRP = C-reactive protein.

#### **Predictive Factors for Frailty**

A hierarchical multiple regression was conducted with the FI as a dependent variable. Gender was entered at stage one to control for gender. The TUG, HGS, waist circumference, 6MWD, FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted, MRC and SGRQ Activity score were entered at stage two because these variables are commonly associated with frailty. Third stage included potential variable including stroke volume, CRP, fibrinogen and number of exacerbations.

In the patients, the hierarchical multiple regression revealed that gender contributed 2% to variation in frailty (F=10.59, p=0.001). Introducing HGS, 6MWD, TUG and SGRQ Activity score to the model explained an additional 43% of variation in frailty and this change in  $R^2$  was significant ( $R^2$ =45, F=48.6, p<0.001). However, adding potential variables to the regression model demonstrated no additional variation in frailty ( $R^2$ =0.001, F=0.438.6, p=0.646). The most important predictors of frailty were SGRQ Activity score, TUG, HGS and 6MWD, and these four predictors explained 45% of variation in frailty (Table 6.5).

Similar to the patients, gender explained 4% of variation in frailty in comparator group (F=6.75, p<0.001). Introducing 6MWD to the model added an additional 13% of variation in frailty with significant change in R<sup>2</sup> (R<sup>2</sup>=17%, F=5.05, p<0.001). However, adding potential variables to the regression model revealed no significant change in the model (R<sup>2</sup>=0.005, F=0.437, p=0.647). The only predictor of frailty in the comparators was 6MWD, which explained 17% of variation in frailty (Table 6.6).

219

 Table 6.5: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting frailty in patients

with COPD at initial visit

	В	SE	Beta	p value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Stage 1			I	I	.02
Gender	.024	.007	.144	.001	
Stage 2				I	.45
HGS (kg)	002	.000	201	.000	
6MWD (m)	.000	.000	148	.004	_
TUG (s)	.006	.001	.251	.000	_
SGRQ Activity score	.001	.000	.303	.000	
Stage 3					.45
HGS (kg)	002	.000	200	.000	
6MWD (m)	.000	.000	144	.005	_
TUG (s)	.006	.001	.252	.000	
SGRQ Activity score	.001	.000	.303	.000	

**Abbreviations: HGS=** handgrip strength; **6MWD=** six minute walk distance; **TUG=** Timed Up and Go; **SGRQ=** St George's Respiratory Questionnaire.

 Table 6.6: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting frailty in comparator

subjects at initial visit

	В	Std. Error	Beta	p value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Stage 1					0.04
Gender	.015	.006	.210	0.010	
Stage 2					0.17
6MWD (m)	.001	.001	288	0.001	
Stage 3		0.17			
6MWD (m)	.001	.001	274	0.003	

Abbreviation: 6MWD= six minute walk distance

## **Frailty Longitudinal Results**

The frailty index of the 143 patients who completed the two years follow-up had increased (Table 6.7). Using the predetermined frailty index of 0.05 as an acceptable upper limit for non-frail patients with COPD (page. 197), 133/143 patients were frail at the baseline and continued to be frail at the follow-up visit, five patients had progressed from non-frail status at baseline to be frail at two years follow-up, while two patients remained non-frail during the study period. The frailty status of three patients reduced and patients became non-frail at the two years follow-up assessment. The severity of airflow obstruction by GOLD stratification was mentioned previously (Chapter 5, page. 158). The distribution of the modified MRC breathlessness score was: mMRC 0 n= 14, mMRC 1 n= 42, mMRC 2 n=34, mMRC 3 n=48 and mMRC 4 n=5.

After two years, 10% had lost some weight while 8% had gained weight. Following the classification used by Landbo et al. (1999), of the 143 patients, 7% had a low BMI (<19.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), 37% had an elevated BMI (25-29.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) and 34% were classified as obese (BMI>30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), while 21% were within the normal limit for BMI (20-24.9 kg/m<sup>2</sup>). Based on previous published data on patients with COPD from this geographical region (South Wales), Bolton et al. (2004) classified a low FFMI for men as <16.89 kg/m<sup>2</sup> and <13.28 kg/m<sup>2</sup> for women. Using these cut-off values, 9 patients had a low FFMI. Four of these had a low BMI, therefore 5 had a hidden loss of FFM. The patients demonstrated significant loss of FFM and HGS after two years from their initial visit, while there was no change in BMI and other body composition indices, p>0.05 (Table 6.7).

221

Table 6.7: Physical and physiological changes in the patients after two years from the

## initial assessment

	Initial visit (n=143)	Follow-up visit (n=143)	Mean cl	nange 9	5%CI	p value
Age (years)	68 (7)	70 (7)				
Gender (Male:Female)	65:78	65:78				-
FI	0.16 (0.08)	0.18 (0.09)	0.02	0.01	0.03	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> (L)	1.3 (0.5)	1.1 (0.5)	-0.12	-0.16	-0.07	0.001
FVC (L)	2.4 (0.08)	2.3 (0.8)	-0.16	-0.23	-0.08	0.001
FVC% predicted	83 (19)	79 (22)	-4	-7	-2	0.001
FEV <sub>1</sub> %predicted	54 (19)	51 (16	-3	-4	-1	0.001
Smoking (pack-years)	42 (30)	43 (28)	1.25	-3	5	0.519
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	28 (6)	27.8 (6)	-0.20	-0.59	0.21	0.356
Waist (cm)	99 (15)	99 (15)	-0.16	-1.30	0.99	0.786
Waist:Hip ratio	0.94 (0.10)	095 (0.12)	0.01	0.01	0.02	0.120
Fat Mass (kg)	26.7 (11)	26.2 (10.5)	-0.55	-1.44	0.34	0.224
FFM (kg)	48.6 (10.8)	48.1 (10.8)	-0.53	-1.05	-0.01	0.048
FFF:FM	2.2 (1.3)	2.2 (1.2)	0.01	-0.15	0.18	0.932
HGS (kg)	26.2 (9.8)	24.6 (9.9)	-1.6	-3.63	-0.87	0.002
CO (L/min)	5.7 (1.1)	5.5 (1.2)	-0.20	-0.30	-0.02	0.024
Stroke Volume (ml)	83 (19)	79 (20)	-4	-7	-2	0.001
6MWD (m)	307 (83)	328 (145)	21	3	39	0.003
TUG (s)	11.4 (3.9)	13.2 (8.3)	1.8	0.7	2.8	0.001
No. Exacerbation/ year	2.5 (1.95)	2.9 (2.2)	0.4	0.03	0.70	0.034
mMRC	1.95 (1.1)	2.24 (1.22)	0.31	0.08	0.50	0.008
SGRQ Symptom	67 (19)	68 (20)	-1	-2	-4	0.486
SGRQ Impact	42 (19)	40 (18)	-2	-3	-5	0.087
SGRQ Activity	72 (22)	73 (23)	-1	-2	-4	0.499
Resting O <sub>2</sub> saturation (%)	96 (2)	96 (2)	0	-0.08	0.63	0.128
CRP (mg/L)#	3.0 (2.8)	3.1 (2.6)	0.1	0.9	1.2	0.953
Fibrinogen (g/L)	3.7 (1.1)	3.3 (0.9)	-0.40	-0.56	-0.20	0.001

Data presented as mean (SD), # Geometric mean and mean (95%CI).

Abbreviations: FI= frailty index; FEV<sub>1</sub>= forced expiratory volume in one second; FVC= forced vital capacity; BMI= body mass index; FM= fat mass; FFM = fat free mass; FFM:FM= fat free mass to fat mass; HGS= handgrip strength; CO= cardiac output; SV= stroke volume; 6MWD= six minute walk distance; TUG= Timed Up and Go; mMRC= modified Medical Research Council; SGRQ= St George's Respiratory Questionnaire; CRP= C-Reactive protein.

#### The Relationship between Physical Performance and Increased Frailty

Increased frailty was associated with reduced physical performance as assessed by TUG test (r=0.39, p<0.001) and 6MWD (r=-0.19, p=0.034). The change in the TUG score was associated with the change in the 6MWD (r=-0.25, p=0.006).

## The relationship between Body Composition and Increased Frailty

In the patients, increased frailty index was associated with loss of fat free mass (r=-0.19, p=0.023) and handgrip strength (r=-0.25, p=0.004). Patients continued to follow a U-shaped pattern that was seen in the cross-sectional analysis. Frailty was higher on the extreme than who were considered to be normal or overweight (p<0.05).

#### The Relationship between Gender and Increased Frailty

In the cross-sectional analysis, female patients were more frail than the males. The gender variation persisted at the follow-up assessment with female patients demonstrating a greater change in the frailty index compared to their male counterparts (Figure 6.5). The difference remained after correcting for age ( $R^2$ = 2%, F=5.16, p=0.025). The TUG time of the female patients had increased by mean (95%CI) 2.7 (0.9 to 4.5) s while the males had no change in the TUG test. In contrast, the 6MWD of the female patients remained as it was at the initial assessment, 2 (-20 to 24) m, p>0.05, while the males had increased by mean (95%CI) 43 (15 to 72) m, p<0.01. The change in the 6MWD did not relate to the change in FI in the male patients.

223



# Figure 6.5: Gender difference of frailty index in the patients at 2 years



Male

Data presented as mean with SD.

#### The Relationship between Cardiac Function and Increased Frailty

The increase in frailty index was associated with a decline of cardiac hemodynamic indices as measured by stroke volume (r=-0.22, p=0.009) and cardiac output (r=-0.19, p=0.029). The decline in stroke volume and cardiac output in the patients was also related to the loss of fat free mass (r=0.23, p=0.008), (r=0.19, p=0.030), respectively. There was no association between the change in frailty index and the change in aortic PWV and its subcategories (progressors and non-progressors).

# The Relationship between Lung Function and Increased Frailty

There was no association between the change in frailty index and the change in FEV<sub>1</sub>% predicted. The analysis was further expanded and no change in frailty across the GOLD categories was found.

#### **Relationship between Inflammatory Biomarkers and Increased Frailty**

Neither circulating CRP nor fibrinogen level was related to the change in frailty index of the patients, though the fibrinogen level had significantly decreased over the period of follow-up.

There was no association between the change in frailty index and the change in the number of exacerbations, p>0.05.

## Relationship between the Number of Comorbidities and Increased Frailty

In this longitudinal study, the change in frailty index did not relate the number of comorbidities, p>0.05. Interestingly, based on the upper limit of 95%CI of the frailty index for the comparator group (0.05), a group of patients without reported comorbidities was identified to be frail.

# Health Related Questionnaires.

Although, in this study, there was an increase in the frailty index over the two years follow-up, the health-related quality of life measured by the SGRQ and CAT questionnaires did not change.

#### **Predictive factors for Increased Frailty Index**

A hierarchical multiple regression was conducted with the FI change as a dependent variable. Gender was entered at stage one to control for gender. The change in FFM and HGS were entered at stage two to examine the effect of loss of musculoskeletal mass and strength on increased frailty. The third stage included the change in physical performance as measured by the TUG and 6MWD. Finally, the level of dyspnoea was entered at stage four.

The hierarchical multiple regression revealed that gender could explain 2% of variation in the change of frailty (F=4.49, p=0.036). Introducing loss of fat free mass and HGS to the model added an additional 6% to the variation in the change of frailty information and the change in  $R^2$  was significant ( $R^2$ =8%, F=5.50, p=0.021). Adding the change in the TUG time to the regression model explained an additional 11% of variation in the change of frailty and this change in  $R^2$  was significant ( $R^2$ =19%, F=19.66, p<0.001). However, gender was no longer a predictor of the change in frailty as was the 6MWD. Adding breathlessness score to the regression model demonstrated no additional variation in the change of frailty ( $R^2$ =0.013, F=2.26, p=0.136). The most important predictors of the change in frailty index were loss of fat free mass, loss of HGS and increased TUG time and these predictors explained 19% of variation in the change of frailty (Table 6.8).

226

Table 6.8: Hierarchical multiple regression for variables predicting the change in frailty

in	the	patients	at 2-year	follow-up	visit
----	-----	----------	-----------	-----------	-------

	В	SE	Beta	p value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Stage 1					0.02
Gender	-0.02	0.01	-0.18	0.036	
Stage 2					0.08
Gender	-0.019	0.009	-0.16	0.047	
Loss of FFM	-0.003	0.001	-0.17	0.036	
HGS	-0.003	0.001	-0.19	0.022	
Stage 3	·				0.19
Loss of FFM	-0.003	0.001	-0.16	0.039	
HGS	-0.002	0.001	-0.16	0.036	
Increased TUG time	0.002	0.001	0.35	0.001	

Abbreviations: FFM= fat free mass; HGS= handgrip strength; TUG=Timed Up and Go.

# 6.4 Discussion

#### **Cross-sectional study: Baseline Findings**

The results of this chapter demonstrated that patients with COPD were more frail than the comparator group, free from respiratory disease, as demonstrated by their greater CGA deficits and higher frailty index score. More patients, 92% were frail compared with the 57.8% previously reported by Park et al. (2013). Comparisons between this study and that of Park et al. (2013) and Galizia et al. (2011) are difficult due to different assessments of frailty and smaller study populations. Park and colleagues (2013) included 70 patients with physician diagnosed COPD without an objective measure of airflow limitation, lacked a specific comparator group, or previous validation of the frailty questionnaire used. However, the current research used the widely validated CGA assessment tool, which allowed to compare subject's FI with other populations where the FI has been widely used. The FI is a better predictor of outcome than chronological age or disability and the need for healthcare support (Rockwood et al., 2005, Romero-Ortuno and Kenny, 2012). In the current study, female patients and comparators had greater FI than males. A similar relationship was reported in the general population, and was similar to the mean FI of 0.15 reported for women over 65 years of age (Hubbard et al., 2010, Hubbard and Rockwood, 2011, Rossi et al., 2011a).

In the general population, frailty is associated non-linearly with increasing age and with female gender, functional dependence, systemic inflammation and chronic disease (Fried et al., 2009, Hubbard et al., 2010, Jones et al., 2005, Rockwood et al., 2005). Strong associations have been reported between frailty and cardiovascular and respiratory disorders, while there are few specific studies in individual chronic diseases, such as reported here in patients with COPD (Vaz Fragoso et al., 2012, Woods et al., 2005). In the Women's Health and Ageing Studies, the risk of frailty increased with inflammatory comorbidities, e.g., the combination of pulmonary

disease with anaemia carried a risk ratio of 5.57 compared with control subjects who had fewer comorbidities (Chang et al., 2010). A further study in this female cohort demonstrated that frailty was related non-linearly to the number of abnormal physiological systems, which was more predictive than the degree of abnormality in any one system and resembles the impact of multiple comorbidities in COPD (Fried et al., 2009). Physiological deficits in COPD include loss of skeletal muscle mass (sarcopenia) and function with progressive decline in physical activity, loss of bone mineral density, systemic inflammation, reduction in HRQoL and increasing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality (Bolton et al., 2004, Rossi et al., 2011a, Van Eeden et al., 2012). In the present study, the number of comorbidities was related to frailty in the COPD group. Hence, there are clear parallels with COPD where the number of comorbidities was related to frailty in the patients. Frailty was largely independent of age in the patients, indicating that an assessment of frailty was an additional measure of impairments over and above chronological age in COPD and may represent premature ageing.

Increased numbers of comorbidities associated with COPD clearly could add to the degree of frailty, however, after removing these elements from the total score of CGA, frailty remained ten-fold different from the comparators, indicating that other features of COPD contributed to the presence of frailty. In the patients, the best predictors of frailty were the SGRQ activity score, TUG, HGS and 6MWD, which suggests loss of physical function and capacity, and muscle strength are key factors in frailty in COPD. The predictive association between reduced muscle strength and physical activity and frailty could explain why chronic lung inflammation and comorbidities could lead to premature ageing and frailty in COPD, and is supported by the association between frailty and exacerbation frequency. Hence, frailty in COPD is a multifactorial function of reduced quality of life, muscle strength and physical function. However, comorbidities and multisystem deficits in COPD are an important factor in the overall

morbidity and mortality, and their association with frailty suggest the latter may be used to predict a poor outcome (Divo et al., 2012). Loss of muscle strength and impairment of physical activity are an important factor of COPD and in the aetiology frailty pathway. The TUG test is a simple measure of physical performance and has been widely used as a measure of frailty. Although frailty has not been well studied in the COPD population, the presence of a multisystem disease such as COPD could accelerate ageing process by developing several manifestations including loss of muscle mass, weakness, decreased walking speed and comorbidities. Comparing patients with COPD to their comparators using this integrated test showed that patients with COPD were slower to perform this task which may be due to the contribution of several factors including loss of lower extremity strength as part of the nature of the disease that involve musculoskeletal system. Finding a relationship between TUG and frailty measure in patients with COPD but not in the comparators may suggest that these patients are experiencing accelerated ageing than comparators of the same age. This supports previous research that suggests that TUG is a useful measure for screening and identifying people with frailty (Viccaro et al., 2011). Using the TUG test in this population appears to come in parallel with what has been published in the literature in a frail elderly population and may allow clinicians to capture different aspects of frailty, which include weakness of the lower extremity, slow walking speed and impaired balance.

This study also showed that frailty was associated with components of body composition, including BMI, FM, FFM, their ratio and hip and waist circumference, all changes that occur in both COPD and ageing (Angleman et al., 2006, Cesari et al., 2006, Eisner et al., 2007, Rossi et al., 2011a, Walston et al., 2002). The U-shaped relationship between frailty and accepted categories of the BMI seen in the patients is similar to the U-shaped distribution in both males and females reported in the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (Rossi et al., 2011). In the comparator group, although

frailty increased with BMI, the lack of individuals with a low BMI in this group limited finding a U shaped distribution. In the patients, the FFM was less than in the comparator group, but when expressed as the FFMI, there was no difference. Loss of muscle mass as in sarcopenia in the elderly has been considered to be a major factor leading to frailty, particularly in the phenotypic characterisation (Fried et al., 2001). However, in both COPD and natural ageing, increases in the FM and abdominal obesity have been closely linked to impaired physical function (Eisner et al., 2007, Cesari et al., 2006). In both groups, FM was directly related to the FI, as were the waist and hip circumferences in the patients and hip circumference in the comparators, which parallels the importance of the FM as a factor in frailty in the general population (Cesari et al., 2006). Increased FM and frailty in the elderly has also been linked to increased levels of circulating biomarkers of inflammation (Hubbard and Woodhouse, 2010, Walston et al., 2002). Circulating CRP an indicator of IL-6 activity increases with age and has been linked to frailty and abdominal obesity, independent of BMI, which may reflect the negative impact of chronic low grade systemic inflammation on physical function and wellbeing (Angleman et al., 2005). These reported associations with frailty and ageing, in many ways parallels findings in COPD, where systemic inflammation may be causal, compensatory or an epi-phenomenon, but is associated with an increased risk of major comorbidities and is a predictor of mortality (Celli et al., 2012, Hubbard and Woodhouse, 2010, Thomsen et al., 2012).

Frailty is a risk factor for the incident and development of CVD (Fried et al., 2001, Newman et al., 2001, Khan et al., 2013). The relationship between frailty and stroke volume in the patients suggests reduced normal physiological reserve of the heart or a subclinical abnormality such as myocardial ischaemia and left ventricle dysfunction. In COPD, asymptomatic left ventricle systolic and diastolic dysfunction, a feature of impaired cardiac capacity, was associated with loss of FFM (Sabit et al., 2010a). In agreement with the results from Sabit et al. (2010), Barr and colleagues (2010) provided an evidence of decreased left ventricle volume and SV in a large population with COPD without a history of CVD and was related to the degree of airway severity. Although, the interaction between COPD and left-sided heart disease is complex and is not fully understood, it is known that lower SV will lead to impaired oxygen delivery to the tissue, which subsequently results in loss of left ventricle muscle mass and left ventricle dysfunction (Collis et al., 2001). This is supported by the data from the Cardiovascular Health Study, which showed that frail patients had reduced left ventricle function and poor myocardial function (Newman et al., 2001).

In the elderly, frailty independently predicts the risk of falls, worsening mobility, loss of activities of daily living, increased risk of hospitalisation and death over short term periods (Fried et al., 2001). The CGA quantifies the number of deficits, and as a generic tool, it is useful to compare frailty in different populations, and as a prognostic indicator of their health outcomes. The comparison of frail and non-frail status within the patients based on a reference range derived from the same population source clearly identified patients with major disease related deficits giving a potential global assessment tool that might predict adverse outcomes, including the risk of death or the need for institutional care, based on the impact of accumulating deficits, and be useful for planning interventions.

232

#### Discussion

#### Longitudinal study: Two-year Findings

This is the first longitudinal study exploring the progression of frailty in COPD. Patients with COPD had an increase in their frailty index over the two years follow-up period with progressive decline in physical performance and loss of muscle mass and strength. This supports the findings of the cross-sectional analysis that COPD is an independent risk factor for frailty. As there is no previous study that has assessed the frailty longitudinally in COPD, comparisons are difficult.

In the patients, loss of FFM and handgrip strength was associated with the progression of frailty. Concomitant loss of FFM and skeletal muscle mass and strength (sarcopenia) is one of the comorbidities associated with COPD and similarly a hallmark of frailty. An increased FI in parallel with sarcopenia in patients with COPD suggests that COPD precipitates features of premature ageing. The cause of sarcopenia in COPD is not fully understood and likely to be multifactorial. In this cohort study, though, the level of plasma fibrinogen decreased while circulating CRP remained stable; there was no association between systemic inflammation and sarcopenia in the patients. The association between loss of FFM and systemic inflammation is still debated, as the studies in this topic are cross-sectional in design, which limits their findings. Loss of muscle mass in COPD does not just reduce patient's mobility, but it also impairs glucose metabolism and increases insulin resistance (Barnes and Celli, 2009). Insulin plays a potent role in maintaining muscle mass by balancing between muscle protein synthesis and breakdown, up-regulating glucose uptake and inhibiting fat tissue degradation (Magkos et al., 2010). In COPD, abdominal obesity acts as an active endocrine gland producing abundant of inflammatory cytokines that induce insulin resistance in skeletal muscle (Rutten et al., 2010, Gosker et al., 2007). Increased insulin resistance predisposes to intramuscular fat gain, which enhances fatty acid delivery and subsequently reduces fat oxidative
capacity of skeletal muscle. In type 2 diabetes, the patients experience a high rate of muscle mass loss compared with non-diabetic individuals due to increased insulin resistance (Park et al., 2009). Given the high prevalence of type 2 diabetes in patients with COPD, this enhances insulin resistance and may accelerate musculoskeletal mass wasting. A similar relationship has been evident in natural ageing and in the elderly with sarcopenia and frailty (Abbatecola and Paolisso, 2008).

The association between loss of handgrip strength and frailty in patients with COPD independent of chronological age is more likely to reflect the accelerated ageing process that COPD imposes on the musculoskeletal system as manifested by sarcopenia and loss of muscle strength. Loss of muscle mass and strength have been linked in COPD to serious consequences including exercise intolerance, poor health related quality of life and increased mortality (Bolton et al., 2004, Schols et al., 2005, Rutten et al., 2013). In COPD, reduced handgrip strength is associated with reduced muscle mass and physical activity (Engelen et al., 2000b, Pitta et al., 2006). Likewise, in healthy elderly, handgrip is associated with reduced lower extremity strength and daily activity, and predicts future disability and mortality (AI Snih et al., 2004, Ling et al., 2010). Furthermore, handgrip strength, a measure of frailty, was found to predict future frailty in 717 elderly men and women, independent of age (Syddall et al., 2003). The cause of sarcopenia in COPD and frailty is multifactorial, including inflammation, endocrine changes and most importantly physical inactivity (Watz et al., 2009, Cesari et al., 2004). Patients with COPD often avoid involvement in moderate to high intensity activities due to their breathlessness and subsequently and unconsciously adopt sedentary lifestyles. Compelling evidence supports the role of physical inactivity in skeletal muscle loss and sarcopenia, which are cardinal features of frailty.

Following the patients for two years allowed for further exploration of the features of frailty in COPD and the interaction between them and defined the best predictor of the progression of frailty in COPD. The only predictor of the progression of frailty in patients with COPD was the change in TUG test. Reduced physical performance over a short period of time (i.e. two years) reflects the impact of COPD on frailty and strengthens the notion of an accelerated ageing process, which is supported by loss of muscle mass, handgrip weakness and physical inactivity and parallels the same factors associated with natural ageing.

The TUG is a strong predictor of frailty and mortality in the elderly and has been used to assess the risk of falls in patients with COPD (Savva et al., 2013, Beauchamp et al., 2009). The predictive relationship of the TUG test of the progression of frailty in COPD parallels what is published in the literature on frailty in the elderly population. In a cohort study of 417 elderly subjects living in the community, the TUG test was a good predictor of one year decline in functional and physical activities, which are the hallmark of physical frailty (Viccaro et al., 2011). Furthermore, in the Irish longitudinal study of ageing, the TUG test was discretely able to discriminate between frail and nonfrail individuals (Savva et al., 2013). Poor physical performance is an accepted criterion for frailty and a feature of COPD. Frailty is a dynamic clinical syndrome and its transition from one stage to another can be missed. Similarly, in COPD, a patient's level of activity is not routinely assessed in clinical practice. Therefore, the TUG test could be a useful screening test to reflect the level of impairment in patients with COPD. The TUG test incorporates muscle function, strength, balance and gait speed, which capture age-related changes and physiological deterioration (Podsiadlo and Richardson, 1991). These symptoms are commonly associated with COPD and features of the frailty phenotype (Fried et al., 2001). Physical inactivity could be the first step in the development of musculoskeletal dysfunction and trigger the frailty down spiral phase. Therefore, clinicians should be alert to different aspects of frailty in patients with COPD especially physical inactivity.

In this study, there was no relationship between the 6MWD and the progression of frailty. Although the 6MWD is a measure of exercise capacity, its improvement did not

reflect on the frailty status of the patients as frailty progressed. The concept of exercise capacity is totally different from physical activity. It has been suggested that an improvement in exercise capacity will subsequently lead to an improvement in the level of physical activity. Daily physical activity is a life style habit that requires continuous motivation and repetitive activity while exercise capacity is a maximum tolerability the patients could sustain. Unlike the TUG test, the 6MWD did not reflect patient's physical activity and musculoskeletal strength. Although, the 6MWD is a good outcome measure of submaximal exercise capacity than lung function, it does not reflect the level of daily activity that involves repetitive movement and subsequently stimulating the musculoskeletal system. In addition to that, the 6MWD cannot capture associated impairments in COPD including loss of muscle mass and strength (Spruit et al., 2010).

Frailty and COPD are both progressive and multifactorial based on the interplay of genetic, physiological and physical factors. The response and behaviour of the human body to these changes is gender dependent (Hubbard and Rockwood, 2011, Aryal et al., 2013). The number of females with COPD has recently been increasing especially among non-smokers or those with less than 20 pack-years of smoking (Salvi and Barnes, 2009). Increased level of frailty in female patients with COPD is not surprisingly limited to this group of patients and in agreement with previous research from the general population (Fried et al., 2001, Hubbard et al., 2010). Similarly, in the Cardiovascular Health Study, females were more frail and had more physiological impairments than males during the three years of follow-up (Fried et al., 2001). Contrary to this, in a cohort study of 2962 elderly subjects, followed up for nearly five years, Klein and colleagues (2005) reported that frailty was higher in males than females. This controversy is due to different frailty assessment and classification. The gender difference has not been studied extensively in COPD and likewise in frailty is still not known why females are more prone to frailty than males. In this study,

although females with COPD had better lung function than males, they were more symptomatic and had reduced handgrip strength and prolonged that impacted on their health related quality of life, which resemble the physiological characteristics of frailty. Therefore, reduced physical performance and loss of muscle strength could induce inflammation that may be possibly causally related to the frailty in COPD. Thus, physical inactivity and inflammation could be a unifying physio-biological process leading to clinical frailty that is more prevalent in females than males with COPD.

Another explanation of why females with COPD are more frail than their male counterparts is the type of comorbidity. Males with COPD are at a higher risk of fatal diseases without a prior event of impaired health such as cardiovascular disease and rapidly progressive cancer while women with COPD present with a different pattern of comorbidities such as osteoporosis and depression (Agusti et al., 2010). Females with COPD in this study presented with better lung function than males, but they had worse symptoms and poor quality of life, which are frequently associated with anxiety disorder. Recently, in the ECLIPSE cohort study, depression and anxiety were most frequently seen in females with COPD, which were mainly determined by disease symptoms and health status (Hanania et al., 2011).

This is the first longitudinal study in COPD, which links the progression of frailty to reduced cardiac haemodynamics. The progression of frailty and its association with reduced cardiac haemodynamics over a short period suggests a subclinical damage to the heart prior to the appearance of its clinical manifestations. Cardiovascular disease is often underdiagnosed in patients with COPD and, therefore, the presence of frailty in parallel with a reduction in the heart reserve may implicate reduced physiological reserve of the heart to respond to further challenges, such as chest infection. Disintegration of normal harmony between body organs leads to a decline in their functional reserve and subsequently intolerance to further insult that is defined as frailty (Rockwood and Mitnitski, 2007). Since COPD is a multisystem disease, patients

with COPD may have accumulated subclinical organ damage related to vasculature abnormality including left ventricle dysfunction, aortic calcification and kidney impairment (Sabit et al., 2010, Bolton et al., 2007, John et al., 2013). Sabit and colleagues (2010) have shown that patients with COPD, free of CVD, had a symptomatic left ventricle dysfunction, which was associated with loss of muscle mass, independent of airway severity. Decreased blood supply to the skeletal muscle causes muscle mass loss and in a consequence produces abundant amino acids that subsequently cause further damage to other muscles including cardiac muscle, leading to left ventricle dysfunction (Rasmussen et al., 2006, Sabit et al., 2010a). Skeletal muscle is highly metabolic and consequently requires an enhanced metabolic demand, FFM may govern the required adequate blood supply for a given heart rate (Collis et al., 2001). Impaired oxygen delivery to skeletal and cardiac muscle as a result of reduced blood supply may be a further explanation for this relationship between frailty and reduced cardiac haemodynamics in COPD. In the Cardiovascular Health Study, frail patients with CVD had reduced left ventricle function and poor myocardium performance (Newman et al., 2001). In line with Newman et al. (2001) findings, the Health Ageing and Body Composition study showed that frailty was an independent risk factor for the incidence of heart failure after the adjustment for other confounding factors (Khan et al., 2013). In COPD, depletion of FFM, a feature of frailty, is believed to be secondary, in part, to a protein catabolic state as consequent of an imbalance in protein synthesis and breakdown (Eid et al., 2001, Engelen et al., 2000a). It has been previously shown in patients with COPD that cellular protein breakdown as measured by urinary pseudouridine (PSU) was inversely related to fat free mass (Bolton et al., 2004). Recently, Sabit et al. (2010a) took this a step further and showed that cellular protein breakdown and FFM were related to left ventricle mass. In the present study, reduced cardiac haemodynamics may further suggest another global feature of frailty in COPD, which may occur in parallel with loss of

musculoskeletal mass as part of the global catabolic process in COPD. Decreased cardiac haemodynamics may explain the cause of muscle mass loss and therefore cardiac dysfunction.

The role of inflammation in COPD is well established and may play a role in the frailty (Thomsen et al., 2012, Walston et al., 2002). The reason for not finding any association between inflammatory biomarkers in COPD and frailty progression could be related to various reasons. Firstly, most of the inflammatory biomarkers studied in frailty are not just specific to frailty syndrome as no study has examined the relationship between inflammatory biomarkers and frailty in absence of other comorbidities. Therefore, the presence of multimorbidity in these studies could inflate the association between frailty and inflammation. The majority of the studies investigating the relationship between frailty and inflammation are cross-sectional in design, which their results cannot be used to draw a definite conclusion on the predictive role of inflammation on frailty and its development. There has been no longitudinal study so far which examined the relationship between the progression of frailty and the change in inflammatory biomarkers. The cohort studies on frailty coming from the Cardiovascular Health Study, Longitudinal Ageing Study Amsterdam, Hertfordshire Ageing Study and the English longitudinal Study of Ageing have examined the incidence of frailty-related inflammation, and the results are sparse and inconsistent (Barzilay et al., 2007, Baylis et al., 2013, Gale et al., 2013, Puts et al., 2005b).

Secondly, before proceeding to the second explanation, it is still unknown if frailty is a cause or consequence of a specific disease or combination of multimorbid conditions. COPD is a multisystem disease including neuroendocrine, cardiovascular and musculoskeletal disorders (Barnes and Celli, 2009). The most frequently cited inflammatory biomarkers are CRP, IL-6 and fibrinogen. However, these biomarkers lack reproducibility and specificity (Cazzola et al., 2008). Furthermore, none of the

biomarkers has been found viable to predict or monitor COPD progression (Tzortzaki et al., 2006). Recently, a one-year follow-up from the ECLIPSE cohort study showed that 16% of the patients did not have high inflammatory biomarkers while 30% of the patients had no change in the inflammatory biomarkers (Agusti et al., 2012). A three-year cohort study in 218 stable patients with moderate to very severe COPD failed to show that CRP can discriminate between survivors and deceased patients (De Torres et al., 2008). An interventional study to determine the effect of fluticasone and fluticasone plus salmeterol on CRP or IL-6 in 289 patients with COPD showed neither fluticasone nor the combination therapy had a significant effect on serum CRP or IL-6 (Sin et al., 2008). Absence of the relationship between the progression of frailty and inflammation in COPD does not preclude the possible role of inflammation, but probably the chosen biomarkers in this study may not have been specific and sensitive enough to explain this kind of relationship.

This is first cohort study to explore the relation between COPD and frailty, which stimulates several questions. The debate on frailty has been ongoing for two decades and recently frailty is accepted as a clinical syndrome (Morley et al., 2013). Frailty is a multisystem deficit in parallel with COPD and requires a trigger to develop and exhaust the reserve of the body system. COPD is a systemic disease that precipitates the physiological reserve of other systems. Frailty does not exist until the body system is unable to respond to further stressors (Fried et al., 2001). COPD causes multiple impairment and functional limitations, which are fundamental features of frailty. At this stage, the reserve function of the body system has already begun to decline and eventually become unresponsive to further stressors. Thus, frailty could be a clinical manifestation of COPD. For example, in this cohort study, patients had loss of muscle mass and strength, which influenced their physical performance and increased their level of frailty.

Frailty is an important aspect in COPD and patients with COPD should be examined for frailty in routine clinical practice to implement early identification and management. Applying a simple questionnaire can capture different aspects of comorbidities and avoid possible consequences associated with COPD such as physical inactivity, loss of FFM, musculoskeletal mass and strength and reduced cardiac haemodynamics, healthcare utilization and health related quality of life.

#### Study Limitations

It is acknowledged that this cohort study lacked a comparator group as with many published studies. However, due to the time constraint of the PhD, it was not possible to follow-up the comparator group. Another limitation was this study was not powered to identify the progression of frailty in COPD. However, this is a community study, which represented patients with stable COPD. In this study, there was no measure to ascertain left ventricle dysfunction or the protein turnover.

#### Conclusion

Patients with COPD were more frail than the comparator group of current or exsmokers, independent of age. Frailty in COPD was related to reduced physical performance and health status. In each age category, FI was greater in patients than comparators, which supports the possibility that COPD is associated with premature ageing.

In the follow-up study, frailty progressed in the patients and predominantly in the females. The progression of frailty in COPD was dependent on the decreased physical performance in conjunction with loss of muscle mass and strength. The CGA is a potential quick, simple and inexpensive questionnaire that provides a global assessment of COPD. It is an assessment that highlights multisystem deficits, which could guide interventions and monitor disease progress.

**Chapter Seven** 

# **Conclusions and Future Research**

#### 7.1 Conclusions

#### 7.1.1 A Simple and Rapid Measure of Physical Performance in COPD

Physical inactivity is one of the common comorbidities associated with COPD and increased cardiovascular risk, loss of muscle mass and mortality. However, the assessment of physical performance is not routinely examined in clinical practice due to limited resources. Timed Up and Go is a rapid and simple test that has been widely used in the elderly to assess physical performance and frailty.

The cross-sectional results showed that patients with COPD had longer TUG time compared with non-COPD subjects. The TUG test was related and a predictor of the most common test of submaximal exercise capacity, the 6MWD. The TUG test had shown the potential to be a useful clinical test in primary care to capture different aspects of physical performance.

#### 7.1.2 Aortic Stiffness in Patients with COPD

Cardiovascular disease is the most common comorbidity associated with COPD. Aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of CVD morbidity and mortality is several populations including healthy elderly and undoubtedly plays a pivotal role in the increased risk of CVD in COPD.

The cross-sectional results revealed that patients with COPD had greater aortic stiffness than similar age and gender comparators, independent of blood pressure, heart rate, airway severity, tobacco exposure and inflammation. Aortic stiffness was greater in males with COPD than their female counterparts and was dependent on waist circumference.

The results of this longitudinal study clearly showed that COPD is an independent risk factor for aortic stiffness progression and premature vascular ageing. Patients with COPD showed a rapid aortic stiffness progression by six-fold compared with estimated normal aortic ageing. A subset of patients demonstrated an accelerated aortic biological ageing by 16 years over a two-year follow-up, independent of

conventional risk factors and consequently their CVD morbidity and mortality increased by more than 22%. Aortic PWV is a simple, reliable and non-invasive measure that can be used in clinical practice to identify patients who are at high risk of cardiovascular events and provide proper management.

#### 7.1.3 Frailty in COPD

Presence of the multimorbidity in patients with COPD resembles the multideficit associated with frailty.

The results of the cross-sectional study demonstrated that patients with COPD were more frail compared with similar age and gender non-COPD individuals, independent of airway severity and inflammation. Females were more frail than males in both groups. Frailty in COPD was dependent on physical performance and function and musculoskeletal strength.

The longitudinal results showed that the progression of frailty in COPD was related to the reduced physical performance and loss of muscle mass and strength. The progression of frailty in COPD clearly supports the hypothesis of premature ageing in COPD and reduced homeostasis capacity of patient's physiological system to sustain further internal or external insult. Since frailty is an independent predictor of adverse outcomes and mortality in non-COPD populations, implementing frailty assessment in parallel with a simple test such as the TUG test would optimise management for patients with COPD.

# 7.2 Future Research

#### 7.2.1 A Simple and Rapid Measure of Physical Performance in COPD

- Since TUG test is related to the 6MWD, a measure of exercise capacity, a field study is needed to examine the applicability of the TUG test in primary and secondary care as a routine assessment of physical performance.
- As the TUG test is a predictor of physical performance, it is useful to examine body composition and bone mineral density using the DEXA scan and this will give insight about the impact of fat mass and fat free mass and their ratio on functional status.
- Since the TUG test is related to handgrip strength, body composition and exercise capacity, future studies are needed to incorporate lower extremity function, body composition, exercise capacity and daily physical activity, and this will give more insight about the physical impairment.

# 7.2.2 Aortic Stiffness in Patients with COPD

- Future longitudinal studies investigating progression of arterial stiffness in patients with COPD should include comparator subjects with similar smoking history to provide a realistic comparison between these groups.
- Future longitudinal studies of arterial stiffness in COPD should quantify anatomical emphysema using high resolution computed tomography. This may determine whether an emphysematous phenotype or a chronic bronchitis phenotype patients are at particular risk of aortic stiffness progression.
- Since loss of FFM correlates with cardiac haemodynamics, future longitudinal studies investigating the progression of aortic stiffness should include measurement of left and right ventricular function and their relationship with aortic stiffness progression and changes in body composition. Such longitudinal studies may also be able to indicate whether sub-clinical left and right

ventricular dysfunction exists in parallel with loss of FFM and progression of aortic stiffness.

- Since this longitudinal study showed a subset of patients who had a rapid progression of aortic stiffness independent of blood pressure and inflammation, future longitudinal studies are needed to investigate vascular properties and include both endothelia and oxidative mechanism.
- Osteoprotegerin (OPG) is a marker of bone attenuation as well as vascular remodelling and aortic stiffness has been previously shown to be elevated in patients with COPD and osteoporosis, therefore, including OPG measurement if future longitudinal studies would provide another horizon of increased CVD in COPD.
- Future longitudinal studies should include newly diagnosed patients with COPD at different stages and assess the effects on inhaled bronchodilators on aortic stiffness progression and incident of CVD. This should include measurement of aortic stiffness, airways obstruction, cardiac haemodynamics and systemic inflammation at baseline and repeated annually. This will give an insight of which treatment has a substantial effect on aortic stiffness progression and increased risk for CVD.

# 7.2.3 Frailty in COPD

- Since this research has shown that frailty is another manifestation of COPD, frailty assessment should be included as part of patient's general assessment to capture other comorbidities beyond lung function.
- Future longitudinal studies should include comparator subjects to determine the rate of frailty progression compared with a COPD population.
- Future studies should include patients with COPD without comorbidities and monitor the development of physiological deficits in comparison with a comparator group.

- Since this study has shown that frailty progression was related to loss of muscle mass and strength independent of inflammation, future longitudinal studies are needed to investigate the cause of sarcopenia.
- Future longitudinal studies of frailty in COPD should include lower extremity strength and function, and daily physical activity in parallel with simple tests such TUG, HGS and mMRC and body composition to determine if physical inactivity is the main trigger of frailty phenotype.
- Since reduced functional reserve of the heart was related to frailty progression, future studies of frailty in COPD should assess cardiac function to provide early detection of cardiovascular abnormalities.

# References

2002. ATS statement: guidelines for the six-minute walk test. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 111-7.

Abbatecola, A. M. & Paolisso, G. 2008. Is there a relationship between insulin resistance and frailty syndrome? *Curr Pharm Des*, 14, 405-10.

Agusti, A., Calverley, P. M., Celli, B., Coxson, H. O., Edwards, L. D., Lomas, D. A., MacNee, W., Miller, B. E., Rennard, S., Silverman, E. K., Tal-Singer, R., Wouters, E., Yates, J. C. & Vestbo, J. 2010. Characterisation of COPD heterogeneity in the ECLIPSE cohort. *Respir Res*, 11, 122.

Agusti, A., Edwards, L. D., Rennard, S. I., MacNee, W., Tal-Singer, R., Miller, B. E., Vestbo, J., Lomas, D. A., Calverley, P. M., Wouters, E., Crim, C., Yates, J. C., Silverman, E. K., Coxson, H. O., Bakke, P., Mayer, R. J. & Celli, B. 2012. Persistent systemic inflammation is associated with poor clinical outcomes in COPD: a novel phenotype. *PLoS One*, *7*, e37483.

Agusti, A. & Faner, R. 2012. Systemic inflammation and comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Proc Am Thorac Soc,* 9, 43-6.

Agusti, A., MacNee, W., Donaldson, M. & Cosio, M. 2003. Hypothesis: Does COPD have an autoimmune component? *Thorax*, 58, 832-834.

Alghatrif, M., Strait, J. B., Morrell, C. H., Canepa, M., Wright, J., Elango, P., Scuteri, A., Najjar, S. S., Ferrucci, L. & Lakatta, E. G. 2013. Longitudinal trajectories of arterial stiffness and the role of blood pressure: the Baltimore longitudinal study of aging. *Hypertension*, 62, 934-41.

Anavekar, N. S., Mcmurray, J. J., Velazquez, E. J., Solomon, S. D., Kober, L., Rouleau, J. L., White, H. D., Nordlander, R., Maggioni, A., Dickstein, K., Zelenkofske, S., Leimberger, J. D., Califf, R. M. & Pfeffer, M. A. 2004. Relation between renal dysfunction and cardiovascular outcomes after myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med*, 351, 1285-95. Angleman, S. B., Harris, T. B. & Melzer, D. 2006. The role of waist circumference in predicting disability in periretirement age adults. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 30, 364-73.

Anthonisen, N. R., Connett, J. E., Enright, P. L. & Manfreda, J. 2002. Hospitalizations and mortality in the Lung Health Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 333-9.

Anthonisen, N. R., Connett, J. E., Kiley, J. P., Altose, M. D., Bailey, W. C., Buist, A. S., Conway, W. A., Jr., Enright, P. L., Kanner, R. E., O'hara, P. & Et Al. 1994. Effects of smoking intervention and the use of an inhaled anticholinergic bronchodilator on the rate of decline of FEV1. The Lung Health Study. *JAMA*, 272, 1497-505.

Araujo, A. B., Dixon, J. M., Suarez, E. A., Murad, M. H., Guey, L. T. & Wittert, G. A. 2011. Clinical review: Endogenous testosterone and mortality in men: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 96, 3007-19.

Aryal, S., Diaz-Guzman, E. & Mannino, D. M. 2013. COPD and gender differences: an update. *Transl Res*, 162, 208-18.

Atlantis, E., Fahey, P., Cochrane, B., Wittert, G. & Smith, S. 2013. Endogenous testosterone level and testosterone supplementation therapy in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 3.

Bäck, M. 2008. Atherosclerosis, COPD and chronic inflammation. *Respiratory Medicine: COPD Update,* 4, 60-65.

Balducci, L. 2013. Frailty: a common pathway in aging and cancer. *Interdiscip Top Gerontol,* 38, 61-72.

Bapoje, S. R., Whitaker, J. F., Schulz, T., Chu, E. S. & Albert, R. K. 2007.
Preoperative evaluation of the patient with pulmonary disease. *Chest*, 132, 1637-45.
Barabasi, A. L. 2007. Network medicine--from obesity to the "diseasome". *N Engl J Med*, 357, 404-7.

Barabasi, A. L., Gulbahce, N. & Loscalzo, J. 2011. Network medicine: a networkbased approach to human disease. *Nat Rev Genet*, 12, 56-68. Barnes, P. J. & Celli, B. R. 2009. Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 33, 1165-85.

Barnes, P. J., Shapiro, S. D. & Pauwels, R. A. 2003. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: molecular and cellular mechanisms. *Eur Respir J*, 22, 672-88.

Barr, R. G., Ahmed, F. S., Carr, J. J., Hoffman, E. A., Jiang, R., Kawut, S. M. & Watson, K. 2012. Subclinical atherosclerosis, airflow obstruction and emphysema: the MESA Lung Study. *Eur Respir J*, 39, 846-54.

Barr, R. G., Bluemke, D. A., Ahmed, F. S., Carr, J. J., Enright, P. L., Hoffman, E. A., Jiang, R., Kawut, S. M., Kronmal, R. A., Lima, J. A., Shahar, E., Smith, L. J. & Watson, K. E. 2010. Percent emphysema, airflow obstruction, and impaired left ventricular filling. *N Engl J Med*, 362, 217-27.

Barr, R. G., Mesia-Vela, S., Austin, J. H., Basner, R. C., Keller, B. M., Reeves, A. P., Shimbo, D. & Stevenson, L. 2007. Impaired flow-mediated dilation is associated with low pulmonary function and emphysema in ex-smokers: the Emphysema and Cancer Action Project (EMCAP) Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 176, 1200-7.

Barzilay, J. I., Blaum, C., Moore, T., Xue, Q. L., Hirsch, C. H., Walston, J. D. & Fried,L. P. 2007. Insulin resistance and inflammation as precursors of frailty: theCardiovascular Health Study. *Arch Intern Med*, 167, 635-41.

Baylis, D., Bartlett, D. B., Syddall, H. E., Ntani, G., Gale, C. R., Cooper, C., Lord, J. M. & Sayer, A. A. 2013. Immune-endocrine biomarkers as predictors of frailty and mortality: a 10-year longitudinal study in community-dwelling older people. *Age (Dordr)*, 35, 963-71.

Beauchamp, M. K., Hill, K., Goldstein, R. S., Janaudis-Ferreira, T. & Brooks, D. 2009. Impairments in balance discriminate fallers from non-fallers in COPD. *Respir Med*, 103, 1885-91. Benetos, A., Rudnichi, A., Safar, M. & Guize, L. 1998. Pulse pressure and cardiovascular mortality in normotensive and hypertensive subjects. *Hypertension*, 32, 560-4.

Benetos, A., Waeber, B., Izzo, J., Mitchell, G., Resnick, L., Asmar, R. & Safar, M. 2002. Influence of age, risk factors, and cardiovascular and renal disease on arterial stiffness: clinical applications. *Am J Hypertens*, 15, 1101-8.

Bischoff, H. A., Stahelin, H. B., Monsch, A. U., Iversen, M. D., Weyh, A., Von Dechend, M., Akos, R., Conzelmann, M., Dick, W. & Theiler, R. 2003. Identifying a cut-off point for normal mobility: a comparison of the timed 'up and go' test in community-dwelling and institutionalised elderly women. *Age Ageing*, 32, 315-20.

Biskobing, D. M. 2002. COPD and osteoporosis. Chest, 121, 609-20.

Blacher, J., Guerin, A. P., Pannier, B., Marchais, S. J., Safar, M. E. & London, G. M. 1999. Impact of aortic stiffness on survival in end-stage renal disease. *Circulation*, 99, 2434-9.

Blacher, J. & Safar, M. E. 2005. Large-artery stiffness, hypertension and cardiovascular risk in older patients. *Nat Clin Pract Cardiovasc Med*, 2, 450-5.

Black, P. N., Ching, P. S., Beaumont, B., Ranasinghe, S., Taylor, G. & Merrilees, M. J. 2008. Changes in elastic fibres in the small airways and alveoli in COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 31, 998-1004.

Blake, G. M. & Fogelman, I. 1998. Applications of bone densitometry for osteoporosis. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 27, 267-88.

Bland, J. M. & Altman, D. G. 1986. Statistical methods for assessing agreement between two methods of clinical measurement. *Lancet*, 1, 307-10.

Bohannon, R. W. 2006. Reference values for the timed up and go test: a descriptive meta-analysis. *J Geriatr Phys Ther*, 29, 64-8.

Bolton, C. E., Cockcroft, J. R., Sabit, R., Munnery, M., McEniery, C. M., Wilkinson, I. B., Ebrahim, S., Gallacher, J. E., Shale, D. J. & Ben-Shlomo, Y. 2009. Lung function

in mid-life compared with later life is a stronger predictor of arterial stiffness in men: the Caerphilly Prospective Study. *Int J Epidemiol,* 38, 867-76.

Bolton, C. E., Ionescu, A. A., Shiels, K. M., Pettit, R. J., Edwards, P. H., Stone, M. D., Nixon, L. S., Evans, W. D., Griffiths, T. L. & Shale, D. J. 2004. Associated loss of fatfree mass and bone mineral density in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 170, 1286-93.

Bolton, C. E., McEniery, C. M., Raj, V., Mcdonnell, B. J., Dixon, A. K., Munnery, M., Sabit, R., Screaton, N., Stone, M., Wilkinson, I. B., Shale, D. J. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2011. Aortic calcification, arterial stiffness and bone mineral density in patients with COPD. *Artery Research*, 5, 30-36.

Borg, G. A. 1982. Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. *Med Sci Sports Exerc,* 14, 377-81.

Borlaug, B. A. & Paulus, W. J. 2011. Heart failure with preserved ejection fraction: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment. *Eur Heart J*, 32, 670-9.

Boussuges, A., Pinet, C., Molenat, F., Burnet, H., Ambrosi, P., Badier, M., Sainty, J. M. & Orehek, J. 2000. Left atrial and ventricular filling in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. An echocardiographic and Doppler study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 162, 670-5.

Boutouyrie, P., Tropeano, A. I., Asmar, R., Gautier, I., Benetos, A., Lacolley, P. & Laurent, S. 2002. Aortic stiffness is an independent predictor of primary coronary events in hypertensive patients: a longitudinal study. *Hypertension*, 39, 10-5.

Bray, G. A. 1987. Overweight is risking fate. Definition, classification, prevalence, and risks. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 499, 14-28.

Breyer, M.-K., Rutten, E. P. a, Locantore, N. W., Watkins, M. L., Miller, B. E., & Wouters, E. F. M. 2012. Dysregulated adipokine metabolism in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 42(9), 983–91.

Breyer, M.-K., Rutten, E. P. A., Vernooy, J. H. J., Spruit, M. A., Dentener, M. A., van der Kallen, C., Wouters, E. F. M. 2011. Gender differences in the adipose secretome system in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): a pivotal role of leptin. *Resp Med*, 105, 1046–1053.

Briet, M., Collin, C., Karras, A., Laurent, S., Bozec, E., Jacquot, C., Stengel, B., Houillier, P., Froissart, M. & Boutouyrie, P. 2011. Arterial remodeling associates with CKD progression. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology*, 22, 967-74.

Brink, H., Van Der Walt, C. & Van Rensburg, G. 2006. *Fundamentals of research methodology for health care professionals*, Cape Town : Juta.

Broekhuizen, R., Vernooy, J. H. J., Schols, A. M. W. J., Dentener, M. A., & Wouters, E. F. M. 2005. Leptin as local inflammatory marker in COPD. *Resp Med*, 99, 70–74.

Brooks, D., Davis, A. M. & Naglie, G. 2006. Validity of 3 physical performance measures in inpatient geriatric rehabilitation. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 87, 105-10.

Bruton, A., Conway, J. H. & Holgate, S. T. 2000. Reliability: What is it, and how is it measured? *Physiotherapy*, 86, 94-99.

Buist, A. S., Mcburnie, M. A., Vollmer, W. M., Gillespie, S., Burney, P., Mannino, D.
M., Menezes, A. M., Sullivan, S. D., Lee, T. A., Weiss, K. B., Jensen, R. L., Marks, G.
B., Gulsvik, A. & Nizankowska-Mogilnicka, E. 2007. International variation in the prevalence of COPD (the BOLD Study): a population-based prevalence study. *Lancet*, 370, 741-50.

Calverley, P. M., Anderson, J. A., Celli, B., Ferguson, G. T., Jenkins, C., Jones, P. W., Crim, C., Willits, L. R., Yates, J. C. & Vestbo, J. 2010. Cardiovascular events in patients with COPD: TORCH study results. *Thorax*, 65, 719-25.

Carrasco-Garrido, P., De Miguel-Diez, J., Rejas-Gutierrez, J., Martin-Centeno, A., Gobartt-Vazquez, E., Hernandez-Barrera, V., De Miguel, A. G. & Jimenez-Garcia, R. 2009. Characteristics of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Spain from a gender perspective. *BMC Pulm Med*, 9, 2.

Cazzola, M., Bettoncelli, G., Sessa, E., Cricelli, C. & Biscione, G. 2010. Prevalence of comorbidities in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiration*, 80, 112-9.

Cazzola, M., MacNee, W., Martinez, F. J., Rabe, K. F., Franciosi, L. G., Barnes, P. J.,
Brusasco, V., Burge, P. S., Calverley, P. M., Celli, B. R., Jones, P. W., Mahler, D. A.,
Make, B., Miravitlles, M., Page, C. P., Palange, P., Parr, D., Pistolesi, M., Rennard, S.
I., Rutten-Van Molken, M. P., Stockley, R., Sullivan, S. D., Wedzicha, J. A. & Wouters,
E. F. 2008. Outcomes for COPD pharmacological trials: from lung function to
biomarkers. *Eur Respir J*, 31, 416-69.

Cecelja, M. & Chowienczyk, P. 2009. Dissociation of aortic pulse wave velocity with risk factors for cardiovascular disease other than hypertension: a systematic review. *Hypertension*, 54, 1328-36.

Cecelja, M. & Chowienczyk, P. 2012. Role of arterial stiffness in cardiovascular disease. *JRSM Cardiovasc Dis*, 1.

Celli, B. R., Locantore, N., Yates, J., Tal-Singer, R., Miller, B. E., Bakke, P., Calverley, P., Coxson, H., Crim, C., Edwards, L. D., Lomas, D. A., Duvoix, A., MacNee, W., Rennard, S., Silverman, E., Vestbo, J., Wouters, E. & Agusti, A. 2012. Inflammatory biomarkers improve clinical prediction of mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 185, 1065-72.

Cesari, M., Leeuwenburgh, C., Lauretani, F., Onder, G., Bandinelli, S., Maraldi, C., Guralnik, J. M., Pahor, M. & Ferrucci, L. 2006. Frailty syndrome and skeletal muscle: results from the Invecchiare in Chianti study. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 83, 1142-8.

Cesari, M., Penninx, B. W., Pahor, M., Lauretani, F., Corsi, A. M., Rhys Williams, G., Guralnik, J. M. & Ferrucci, L. 2004. Inflammatory markers and physical performance in older persons: the InCHIANTI study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 59, 242-8.

Chan, K. H., Yeung, S. C., Yao, T. J., Ip, M. S. M., Cheung, A. H. K., Chan-Yeung, M. M. W., & Mak, J. C. W. 2010. Elevated plasma adiponectin levels in patients with

chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease: *The Official Journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 14, 1193–1200.

Chang, S. S., Weiss, C. O., Xue, Q. L. & Fried, L. P. 2010. Patterns of comorbid inflammatory diseases in frail older women: the Women's Health and Aging Studies I and II. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 65, 407-13.

Cheng, S., Njeh, C. F., Fan, B., Cheng, X., Hans, D., Wang, L., Fuerst, T. & Genant,
H. K. 2002. Influence of region of interest and bone size on calcaneal BMD: implications for the accuracy of quantitative ultrasound assessments at the calcaneus. *Br J Radiol*, 75, 59-68.

Cinarka, H., Kayhan, S., Gumus, A., Durakoglugil, M. E., Erdogan, T., Ezberci, I., Yavuz, A., Ozkaya, S. & Sahin, U. 2013. Arterial stiffness measured by carotid femoral pulse wave velocity is associated with disease severity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Care*.

Clegg, A., Young, J., Iliffe, S., Rikkert, M. O. & Rockwood, K. 2013. Frailty in elderly people. *Lancet*, 381, 752-62.

Cockcroft, J. R., Wilkinson, I. B., Evans, M., Mcewan, P., Peters, J. R., Davies, S., Scanlon, M. F. & Currie, C. J. 2005. Pulse pressure predicts cardiovascular risk in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Hypertens*, 18, 1463-7; discussion 1468-9.

Collis, T., Devereux, R. B., Roman, M. J., De Simone, G., Yeh, J., Howard, B. V., Fabsitz, R. R. & Welty, T. K. 2001. Relations of stroke volume and cardiac output to body composition: the strong heart study. *Circulation*, 103, 820-5.

Cook, R. B., Collins, D., Tucker, J. & Zioupos, P. 2005. The ability of peripheral quantitative ultrasound to identify patients with low bone mineral density in the hip or spine. *Ultrasound Med Biol*, 31, 625-32.

Cosio, M. G., Saetta, M. & Agusti, A. 2009. Immunologic aspects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med*, 360, 2445-54.

Coulson, J. M., Rudd, J. H., Duckers, J. M., Rees, J. I., Shale, D. J., Bolton, C. E. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2010. Excessive aortic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: an 18F-FDG PET pilot study. *J Nucl Med*, 51, 1357-60.

Cruickshank, K., Riste, L., Anderson, S. G., Wright, J. S., Dunn, G. & Gosling, R. G. 2002. Aortic pulse-wave velocity and its relationship to mortality in diabetes and glucose intolerance: an integrated index of vascular function? *Circulation,* 106, 2085-90.

Cruz-Jentoft, A. J., Baeyens, J. P., Bauer, J. M., Boirie, Y., Cederholm, T., Landi, F., Martin, F. C., Michel, J. P., Rolland, Y., Schneider, S. M., Topinkova, E., Vandewoude, M. & Zamboni, M. 2010. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis: Report of the European Working Group on Sarcopenia in Older People. *Age Ageing*, 39, 412-23.

Cryer, J. R., Otter, S. J. & Bowen, C. J. 2007. Use of quantitative ultrasound scans of the calcaneus to diagnose osteoporosis in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J Am Podiatr Med Assoc*, 97, 108-14.

Curkendall, S. M., Deluise, C., Jones, J. K., Lanes, S., Stang, M. R., Goehring, E., Jr. & She, D. 2006. Cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Saskatchewan Canada cardiovascular disease in COPD patients. *Ann Epidemiol,* 16, 63-70.

Czernichow, S., Bertrais, S., Blacher, J., Oppert, J. M., Galan, P., Ducimetiere, P., Hercberg, S., Safar, M. & Zureik, M. 2005. Metabolic syndrome in relation to structure and function of large arteries: a predominant effect of blood pressure. A report from the SU.VI.MAX. Vascular Study. *Am J Hypertens*, 18, 1154-60. Dalrymple, L. S., Katz, R., Rifkin, D. E., Siscovick, D., Newman, A. B., Fried, L. F., Sarnak, M. J., Odden, M. C. & Shlipak, M. G. 2013. Kidney Function and Prevalent and Incident Frailty. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol*.

Dart, A. M. & Kingwell, B. A. 2001. Pulse pressure--a review of mechanisms and clinical relevance. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 37, 975-84.

De Torres, J. P., Pinto-Plata, V., Casanova, C., Mullerova, H., Cordoba-Lanus, E., Muros De Fuentes, M., Aguirre-Jaime, A. & Celli, B. R. 2008. C-reactive protein levels and survival in patients with moderate to very severe COPD. *Chest*, 133, 1336-43.

Demeo, D. L., Celedon, J. C., Lange, C., Reilly, J. J., Chapman, H. A., Sylvia, J. S., Speizer, F. E., Weiss, S. T. & Silverman, E. K. 2004. Genome-wide linkage of forced mid-expiratory flow in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 170, 1294-301.

Divo, M., Cote, C., De Torres, J. P., Casanova, C., Marin, J. M., Pinto-Plata, V., Zulueta, J., Cabrera, C., Zagaceta, J., Hunninghake, G. & Celli, B. 2012. Comorbidities and risk of mortality in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 186, 155-61.

Dockery, F., Bulpitt, C. J., Donaldson, M., Fernandez, S. & Rajkumar, C. 2003. The relationship between androgens and arterial stiffness in older men. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51, 1627-1632.

Doll, R., Peto, R., Boreham, J. & Sutherland, I. 2004. Mortality in relation to smoking: 50 years' observations on male British doctors. *BMJ*, 328, 1519.

Doonan, R. J., Hausvater, A., Scallan, C., Mikhailidis, D. P., Pilote, L. & Daskalopoulou, S. S. 2010. The effect of smoking on arterial stiffness. *Hypertens Res,* 33, 398-410.

Duprez, D. A., Jacobs, D. R., Jr., Lutsey, P. L., Herrington, D., Prime, D., Ouyang, P., Barr, R. G. & Bluemke, D. A. 2009. Race/ethnic and sex differences in large and small artery elasticity--results of the multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (MESA). *Ethn Dis,* 19, 243-50.

Eickhoff, P., Valipour, A., Kiss, D., Schreder, M., Cekici, L., Geyer, K., Kohansal, R. & Burghuber, O. C. 2008. Determinants of systemic vascular function in patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 178, 1211-8.

Eid, A. A., Ionescu, A. A., Nixon, L. S., Lewis-Jenkins, V., Matthews, S. B., Griffiths, T.
L. & Shale, D. J. 2001. Inflammatory response and body composition in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 164, 1414-8.

Eisner, M. D., Blanc, P. D., Sidney, S., Yelin, E. H., Lathon, P. V., Katz, P. P., Tolstykh, I., Ackerson, L. & Iribarren, C. 2007. Body composition and functional limitation in COPD. *Respir Res*, 8, 7.

Eisner, M. D., Blanc, P. D., Yelin, E. H., Sidney, S., Katz, P. P., Ackerson, L., Lathon, P., Tolstykh, I., Omachi, T., Byl, N. & Iribarren, C. 2008. COPD as a systemic disease: impact on physical functional limitations. *Am J Med*, 121, 789-96.

Elliott, A., Hull, J. H., Nunan, D., Jakovljevic, D. G., Brodie, D. & Ansley, L. 2010. Application of bioreactance for cardiac output assessment during exercise in healthy individuals. *Eur J Appl Physiol*, 109, 945-51.

Engelen, M. P., Deutz, N. E., Wouters, E. F. & Schols, A. M. 2000a. Enhanced levels of whole-body protein turnover in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 162, 1488-92.

Engelen, M. P., Schols, A. M., Baken, W. C., Wesseling, G. J. & Wouters, E. F. 1994. Nutritional depletion in relation to respiratory and peripheral skeletal muscle function in out-patients with COPD. *Eur Respir J*, *7*, 1793-7.

Engelen, M. P., Schols, A. M., Does, J. D. & Wouters, E. F. 2000b. Skeletal muscle weakness is associated with wasting of extremity fat-free mass but not with airflow

obstruction in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 71, 733-8.

Engström, G., Hedblad, B., Valind, S., & Janzon, L. 2001. Increased incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke in hypertensive men with reduced lung function. *J Hypertens*, 19(2), 295–301.

Fabbri, L. M., Beghe, B. & Agusti, A. 2012. COPD and the Solar System Introducing the Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Comorbidome. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 186, 117-119.

Feary, J. R., Rodrigues, L. C., Smith, C. J., Hubbard, R. B. & Gibson, J. E. 2010. Prevalence of major comorbidities in subjects with COPD and incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke: a comprehensive analysis using data from primary care. *Thorax,* 65, 956-62.

Feghali-Bostwick, C. A., Gadgil, A. S., Otterbein, L. E., Pilewski, J. M., Stoner, M. W., Csizmadia, E., Zhang, Y., Sciurba, F. C. & Duncan, S. R. 2008. Autoantibodies in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 177, 156-63.

Ferguson, G. T. 2006. Why does the lung hyperinflate? *Proc Am Thorac Soc,* 3, 176-9.

Figueroa, A. L., Abdelbaky, A., Truong, Q. A., Corsini, E., Macnabb, M. H., Lavender, Z. R., Lawler, M. A., Grinspoon, S. K., Brady, T. J., Nasir, K., Hoffmann, U. & Tawakol, A. 2013. Measurement of arterial activity on routine FDG PET/CT images improves prediction of risk of future CV events. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*, 6, 1250-9. Fletcher, C. M., Elmes, P. C., Fairbairn, A. S. & Wood, C. H. 1959. Significance of respiratory symptoms and the diagnosis of chronic bronchitis in a working population. *Br Med J*, 2 (5147), 257-266.

Frimodt-Moller, M, Nielsen, A. H., Kamper, A. L. and Strandgaard, S. 2006. Pulsewave morphology and pulse-wave velocity in healthy human volunteers: Examination conditions. *Scand J Clin and Lab Invest*, 66 (5), 385-394.

Frimodt-Moller M, Nielsen, A. H, Kamper, A. L. and Strandgaard, S. 2008. Reproducibility of pulse-wave analysis and pulse-wave velocity determination in chronic kidney disease. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*, 23 (2), 594-600.

Fried, L. P., Ferrucci, L., Darer, J., Williamson, J. D. & Anderson, G. 2004. Untangling the concepts of disability, frailty, and comorbidity: implications for improved targeting and care. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 59, 255-63.

Fried, L. P., Tangen, C. M., Walston, J., Newman, A. B., Hirsch, C., Gottdiener, J., Seeman, T., Tracy, R., Kop, W. J., Burke, G. & Mcburnie, M. A. 2001. Frailty in older adults: evidence for a phenotype. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 56, M146-56.

Fried, L. P., Xue, Q. L., Cappola, A. R., Ferrucci, L., Chaves, P., Varadhan, R., Guralnik, J. M., Leng, S. X., Semba, R. D., Walston, J. D., Blaum, C. S. & Bandeen-Roche, K. 2009. Nonlinear multisystem physiological dysregulation associated with frailty in older women: implications for etiology and treatment. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 64, 1049-57.

Fukui, M., Ose, H., Kitagawa, Y., Yamazaki, M., Yoshikawa, T. & Nakamura, N. 2007. Relationship between low serum endogenous androgen concentrations and arterial stiffness in men with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Metabolism-Clinical and Experimental,* 56, 1167-1173.

Fulop, T., Larbi, A., Witkowski, J. M., Mcelhaney, J., Loeb, M., Mitnitski, A. & Pawelec,G. 2010. Aging, frailty and age-related diseases. *Biogerontology*, 11, 547-63.

Gale, C. R., Baylis, D., Cooper, C. & Sayer, A. A. 2013. Inflammatory markers and incident frailty in men and women: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Age (Dordr)*, 35, 2493-501.

Galizia, G., Cacciatore, F., Testa, G., Della-Morte, D., Mazzella, F., Langellotto, A., Abete, P. 2011. Role of clinical frailty on long-term mortality of elderly subjects with and without chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 23, 118–125. Gan, W. Q., Man, S. F., Senthilselvan, A. & Sin, D. D. 2004. Association between chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and systemic inflammation: a systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 59, 574-80.

Gatzka, C. D., Kingwell, B. A., Cameron, J. D., Berry, K. L., Liang, Y. L., Dewar, E. M.,
Reid, C. M., Jennings, G. L. & Dart, A. M. 2001. Gender differences in the timing of arterial wave reflection beyond differences in body height. *J Hypertens*, 19, 2197-203.
Geffken, D. F., Cushman, M., Burke, G. L., Polak, J. F., Sakkinen, P. A. & Tracy, R. P.
2001. Association between physical activity and markers of inflammation in a healthy elderly population. *Am J Epidemiol*, 153, 242-50.

Gibson, C. M., Pinto, D. S., Murphy, S. A., Morrow, D. A., Hobbach, H.-P., Wiviott, S. D., Giugliano, R. P., Cannon, C. P., Antman, E. M. & Braunwald, E. 2003. Association of creatinine and creatinine clearance on presentation in acute myocardial infarction with subsequent mortality. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 42, 1535-1543.

Glaab, T., Vogelmeier, C. & Buhl, R. 2010. Outcome measures in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD): strengths and limitations. *Respir Res*, 11, 79.

GOLD 2014. The Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease. Available at <a href="http://www.goldcopd.com/">http://www.goldcopd.com/</a>.

Gosker, H. R., Zeegers, M. P., Wouters, E. F. & Schols, A. M. 2007. Muscle fibre type shifting in the vastus lateralis of patients with COPD is associated with disease severity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 62, 944-9.

Gottlieb, D. J., Wilk, J. B., Harmon, M., Evans, J. C., Joost, O., Levy, D., O'connor, G. T. & Myers, R. H. 2001. Heritability of longitudinal change in lung function. The Framingham study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 164, 1655-9.

Gouzi, F., Prefaut, C., Abdellaoui, A., Vuillemin, A., Molinari, N., Ninot, G., Caris, G. & Hayot, M. 2011. Evidence of an early physical activity reduction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil*, 92, 1611-1617 e2.

Graat-Verboom, L., Wouters, E. F., Smeenk, F. W., Van Den Borne, B. E., Lunde, R. & Spruit, M. A. 2009. Current status of research on osteoporosis in COPD: a systematic review. *Eur Respir J*, 34, 209-18.

Greenspan, S. L., Bouxsein, M. L., Melton, M. E., Kolodny, A. H., Clair, J. H., Delucca, P. T., Stek, M., Jr., Faulkner, K. G. & Orwoll, E. S. 1997. Precision and discriminatory ability of calcaneal bone assessment technologies. *J Bone Miner Res*, 12, 1303-13.

Hackett, N. R., Heguy, A., Harvey, B. G., O'connor, T. P., Luettich, K., Flieder, D. B., Kaplan, R. & Crystal, R. G. 2003. Variability of antioxidant-related gene expression in the airway epithelium of cigarette smokers. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol,* 29, 331-43.

Halbert, R. J., Isonaka, S., George, D. & Iqbal, A. 2003. Interpreting COPD prevalence estimates: what is the true burden of disease? *Chest*, 123, 1684-92.

Halbert, R. J., Natoli, J. L., Gano, A., Badamgarav, E., Buist, A. S. & Mannino, D. M. 2006. Global burden of COPD: systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Respiratory Journal*, 28, 523-532.

Hanania, N. A., Mullerova, H., Locantore, N. W., Vestbo, J., Watkins, M. L., Wouters, E. F., Rennard, S. I. & Sharafkhaneh, A. 2011. Determinants of depression in the ECLIPSE chronic obstructive pulmonary disease cohort. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med,* 183, 604-11.

Hansson, G. K. 2005. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med*, 352, 1685-95.

He, Z., Chen, Y., Chen, P., Wu, G. & Cai, S. 2010. Local inflammation occurs before systemic inflammation in patients with COPD. *Respirology*, 15, 478-84.

Henry, R. M., Kostense, P. J., Spijkerman, A. M., Dekker, J. M., Nijpels, G., Heine, R. J., Kamp, O., Westerhof, N., Bouter, L. M. & Stehouwer, C. D. 2003. Arterial stiffness

increases with deteriorating glucose tolerance status: the Hoorn Study. *Circulation*, 107, 2089-95.

Herring, M. J., Oskui, P. M., Hale, S. L. & Kloner, R. A. 2013. Testosterone and the cardiovascular system: a comprehensive review of the basic science literature. *J Am Heart Assoc, 2*, e000271.

Herrington, D. M., Brown, W. V., Mosca, L., Davis, W., Eggleston, B., Hundley, W. G.
& Raines, J. 2004. Relationship between arterial stiffness and subclinical aortic atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, 110, 432-7.

Hersh, C. P., Dahl, M., Ly, N. P., Berkey, C. S., Nordestgaard, B. G. & Silverman, E. K. 2004. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in alpha1-antitrypsin PI MZ heterozygotes: a meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 59, 843-9.

Higgins, M. W. & Keller, J. B. 1970. Predictors of mortality in the adult population of Tecumseh. *Arch Environ Health*, 21, 418-24.

Hole, D. J., Watt, G. C., Davey-Smith, G., Hart, C. L., Gillis, C. R. & Hawthorne, V. M. 1996. Impaired lung function and mortality risk in men and women: findings from the Renfrew and Paisley prospective population study. *BMJ*, 313, 711-5; discussion 715-6.

Holverda, S., Rietema, H., Westerhof, N., Marcus, J. T., Gan, C. T., Postmus, P. E. & Vonk-Noordegraaf, A. 2009. Stroke volume increase to exercise in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is limited by increased pulmonary artery pressure. *Heart,* 95, 137-41.

Hopkinson, N. S., Tennant, R. C., Dayer, M. J., Swallow, E. B., Hansel, T. T.,
Moxham, J. & Polkey, M. I. 2007. A prospective study of decline in fat free mass and skeletal muscle strength in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Res,* 8, 25.
Houben, J. M., Mercken, E. M., Ketelslegers, H. B., Bast, A., Wouters, E. F.,
Hageman, G. J. & Schols, A. M. 2009. Telomere shortening in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respir Med,* 103, 230-6.

Hubbard, R. E., Lang, I. A., Llewellyn, D. J. & Rockwood, K. 2010. Frailty, body mass index, and abdominal obesity in older people. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 65, 377-81.

Hubbard, R. E. & Rockwood, K. 2011. Frailty in older women. *Maturitas*, 69, 203-7.

Hubbard, R. E. & Woodhouse, K. W. 2010. Frailty, inflammation and the elderly. *Biogerontology*, 11, 635-41.

Hurst, J. R., Vestbo, J., Anzueto, A., Locantore, N., Mullerova, H., Tal-Singer, R.,
Miller, B., Lomas, D. A., Agusti, A., MacNee, W., Calverley, P., Rennard, S., Wouters,
E. F. & Wedzicha, J. A. 2010. Susceptibility to exacerbation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med*, 363, 1128-38.

Idland, G., Engedal, K. & Bergland, A. 2012. Physical performance and 13.5-year mortality in elderly women. *Scand J Public Health*.

Incalzi, R., Fuso, L., De Rosa, M., Forastiere, F., Rapiti, E., Nardecchia, B., & Pistelli, R.1997. Co-morbidity contributes to predict mortality of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J*, 10, 2794–800.

Ives, S. J., Harris, R. A., Witman, M. A., Fjeldstad, A. S., Garten, R. S., Mcdaniel, J., Wray, D. W. & Richardson, R. S. 2013. Vascular Dysfunction and Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease: The Role of Redox Balance. *Hypertension*.

Iwamoto, H., Yokoyama, A., Kitahara, Y., Ishikawa, N., Haruta, Y., Yamane, K., Hattori, N., Hara, H. & Kohno, N. 2009. Airflow limitation in smokers is associated with subclinical atherosclerosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 179, 35-40.

Jani, B. & Rajkumar, C. 2006. Ageing and vascular ageing. *Postgrad Med J*, 82, 357-62.

Janner, J. H., McAllister, D. A., Godtfredsen, N. S., Prescott, E. & Vestbo, J. 2012. Is chronic obstructive pulmonary disease associated with increased arterial stiffness? *Respir Med*, 106, 397-405.

Jatoi, N. A., Jerrard-Dunne, P., Feely, J. & Mahmud, A. 2007. Impact of smoking and smoking cessation on arterial stiffness and aortic wave reflection in hypertension. *Hypertension*, 49, 981-5.

Jensen, M. T., Marott, J. L., Lange, P., Vestbo, J., Schnohr, P., Nielsen, O. W., Jensen, J. S. & Jensen, G. B. 2013. Resting heart rate is a predictor of mortality in COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 42, 341-9.

Jones, D., Song, X., Mitnitski, A. & Rockwood, K. 2005. Evaluation of a frailty index based on a comprehensive geriatric assessment in a population based study of elderly Canadians. *Aging Clin Exp Res,* 17, 465-71.

Jones, P. W., Harding, G., Berry, P., Wiklund, I., Chen, W. H. & Kline Leidy, N. 2009. Development and first validation of the COPD Assessment Test. *Eur Respir J*, 34, 648-54.

Jones, P. W., Quirk, F. H., Baveystock, C. M. & Littlejohns, P. 1992. A self-complete measure of health status for chronic airflow limitation. The St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire. *Am Rev Respir Dis*, 145, 1321-7.

Jones, T. H. 2010. Testosterone deficiency: a risk factor for cardiovascular disease? *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 21, 496-503.

Jorgensen, N. R. & Schwarz, P. 2008. Osteoporosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Curr Opin Pulm Med,* 14, 122-7.

Joseph, C., Kenny, A. M., Taxel, P., Lorenzo, J. A., Duque, G. & Kuchel, G. A. 2005. Role of endocrine-immune dysregulation in osteoporosis, sarcopenia, frailty and fracture risk. *Mol Aspects Med*, 26, 181-201.

Jousilahti, P., Vartiainen, E., Tuomilehto, J. & Puska, P. 1996. Symptoms of chronic bronchitis and the risk of coronary disease. *Lancet*, 348, 567-72.

Kaess, B. M., Rong, J., Larson, M. G., Hamburg, N. M., Vita, J. A., Levy, D., Benjamin, E. J., Vasan, R. S. & Mitchell, G. F. 2012. Aortic stiffness, blood pressure progression, and incident hypertension. *JAMA*, 308, 875-81.

Kapella, M. C., Larson, J. L., Covey, M. K. & Alex, C. G. 2011. Functional performance in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease declines with time. *Med Sci Sports Exerc,* 43, 218-24.

Keatings, V. M., Collins, P. D., Scott, D. M. & Barnes, P. J. 1996. Differences in interleukin-8 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in induced sputum from patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease or asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 153, 530-4.

Keren, H., Burkhoff, D. & Squara, P. 2007. Evaluation of a noninvasive continuous cardiac output monitoring system based on thoracic bioreactance. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol*, 293, H583-9.

Khan, H., Kalogeropoulos, A. P., Georgiopoulou, V. V., Newman, A. B., Harris, T. B., Rodondi, N., Bauer, D. C., Kritchevsky, S. B. & Butler, J. 2013. Frailty and risk for heart failure in older adults: The health, aging, and body composition study. *Am Heart J*, 166, 887-94.

Khaw, K. T., Reeve, J., Luben, R., Bingham, S., Welch, A., Wareham, N., Oakes, S. & Day, N. 2004. Prediction of total and hip fracture risk in men and women by quantitative ultrasound of the calcaneus: EPIC-Norfolk prospective population study. *Lancet*, 363, 197-202.

Kirdar, S., Serter, M., Ceylan, E., Sener, A. G., Kavak, T., & Karadağ, F. 2009. Adiponectin as a biomarker of systemic inflammatory response in smoker patients with stable and exacerbation phases of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Scand J Clin and Lab Invest*, 69, 219–224.

Klein, B. E., Klein, R., Knudtson, M. D. & Lee, K. E. 2005. Frailty, morbidity and survival. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*, 41, 141-9.

Konova, E., Baydanoff, S., Atanasova, M. & Velkova, A. 2004. Age-related changes in the glycation of human aortic elastin. *Exp Gerontol*, 39, 249-54.

Kossari, N., Hufnagel, G. & Squara, P. 2009. Bioreactance: a new tool for cardiac output and thoracic fluid content monitoring during hemodialysis. *Hemodial Int,* 13, 512-7.

Kyriazis, J., Tzanakis, I., Stylianou, K., Katsipi, I., Moisiadis, D., Papadaki, A., Mavroeidi, V., Kagia, S., Karkavitsas, N. & Daphnis, E. 2011. Low serum testosterone, arterial stiffness and mortality in male haemodialysis patients. *Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation*, 26, 2971-2977.

Laghi, F. 2005. Low testosterone in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: does it really matter? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 172, 1069-70.

Laghi, F., Antonescu-Turcu, A., Collins, E., Segal, J., Tobin, D. E., Jubran, A. & Tobin, M. J. 2005. Hypogonadism in men with chronic obstructive - Pulmonary disease prevalence and quality of life. *Am J Respir Crit Care Me*, 171, 728-733.

Lakatta, E. G. 2003. Arterial and cardiac aging: major shareholders in cardiovascular disease enterprises: Part III: cellular and molecular clues to heart and arterial aging. *Circulation*, 107, 490-7.

Lam, K. B., Jordan, R. E., Jiang, C. Q., Thomas, G. N., Miller, M. R., Zhang, W. S., Lam, T. H., Cheng, K. K. & Adab, P. 2010. Airflow obstruction and metabolic syndrome: the Guangzhou Biobank Cohort Study. *Eur Respir J*, 35, 317-23.

Landbo, C., Prescott, E., Lange, P., Vestbo, J. & Almdal, T. P. 1999. Prognostic value of nutritional status in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 160, 1856-61.

Lattimore, J. D., Wilcox, I., Nakhla, S., Langenfeld, M., Jessup, W. & Celermajer, D. S. 2005. Repetitive hypoxia increases lipid loading in human macrophages-a potentially atherogenic effect. *Atherosclerosis*, 179, 255-9.

Laurent, S., Cockcroft, J., Van Bortel, L., Boutouyrie, P., Giannattasio, C., Hayoz, D., Pannier, B., Vlachopoulos, C., Wilkinson, I. & Struijker-Boudier, H. 2006. Expert consensus document on arterial stiffness: methodological issues and clinical applications. *Eur Heart J*, 27, 2588-2605.

Lee, H. Y. & Oh, B. H. 2010. Aging and arterial stiffness. *Circ J*, 74, 2257-62.

Lewington, S., Clarke, R., Qizilbash, N., Peto, R. & Collins, R. 2002. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet*, 360, 1903-13.

Liang, Y. L., Teede, H., Kotsopoulos, D., Shiel, L., Cameron, J. D., Dart, A. M. & Mcgrath, B. P. 1998. Non-invasive measurements of arterial structure and function: repeatability, interrelationships and trial sample size. *Clin Sci (Lond)*, 95, 669-79.

Lihavainen, K., Sipila, S., Rantanen, T., Seppanen, J., Lavikainen, P., Sulkava, R. & Hartikainen, S. 2012. Effects of comprehensive geriatric intervention on physical performance among people aged 75 years and over. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 24, 331-8.

Ling, C. H., Taekema, D., De Craen, A. J., Gussekloo, J., Westendorp, R. G. & Maier, A. B. 2010. Handgrip strength and mortality in the oldest old population: the Leiden 85-plus study. *CMAJ*, 182, 429-35.

Lundback, B., Lindberg, A., Lindstrom, M., Ronmark, E., Jonsson, A. C., Jonsson, E., Larsson, L. G., Andersson, S., Sandstrom, T. & Larsson, K. 2003. Not 15 but 50% of smokers develop COPD?--Report from the Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies. *Respir Med*, 97, 115-22.

Lusis, A. J. 2000. Atherosclerosis. Nature, 407, 233-41.

Mackey, R. H., Sutton-Tyrrell, K., Vaitkevicius, P. V., Sakkinen, P. A., Lyles, M. F., Spurgeon, H. A., Lakatta, E. G. & Kuller, L. H. 2002. Correlates of aortic stiffness in elderly individuals: a subgroup of the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Am J Hypertens,* 15, 16-23.

Maclay, J. D. & MacNee, W. 2013. Cardiovascular disease in COPD: mechanisms. *Chest*, 143, 798-807.

Maclay, J. D., McAllister, D. A., Mills, N. L., Paterson, F. P., Ludlam, C. A., Drost, E. M., Newby, D. E. & MacNee, W. 2009. Vascular dysfunction in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 180, 513-20.

Maclay, J. D., McAllister, D. A., Rabinovich, R., Haq, I., Maxwell, S., Hartland, S., Connell, M., Murchison, J. T., Van Beek, E. J., Gray, R. D., Mills, N. L. & MacNee, W. 2012. Systemic elastin degradation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax,* 67, 606-12.

Magkos, F., Wang, X. & Mittendorfer, B. 2010. Metabolic actions of insulin in men and women. *Nutrition*, 26, 686-93.

Man, S. F., Xing, L., Connett, J. E., Anthonisen, N. R., Wise, R. A., Tashkin, D. P., Zhang, X., Vessey, R., Walker, T. G., Celli, B. R. & Sin, D. D. 2008. Circulating fibronectin to C-reactive protein ratio and mortality: a biomarker in COPD? *Eur Respir J*, 32, 1451-7.

Mancini, G. B., Etminan, M., Zhang, B., Levesque, L. E., Fitzgerald, J. M. & Brophy, J. M. 2006. Reduction of morbidity and mortality by statins, angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors, and angiotensin receptor blockers in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 47, 2554-60.

Mannino, D. M., Thorn, D., Swensen, A. & Holguin, F. 2008. Prevalence and outcomes of diabetes, hypertension and cardiovascular disease in COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 32, 962-9.

Mannino, D. M., Watt, G., Hole, D., Gillis, C., Hart, C., Mcconnachie, A., Davey Smith, G., Upton, M., Hawthorne, V., Sin, D. D., Man, S. F., Van Eeden, S., Mapel, D. W. & Vestbo, J. 2006. The natural history of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Respir J*, 27, 627-43.

Marin, A., Garcia-Aymerich, J., Sauleda, J., Belda, J., Millares, L., Garcia-Nunez, M., Serra, I., Benet, M., Agusti, A., Anto, J. M., Monso, E. & Grp, P.-C. S. 2012. Effect of
Bronchial Colonisation on Airway and Systemic Inflammation in Stable COPD. *Copd-Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease*, 9, 121-130.

Martin-Ruiz, C., Jagger, C., Kingston, A., Collerton, J., Catt, M., Davies, K., Dunn, M., Hilkens, C., Keavney, B., Pearce, S. H., Den Elzen, W. P., Talbot, D., Wiley, L., Bond, J., Mathers, J. C., Eccles, M. P., Robinson, L., James, O., Kirkwood, T. B. & Von Zglinicki, T. 2011. Assessment of a large panel of candidate biomarkers of ageing in the Newcastle 85+ study. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 132, 496-502.

Martyn, C. N. & Greenwald, S. E. 1997. Impaired synthesis of elastin in walls of aorta and large conduit arteries during early development as an initiating event in pathogenesis of systemic hypertension. *Lancet*, 350, 953-5.

McAllister, D. A., Maclay, J. D., Mills, N. L., Mair, G., Miller, J., Anderson, D., Newby, D. E., Murchison, J. T. & MacNee, W. 2007. Arterial stiffness is independently associated with emphysema severity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 176, 1208-14.

McEniery, C. M., Yasmin, Hall, I. R., Qasem, A., Wilkinson, I. B. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2005. Normal vascular aging: differential effects on wave reflection and aortic pulse wave velocity: the Anglo-Cardiff Collaborative Trial (ACCT). *J Am Coll Cardiol,* 46, 1753-60.

McEniery, C. M., Yasmin, Maki-Petaja, K. M., Mcdonnell, B. J., Munnery, M., Hickson, S. S., Franklin, S. S., Cockcroft, J. R. & Wilkinson, I. B. 2010. The impact of cardiovascular risk factors on aortic stiffness and wave reflections depends on age: the Anglo-Cardiff Collaborative Trial (ACCT III). *Hypertension*, 56, 591-7.

McGarvey, L. P., John, M., Anderson, J. A., Zvarich, M. & Wise, R. A. 2007. Ascertainment of cause-specific mortality in COPD: operations of the TORCH Clinical Endpoint Committee. *Thorax*, 62, 411-5.

Millar, J. A., Lever, A. F. & Burke, V. 1999. Pulse pressure as a risk factor for cardiovascular events in the MRC Mild Hypertension Trial. *J Hypertens*, 17, 1065-72.

Mills, N. L., Miller, J. J., Anand, A., Robinson, S. D., Frazer, G. A., Anderson, D.,
Breen, L., Wilkinson, I. B., McEniery, C. M., Donaldson, K., Newby, D. E. & MacNee,
W. 2008. Increased arterial stiffness in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary
disease: a mechanism for increased cardiovascular risk. *Thorax*, 63, 306-11.

Mitchell, G. F., Hwang, S. J., Vasan, R. S., Larson, M. G., Pencina, M. J., Hamburg, N. M., Vita, J. A., Levy, D. & Benjamin, E. J. 2010. Arterial stiffness and cardiovascular events: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*, 121, 505-11.

Mitchell, G. F., Parise, H., Benjamin, E. J., Larson, M. G., Keyes, M. J., Vita, J. A., Vasan, R. S. & Levy, D. 2004. Changes in arterial stiffness and wave reflection with advancing age in healthy men and women: the Framingham Heart Study. *Hypertension*, 43, 1239-45.

Mitnitski, A. B., Mogilner, A. J., Macknight, C. & Rockwood, K. 2002. The mortality rate as a function of accumulated deficits in a frailty index. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 123, 1457-60.

Morley, J. E., Haren, M. T., Rolland, Y. & Kim, M. J. 2006. Frailty. *Med Clin North Am*, 90, 837-47.

Morley, J. E., Vellas, B., Van Kan, G. A., Anker, S. D., Bauer, J. M., Bernabei, R., Cesari, M., Chumlea, W. C., Doehner, W., Evans, J., Fried, L. P., Guralnik, J. M., Katz, P. R., Malmstrom, T. K., Mccarter, R. J., Gutierrez Robledo, L. M., Rockwood, K., Von Haehling, S., Vandewoude, M. F. & Walston, J. 2013. Frailty consensus: a call to action. *J Am Med Dir Assoc*, 14, 392-7.

National Statistic. 2004. Royal College of Physicians and British Thoracic Society. Report of the 2003 National COPD Audit. Retrieved April 10, 2013, from https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/sites/default/files/ncrop-national-copd-audit-2003-

report.pdf

Najjar, S. S., Scuteri, A., Shetty, V., Wright, J. G., Muller, D. C., Fleg, J. L., Spurgeon, H. P., Ferrucci, L. & Lakatta, E. G. 2008. Pulse wave velocity is an independent

predictor of the longitudinal increase in systolic blood pressure and of incident hypertension in the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 51, 1377-83.

Newman, A. B., Gottdiener, J. S., Mcburnie, M. A., Hirsch, C. H., Kop, W. J., Tracy, R., Walston, J. D. & Fried, L. P. 2001. Associations of subclinical cardiovascular disease with frailty. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 56, M158-66.

Nunez, B., Sauleda, J., Anto, J. M., Julia, M. R., Orozco, M., Monso, E., Noguera, A., Gomez, F. P., Garcia-Aymerich, J. & Agusti, A. 2011. Anti-tissue antibodies are related to lung function in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 183, 1025-31.

O'brien, E., Mee, F., Atkins, N. & Thomas, M. 1996. Evaluation of three devices for self-measurement of blood pressure according to the revised British Hypertension Society Protocol: the Omron HEM-705CP, Philips HP5332, and Nissei DS-175. *Blood Press Monit,* 1, 55-61.

Palange, P., Ward, S. A., Carlsen, K. H., Casaburi, R., Gallagher, C. G., Gosselink,
R., O'donnell, D. E., Puente-Maestu, L., Schols, A. M., Singh, S. & Whipp, B. J. 2007.
Recommendations on the use of exercise testing in clinical practice. *Eur Respir J*, 29, 185-209.

Park, S. K., Richardson, C. R., Holleman, R. G. & Larson, J. L. 2013. Frailty in people with COPD, using the National Health and Nutrition Evaluation Survey dataset (2003-2006). *Heart & Lung*, 42, 163-70.

Park, S. W., Goodpaster, B. H., Lee, J. S., Kuller, L. H., Boudreau, R., De Rekeneire,
N., Harris, T. B., Kritchevsky, S., Tylavsky, F. A., Nevitt, M., Cho, Y. W. & Newman, A.
B. 2009. Excessive loss of skeletal muscle mass in older adults with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, 32, 1993-7.

Pastor-Barriuso, R., Banegas, J. R., Damian, J., Appel, L. J. & Guallar, E. 2003. Systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, and pulse pressure: an evaluation of their joint effect on mortality. *Ann Intern Med*, 139, 731-9.

Patel, A. R., & Hurst, J. R. 2011. Extrapulmonary comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: state of the art. *Expert Rev Respir Med*, 5, 647–662.

Patel, A. R., Kowlessar, B. S., Donaldson, G. C., Mackay, A. J., Singh, R., George, S.
N., Garcha, D. S., Wedzicha, J. A. & Hurst, J. R. 2013. Cardiovascular risk, myocardial injury, and exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 188, 1091-9.

Pauwels, R. A., Buist, A. S., Calverley, P. M., Jenkins, C. R., & Hurd, S. S. 2001.Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLBI/WHO Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) Workshop summary. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*,163, 1256–1276.

Perez-Padilla, R., Regalado, J., Vedal, S., Pare, P., Chapela, R., Sansores, R. & Selman, M. 1996. Exposure to biomass smoke and chronic airway disease in Mexican women. A case-control study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 154, 701-6.

Pillai, S. G., Ge, D., Zhu, G., Kong, X., Shianna, K. V., Need, A. C., Feng, S., Hersh,
C. P., Bakke, P., Gulsvik, A., Ruppert, A., Lodrup Carlsen, K. C., Roses, A.,
Anderson, W., Rennard, S. I., Lomas, D. A., Silverman, E. K. & Goldstein, D. B. 2009.
A genome-wide association study in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD):
identification of two major susceptibility loci. *PLoS Genet*, 5, e1000421.

Pitta, F., Troosters, T., Probst, V. S., Spruit, M. A., Decramer, M. & Gosselink, R. 2006. Physical activity and hospitalization for exacerbation of COPD. *Chest*, 129, 536-44.

Pluijm, S. M., Graafmans, W. C., Bouter, L. M. & Lips, P. 1999. Ultrasound measurements for the prediction of osteoporotic fractures in elderly people. *Osteoporos Int,* 9, 550-6.

Podsiadlo, D. & Richardson, S. 1991. The timed "Up & Go": a test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly persons. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 39, 142-8.

Portney, L. & Watkins, M. 2009. *Foundations of Clinical Research: Applications to Practice.*, Pearson Education, Inc.; Upper Saddle River, N.J.

Puts, M. T., Lips, P. & Deeg, D. J. 2005a. Static and dynamic measures of frailty predicted decline in performance-based and self-reported physical functioning. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 58, 1188-98.

Puts, M. T., Visser, M., Twisk, J. W., Deeg, D. J. & Lips, P. 2005b. Endocrine and inflammatory markers as predictors of frailty. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*, 63, 403-11.

Qaseem, A., Snow, V., Shekelle, P., Hopkins, R., Jr., Forciea, M. A. & Owens, D. K. 2008. Screening for osteoporosis in men: a clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Ann Intern Med*, 148, 680-4.

Rabe, K. F., Hurd, S., Anzueto, A., Barnes, P. J., Buist, S. A., Calverley, P., Fukuchi, Y., Jenkins, C., Rodriguez-Roisin, R., Van Weel, C. & Zielinski, J. 2007. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: GOLD executive summary. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 176, 532-55.

Rana, J. S., Mittleman, M. A., Sheikh, J., Hu, F. B., Manson, J. E., Colditz, G. A., Speizer, F. E., Barr, R. G. & Camargo, C. A. 2004. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma, and risk of type 2 diabetes in women. *Diabetes Care,* 27, 2478-2484.

Rankin, G. & Stokes, M. 1998. Reliability of assessment tools in rehabilitation: an illustration of appropriate statistical analyses. *Clin Rehabil*, 12, 187-99.

Rasmussen, B. B., Fujita, S., Wolfe, R. R., Mittendorfer, B., Roy, M., Rowe, V. L. & Volpi, E. 2006. Insulin resistance of muscle protein metabolism in aging. *Faseb Journal*, 20, 768-9.

Recio-Rodriguez, J. I., Gomez-Marcos, M. A., Patino-Alonso, M. C., Agudo-Conde, C., Rodriguez-Sanchez, E. & Garcia-Ortiz, L. 2012. Abdominal obesity vs general obesity for identifying arterial stiffness, subclinical atherosclerosis and wave reflection in healthy, diabetics and hypertensive. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 12, 3.

Revill, S. M., Morgan, M. D., Singh, S. J., Williams, J. & Hardman, A. E. 1999. The endurance shuttle walk: a new field test for the assessment of endurance capacity in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax*, 54, 213-22.

Rich, J. D., Archer, S. L. & Rich, S. 2012. Noninvasive cardiac output measurements in patients with pulmonary hypertension. *Eur Respir J.* 

Rittweger, J., Beller, G., Ehrig, J., Jung, C., Koch, U., Ramolla, J., Schmidt, F., Newitt, D., Majumdar, S., Schiessl, H. & Felsenberg, D. 2000. Bone-muscle strength indices for the human lower leg. *Bone*, 27, 319-26.

Roberts, H. C., Denison, H. J., Martin, H. J., Patel, H. P., Syddall, H., Cooper, C., & Sayer, A. A. 2011. A review of the measurement of grip strength in clinical and epidemiological studies: Towards a standardised approach. *Age and Ageing*, 40, 423–429.

Rockwood, K. 2005. Frailty and its definition: a worthy challenge. *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 53, 1069-70.

Rockwood, K. & Mitnitski, A. 2006. Limits to deficit accumulation in elderly people. *Mech Ageing Dev,* 127, 494-6.

Rockwood, K. & Mitnitski, A. 2007. Frailty in relation to the accumulation of deficits. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 62, 722-7.

Rockwood, K. & Mitnitski, A. 2011. Frailty defined by deficit accumulation and geriatric medicine defined by frailty. *Clin Geriatr Med*, 27, 17-26.

Rockwood, K., Mitnitski, A., Song, X., Steen, B. & Skoog, I. 2006. Long-term risks of death and institutionalization of elderly people in relation to deficit accumulation at age 70. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 54, 975-9.

Rockwood, K., Song, X., Macknight, C., Bergman, H., Hogan, D. B., Mcdowell, I. & Mitnitski, A. 2005. A global clinical measure of fitness and frailty in elderly people. *CMAJ*, 173, 489-95.

Rodriguez-Manas, L., Feart, C., Mann, G., Vina, J., Chatterji, S., Chodzko-Zajko, W., Gonzalez-Colaco Harmand, M., Bergman, H., Carcaillon, L., Nicholson, C., Scuteri, A., Sinclair, A., Pelaez, M., Van Der Cammen, T., Beland, F., Bickenbach, J., Delamarche, P., Ferrucci, L., Fried, L. P., Gutierrez-Robledo, L. M., Rockwood, K., Rodriguez Artalejo, F., Serviddio, G. & Vega, E. 2013. Searching for an operational definition of frailty: a Delphi method based consensus statement: the frailty operative definition-consensus conference project. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 68, 62-7.

Roman, M. J. 2012. Association of central and peripheral pulse pressure with intermediate cardiovascular phenotypes. *J Hypertens*, 30, 834-5; author reply 835.

Roman, M. J., Devereux, R. B., Kizer, J. R., Lee, E. T., Galloway, J. M., Ali, T., Umans, J. G. & Howard, B. V. 2007. Central pressure more strongly relates to vascular disease and outcome than does brachial pressure: the Strong Heart Study. *Hypertension*, 50, 197-203.

Romero-Ortuno, R. & Kenny, R. A. 2012. The frailty index in Europeans: association with age and mortality. *Age and Ageing*, 41, 684-689.

Rossi, A. P., Watson, N. L., Newman, A. B., Harris, T. B., Kritchevsky, S. B., Bauer, D. C., Satterfield, S., Goodpaster, B. H. & Zamboni, M. 2011a. Effects of body composition and adipose tissue distribution on respiratory function in elderly men and women: the health, aging, and body composition study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci,* 66, 801-8.

Rossi, P., Frances, Y., Kingwell, B. A. & Ahimastos, A. A. 2011b. Gender differences in artery wall biomechanical properties throughout life. *J Hypertens*, 29, 1023-33.

Rothman, M. D., Leo-Summers, L. & Gill, T. M. 2008. Prognostic significance of potential frailty criteria. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 56, 2211-116.

Rovina, N., Dima, E., Gerassimou, C., Kollintza, A., Gratziou, C. & Roussos, C. 2009. Interleukin-18 in induced sputum: Association with lung function in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiratory Medicine*, 103, 1056-1062.

Russo, C., Jin, Z., Palmieri, V., Homma, S., Rundek, T., Elkind, M. S., Sacco, R. L. & Di Tullio, M. R. 2012. Arterial stiffness and wave reflection: sex differences and relationship with left ventricular diastolic function. *Hypertension*, 60, 362-8.

Rutten, E. P., Breyer, M. K., Spruit, M. A., Hofstra, T., Van Melick, P. P., Schols, A. M. & Wouters, E. F. 2010. Abdominal fat mass contributes to the systemic inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Nutr,* 29, 756-60.

Rutten, E. P., Calverley, P. M., Casaburi, R., Agusti, A., Bakke, P., Celli, B., Coxson,
H. O., Crim, C., Lomas, D. A., MacNee, W., Miller, B. E., Rennard, S. I., Scanlon, P.
D., Silverman, E. K., Tal-Singer, R., Vestbo, J., Watkins, M. L. & Wouters, E. F. 2013.
Changes in body composition in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease:
do they influence patient-related outcomes? *Ann Nutr Metab*, 63, 239-47.

Rutten, F. H., Cramer, M. J., Grobbee, D. E., Sachs, A. P., Kirkels, J. H., Lammers, J. W. & Hoes, A. W. 2005a. Unrecognized heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Eur Heart J*, 26, 1887-94.

Rutten, F. H., Moons, K. G., Cramer, M. J., Grobbee, D. E., Zuithoff, N. P., Lammers, J. W. & Hoes, A. W. 2005b. Recognising heart failure in elderly patients with stable chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in primary care: cross sectional diagnostic study. *BMJ*, 331, 1379.

Sabit, R., Bolton, C. E., Edwards, P. H., Pettit, R. J., Evans, W. D., McEniery, C. M., Wilkinson, I. B., Cockcroft, J. R. & Shale, D. J. 2007. Arterial stiffness and

osteoporosis in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 175, 1259-65.

Sabit, R., Bolton, C. E., Fraser, A. G., Edwards, J. M., Edwards, P. H., Ionescu, A. A., Cockcroft, J. R. & Shale, D. J. 2010a. Sub-clinical left and right ventricular dysfunction in patients with COPD. *Respir Med*, 104, 1171-8.

Sabit, R., Thomas, P., Shale, D. J., Collins, P. & Linnane, S. J. 2010b. The effects of hypoxia on markers of coagulation and systemic inflammation in patients with COPD. *Chest*, 138, 47-51.

Salvi, S. S. & Barnes, P. J. 2009. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in nonsmokers. *Lancet*, 374, 733-43.

Sandford, A. J. & Silverman, E. K. 2002. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. 1: Susceptibility factors for COPD the genotype-environment interaction. *Thorax*, 57, 736-41.

Sattar, N., Wannamethee, G., Sarwar, N., Tchernova, J., Cherry, L., Wallace, A. M., Whincup, P. H. 2006. Adiponectin and coronary heart disease: A prospective study and meta-analysis. *Circ*, 114, 623–629.

Savage, M. T., Ferro, C. J., Pinder, S. J. & Tomson, C. R. 2002. Reproducibility of derived central arterial waveforms in patients with chronic renal failure. *Clin Sci (Lond),* 103, 59-65.

Savva, G. M., Donoghue, O. A., Horgan, F., O'regan, C., Cronin, H. & Kenny, R. A. 2013. Using timed up-and-go to identify frail members of the older population. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci*, 68, 441-6.

Scheffer, M. 2010. Complex systems: Foreseeing tipping points. *Nature*, 467, 411-2. Schlaich, C., Minne, H. W., Bruckner, T., Wagner, G., Gebest, H. J., Grunze, M., Ziegler, R. & Leidig-Bruckner, G. 1998. Reduced pulmonary function in patients with spinal osteoporotic fractures. *Osteoporos Int*, 8, 261-7.

Schols, A. M., Broekhuizen, R., Weling-Scheepers, C. A. & Wouters, E. F. 2005. Body composition and mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Clin Nutr,* 82, 53-9.

Schols, A. M., Slangen, J., Volovics, L. & Wouters, E. F. 1998. Weight loss is a reversible factor in the prognosis of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 157, 1791-7.

Schunemann, H. J., Dorn, J., Grant, B. J., Winkelstein, W., Jr. & Trevisan, M. 2000. Pulmonary function is a long-term predictor of mortality in the general population: 29year follow-up of the Buffalo Health Study. *Chest*, 118, 656-64.

Sengstock, D. M., Vaitkevicius, P. V. & Supiano, M. A. 2005. Arterial stiffness is related to insulin resistance in nondiabetic hypertensive older adults. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 90, 2823-7.

Silverman, E. K., Chapman, H. A., Drazen, J. M., Weiss, S. T., Rosner, B., Campbell, E. J., O'donnell, W. J., Reilly, J. J., Ginns, L., Mentzer, S., Wain, J. & Speizer, F. E. 1998. Genetic epidemiology of severe, early-onset chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Risk to relatives for airflow obstruction and chronic bronchitis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 157, 1770-8.

Sin, D. D. & Man, S. F. 2005. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a novel risk factor for cardiovascular disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol*, 83, 8-13.

Sin, D. D., Man, S. F., Marciniuk, D. D., Ford, G., Fitzgerald, M., Wong, E., York, E.,
Mainra, R. R., Ramesh, W., Melenka, L. S., Wilde, E., Cowie, R. L., Williams, D., Gan,
W. Q. & Rousseau, R. 2008. The effects of fluticasone with or without salmeterol on
systemic biomarkers of inflammation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 177, 1207-14.

Siris, E. S., Brenneman, S. K., Miller, P. D., Barrett-Connor, E., Chen, Y. T., Sherwood, L. M. & Abbott, T. A. 2004. Predictive value of low BMD for 1-year fracture outcomes is similar for postmenopausal women ages 50-64 and 65 and Older: results from the National Osteoporosis Risk Assessment (NORA). J Bone Miner Res, 19, 1215-20.

Skwarski, K. M., Morrison, D., Barratt, A., Lee, M. & MacNee, W. 1998. Effects of hypoxia on renal hormonal balance in normal subjects and in patients with COPD. *Respir Med*, 92, 1331-6.

Sliem, H. & Nasr, G. 2010. Aortic stiffness in prediabetic adults: relationship to insulin resistance. *J Clin Med Res*, 2, 62-7.

Slinde, F., Gronberg, A., Engstrom, C. P., Rossander-Hulthen, L. & Larsson, S. 2005. Body composition by bioelectrical impedance predicts mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease patients. *Respir Med*, 99, 1004-9.

Smeeth, L., Thomas, S. L., Hall, A. J., Hubbard, R., Farrington, P., & Vallance, P. 2004. Risk of myocardial infarction and stroke after acute infection or vaccination. *N Engl J Med*, 351, 2611–2618.

Sood, A. 2010. Obesity, adipokines, and lung disease. *J Appl Physiology* (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 108, 744–753.

Song, X., Mitnitski, A. & Rockwood, K. 2010. Prevalence and 10-year outcomes of frailty in older adults in relation to deficit accumulation. *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 58, 681-7. Soriano, J. B., Visick, G. T., Muellerova, H., Payvandi, N. & Hansell, A. L. 2005. Patterns of comorbidities in newly diagnosed COPD and asthma in primary care. *Chest,* 128, 2099-107.

Spruit, M. A., Watkins, M. L., Edwards, L. D., Vestbo, J., Calverley, P. M., Pinto-Plata, V., Celli, B. R., Tal-Singer, R. & Wouters, E. F. 2010. Determinants of poor 6-min walking distance in patients with COPD: the ECLIPSE cohort. *Respir Med,* 104, 849-57.

Squara, P., Denjean, D., Estagnasie, P., Brusset, A., Dib, J. C. & Dubois, C. 2007. Noninvasive cardiac output monitoring (NICOM): a clinical validation. *Intensive Care Med*, 33, 1191-4. Stewart, A. & Reid, D. M. 2000. Precision of quantitative ultrasound: comparison of three commercial scanners. *Bone*, 27, 139-43.

Stoller, J. K. & Aboussouan, L. S. 2005. Alpha1-antitrypsin deficiency. *Lancet,* 365, 2225-36.

Stone, I. S., John, L., Petersen, S. E., & Barnes, N. C. 2013. Reproducibility of arterial stiffness and wave reflections in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: the contribution of lung hyperinflation and a comparison of techniques. *Respir Med*, 107(11), 1700–8.

Sun, Q., Wang, A., Jin, X., Natanzon, A., Duquaine, D., Brook, R. D., ... Rajagopalan, S. (2005). Long-term air pollution exposure and acceleration of atherosclerosis and vascular inflammation in an animal model. *JAMA*, 294, 3003–3010.

Sutherland, E. R. & Cherniack, R. M. 2004. Management of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *N Engl J Med*, 350, 2689-97.

Sutton-Tyrrell, K., Najjar, S. S., Boudreau, R. M., Venkitachalam, L., Kupelian, V., Simonsick, E. M., Havlik, R., Lakatta, E. G., Spurgeon, H., Kritchevsky, S., Pahor, M., Bauer, D. & Newman, A. 2005. Elevated aortic pulse wave velocity, a marker of arterial stiffness, predicts cardiovascular events in well-functioning older adults. *Circulation*, 111, 3384-90.

Sutton-Tyrrell, K., Newman, A., Simonsick, E. M., Havlik, R., Pahor, M., Lakatta, E., Spurgeon, H. & Vaitkevicius, P. 2001. Aortic stiffness is associated with visceral adiposity in older adults enrolled in the study of health, aging, and body composition. *Hypertension*, 38, 429-33.

Suwa, T., Hogg, J. C., Quinlan, K. B., Ohgami, A., Vincent, R., & van Eeden, S. F. (2002). Particulate air pollution induces progression of atherosclerosis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 39, 935–42.

Takabatake, N., Nakamura, H., Abe, S., Hino, T., Saito, H., Yuki, H., Kato, S. & Tomoike, H. 1999. Circulating leptin in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 159, 1215-9.

Takabatake, N., Nakamura, H., Abe, S., Inoue, S., Hino, T., Saito, H., Yuki, H., Kato, S. & Tomoike, H. 2000. The relationship between chronic hypoxemia and activation of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha system in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 161, 1179-84.

Tanaka, H., DeSouza, C. A., & Seals, D. R. 1998. Absence of age-related increase in central arterial stiffness in physically active women. *Arteriscler Thromb Vascu Biol*, 18, 127–132.

Taneda, K., Namekata, T., Hughes, D., Suzuki, K., Knopp, R. & Ozasa, K. 2004. Association of lung function with atherosclerotic risk factors among Japanese Americans: Seattle Nikkei Health Study. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 31 Suppl 2, S31-4.

Tarjan, E., Magyar, P., Vaczi, Z., Lantos, A. & Vaszar, L. 1994. Longitudinal lung function study in heterozygous PiMZ phenotype subjects. *Eur Respir J*, *7*, 2199-204.

Te Velde, S. J., Ferreira, I., Twisk, J. W., Stehouwer, C. D., Van Mechelen, W. & Kemper, H. C. 2004. Birthweight and arterial stiffness and blood pressure in adulthood--results from the Amsterdam Growth and Health Longitudinal Study. *Int J Epidemiol,* 33, 154-61.

Teoh, W. L., Price, J. F., Williamson, R. M., Payne, R. A., Van Look, L. A., Reynolds, R. M., Frier, B. M., Wilkinson, I. B., Webb, D. J. & Strachan, M. W. 2013. Metabolic parameters associated with arterial stiffness in older adults with Type 2 diabetes: the Edinburgh Type 2 diabetes study. *J Hypertens*, 31, 1010-7.

Ter Avest, E., Holewijn, S., Stalenhoef, A. F. H., & de Graaf, J. 2005. Variation in noninvasive measurements of vascular function in healthy volunteers during daytime. *Clin Sci*, 108, 425–431. Thomsen, M., Dahl, M., Lange, P., Vestbo, J. & Nordestgaard, B. G. 2012. Inflammatory biomarkers and comorbidities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 186, 982-8.

Tockman, M. S., Pearson, J. D., Fleg, J. L., Metter, E. J., Kao, S. Y., Rampal, K. G., Cruise, L. J. & Fozard, J. L. 1995. Rapid decline in FEV1. A new risk factor for coronary heart disease mortality. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 151, 390-8.

Tsoumakidou, M., Koutsopoulos, A. V., Tzanakis, N., Dambaki, K., Tzortzaki, E., Zakynthinos, S., Jeffery, P. K. & Siafakas, N. M. 2009. Decreased small airway and alveolar CD83+ dendritic cells in COPD. *Chest*, 136, 726-33.

Tsuda, Y., Noguchi, T., Mochizuki, H., Makino, F., Nanjo, Y., Sawabe, M. & Takahashi, H. 2009. Patients with mild-to-moderate asthma may develop clinically significant chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respirology*, 14, 529-36.

Tzortzaki, E. G., Tsoumakidou, M., Makris, D. & Siafakas, N. M. 2006. Laboratory markers for COPD in "susceptible" smokers. *Clin Chim Acta*, 364, 124-38.

Utescu, M. S., Couture, V., Mac-Way, F., De Serres, S. A., Marquis, K., Lariviere, R., Desmeules, S., Lebel, M., Boutouyrie, P. & Agharazii, M. 2013. Determinants of Progression of Aortic Stiffness in Hemodialysis Patients: A Prospective Longitudinal Study. *Hypertension*, 62, 154-160.

Valvi, D., Mannino, D. M., Mullerova, H. & Tal-Singer, R. 2012. Fibrinogen, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and outcomes in two United States cohorts. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis*, 7, 173-82.

Van Den Borst, B., Koster, A., Yu, B., Gosker, H. R., Meibohm, B., Bauer, D. C., Kritchevsky, S. B., Liu, Y., Newman, A. B., Harris, T. B. & Schols, A. M. 2011. Is agerelated decline in lean mass and physical function accelerated by obstructive lung disease or smoking? *Thorax*, 66, 961-9. Van Eeden, S., Leipsic, J., Paul Man, S. F. & Sin, D. D. 2012. The relationship between lung inflammation and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med,* 186, 11-6.

Van Gestel, A. J., Kohler, M. & Clarenbach, C. F. 2012. Sympathetic overactivity and cardiovascular disease in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *Discov Med*, 14, 359-68.

Vanfleteren, L. E., Spruit, M. A., Groenen, M., Gaffron, S., Van Empel, V. P., Bruijnzeel, P. L., Rutten, E. P., Op 'T Roodt, J., Wouters, E. F. & Franssen, F. M. 2013. Clusters of comorbidities based on validated objective measurements and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 187, 728-35.

Vasikaran, S., Cooper, C., Eastell, R., Griesmacher, A., Morris, H. A., Trenti, T. & Kanis, J. A. 2011. International Osteoporosis Foundation and International Federation of Clinical Chemistry and Laboratory Medicine position on bone marker standards in osteoporosis. *Clin Chem Lab Med*, 49, 1271-4.

Vaz Fragoso, C. A., Enright, P. L., Mcavay, G., Van Ness, P. H. & Gill, T. M. 2012. Frailty and respiratory impairment in older persons. *Am J Med*, 125, 79-86.

Vernooy, J. H., Kucukaycan, M., Jacobs, J. A., Chavannes, N. H., Buurman, W. A., Dentener, M. A. & Wouters, E. F. 2002. Local and systemic inflammation in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: soluble tumor necrosis factor receptors are increased in sputum. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 166, 1218-24.

Vestbo, J., Edwards, L. D., Scanlon, P. D., Yates, J. C., Agusti, A., Bakke, P., Calverley, P. M., Celli, B., Coxson, H. O., Crim, C., Lomas, D. A., MacNee, W., Miller, B. E., Silverman, E. K., Tal-Singer, R., Wouters, E. & Rennard, S. I. 2011. Changes in forced expiratory volume in 1 second over time in COPD. *N Engl J Med*, 365, 1184-92. Vestbo, J., Prescott, E., Almdal, T., Dahl, M., Nordestgaard, B. G., Andersen, T., Sorensen, T. I. & Lange, P. 2006. Body mass, fat-free body mass, and prognosis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease from a random population sample: findings from the Copenhagen City Heart Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 173, 79-83.

Viccaro, L. J., Perera, S. & Studenski, S. A. 2011. Is timed up and go better than gait speed in predicting health, function, and falls in older adults? *J Am Geriatr Soc,* 59, 887-92.

Vlachopoulos, C., Aznaouridis, K. & Stefanadis, C. 2010. Prediction of cardiovascular events and all-cause mortality with arterial stiffness: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 55, 1318-27.

Vlachopoulos, C., Kosmopoulou, F., Panagiotakos, D., Ioakeimidis, N., Alexopoulos, N., Pitsavos, C. & Stefanadis, C. 2004. Smoking and caffeine have a synergistic detrimental effect on aortic stiffness and wave reflections. *J Am Coll Cardiol,* 44, 1911-7.

Vonk-Noordegraaf, A., Marcus, J. T., Holverda, S., Roseboom, B. & Postmus, P. E. 2005. Early changes of cardiac structure and function in COPD patients with mild hypoxemia. *Chest*, 127, 1898-903.

Walston, J., Hadley, E. C., Ferrucci, L., Guralnik, J. M., Newman, A. B., Studenski, S. A., Ershler, W. B., Harris, T. & Fried, L. P. 2006. Research agenda for frailty in older adults: toward a better understanding of physiology and etiology: summary from the American Geriatrics Society/National Institute on Aging Research Conference on Frailty in Older Adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 54, 991-1001.

Walston, J., Mcburnie, M. A., Newman, A., Tracy, R. P., Kop, W. J., Hirsch, C. H., Gottdiener, J. & Fried, L. P. 2002. Frailty and activation of the inflammation and coagulation systems with and without clinical comorbidities: results from the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Arch Intern Med*, 162, 2333-41.

Walter, R. E., Beiser, A., Givelber, R. J., O'connor, G. T. & Gottlieb, D. J. 2003. Association between glycemic state and lung function: the Framingham Heart Study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 167, 911-6.

Waschki, B., Kirsten, A., Holz, O., Muller, K. C., Meyer, T., Watz, H. & Magnussen, H. 2011. Physical activity is the strongest predictor of all-cause mortality in patients with COPD: a prospective cohort study. *Chest*, 140, 331-42.

Watz, H., Waschki, B., Boehme, C., Claussen, M., Meyer, T. & Magnussen, H. 2008. Extrapulmonary effects of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on physical activity: a cross-sectional study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 177, 743-51.

Watz, H., Waschki, B., Meyer, T. & Magnussen, H. 2009. Physical activity in patients with COPD. *Eur Respir J*, 33, 262-72.

Wendt, T., Bucciarelli, L., Qu, W., Lu, Y., Yan, S. F., Stern, D. M. & Schmidt, A. M. 2002. Receptor for advanced glycation endproducts (RAGE) and vascular inflammation: insights into the pathogenesis of macrovascular complications in diabetes. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, *4*, 228-37.

Whelton, S. P., Blankstein, R., Al-Mallah, M. H., Lima, J. A., Bluemke, D. A., Hundley, W. G., Polak, J. F., Blumenthal, R. S., Nasir, K. & Blaha, M. J. 2013. Association of resting heart rate with carotid and aortic arterial stiffness: multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Hypertension*, 62, 477-84.

WHO 1994. Assessment of fracture risk and its application to screening for postmenopausal osteoporosis. *In:* 843, T. R. S. (ed.). Geneva.

Wilkinson, I. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2007. Cholesterol, lipids and arterial stiffness. *Adv Cardiol,* 44, 261-77.

Wilkinson, I. B. & Cockcroft, J. R. 2000. Mind the gap: pulse pressure, cardiovascular risk, and isolated systolic hypertension. *Am J Hypertens*, 13, 1315-7.

Wilkinson, I. B., Cockcroft, J. R. & Webb, D. J. 1998. Pulse wave analysis and arterial stiffness. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*, 32 Suppl 3, S33-7.

Wilkinson, I. B., Maccallum, H., Flint, L., Cockcroft, J. R., Newby, D. E. & Webb, D. J. 2000. The influence of heart rate on augmentation index and central arterial pressure in humans. *J Physiol*, 525 Pt 1, 263-70.

Williams, B., Poulter, N. R., Brown, M. J., Davis, M., Mcinnes, G. T., Potter, J. F., Sever, P. S. & Thom, S. M. 2004. British Hypertension Society guidelines for hypertension management 2004 (BHS-IV): summary. *BMJ*, 328, 634-40.

Williams, S. G., Cooke, G. A., Wright, D. J., Parsons, W. J., Riley, R. L., Marshall, P. & Tan, L. B. 2001. Peak exercise cardiac power output; a direct indicator of cardiac function strongly predictive of prognosis in chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J*, 22, 1496-503.

Willum-Hansen, T., Staessen, J. A., Torp-Pedersen, C., Rasmussen, S., Thijs, L., Ibsen, H. & Jeppesen, J. 2006. Prognostic value of aortic pulse wave velocity as index of arterial stiffness in the general population. *Circulation*, 113, 664-70.

Woods, N. F., Lacroix, A. Z., Gray, S. L., Aragaki, A., Cochrane, B. B., Brunner, R. L., Masaki, K., Murray, A. & Newman, A. B. 2005. Frailty: emergence and consequences in women aged 65 and older in the Women's Health Initiative Observational Study. *J Am Geriatr Soc*, 53, 1321-30.

Xu, X., Weiss, S. T., Rijcken, B. & Schouten, J. P. 1994. Smoking, changes in smoking habits, and rate of decline in FEV1: new insight into gender differences. *Eur Respir J*, 7, 1056-61.

Yach, D., Hawkes, C., Gould, C. L. & Hofman, K. J. 2004. The global burden of chronic diseases: overcoming impediments to prevention and control. *JAMA*, 291, 2616-22.

Yasmin, McEniery, C. M., O'shaughnessy, K. M., Harnett, P., Arshad, A., Wallace, S., Maki-Petaja, K., Mcdonnell, B., Ashby, M. J., Brown, J., Cockcroft, J. R. & Wilkinson, I. B. 2006. Variation in the human matrix metalloproteinase-9 gene is associated with arterial stiffness in healthy individuals. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 26, 1799-805. Yoon, H., Li, Y., Man, S. F. P., Tashkin, D., Wise, R. a, Connett, J. E., Sin, D. D. 2011.
The complex relationship of serum adiponectin to COPD outcomes. *Chest*, 1–8.
Zieman, S. J., Melenovsky, V. & Kass, D. A. 2005. Mechanisms, pathophysiology, and therapy of arterial stiffness. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 25, 932-43.
Zureik M, Benetos A, Neukirch C, Courbon D, Bean K, Thomas F, Ducimetiere P. 2001. Reduced pulmonary function is associated with central arterial stiffness in men.

Am J Respir Crit Care Med,164:2181–2185.

#### **Appendix A: Participant Information Sheet for Patients**





#### **Dennis J Shale MD**

Professor of Respiratory Medicine

**J R Cockroft** 

Professor of Cardiology

Nichola S Gale PhD

**Research Associate** 

Department of Respiratory Medicine Cardiff University School of Medicine Level 1, Wales Heart Research Institute Heath park Cardiff CF14 4XN

"Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation - ARCADE"

You are invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. One of our research team members will go through this sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with relatives, friends and your GP if you wish. We feel that this would take about 15 minutes to go through. Please ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. This study is funded for the first three years by a research grant from GlaxoSmithKline.

## Why are we doing this study?

As we get older, our arteries generally stiffen over a period of time. This leads to an increase in blood pressure and may place us at a greater risk of strokes and heart attacks. A similar process occurs in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) causing premature arterial stiffening. However, we are not sure how quickly their arteries stiffen, and whether this is related to the severity of COPD. Also, the reasons for arterial stiffening in COPD are not well understood. We now have the means to assess arterial stiffness and the aim of this study is to measure how quickly arteries stiffen over time in COPD, and what factors are associated with this.

# Why have I been asked to participate?

You have been asked to participate because you fall into the following group:

- Between 35-80 years
- Have a diagnosis of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Individuals who fall in this categories have been similarly approached by a letter and we are looking to recruit 1500 patients with COPD.

# Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to take part you will be asked to sign a consent form. However, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you receive.

# What will happen to me if I take part?

# Visit 0:

If you agree to take part, you will be asked to attend an initial visit lasting approximately 1 hour at a clinic at the University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff or your General Practitioner's surgery if it is one of the participating research sites. Here we will go through the information sheet, consent form and obtain a detailed lifestyle and medical history from you in addition to a medical examination.

You will then be requested to make 3 visits to the Wales Heart Research Institute at University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, spaced over the next 5 years. All measurements made at these visits will be the same and each visit will last approximately 2 hours. Visit 1 will be baseline, visit 2 will be 2 years and visit 3 will be 5 years following your baseline visit.

# Visit 1:

It would be preferable if you could refrain from smoking for at least 6 hours prior to attending. The following measurements will be made:

- We will check your height, weight and hip and waist circumference (using a tape).
- Blood pressure: After lying down for 15 minutes, you will have your blood pressure taken, just like at your General Practitioner's surgery.
- Arterial stiffness measurements: A small, pencil-like probe will be placed on the artery (blood vessel) at your wrist, neck and upper leg to calculate how stiff your arteries are. We will also record an electrocardiogram (ECG) with stickers on your chest to track small changes in your heart rate.

- Cardiac output: We will place some stickers on your chest and neck and measure how much blood is being pumped around with each heart beat.
- Lung function tests: You will then be asked to blow out as hard as you can into a tube after inhaling salbutamol (a safe drug using an inhaler with a spacer device) unless contraindicated to measure your lung function (the size of your lungs and how quickly you can empty them).
- Measurement of body composition: At this point we will check the proportion of muscle and fat tissue in your body by asking you to stand barefoot on a machine with hand grips. A tiny electric current which is not painful or harmful in any way is then passed and the measurements recorded. None of these measurements are painful.
- Hand-grip strength: This will be measured using a spring device.
- Bone density scan: We will then measure the bone density in your heels by using an ultrasound device which has no radiation.
- Blood sample: We will then ask you to give a blood sample of approximately 50 mls (5 tablespoons of blood) from your arm. This sample is used to measure various levels of naturally occurring substances in the blood, (ex: cholesterol, glucose and inflammatory molecules). This blood sample will be disposed after the study is completed in 5 years.
- Timed up and go (TUG) test: You will be requested to get up from a chair, walk to a distance of 3 metres, turn around, walk back and sit down again while we measure the time taken to do so.
- 6-minute walking test: You will then be requested to walk for 6 minutes on a flat surface at your own pace with breaks if necessary while we also check your oxygen levels in the blood using a non-invasive probe on your finger.
- Urine sample: Finally we will ask you for a urine sample (20ml or equivalent of 4 teaspoons) in a container to test for certain molecules.

A small proportion of participants will be invited to attend repeat assessments within 2 weeks of the assessment visit 1. They will be given activity monitors to get an idea of their exercise levels in real life.

#### Visits 2 and 3:

The data collected on subsequent visits (2 years & 5 years later) will be compared with the baseline to demonstrate any changes in blood vessel stiffening, inflammatory molecules in blood and evolution of cardiovascular risk factors. Data generated from the study will be stored at the WHRI for a period of 10 years in the safe custody of Professor D J Shale.

#### Will there be any side-effects?

Taking blood may lead to minor discomfort, but only experienced people will take blood samples.

### Are there any risks involved in taking part?

Apart from the blood sample, all of the measurements are non-invasive and we don't foresee any risks involved.

#### Are there any possible benefits to taking part?

You will have a detailed assessment of your blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors (eg glucose, cholesterol levels) and we will be happy to make your results available to your General Practitioner if you agree.

#### Will my taking part in this study be confidential?

By consenting to take part in this research, you will consent to the collection, processing, disclosure and transfer of your personal data for medical research purposes only. Named information will be sent to the NHS Central Register and you will be flagged by the NHS Information Centre (NHS IC) for the purpose of follow-ups. Any data that is sent will be encrypted and we will follow ethical and legal practice to ensure that all information about you is handled in confidence. This is done to identify any new health problems that you may develop in relation to the heart while you are enrolled in our study. Information held by the NHS and records maintained by the General Register Office may be used to keep in touch with you and follow your health status. Your data will not be available to GSK as they are financially sponsoring this as an independent study.

#### Will my GP be informed?

The doctor in charge of the study will inform your GP of your participation in the study with your consent. In addition with your permission, they will be informed of any clinically relevant results that may become available during the study.

#### What will happen to the study results?

The results of the study may be published in scientific journals or presented at medical conferences, a few months after completing the study. You will not be identified in any report or publication. An overall summary report (fully anonymised) will be sent to your

General practitioner at the end of the study. You will be able to access this through your GP upon the completion of the study.

## What happens if something goes wrong?

The doctors involved in the study, and the Wales Heart Research Institute have suitable indemnity insurance if you are harmed due to someone's negligence. However, there are no special compensation arrangements for non-negligent harm. Regardless of this, if you wish to complain about any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated during the course of this study, the normal National Health Service complaints mechanisms will be available to you.

### What will happen if I withdraw from the study?

If you withdraw from the study, this will in no way affect your future medical care. Data or tissue already collected up to the point of withdrawal will be anonymised and utilised for study purposes.

The same would apply if capacity to consent is lost during the study. You will be withdrawn from the study and data or tissue already collected under consent will be anonymised and utilised for study purposes.

## Will I be reimbursed for any travel expenses?

Travel expenses of up to £30 will be given as necessary for trips to hospital to cover bus, mileage and parking. Taxis can also be ordered from our department to pick you up or drop you off.

# Who is organising this study?

This study is being organised by the Wales Heart Research Institute of the Cardiff University. The investigators in charge are Professor D J Shale and Professor J R Cockcroft.

#### Who has reviewed this study?

The South East Wales Research Ethics Committee has reviewed this study and given it a favourable opinion.

## Contacts for research-related enquiries:

If you require more information about the study, then please contact any of the research team members namely Dr M Irfan (Clinical Research Fellow), Dr Nichola Gale (Research Associate) or Mrs Margaret Munnery (Research Nurse) on Tel 02920742352. Alternatively, you may wish to speak to the Principal Investigator: -

Professor J R Cockcroft	OR	Professor D J Shale
Consultant Cardiologist		Professor in Respiratory Medicine
Level 1,		Level 1
Wales Heart Research Institute		Wales Heart Research Institute
University Hospital of Wales		University Hospital of Wales
Heath Park		Heath park
Cardiff		Cardiff
C14 4XN		CF14 4 XN
0292074 3489		0292074 3489

Thank you for reading this information sheet.

Remember - You are under no obligation to participate in this study. If you wish to leave the study at any point you may do so for any reason. Please take as much time to read this leaflet as require; do not feel that you have to make a decision quickly. Researchers will be available to answer any questions you may have. All the data collected will be confidential and is only for the purposes of research.

#### Appendix B: Participant Information Sheet for Comparator Subjects





Dennis J Shale MD Professor of Respiratory Medicine J R Cockroft Professor of Cardiology Nichola S Gale PhD Research Associate Department of Respiratory Medicine Cardiff University School of Medicine Level 1, Wales Heart Research Institute Heath park Cardiff CF14 4XN

# PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET FOR COMPARATOR SUBJECTS

"Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation - ARCADE" You are invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide whether to take part, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. One of our research team members will go through this sheet with you and answer any questions you have. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with relatives, friends and your GP if you wish. We feel that this would take about 15 minutes to go through. Please ask us if there is

# Why are we doing this study?

As we get older, our arteries generally stiffen over a period of time. This leads to an increase in blood pressure and may place us at a greater risk of strokes and heart attacks. A similar process occurs in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) causing premature arterial stiffening. However, we are not sure how quickly their arteries stiffen, and whether this is related to the severity of COPD. Also, the reasons for arterial stiffening in COPD are not well understood. We now have the means to assess arterial stiffness and the aim of this study is to measure how quickly arteries stiffen over time in COPD, and what factors are associated with this.

anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. This study is funded for

the first three years by a research grant from GlaxoSmithKline.

We are comparing these measurements in patients with COPD against those in subjects free of COPD who have a history of smoking.

# Why have I been asked to participate?

You have been asked to participate because you fall into the following group:

Between 35-80 years

Have a history of smoking

Other individuals in this group have been similarly approached by a letter and we are looking to recruit 300 such subjects in this study to act as comparators for the 1500 patients with COPD.

## Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether or not to take part. If you do decide to take part you will be asked to sign a consent form. However, you are free to withdraw from the study at any time without giving a reason. A decision to withdraw at any time, or a decision not to take part, will not affect the standard of care you receive.

# What will happen to me if I take part?

Visit 0:

If you agree to take part, you will be asked to attend an initial visit lasting approximately 1 hour at a clinic at the University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff or your General Practitioner's surgery if it is one of the participating research sites. Here we will go through the information sheet, consent form and obtain a detailed lifestyle and medical history from you in addition to a medical examination.

You will then be requested to make 3 visits to the Wales Heart Research Institute at University Hospital of Wales, Cardiff, spaced over the next 5 years. All measurements made at these visits will be the same and each visit will last approximately 2 hours (please see figure 1 on page 5). Visit 1 will be baseline, visit 2 will be 2 years and visit 3 will be 5 years following your baseline visit.

# Visit 1:

It would be preferable if you could refrain from smoking for at least 6 hours prior to attending. The following measurements will be made:

- We will check your height, weight and hip and waist circumference (using a tape).
- Blood pressure: After lying down for 15 minutes, you will have your blood pressure taken, just like at your General Practitioner's surgery.
- Arterial stiffness measurements: A small, pencil-like probe will be placed on the artery (blood vessel) at your wrist, neck and upper leg to calculate how stiff your

arteries are. We will also record an electrocardiogram (ECG) with stickers on your chest to track small changes in your heart rate.

- Cardiac output: We will place some stickers on your chest and neck and measure how much blood is being pumped around with each heart beat.
- Lung function tests: You will then be asked to blow out as hard as you can into a tube after inhaling salbutamol (a safe drug using an inhaler with a spacer device) unless contraindicated to measure your lung function (the size of your lungs and how quickly you can empty them).
- Measurement of body composition: At this point we will check the proportion of muscle and fat tissue in your body by asking you to stand barefoot on a machine with hand grips. A tiny electric current which is not painful or harmful in any way is then passed and the measurements recorded. None of these measurements are painful.
- Hand-grip strength: This will be measured using a spring device.
- Bone density scan: We will then measure the bone density in your heels by using an ultrasound device which has no radiation.
- Blood sample: We will then ask you to give a blood sample of approximately 50 mls (5 tablespoons of blood) from your arm. This sample is used to measure various levels of naturally occurring substances in the blood, (ex: cholesterol, glucose and inflammatory molecules). This blood sample will be disposed after the study is completed in 5 years.

With your permission some blood will also be taken and stored for future analyses, which will examine the genes which are known or likely to be important in determining how stiff or elastic your arteries are. This sample taken for genetic analysis will be stored for 10 years in the custody of Professor D J Shale and Professor J R Cockcroft at the Wales Heart Research Institute (WHRI), Cardiff.

Further ethical approval will be sought if any genetic testing is required beyond 5 years. As these genetic markers are mainly to establish a genetic link for the natural evolution of COPD it would not have any implications on inherited risk or insurance status. GlaxoSmithKline, the sponsors of the first three years of the study will have access to the genetic data, but you will not be identified individually to the sponsors or anyone else in respect of this data.

• Timed up and go (TUG) test: You will be requested to get up from a chair, walk to a distance of 3 metres, turn around, walk back and sit down again while we measure the time taken to do so.

- 6-minute walking test: You will then be requested to walk for 6 minutes on a flat surface at your own pace with breaks if necessary while we also check your oxygen levels in the blood using a non-invasive probe on your finger.
- Urine sample: Finally we will ask you for a urine sample (20ml or equivalent of 4 teaspoons) in a container to test for certain molecules.

A small proportion of participants will be invited to attend repeat assessments within 2 weeks of the assessment visit 1. They will be given activity monitors to get an idea of their exercise levels in real life.

## Visits 2 and 3:

The data collected on subsequent visits (2 years & 5 years later) will be compared with the baseline to demonstrate any changes in blood vessel stiffening, inflammatory molecules in blood and evolution of cardiovascular risk factors. Data generated from the study will be stored at the WHRI for a period of 10 years in the safe custody of Professor D J Shale.

# Will there be any side-effects?

Taking blood may lead to minor discomfort, but only experienced people will take blood samples.

# Are there any risks involved in taking part?

Apart from the blood sample, all of the measurements are non-invasive and we don't foresee any risks involved.

# Are there any possible benefits to taking part?

You will have a detailed assessment of your blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk factors (eg glucose, cholesterol levels) and we will be happy to make your results available to your General Practitioner if you agree.

# Will my taking part in this study be confidential?

By consenting to take part in this research, you will consent to the collection, processing, disclosure and transfer of your personal data for medical research purposes only. Named information will be sent to the NHS Central Register and you will be flagged by the NHS Information Centre (NHS IC) for the purpose of follow-ups. Any data that is sent will be encrypted and we will follow ethical and legal practice to ensure that all information about you is handled in confidence. This is done to identify any new health problems that you may develop in relation to the heart while you are enrolled in our study. Information held by the NHS and records maintained by the General Register Office may be used to keep in touch with you and follow your health

status. Your data will not be available to GSK as they are financially sponsoring this as an independent study.

#### Will my GP be informed?

The doctor in charge of the study will inform your GP of your participation in the study with your consent. In addition with your permission, they will be informed of any clinically relevant results that may become available during the study.

## What will happen to the study results?

The results of the study may be published in scientific journals or presented at medical conferences, a few months after completing the study. You will not be identified in any report or publication. An overall summary report (fully anonymised) will be sent to your General practitioner at the end of the study. You will be able to access this through your GP upon the completion of the study.

## What happens if something goes wrong?

The doctors involved in the study, and the Wales Heart Research Institute have suitable indemnity insurance if you are harmed due to someone's negligence. However, there are no special compensation arrangements for non-negligent harm. Regardless of this, if you wish to complain about any aspect of the way you have been approached or treated during the course of this study, the normal National Health Service complaints mechanisms will be available to you.

#### What will happen if I withdraw from the study?

If you withdraw from the study, this will in no way affect your future medical care. Data or tissue already collected up to the point of withdrawal will be anonymised and utilised for study purposes.

The same would apply if capacity to consent is lost during the study. You will be withdrawn from the study and data or tissue already collected under consent will be anonymised and utilised for study purposes.

#### Will I be reimbursed for any travel expenses?

Travel expenses of up to £30 will be given as necessary for trips to hospital to cover bus, mileage and parking. Taxis can also be ordered from our department to pick you up or drop you off.

# Who is organising this study?

This study is being organised by the Wales Heart Research Institute of the Cardiff University. The investigators in charge are Professor D J Shale and Professor J R Cockroft.

## Who has reviewed this study?

The South East Wales Research Ethics Committee has reviewed this study and given it a favourable opinion.

# Contacts for research-related enquiries:

If you require more information about the study, then please contact any of the research team members namely Dr M Irfan (Clinical Research Fellow), Dr Nichola Gale (Research Associate) or Mrs Margaret Munnery (Research Nurse) on Tel 02920742352. Alternatively, you may wish to speak to the Principal Investigator: -

Professor J R Cockcroft	OR	Professor D J Shale
Consultant Cardiologist		Professor in Respiratory medicine
Level 1,		Level 1
Wales Heart Research Institute		Wales Heart Research Institute
University Hospital of Wales		University Hospital of Wales
Heath Park		Heath park
Cardiff		Cardiff
C14 4XN		CF14 4 XN
0292074 3489		0292074 3489

Thank you for reading this information sheet.

Remember - You are under no obligation to participate in this study. If you wish to leave the study at any point you may do so for any reason. Please take as much time to read this leaflet as require; do not feel that you have to make a decision quickly. Researchers will be available to answer any questions you may have. All the data collected will be confidential and is only for the purposes of research.

## **Appendix C: Participant Questionnaire**



Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation



# **Participant's Questionnaire**

'Assessment of Risk in Chronic Airways Disease Evaluation'

#### 'ARCADE'

Thank you very much for your participation in the 'ARCADE' study. We appreciate you taking time to complete this questionnaire.

Please answer the questions to the best of your ability and feel free to leave blank any questions you do not wish to answer.

Please use black ink.

Yours Sincerely,

Prof. J. Cockcroft

Prof.<sup>(</sup>D. Shale

	SECTION 1 - PERSONAL DETAIL
1	Name Today's Date
2	a) Date of Birth b) Age c) Birth Weight
3	Address
	Postcode Telephone #
4	GP's Name GP's Address
	Postcode
5	a) Are you employed? Yes No
	b) Have you had any jobs which involved working with any of the following?
	Coal Asbestos Chemicals Dust No
	If Yes, please specify approximately how long for, in years:
6	a) Are you married/cohabiting? Yes No
	<b>b)</b> If not married/cohabiting, are you
	Single, Widowed Divorced Separated Never married
	c) If widowed/divorced or separated what year did this happen?

7	a) Do you get short of breath?
	All the time Worse at On At No C
	certain times exercise inight of the day
	b) Do you notice a wheeze? Yes No
	c) Do you cough? Yes No
	If Yes, do you produce sputum?
	Yes, most mornings Occasionally No
	d) Does anything make your breathing worse (e.g. Cats, Dogs, Pollen, Aerosol Perfume, Cold, Heat)?
	Yes No
8	When were you diagnosed with COPD?
	b) If not limited by breathlessness what limits your mobility?
0	a) How often do you get chest infections in a year?
	<b>b)</b> How many courses of antibiotics or steroids (tablets) did you need for you chest over the last year?
	······
	a) Are you on home oxygen? Yes No
	If Yes, how many hours a day?
	b) Are you on home nebulisers? Yes No
2	a) Did you have asthma as a child? Yes No
	b) Were you admitted to a hospital as a Yes No child for chest problems?
	c) Do you suffer from eczema or hay fever? Yes No

3	a) Have you had the flu vaccine? Ye	es 🗌	No		
	b) Have you had the pneumonia vaccine? Ye	es 🗌	No		
	c) Have you had a chest x-ray in the last 12 months?				
		es	No		
4	Have you been admitted to hospital (including as a day	case) in th	e last <b>3 years</b>		
	Ye	es	No		
	If Yes, please specify the number of times:				
	Please specify the reason for hospitalisation(s) and the dates:				
	Cause 1				
	Cause 2				
	Cause 3				
	Cause 4				
		L			
15	a) Which statement best describes your breathlessnes	s?			
	Please tick the appropriate box				
	<b>0</b> - "I only get breathless with strenuous exercise"	,			
	1 – "I get short of breath when hurrying on the lev walking up a slight hill"	el or			
	2 - "I walk slower than people of the same age on the level because of breathlessness or have to for breath when walking at my own pace on the table of the state of the same state of the sa	) stop ne level"			
	3 - "I stop for breath after walking about 100 yard after a few minutes on the level"	ds or			
	<ul> <li>4 - "I am too breathless to leave the house" or</li> <li>"I am breathless when dressing"</li> </ul>				
	b) Can you climb a flight of stairs without stopping? Y	es 🗌	No		

16	How likely are you to doze off or fall asleep in the following situations in contrast to just feeling tired? This refers to your usual way in recent times. Even if you have not done some of these things recently, try to work out how they would have affected you. Use the following scale to choose the most appropriate number for each situation.				
	0 = would never doze 1 = slight chance of dozing 2 = moderate chance of dozing				
	<b>3</b> = high chance of dozing Cl	hance of dozing	g (0-3)		
	Sitting and reading				
	Watching TV				
	Sitting inactive in a public place (eg. a theatre or	meeting)			
	As passenger in a car for an hour without break				
	Lying down to rest during the day when circumsta	ances permit			
	Sitting and talking to someone				
	Sitting quietly after lunch without alcohol				
	In a car, while stopped for a few minutes in traffic	:			
17	a) Do you snore?	Yes	No		
	<b>b)</b> Do you have Sleep Apnoea?	Yes	No		
18	Have you done Pulmonary Rehabilitation?	Yes	No		
19	Have you lost or gained weight in the last 12 mon	:hs?			
		Yes	No		
20	Have you ever been told by your do	ctor that you have any	of the following?		
----	---	------------------------	-----------------------------		
	a) High blood pressure	Yes No	If Yes,		
	If Yes, are you on therapy for it?	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
-	b) High cholesterol	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
	If Yes, are you on therapy for it?	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
	c) Peripheral vascular disease (narrowing of the arteries in the leg	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
	If Yes, are you on therapy for it?	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
-	d) Atrial fibrillation (irregular pulse)	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
	If Yes, are you on therapy for it?	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
-	e) Diabetes	Yes No	If Yes, in what year?		
	If Yes, which type?	Туре I Туре II _	Don't Know		
			5		

21	Has a doctor told you that you hav	ve had any of t	he followin	ıg?
	a) Angina	Yes	No	
	<ul> <li>b) Heart attack</li> <li>(myocardial infarct/ coronary thrombosis)</li> </ul>	Yes		f Yes, n what year?
	<b>c) Stroke or Transient attack</b> (mini-stroke/TIA?)	Yes		f Yes, n what
	If Yes: Stroke Tr Iso At	ansient chemic ttack TA)	Other (please	e specify)
	d) Any other heart trouble	Yes 🔤 I		
	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be	at)		
	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be If Yes, please specify:	at)	·····	·····
22	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be If Yes, please specify: Have you ever been told that you I No Yes, by Yes, H my GP Const	have increased by a	risk of hea Yes, other (please sp	ecify)
22	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be If Yes, please specify: Have you ever been told that you I No Yes, by Yes, t my GP const Have you ever been told by a doct that you have, or have had, any of the following?	have increased by a ultant	risk of hea Yes, other (please sp	If Yes, what year did the doctor first tell you?
22	suspected or confirmed?         (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be         If Yes, please specify:         Have you ever been told that you I         No       Yes, by         Yes, by       Yes, to         my GP       constant         Have you ever been told by a doct         that you have, or have had, any of         the following?         Cancer	have increased by a aultant arrived cor Yes	risk of hea Yes, other (please sp	If Yes, what year did the doctor first tell you?
22	suspected or confirmed?         (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be         If Yes, please specify:         Have you ever been told that you I         No       Yes, by         Yes, by       Yes, I         my GP       constr         Have you ever been told by a doct that you have, or have had, any of the following?         Cancer       Osteoarthritis ('wear & tear' arthritis)	have increased by a ultant cor Yes tis)	risk of hea Yes, other (please sp	If Yes, what year did the doctor first tell you?
22	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be If Yes, please specify: Have you ever been told that you I No Yes, by Yes, I my GP const Have you ever been told by a doct that you have, or have had, any of the following? Cancer Osteoarthritis ('wear & tear' arthritis Rheumatoid arthritis	have increased by a ultant cor Yes  tis)	No	If Yes, what year did the doctor first tell you?
22	suspected or confirmed? (e.g. valve disease, congenital heart disease or irregular heart be If Yes, please specify: Have you ever been told that you I No Yes, by Yes, b my GP const Have you ever been told by a doct that you have, or have had, any of the following? Cancer Osteoarthritis ('wear & tear' arthritis Rheumatoid arthritis Gout	tis)	No	If Yes, what year did the doctor first tell you?

24	Apart from these, do you have any medical conditions for which you l (Longstanding means anything tha that is likely to affect you over a p	v other longs have sought at has trouble eriod of time	tanding illnes treatment in t ed you over a e).	s, diseases or he last <b>12 months?</b> period of time or
	If Yes, please list below:		Yes	No
			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
		•• •••••		
25	Have you taken any inhalers, medi	cines or table	ets in the last	14 days?
			Yes	No
	If Yes, please list any medicines be	elow:	L	J []
	Inhalers	Dose	Puffs	Amount /day
	Nebuliser	Dose		Amount /day
			•••••	
			••••	
	Other Medication	Dose		Amount /day
			• • • • • • • • • • • •	
		•••••		
			· · <i>· · ·</i> · · · · · · ·	
		• • • • • • • • •		

<i>Please_tick the appropriate box(es)</i>	Yes	No	Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
High blood pressure				
Angina				
leart attack				
Stroke				
Peripheral vascular disease				
	_			
Diabetes				
Diabetes Asthma				
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed wit Please tick the appropriate box(es)	h any of t	the follow	wing?	Younger
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed wit Please tick the appropriate box(es)	h any of t	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed wit Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure	h any of t	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed wit Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure Angina Heart attack	h any of t	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed wit Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure Angina Heart attack Stroke	h any of t Yes	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed with Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure Angina Heart attack Stroke Peripheral vascular disease	h any of t Yes	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed with Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure Angina Heart attack Stroke Peripheral vascular disease Diabetes	h any of t Yes	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Diabetes Asthma COPD Was your mother ever diagnosed with Please tick the appropriate box(es) High blood pressure Angina Heart attack Stroke Peripheral vascular disease Diabetes Asthma	h any of t Yes	the follow	wing? Don't Know	Younger than 60 when diagnosed

	Angi Hear Strol Perip Diab Asth	8 Were Pleas High
	na t attack ke oheral vascular etes ma D	e your brother( se tick the app blood pressur
	r disease	(s)/sister(s) ever ropriate box(es) re
		diagnosed Yes
		l with an No
		y of the fo Don't Know
5		Vounger Younger than 60 when diagnosed
Э		-

9 How often do you t moderately energed	ake part iı ic or vigo	n sport or a rous?	activities tha	t are mildly ene	rgetic,
		3 times a week	Once or twice a week	About once to 3 times a month	Never, hardly ever
a) Mildly energetic (e.g. walking, ga playing darts, ge housework)	dening, neral				
b) Moderately enery (e.g. scrubbing, p car, dancing, gol decorating, lawn leisurely swimmi	getic polishing f, cycling, mowing, ng)				
<b>c) Vigorous</b> (e.g. running, hai swimming, tennis digging, cycle ra	d 5, squash, cing)				
Please give the aver activities:	age numb	per of hour	s per week t	hat you spend ir	n such
d) Mildly energetic		Houi	rs per week		
e) Moderately energy	getic	Houi	rs per week		
f) Vigorous		Houi	rs per week		
• a) In the past week home/workplace? (	- on avera f you did	age, for ho not walk p	w long did y lease enter '	ou walk outside 0' in the boxes).	your
On each weekda	Hours M	linutes O	n each week	end day	Minutes
<b>b)</b> In the <b>past week</b> cycle please enter '	- on avera D' in the b	age, for ho oxes).	w long did y	ou cycle? (If you	ı did not
On each weekda	Hours M	linutes	n each week	end day	Minutes
How would you des	cribe you	r usual wal	king pace? P	lease tick one b	ox only.
Slow pace (less tha	n 3 mph)		Stea	dy average pace	, 🗌
В	risk pace		Fast pa	ice (over 4 mph)	

32	Have you ever broken/fractured a bone? Yes No
	If Yes, please give details of your injuries: What age were you?
	Second injury:
	Third injury:
	Please specify what caused the hone(s) to break/fracture?
	First Second Third
	1) Fall from greater than standing height (e.g. from a chair or stairs)       Injury       Injury       Injury       Injury
	2) Fall from a standing height (e.g. walking)
	3) Fall from less than standing height (e.g. getting out of a chair)
	4) Road traffic accident
	5) High energy trauma (e.g. sports injury)
	6) Other (please specify)
33	On average, how much alcohol do you consume in a week?
	Note: 1 unit = 1 small glass of wine (125ml) = ½ pint of beer/lagar/cider = 25ml pub measure of spirit
	Enter number of units:
34	a) Do you smoke cigarettes? Yes No Past-smoker
	How many do/did you smoke each day?
	How many years have you/did you smoke(d)?
	<b>b)</b> If you are a past-smoker, how many years has it been since you guit smoking?

### Appendix D: Consent Form

De Proj	nnis J Shale MD essor of Respiratory Medicine		Department of Respiratory Medic Cardiff University School of Medi	cine cine
Nie Rese	chola S Gale PhD arch Associate		Level 1, Wales Heart Research Insti Heath Car CE14.4	tute park rdiff
	Cardiff and	d Vale Uni	versity Health Board	
		CONSEN	T FORM	
LF	EC Reference Number:			
	Assessment of risk	in chronic airw	ays disease evaluation (ARCADE)	
Na	me of Lead Investigators: Pro	ofessor D J Shale	and Professor J R Cockroft	
1.	I confirm that I have read and un (version 3) for the above study a	nderstand the infor and have had the o	Please in mation sheet dated 23/03/11 pportunity to ask questions.	nitial box
2.	I understand that my participation without giving any reason, with	on is voluntary and out my medical ca	l that I am free to withdraw at any time, re or legal rights being affected if I withdraw	w.
3.	I agree that if my capacity to con and data or tissue already collec purposes.	nsent is lost during ted under consent	g the study, I will be withdrawn from the stu will be anonymised and utilised for study	dy
4.	I am willing that my GP is infor relevant results.	med of my partici	pation in the project as well as any clinically	/
5.	I understand that information he Centre and the NHS Central Reg about my health status.	ld by the NHS and ister may be used	d records maintained by The NHS Informati to help contact me and provide information	on
6.	I agree to be contacted in 2 and follow-up visit.	5 years time after	the baseline assessment for a further	
7.	I agree to take part in the above	study		
Na (Pla	ame of Research Subject ase print)	Date	Signature	7,5
Na (Pla	ame of Research Member asse print)	Date	Signature	_
3 c	ppies required: top copy for researc EC Number 11/WSE02/7	her; one copy for pa Version	tient; one copy to be kept with research subject' 3 23/03/2011	s notes.

#### Appendix E: St. George's Respiratory Questionnaire

This questionnaire is designed to help us learn much more about how your breathing is troubling you and how it affects your life. We are using it to find out which aspects of your illness cause you the most problem.

Please read the instructions carefully and ask if you do not understand something.

Do not spend too long deciding about your answer.

#### PART 1

	Most days a week	Several days a week	A few days a month	Only with chest infection	Not at all
1) Over the last year, I have					
coughed					
2) Over the last year, I have					
brought up phlegm (sputum):					
3) Over the last year, I have					
had shortness of breath:					
4) Over the last year, I have					
had attacks of wheezing:					

Please tick 1 of the following

5) During the last year, how many severe or very bad unpleasant attacks of chest

trouble have you had? Please tick 1 of the following

More than three	
3 attacks	
2 attacks	
1 attack	
None	

#### 6) How long did the worst attack of chest trouble last? Please tick 1 of the following

a week or more	
3 or more days	
1 or 2 days	
less than a day	

## 7) Over the last year, in an average week, how many good days (with little chest

trouble) have you had? Please tick 1 of the following

None	
1 or 2	
3 or 4	
nearly every day 1	

#### 8) If you have a wheeze, is it worse in the morning? Yes/No

#### PART 2

#### 9) How would you describe your chest condition? Please tick 1 of the following

The most important problem I have	
Causes me quite a lot of problems	
Causes me a few problems	
Causes no problem	

#### 10) If you have ever had paid employment? Please tick 1 of the following

My chest trouble made me stop work	
My chest trouble interferes with my work or made	
me change my work	
My chest trouble does not affect my work	

#### 11) Questions about what activities usually make you feel breathless.

Sitting or lying still	Yes/No
Getting washed or dressed	Yes/No
Walking around the home	Yes/No
Walking outside on the level	Yes/No
Walking up a flight of stairs	Yes/No
Walking up hills	Yes/No
Playing sports or games	Yes/No

#### 12) More questions about your cough and breathlessness.

My cough hurts	Yes/No
My cough makes me tired	Yes/No
I get breathless when I talk	Yes/No
I get breathless when I bend over	Yes/No
My cough or breathing disturbs my sleep	Yes/No
I get exhausted easily	Yes/No

### 13) Questions about other effects your chest trouble may have on you.

My cough or breathing is embarrassing in public	Yes/No
My chest trouble is a nuisance to my family, friends or neighbours	Yes/No
I get afraid or panic when I cannot get my breath	Yes/No
I feel that I am not in control of my chest problem	Yes/No
I do not expect my chest to get any better	Yes/No
I have become frail or an invalid because of my chest	Yes/No
Exercise is not safe for me	Yes/No
Everything seems too much of an effort	Yes/No

### 14) Questions about your medication.

My medication does not help me very much	Yes/No
I get embarrassed using my medication in public	Yes/No
I have unpleasant side effects from my medication	Yes/No
My medication interferes with my life a lot	Yes/No

15)	Questions about how activities may be affected by your breathing.
-----	---

I take a long time to get washed or dressed	Yes/No
I cannot take a bath or shower, or I take a long time	Yes/No
I walk more slowly than other people, or I stop for rests	Yes/No
Jobs such as housework take a long time, or I have to stop for	Yes/No
rests	
If I walk up one flight of stairs, I have to go slowly or stop	Yes/No
If I hurry or walk fast, I have to stop or slow down	Yes/No
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as walk up hills,	Yes/No
carry things up stairs, light gardening such as weeding, dance,	
play bowls or play golf	
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as carry heavy	Yes/No
loads, dig the garden or shovel snow, jog or walk at 5 miles per	
hour, play tennis or swim	
My breathing makes it difficult to do things such as very heavy	Yes/No
manual work, run, cycle, swim fast or play competitive sports	

### 16) We would like to know how your chest trouble usually affects your daily life.

Please tick which of the following apply to you

I cannot play sports or games	
I cannot go out for entertainment or recreation	
I cannot go out of the house to do the shopping	
I cannot do housework	
I cannot move far from my bed or chair	

#### 17) Tick the statement which you think best describes how your chest affects you.

Please tick 1 of the following

It does not stop me doing anything I would like to do	
It stops me doing one or two things I would like to do	
It stops me doing most of the things I would like to do	
It stops me doing everything I would like to do	

For Office use only			
Symptom	Activity	Impact	Total

Appendix F:	The	COPD	Assessment	Test
-------------	-----	------	------------	------

Your name:		Today's date:
How is your COP	D? Take the COPDA	ssessment Test <sup>™</sup> (CAT)
Pulmonary Disease) is having on your healthcare professional to hel	your wellbeing and daily life.Your answe p improve the management of your COPI	ers, and test score, can be used by you and D and get the greatest benefit from treatment.
For each item below, place a mark for each question.	(X) in the box that best describes you c	urrently. Be sure to only select one response
Example: I am very happy		I am very sad SCORE
I never cough	012345	I cough all the time
I have no phlegm (mucus) in my chest at all	012345	My chest is completely full of phlegm (mucus)
My chest does not feel tight at all	012345	My chest feels very tight
When I walk up a hill or one flight of stairs I am not breathless	012345	When I walk up a hill or one flight of stairs I am very breathless
I am not limited doing any activities at home	012345	I am very limited doing activities at home
I am confident leaving my home despite my lung condition	012345	I am not at all confident leaving my home because of my lung condition
I sleep soundly	012345	I don't sleep soundly because of my lung condition
I have lots of energy	012345	I have no energy at all
COPD Assessment Test and CAT logo is a tra	idemark of the GlaxoSmithKline group of companies.	TOTAL

# Appendix G: Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment-Short Form

	omprene hort For	<u>m</u>	Geriatri	<u>c Asse</u>	essment							
Motivation	circ	le one:	High	Lleu								
Self-rated h	ealth circ	le one:	Excelle	nt Goo	d Fair	Poor	Couldn	't' sav				
Cognition	circ	le one:	Normal	Mild	cognitive impa	irment	Demer	tia				
circle all the	t apply: Agi	tation/wand	lering Delu	isions/hall	ucinations Del	irium						
=motional	Nor	mal OR c	ircle all tha	t apply:	Anxiety B	ereavement	Depre	ssion Fatio	le			
Sleep	Normal OR	circle all th	at apply:	Poor o	disrupted	Davtime drows	iness	- alg				
Communica	tion circ	le one for	each		diorapted							
Sr	eech Nor	mal Imp	aired Hea	ina Nor	mal Impaired	Vision No	mal	Impaired				
Strength	Grin	strength	Normal	Weak	Proximal mus	scle strength	No	rmal We	ak			
H		Δrm	Ves No		e No	solo strongth						
		-	103 110	Logic								
M	obility	Trans Walki	ter na	Ind	Asst Asst	Dep Dep <b>Slow</b> ?	Υe	s No				
		Aid us	sed?	Walking	stick Fra	me				Social Engagement Social Engagement Social Engagement Coccasional Rarely ation		
в	alance	Balan	се	Nor	nal Impaire	ed						
		Falls		NO	ie ies							
E	limination	Bowe	I	Cont	Occas accide	nt Incont						
N	itrition	Bladd	er	Cont								
		Weig Appe	ht change tite	Stable Normal	Loss Fair	Gain Poor						
		Weig	ht	Normal	Under	Obese						
A	)Ls	Feedi	ng	Ind	Asst Asst	Dep Dep						
		Dress	ing	Ind	Asst	Dep						
		Toilet	ing	Ind	Asst	Dep						
	ADLs	Cooki Clean	ng ing	Ind Ind	Asst Asst	Dep Dep			-			
		Shop	ping	Ind	Asst	Dep				Soc	ial Engagement	
		Drivin	ations g	Ind	Asst Asst	Dep Dep					Frequent	
		Banki	ng	Ind	Asst	Dep					Rarely	
	_		Problen	ıs				Current	medicat	ion	]	
Medical		tension	1.								]	
history	TIA/St	, roke										
		a/MI	2.								ocial Engagement Frequent Occasional Rarely n	
		tes	3									
		er .	0.									
	Alcoho     Alcoho     Pressi	ure sores	4.									
	Hip Fr	acture	F									
OA/RA 5.					_							
	Parkin	ison's dis.	6.									
			7.									
otes:												